
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, JULY 06, 2021 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The City is providing in-person and electronic options for this meeting in accordance with the Governor's 
Proclamation of Disaster Emergency regarding meetings and hearings.  The City encourages in-person attendees 
to follow the latest CDC guidelines to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

The meeting will be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in the 
following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of June 21, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing July 11, 2021 as 1-133d Infantry Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day. 

Special Order of Business 

3. Public hearing on the FY2022 (FFY2021) Annual Action Plan for Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published June 29, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 

1



Page 2 of 4 

e) Resolution approving the FY2022 (FFY2021) Annual Action Plan for Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium. 

4. Public hearing on a proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the West 27th Street 
Reconstruction Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project.  
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published June 25, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving a public improvement project for the West 27th Street Reconstruction 
Project, and authorizing acquisition of private property for said project. 

5. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract, and estimate of cost for the 
Cyber Lane Extension Project. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published June 25, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the Cyber Lane Extension Project. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

6. Receive and file Mayor's Monthly Report for June, 2021. 

7. Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and Commissions: 
a) Floyd Winter, Cedar Falls Health Trust Fund Board. 
b) Chris Corkery, Art & Culture Board. 

8. Receive and file the Work Session minutes of June 21, 2021 relative to the following item: 
a) Downtown Zoning Ordinance. 

9. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of June 21, 2021 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Grow Cedar Valley Update. 
b) Cash Management Report. 

10. Receive and file the Departmental Monthly Reports of May, 2021. 

11. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to certified lists for the 
following positions:  
a) Equipment Operator. 
b) Public Safety Supervisor-Captain. 
c) Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant. 

12. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - renewal. 
b) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

c) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal.  
d) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) The Other Place, 2214 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
f) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class C Beer & Class B Wine – change in ownership. 
h) Dollar General, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 
i) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class A liquor & outdoor service – change in 
ownership. 
j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (July 10-11, 2021) 
k) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary expansion of outdoor 
service area.  

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

13. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to clean up/remove debris on the 
property located at 2013 Maplewood Drive. 

14. Resolution approving and accepting from the Municipal Electric and Communications Utilities the 
permanent transfers of $2,622,314.00 to the General Fund and $15,000.00 to the Economic 
Development Fund of the City of Cedar Falls. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the City of 
Waterloo and Black Hawk County relative to the 2021-2022 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice 
Association Grant (JAG) Program funding for the Tri-County Drug Task Force. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Cooperative Agreement for Use of Swimming 
Pools with the Cedar Falls Community School District. 

17. Resolution approving and accepting the low bid, and approving and authorizing execution of a 
Rehabilitation Contract with Tojo Construction Inc. relative to a HOME Housing Rehabilitation Project 
at 210 C2 Balboa Avenue. 

18. Resolution approving and accepting the low bid, and approving and authorizing execution of a 
Rehabilitation Contract with Tojo Construction Inc. relative to a HOME Housing Rehabilitation Project 
at 2512 Cedar Heights Drive. 

19. Resolution approving and accepting a Utility and Access Easement on Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South - Phase II. 

20. Resolution approving a First Amendment to Deed of Dedication for Pinnacle Prairie Commercial 
South - Phase II. 

21. Resolution approving the preliminary plat of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South - Phase V. 

22. Resolution approving the final plat of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South - Phase V. 

23. Resolution approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
medical clinic at 5909 Prairie Parkway. 

24. Resolution approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
retail development at 703 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a mini excavator 
for the Public Works Department. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement with Strickler Properties LC relative to a post-construction stormwater management plan 
for 6415 Development Drive. 

3



Page 4 of 4 

27. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Pirc-Tobin Construction, Inc. for the 
West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 

28. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill 
Project.  

29. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Public Sidewalk 
Repair and Infill Project. 

30. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project - Zone 4. 

31. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Permeable Alley 
Project. 

32. Resolution setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a proposal to enter into an 
Agreement for Private Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. relative to a commercial/residential 
mixed use development. 

Ordinances: 

33. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the speed limit on certain portions of Viking Road, upon its first consideration.  

Allow Bills and Claims 

34. Allow Bills and Claims of July 6, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JUNE 21, 2021 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

SIMON HARDING, MAYOR PRO TEM, PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None.  

 
53366 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of June 7, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

 
53367 - Community Development Director Sheetz responded to concerns expressed by 

MaryJane McCollum, 807 West 2nd Street, regarding the Downtown Visioning 
process and the demarcation of commercial zoning on West 1st Street extending 
past Walnut Street and pushing into current residential areas. Ms. McCollum also 
commented on private property parking. 

 
  Public Works Director Schrage and Public Safety Director Olson responded to 

comments by Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, regarding the speed limit and 
traffic noise on West 1st Street near Main Street.   

 
53368 -    It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2990, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
Boards and Commissions, be passed upon its third and final consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor Pro Tem put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: deBuhr. Motion 
carried. The Mayor Pro Tem then declared Ordinance #2990 duly passed and 
adopted. 

 
53369 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Dunn that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
  

 Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the 
reappointment of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Clare Struck, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2024. 
b) Brian Bowman, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2024. 
c) Mario Basurto, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2024. 
d) Jordan Beranek, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2024. 
e) Melissa Heston, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2024. 
f) Susan Langan, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2023. 
g) Leslie Prideaux, Visitors & Tourism Board, term ending 07/01/2024. 
h) Annie Gougler, Visitors & Tourism Board, term ending 07/01/2024. 
i) Mary Carlson, Visitors & Tourism Board, term ending 07/01/2024. 

 Receive and file the Work Session minutes of June 7, 2021 relative to the 
following item: 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

a) Downtown Zoning Ordinance. 

 Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of June 7, 2021 relative to 
the following item: 
a) Downtown & College Hill Parking Policy Discussion. 

 Approve a request for a temporary sign at 3409 Cedar Heights Drive, June 22-
23, 2021. 

 Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Bani's, 2128 College Street. 
b) G's Corner, 2125 College Street Suite E. 
c) Greenleaf Tobacco & Vaper, 5901 University Avenue. 
d) Hy-Vee Food Store, 6301 University Avenue. 
e) Hy-Vee Gas, 6527 University Avenue. 
f) United Wine & Liquor, 2211 College Street. 

 Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - 
renewal. 
b) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class C Beer & Class B Wine - 
renewal. 
c) Holiday Inn Express & Suites, 1614 Technology Parkway, Class C beer - 
renewal. 
d) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class A liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
e) Target, 214 Viking Plaza Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 
f) David’s Taphouse and Dumplings, 200 West 1st Street, Class C liquor – new. 
g) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service – new. 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

53370 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #22,414, approving and authorizing execution of an Engagement 

Letter with Eide Bailly, LLP to perform the audit of the City's FY21 financial 
statements and compliance with federal award programs. 

 Resolution #22,415, approving and authorizing execution of a Client 
Authorization to Bind Coverage with Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management 
Services, Inc. relative to renewal of the City's Public Entity Insurance for FY22.  

 Resolution #22,416, approving and authorizing execution of an Administrative 
Services Agreement with Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield relative to the 
City’s FY22 Employee Health Plan. 

 Resolution #22,417, approving a Stop Loss Policy with Wellmark, Inc. relative to 
the City’s FY22 Employee Health Plan. 

 Resolution #22,418, approving and adopting revised job classifications. 

 Resolution #22,419, approving and adopting the City’s FY22 Payroll Resolution.  

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Resolution #22,420, approving and authorizing execution of a First Aid 
Service/Product Agreement with City Laundering Company for FY2022-FY2024.  

Resolution #22,421, approving and authorizing execution of a Janitorial Products 
Agreement with Laser Tech. USA, Inc., d/b/a Office Express/Office Products for 
FY2022-FY2024. 

Resolution #22,422, approving and authorizing execution of a Linen Services 
Agreement with Aramark Uniform Services for FY2022-FY2024. 

Resolution #22,423, approving and authorizing execution of an Office Supply & 
Copy Paper Product Agreement with Laser Tech. USA, Inc., d/b/a Office 
Express/Office Products for FY2022-FY2024. 

Resolution #22,424, approving and authorizing execution of a Uniform Products 
Agreement with ServiceWear Apparel, Inc. for FY2022-FY2024. 

Resolution #22,425, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product 
Agreement with CivicPlus, LLC relative to Recreation Management Software. 

Resolution #22,426, approving and authorizing execution of two Extensions of 
Leases and two new Red House Studio Leases relative to the use of 224 West 
Seerley Boulevard as artists’ studio space, in conjunction with the Hearst 
Center’s Visiting Artist Program. 

Resolution #22,427, approving and authorizing submission of a Rownd Trust 
grant application to the Cedar Falls Community Foundation by the Historic 
Preservation Commission.  

Resolution #22,428, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special 
Promissory Note for property located at 1619 Clay Street relative to the Rental to 
Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 

Resolution #22,429, approving a Second Amendment to Deed of Dedication of 
The Arbors First Addition. 

Resolution #22,430, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a dump truck and components for the Public Works Department. 

Resolution #22,431, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Aldi Inc. relative to a post-construction 
stormwater management plan for 219 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

Resolution #22,432, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Pirc-Tobin Construction, Inc., in the amount of $265,163.35, for the 
West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project.  

Resolution #22,433, setting July 6, 2021 as the date of the public hearing on a 
proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the West 27th Street 
Reconstruction Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said 
project. 

Resolution #22,434, receiving and filing, and setting July 6, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

of cost for the Cyber Lane Extension Project. 

 Resolution #22,435, setting July 6, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
FY2022 (FFY2021) Annual Action Plan for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) and HOME Consortium. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor Pro Tem put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor Pro Tem then declared Resolutions #22,414 through 
#22,435 duly passed and adopted. 

53371 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #22,436, 
approving and adopting the City’s FY22 Fee Schedule, be adopted. Following 
comments by Councilmembers Harding and Miller, and responses by Community 
Development Director Sheetz, Attorney Rogers, and Finance & Business 
Operations Director Rodenbeck, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Sires 
to amend the motion to remove the character district commercial and multi-family 
review fee.  The motion to amend carried 4-3, with Miller, Darrah and Dunn 
voting Nay.  The Mayor Pro Tem then put the question on the original motion as 
amended, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor Pro Tem then declared Resolution #22,436 duly passed and 
adopted as amended. 

 
53372 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah that the bills and claims of June 

21, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
53373 -   Councilmember Sires recognized the Community Playhouse and their recent 

presentation of Mamma Mia. 
 
     Public Works Director Schrage and Public Safety Director Olson responded to 

questions by Councilmembers Darrah, Dunn, Harding and Kruse regarding the 
traffic, noise and safety concerns at the intersection of West 1st Street and Main 
Street.       

    
53374 -   City Administrator Gaines stated that the City is not receiving bids for some 

projects due to shortages of construction materials and delays in projects should 
be expected.  

 
53375 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 

7:32 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

8

Item 1.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 

 
 

1-133d INFANTRY REGIMENT –  
IRONMAN BATTALION DAY 

JULY 11, 2021  
 

WHEREAS, service in the Iowa National Guard has been a selfless and noble calling for 

generations of Iowans, dating back to the Civil War; and  

WHEREAS, the 133d Infantry Regiment, a part of the 34th Infantry Division, has continuously 

operated in Northeast Iowa since July 11th, 1921; and  

WHEREAS, the 1st Battalion of the 133d Infantry Regiment is proudly known as the Ironman 

Battalion, a distinction earned during World War II for a record 611 consecutive days in 

combat, and then re-affirmed during a nearly 22-month mobilization supporting Operation 

Iraqi Freedom from 2005 to 2007; and 

WHEREAS, thousands of Northeast Iowa civilian-soldiers have volunteered for service at Iowa 

National Guard armories in Waterloo, Dubuque, Davenport, Oelwein, Iowa City, Iowa Falls, and 

Charles City; and 

WHEREAS, the 550+ members of the Ironman Battalion recently completed a year-long 

federal deployment to Southwest Asia as part of Operation Spartan Shield, with operations in 

more than two dozen countries; and 

WHEREAS, community support is vital to success of the Iowa National Guard, and for the 

morale and well-being of Ironman Battalion members and their families at home; 

THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby designate July 

11th, 2021 as 1-133d Infantry Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day in Cedar Falls in 

recognition of the vital role played by the Ironman Battalion in our nation’s defense, and I 

encourage residents to seek ways to support our Northeast Iowa National Guard soldiers and 

families as they answer their Nation’s call in uniformed service in Iowa and across the globe. 

Signed this 30th day of June, 2021. 

 

___________________________________ 

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
9

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: June 28, 2021 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing & Adoption:  Community Development Block Grant and 
HOME Consortium  

  Annual Action Plan FY22 (FFY21) 
   
 
The Community Development Department has developed FFY21 Annual Action Plan 
outlining the use of HUD’s announcement that our CDBG entitlement grant is $274,792 
in federal fiscal year 2021.  The plan allocates the funds in accordance with the adopted 
and HUD-approved 5-Year Consolidated Plan.  The next step is to set a date of public 
hearing for the City Council to consider the Annual Action Plan. 
 
Attached is the draft Annual Action Plan FY22 (Federal Fiscal Year 2021).  The adopted 
5-Year Consolidated Plan guides the proposed uses, but there is flexibility based on 
changing conditions which is the purpose for an annual action plan.   The table below 
lists the 5-Year Consolidated Plan’s estimate for activities and amounts.  It shows the 
proposal for the Annual Action Plan next to it.  We estimate $190,375 in either carryover 
revenues from past plan years or reallocation of the plan year expenditures.  This is for 
various reasons such as lower bid prices on a past project or regulatory restrictions we 
have encountered on projects such as parks, code enforcement, or transportation 
services.  This allows the FFY21 Annual Action Plan proposal to include a higher level 
of funding to sewer lining and rehabilitation projects than initially anticipated in the 5-
Year Consolidated Plan.  Both are identified as activities in FFY21. 
 

Activity 

5-Yr. 
Consolidated 
Plan Estimate 

FFY21 AAP 
Proposal Percentage 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: 
Owner Occupied Rehabilitation 

$11,000 $36,785 8% 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: 
Renter Occupied Rehabilitation 

$0 $25,000 5% 

Preserve Existing Affordable Housing: 
Code Enforcement 

$10,000 
 

$0 0% 

10

Item 3.



Prevent Homelessness Through 
Agency and Organizational Support 
(Service Agencies – capped at 15% of 
annual allocation) 

$37,960 
 

$40,620 9% 

Neighborhood Infrastructure 
Improvements (i.e. Street, Sewer, Water) 

$51,000 $250,000 54% 

Provide Access to Transportation 
Services 

$30,000 $0 0% 

Neighborhood Accessibility 
Improvements (i.e Sidewalks, Trail, Curb 

Cuts) 

$0 $58,602 13% 

Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 
(i.e Parks, Playgrounds, Trees) 

$57,510 
 

$0 0% 

Conduct Demolition and Clearance 
Activities 

$5,000 $0 0% 

CDBG Planning and Administration 
(capped at 20% of annual allocation) 

$50,615 $54,160 11% 

FFY21 Total (including 
carryover/reallocation) 

 $465,167 100% 

 
This proposal meets Organizational Goal #3: Deliver public services in a cost effective, 
efficient, professional, and timely manner and Organizational Goal #4: Equitably 
allocate the community’s resources in a manner which cost effectively accomplishes the 
City’s mission. 
 
The FFY21 Annual Action Plan was considered at the Housing Commission’s May 11th 
and June 8th meetings.  The Housing Commission has recommended approval.  The 
Annual Action Plan was available for public review from May 25th-June 25th, with 
publication in the Courier of its availability.  This meets HUD’s 30-day public comment 
period requirement.  The Community Development Department recommends holding a 
public hearing and adopting the Annual Action Plan (FFY21) on July 6th. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 

11

Item 3.



  1 

 

 
 
 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT FOR REVIEW 
JUNE 9, 2021 

 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  
CDBG ENTITLEMENT PROGRAM 
FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR  2021 (CITY FISCAL YEAR 2022) ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 
 

 
 
 
COMMENT PERIOD PUBLICATION (30-day public comment period, per Citizen Participation Plan): 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; May 19th, 2021 
 
May 25th, 2021 (Opened the 30-day public comment period) 
June 25th, 2021 (Closed the 30-day public comment period) 
 
 
HOUSING COMMISSION: Public Meeting on May 11th, 2021 and Public Hearing on June 8th, 2021 
(Recommendation to City Council) 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; May 19th, 2021, May 21st, 2021, and May 25th, 2021 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC MEETINGS AND HEARING ON: 
June 21st, 2021 (Council sets public hearing for July 6th, 2021) 
July 6th, 2021 (Adoption) (After a properly noticed public hearing was conducted) 
Publication: Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; (May 19th, 2021, May 21st, 2021, and May 25th, 2021, and June 29th, 
2021) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

12

Item 3.



  2 

 

AP-05 Executive Summary - 91.220(b) 
 
During Federal Fiscal Year 2021, the City of Cedar Falls intends to complete four (4) activities or programs: Renter-
occupied rehabilitation and repair, benefitting two units; agency and organizational support, helping 
approximately 4,000 persons, of which 40 are homeless; improving neighborhood infrastructure and accessibility, 
particularly improving sanitary sewer and sidewalks benefitting 1,000 low-and-moderate income persons; and 
program planning and administration.  These proposed activities focus on implementing the following excerpted, 
relevant, Cedar Falls 2019-2023 Consolidated Plan goals and objectives. 
 
Housing 
 

(1) To provide decent housing by preserving the affordable housing stock, increasing the availability of 
affordable housing, reducing discriminatory barriers; increasing the supply of supportive housing for those 
with special needs; and transitioning homeless persons and families into housing. 

 
Action 1.2. Maintain existing affordable housing through continuation of housing rehabilitation, repair, 
deposit assistance, and code enforcement programs, all of which will endeavor to preserve housing 
quality standards. 

 
Neighborhood and Community 

  
(2) To provide a suitable living environment through safer, more livable neighborhoods, greater integration 

of low-and-moderate income households throughout the city, increased housing opportunities, and 
reinvestment in deteriorating neighborhoods. 
 
Action 2.1. Encourage neighborhood development and redevelopment in the city by improving and 
extending infrastructure and pedestrian access to and among low-and-moderate income areas of the 
community. 
 
Action 2.2. Provide recreational and healthy lifestyle improvements to parks, recreational areas, and 
playgrounds in low-and-moderate income areas that may be owned by the city or other public agencies. 

 
Public Services 

 

(3) To provide services, such as rent assistance and through contracted agencies: healthcare, mental health, 
substance abuse, financial counseling, nutrition, and other services that allow residents to reach their 
greatest level of self-sufficiency. 
 
Action 3.1. Provide funding support to agencies, other than those cited above, that may offer services that 
will prevent homelessness or protect households that are near-homeless. 
 
Action 3.2. Maintain the current Section 8/Housing Choice Voucher Program that is being administered by 
the City. 
 
Action 1.6. Continue to provide community planning and program administration services for the benefit 
of all residents of the community.  

 
Economic Development 

 

(4) To expand economic opportunities through increased opportunities for living wage employment, 
development activities that promote long-term community viability, and the empowerment of low- and 
moderate- income persons to achieve self-sufficiency. 

13

Item 3.



  3 

 

 
Action 1.6. Continue to provide community planning and program administration services for the benefit 
of all residents of the community. 
 
Action 2.1. Encourage neighborhood development and redevelopment in the city by improving and 
extending infrastructure and pedestrian access to low-and-moderate income areas of the community. 

 
Evaluation of past performance 
 
The City has been working diligently during the past four years to plan and implement CDBG programs that are 
attainable and designed to help the largest number of residents in a cost-effective manner.  Specifically, the 
community has rehabilitated or repaired a number of owner-occupied housing units for low-and-moderate income 
households.  Further, the City has funded several agencies, which provide services to income-qualified Cedar Falls 
households on an annual basis.  Finally, the community has partially financed infrastructure or capital projects, 
specifically sanitary sewer lining and sidewalk infill for neighborhood connectivity, that serve its low-and-moderate 
income census tracts.   
 
With all this stated, the COVID-19 pandemic had a major impact on the City’s ability to offer continuity of services 
under the CDBG programs during the past year or so.  Most notably, the virus has slowed our ability to serve the 
community and required us to suspend some of our programs altogether for several months, specifically, the 
housing rehabilitation and repair programs.  Three primary issues affected the decision to suspend and thus delay 
programs.  First, the lack of protocols for employees to enter private property, while adhering to social distancing 
and personal protective equipment requirements, during a public health emergency.  Second, construction 
contractor availability, or lack thereof. Lastly, the availability and price of construction materials for the proposed 
work. 
 
In total, the City received three subsequent CDBG funding awards as a result of the pandemic, one of which was 
from the State of Iowa’s Economic Development Authority and the others were awarded directly by HUD.  These 
were all through the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) legislation that passed in late March 
2020.  Specifically, the intent of this legislation was to prevent, prepare for, or respond to the Coronavirus.  As 
indicated in this plan, most of the additional funds were awarded to agencies, non-profit organizations, 
educational institutions, and service providers that either served in frontline capacities or roles and/or that were 
overwhelmed by the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on their agencies, inventories and finances, and clients. 
 
Citizen participation 
 
Citizen participation in the planning process of this Annual Action Plan took three forms: public meetings, public 
hearings, and informal comments garnered as a result of document availability.  The participation process was 
governed by the City’s Participation Plan, as amended. The Cedar Falls Housing Commission held a public meeting 
on May 11th, 2021, and a public hearing on June 8th, 2021, which was posted according to City’s Citizen 
Participation Plan and State law. Notice for the meetings was published on May 19th, 2021, May 21st, 2021, and 
May 25th, 2021, in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.  A legal notice, the purpose and subject of which was 
published on May 19th, 2021, in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier, offered a 30-day public comment period 
between May 25th, 2021 and June 25th, 2021.  The City Council also held a properly noticed public hearing within 
the framework of a public meeting on July 6th, 2021.  Notice for said City Council hearing was published in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on June 29th, 2021. Copies of the draft Annual Action Plan were available at the 
Community Development Department and City Clerk’s Offices, as well as on the City’s website at 
www.cedarfalls.com.  
 
Summary of comments received and denied 
 
No public comments were received, and as a result, no citizen suggestions were denied. 
 

14

Item 3.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


  4 

 

 
PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies - 91.220(b) 
 
The following are the agencies/entities responsible for preparing the Annual Action Plan and those responsible for 
administration of each grant program and funding source. 
 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 

CDBG Administrator Cedar Falls Department of Community Development 

 
Narrative 
 
The City of Cedar Falls administers its own CDBG activities, through the assistance of the Iowa Northland Regional 
Council of Governments (INRCOG). The City will carry out the activities described in the Consolidated Plan and 
Annual Action Plan using their CDBG Entitlement resources.  During this past year, the staff and its administrative 
contractor spent much of its time and effort, related to the CDBG program, focusing on the COVID-19 
(Coronavirus) pandemic, which had a worldwide effect on human health, interaction, and economies. 
 
Public Contact Information 
 
City of Cedar Falls 
Department of Community Development 
Planning and Community Services Division 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Contact: Planning and Community Services Manager 
Telephone: (319) 273-8600 
Website: http://www.cedarfalls.com  
 
AP-10 Consultation - 91.220(b) 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Agency and organizational consultation regarding this plan were fostered through the public participation process 
defined in this, and the following, sections.   
 
Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination between public and assisted 

housing providers and private and governmental health, mental health and service agencies (91.215(l)). 

As a result of two factors: annual Agency public service programs and additional funds originating from the 

Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, which primarily were awarded to service agencies and 

organizations responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, the City has had several meetings, contacts (emails), and 

discussions with numerous agencies and organizations that are providing assistance to Cedar Falls residents, most 

of which is being provided in an attempt to mitigate the impact of the pandemic.  Interestingly, most of the these 

“meetings” were held electronically to help minimize the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic.  In total, the City 

awarded funding to four agencies through their annual Entitlement funding and to seven agencies and three 

schools through its supplemental CARES Act funding. 

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of homeless persons 

(particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families with children, veterans, and unaccompanied 

youth) and persons at risk of homelessness. 

15

Item 3.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


  5 

 

Contact was made with the CoC, which is governed by the Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board, 

through its various members’ agencies during this past year, primarily driven by the COVID-19 pandemic.  As noted 

above, much of the contact had to be made electronically due to social distancing guidelines.  

Describe consultation with the Continuum(s) of Care that serves the jurisdiction’s area in determining how to 

allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards for and evaluate outcomes of projects and activities assisted 

by ESG funds, and develop funding, policies and procedures for the operation and administration of HMIS 

The City of Cedar Falls is a not a recipient of ESG funds. 
 

2. Agencies, groups, and organizations who participated in process and consultations. 
 

 Salvation Army (sheltering of homeless persons, including parents and children; meal site) 

 Northeast Iowa Food Bank (food assistance) 

 East Side Ministerial Alliance (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure prevention) 

 Pathways Behavioral Services (mental health; substance abuse; counseling) 

 Exceptional Persons, Incorporated (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure 
prevention; work activity assistance for persons with disabilities) 

 Jesse Cosby Center (financial management; debt assistance) 

 EMBARC (immigration assistance; student assistance; language assistance; Burmese population) 

 Cedar Falls Community School District (assistance for K-12 children) 

 Valley Lutheran School (assistance for K-12 children) 

 St. Patrick’s Catholic School (assistance for K-8 children) 

 Operation Threshold (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure prevention; housing 
repair, rehabilitation, and weatherization; utility assistance; public assistance (i.e. WIC, LIHEAP, SNAP) 

 
3. Identify agency types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting. 

 

 Public health (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Childcare (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Healthcare (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Transportation (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 

The entities noted in this element were dramatically impacted by the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic 

and thus were not consulted. 

 

4. Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan. 
 
 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan overlap with the 
goals of each plan? 

Continuum of Care 
Black Hawk County Local 
Homeless Coordinating 
Board (LHCB) 

The LHCB composition was reviewed to better understand 
the homeless housing and social service needs in 
developing the Plan. 

City of Cedar Falls 
Comprehensive Plan 

City of Cedar Falls 
Strategic Plan goals are more specific, but consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

2019-2023 Consolidated 
Plan 

Cities of Cedar Falls and 
Waterloo 

Plan goals are updates and improvements to current 
Consolidated Plan goals 

16

Item 3.



  6 

 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan overlap with the 
goals of each plan? 

City of Cedar Falls 
Capital Improvements 
Program 

City of Cedar Falls 
Strategic Plan goals are consistent with those in the CIP, 
which defines specific projects that may be considered by 
the city under this Plan 

Comprehensive 
Economic Development 
Strategy 

Iowa Northland 
Regional Economic 
Development 
Commission 

Strategic Plan goal are consistent and specific to Cedar Falls.  
CEDS goals are general and defined for a 6-county region, 
focusing more closely on economic development, private 
investment, development, and job creation. 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization Long Range 
Transportation Plan 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization of Black 
Hawk County 

Strategic Plan goals are specific to Cedar Falls, while LRTP 
goals are intended to address transportation in several 
jurisdictions. The city will need to take LRTP goals into 
consideration when developing areas within the 
community, as well as developing transit services 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization Pedestrian 
Master Plan 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization of Black 
Hawk County 

The city is intending to address several of the Pedestrian 
Plan goals, most notably those associated with healthy 
lifestyles, recreation, access and accessibility, and non-
motorized transportation modes (sidewalk, trails, etc.) 

Black Hawk County 
Multi-Jurisdictional 
Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Black Hawk County 
Emergency 
Management 
Commission; City of 
Cedar Falls 

The Strategic Plan will seek to direct housing-related 
development and redevelopment away from natural 
hazards (i.e. floodplains, steep slopes, poor soils), protect 
personal health, and enhance safety, as is possible.  These 
are consistent with the MJ HMP 

City of Cedar Falls 
Citizen Participation Plan 

City of Cedar Falls 
The Strategic Plan will be developed and implemented in a 
manner that is consistent with the current Citizen 
Participation Plan. 

Table. Other local / regional / federal planning efforts 
 
AP-12 Participation - 91.220(b) 
 
A 30-day comment period legal notice, as allowed by US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
waiver, was advertised on May 19th, 2021, in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.  The comment period was defined 
in the notice, stating that the public could review and comment on the draft plan between May 25th, 2021, and 
June 25th, 2021.  The Commission held specific public comment opportunities on its agenda relative to the draft 
plans during a public meeting on May 11th, and a public hearing on June 8th, 2021, and the meeting was legally 
posted per City policy and placed on the City’s website.  The Housing Commission’s public hearing was published 
on May 19th, 2021, May 21st, 2021, and May 25th, 2021, in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.  City Administration 
reviewed the draft document prior to presentation of the initial drafts to the Housing Commission and final draft 
before the City Council. A public draft was also on-file with the City Clerk and advertised as such. Further, the 
Spring 2021 edition of the City’s newsletter (Currents), which is directly mailed to each resident, included an article 
about the plan.  Also, public input was formally considered through conduct of a City Council public hearing on July 
6th, 2021, which was legally advertised in the Waterloo Courier on June 29th, 2021.  No comments were received 
from the public. 
 
 
 
 

17

Item 3.



  7 

 

AP-15 Expected Resources - 91.220(c)(1,2) 
 
Introduction 
 
The City of Cedar Falls anticipates receiving an allocation of $274,792 in Community Development Block Grant funding and approximately $1.3M in Housing 
Choice Voucher funding for Federal Fiscal Year 2021.  There are no match requirements for either CDBG under the Entitlement Program or HCV funding. 
 
Anticipated Resources 

Program Source of 
Funds 

Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 3 Expected Amount 
Available 

Remainder of Con 
Plan $ 

Narrative 
Description Annual 

Allocation: 
$ 

Program 
Income: 

$ 

Prior Year 
Resources: 

$ 

Total: 
$ 

CDBG Public/Federal Housing Rehab and Repair, 
Agency Assistance, Public 

Service Improvements, 
Neighborhood Access, 

Neighborhood Improvements, 
Planning and Administration 

$274,792  $0 $190,375 
(Estimated) 

$465,167 
(Estimated) 

$541,602 
(Estimated) 

 

HCV Public/Federal Rent Assistance $1,300,000 
(Estimated) 

$0 $0 $1,300,000 
(Estimated) 

$2,600,000 
(Estimated) 

 

Table 1 – Goals Summary 
 
  

18

Item 3.



  8 

 

Additional Narrative 
 
In addition to the FFY 2021 annual allocation of CDBG Entitlement funds, the City of Cedar Falls is estimating that $190,375 in carryover or prior year funding 
will be available for allocation consistent with the goals and projects presented in the current Consolidated Plan.  Regardless of the exact amount carried 
forward from prior years, the City plans to use these funds for Housing or Rental Rehabilitation and Repair, Neighborhood Infrastructure, Neighborhood Access 
and Accessibility Improvements, and/or Neighborhood Recreational Improvements for low-and-moderate income (LMI) households or areas, as defined by 
HUD and the Census Bureau.  Further, the City is working to award and provide services to residents with its supplemental CARES (COVID-19) funding, the total 
of which is $660,045. 
 
Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local funds), including a description of how matching requirements 
will be satisfied. 
 
CDBG funds will be used to provide rehabilitation and repair grants for single-family homeowners.  Also, CDBG funds including CARES (COVID-19) dollars, will 
be used in conjunction with other agency funding sources in order to provide services to Cedar Falls households.  Finally, the City will support Neighborhood 
Accessibility Improvements and Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements to low-to-moderate income areas (census tracts) of the community. 
 
If appropriate, describe publicly owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that may be used to address the needs identified in the plan. 
 
Goals, and the activities under each goal, that are categorized as Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements (i.e. sanitary sewer, water, drainage), 
Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements (i.e. sidewalks, trails, curb cuts.  Specifically, the publicly owned rights-of-way will be used to address the needs 
identified in this plan. 

19

Item 3.



  9 

 

Annual Goals and Objectives 
 
AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives - 91.220(c)(3)&(e) 
 
Goals Summary Information  
 

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding 
Estimate 

Goal Outcome Indicator 

1 Maintain 
Affordable 
Housing: Owner 
Occupied Units 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing 

CDBG: 
$36,785 

 

Homeowner Housing Rehabilitated or Repaired: 
2 Household Housing Units; 4 persons or 2 
households benefitted 

2 Maintain 
Affordable 
Housing: Renter 
Occupied Units 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing 

CDBG:  
$25,000  

Rental Housing Rehabilitated or Repaired: 
2 Household Housing Units; ; 4 persons or 2 
households benefitted 

3 Preserve Existing 
Affordable 
Housing through 
Code 
Enforcement 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing and 
Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 

CDBG: 
$0 

 

Apply Code requirements to residential units in 
LMI Areas: 
0 Households Assisted 

4 Prevent 
Homelessness 
Through Agency 
and 
Organization 
Support 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Prevent 
Homelessness 
and Offer Family 
and Children’s 
Services 

CDBG: 
$40,620 

 

Public Service Activities Other than LMI Housing 
Benefit:4,020 persons or 1,520 households 
assisted. 
Homeless person overnight shelter: 20 persons 
or 20 households assisted. 

5 Neighborhood 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Promote 
Infrastructure 
Development 

CDBG:  
$250,000  

Public Facility or Infrastructure Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 80 persons or 40 
households assisted 

20

Item 3.



  10 

 

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding 
Estimate 

Goal Outcome Indicator 

6 Provide Access 
to 
Transportation 
Services  

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development; 
Support 
Economic 
Development; 
Business 
Development 

CDBG:  
$0  

Public Service Activities Other than LMI Housing 
Benefit: 0 persons assisted 

7 Neighborhood 
Accessibility 
Improvements 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Promote 
Infrastructure 
Development 
and Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 

CDBG:  
$58,602  

Public Facility or Infrastructure Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 40 persons or 20 
households assisted 

8 Neighborhood 
Recreational 
Amenities 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 
and 
Neighborhood 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

CDBG:  
$0 

 

Public Facility or Infrastructure Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 0 persons assisted.   

9 Demolition and 
Clearance 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Demolition and 
Clearance 

CDBG:  
$0 

 

Buildings Demolished: 
0 Buildings 

10 CDBG Planning 
and 
Administration 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Provide Effective 
Planning and 
Administration 

CDBG: 
$54,160  

Not Applicable 

Table 2 – Goals Summary 
 
 
 

21

Item 3.



  11 

 

AP-35 Projects - 91.220(d) 
 
Introduction  
 
The projects chosen for funding allocation all serve a purpose in efforts to prevent homelessness, preserve the 
current housing stock of affordable homes in the area and provide services that are essential to keeping residents 
in their homes. These programs were designated to improve the housing stock, prevent homelessness and 
improve areas that meet the national objective in the community. Funds will be utilized in an efficient manner and 
serve those with the greatest need. 
 

# Project Name 

1 Single-Family Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation 

2 Rental Housing Rehabilitation 

3 Code Enforcement 

4 Agency and Organization Support 

5 Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

6 Provide Access to Transportation Service 

7 Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

8 Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

9 Demolition and Clearance 

10 CDBG Planning and Administration 

Table 3 – Project Information 
 
Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing underserved needs 
 
 
In order to serve Cedar Falls residents, funding will be allocated toward making housing more affordable, 
preserving existing affordable housing stock, increasing affordable housing, supporting low-to-moderate income 
neighborhood investment, and assisting citizens with accessing services.  Funding will be focused on meeting two 
National CDBG Objectives, assisting low-to-moderate income persons and eliminating slum and blight in the 
community. 
 
In addition to housing projects, the City is contemplating using CDBG funds for neighborhood access projects, as 
outlined in our Consolidated Plan and this Action Plan, more specifically sidewalk infill within and connecting to 
low-and-moderate income neighborhoods, tracts, or block groups, as well as completing additional sanitary sewer 
lining projects in LMI areas as well. 
 
The primary barrier for assisted households is, and has been, the price of housing in the community, even as new 
units are being built.  During the past year, prices have continued rising and supply has dwindled.  These trends 
proved to be surprising during the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
 

22

Item 3.



  12 

 

Project Summary Information 
 

1 Project Name Single-Family Owner-Occupied Home Rehabilitation 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Owner Occupied Units 

Needs Addressed Maintain Affordable Housing 

Funding Target CDBG: $36,785 (Estimated) 

Description Rehabilitation of Owner-Occupied Units; LMI Households 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Approximately 2 households, or 4 persons, will benefit from the CBBG 
Rehabilitation Program 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Eligible activities expected to be conducted include (but not limited to) 
repair or replacement of the mechanical systems, roofs, doors, foundations, 
structural repair, wall and attic insulation, interior wall panels, windows and 
siding. 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

2 Project Name Rental Housing Rehabilitation 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Renter Occupied Units 

Needs Addressed Maintain Affordable Housing; Ensure Fair Housing for Residents 

Funding Target $0 (Estimated) $25,000 (Estimated) 

Description Repair of Renter Occupied Units; LMI Households 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Approximately 2 households, or 4 persons, will benefit from this limited 
CDBG Rehabilitation Program 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Eligible activities expected to be conducted include (but not limited to) 
repair or replacement of the mechanical systems, roofs, doors, foundations, 
structural repair, wall and attic insulation, interior wall panels, windows and 
siding. 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

3 Project Name Code Enforcement 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls; LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Preserve Affordable Housing Through Code Enforcement 

Needs Addressed Maintain Existing Affordable Housing 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to pay for code enforcement services provided to LMI 
areas. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 households in Cedar Falls. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities City staff inspection services for persons in LMI Areas in the community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

23

Item 3.



  13 

 

4 Project Name Agency and Organization Support 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls; LMI Limited Clientele 

Goals Supported Prevent Homelessness Through Support of Agencies and Organizations 

Needs Addressed Support for Services for Homeless, Near-Homeless, Special Needs; Provide 
Family and Children’s Services 

Funding Target CDBG: $40,620 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to pay for financial education, nutrition, homelessness 
and sheltering, healthcare, family and children’s, and substance abuse 
services for Cedar Falls residents who are seeking assistance that prevent 
homelessness. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 4,020 persons, or 1,520 households, 
in the Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Offer eligible services, through contracting agencies and organizations, 
which could prevent homelessness in the community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons; Limited Clientele 

5 Project Name Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Needs Addressed Promote Infrastructure Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $250,000 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to improve infrastructure, specifically sanitary sewer 
service, to LMI areas.  Street, water, stormwater management, and drainage 
improvements may also be funded. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 80 persons or 40 households in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas 

Planned Activities Line sanitary sewer lines to residential units located in LMI areas in the 
community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

6 Project Name Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide); LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Needs Addressed Support Economic Development, Business Opportunities, and Commercial 
Building Redevelopment; Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Provide access to transit services for LMI households in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 people in the Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Offer transit passes to LMI households or extend transit service routes 
and/or hours of service to LMI areas 

24

Item 3.



  14 

 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

7 Project Name Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Needs Addressed Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $58,602 (Estimated) 

Description Infill sidewalk and trail gaps in LMI areas in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 40 persons, or 20 households, in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas.   

Planned Activities This will be accomplished by infilling pedestrian improvements that will 
connect LMI households to service agencies, organizations, educational, 
recreational facilities, and employment opportunities and centers.  Projects 
will be completed in residential neighborhoods using sidewalk, curb 
cuts/ADA ramps, and trails in LMI areas.   

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

8 Project Name Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Needs Addressed Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Install park and recreational improvements, trees, and aesthetic amenities 
located in parks or other public property in LMI areas of the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 households, or 0 persons, in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas. Parks identified for improvement include Island Park, Seerley 
Park and a future park site near Aldrich Elementary School. 

Planned Activities Install or replace playground equipment, trees, and recreational amenities in 
local city parks or other public properties serving LMI areas and households 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

9 Project Name Demolition and Clearance 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Demolition and Clearance 

Needs Addressed Conduct Demolition and Clearance Activities 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description The funds will be used to prevent slum and blight throughout the Cedar Falls 
City limits by demolishing and clearing dilapidated buildings and structures 
in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Demolition of approximately 0 dilapidated units in the City 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 
 

25

Item 3.



  15 

 

Planned Activities Demolish approximately 0 dilapidated units within the City 
 

CDBG National Objectives Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas; 
Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

10 Project Name CDBG Planning and Administration 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported All of the AAP goals are supported by this function or activity 

Needs Addressed Provide Effective Planning and Administration 

Funding Target CDBG: $54,160 (Estimated) 

Description General management, oversight and coordination of the CDBG Program, 
policy planning, environmental reviews, report preparation, and 
administration will be financed using CDBG funds 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Not Applicable 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Administrative and planning activities, associated with the CDBG program 

CDBG National Objectives Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas; 
Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

Table 4 – Project Summary 

26

Item 3.



  16 

 

AP-50 Geographic Distribution - 91.220(f) 
 
Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income and minority 
concentration) where assistance will be directed  
 
Our programs will serve Low-Moderate Income (LMI) households, LMI Limited Clientele agencies or organizations, 
or serve LMI areas, as defined by the Census Bureau and HUD.  CDBG funding is used throughout the City of Cedar 
Falls as well as for purchasing services from a limited number of agencies that may not be located in Cedar Falls, 
but which will provide services to Cedar Falls residents. 
 
Geographic Distribution 
 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 

City of Cedar Falls and/or its Residents 100% 

LMI Area Benefit 66% 

Table 5 – Geographic Distribution 
 
Rationale for the priorities for allocating investments geographically  
 
As noted above, the City will only assist individual LMI households under Activity 1, Owner Occupied Housing 
Rehabilitation, and Activity 2, rental rehabilitation.  Also, the City plans to fund agencies serving LMI households or 
offering LMI Limited Clientele, as is allowed annually under activity 4.  Also, it plans to use funds to benefit LMI 
areas within the community for Activities 5 and 7, Neighborhood Infrastructure and Neighborhood Access 
Improvements.  To that end, there are currently 7 census tracts with 8 block groups that have an LMI percentage 
of 51 percent or greater (ACS 2011-2015). Specifically, Census tract 2200 block group 2 and 3; tract 2301 block 
group 3; tract 2303 block group 1; tract 2304 block group 2; tract 2500 block group 3; tract 2603 block group 4; and 
tract 2604 block group 5.   
 
Discussion 
 
The qualifying block groups are scattered throughout the community, and the City does intend to use CDBG 
funding to support LMI-specific areas. Most of the agency or family support programs funded through CDBG and 
these programs are based on an individual household LMI determination or on a Limited Clientele basis.  
Rehabilitation programs, and those benefitting a specific household or rental units, will require participants to 
meet LMI prescribed HUD income guidelines. 
 
For the life of this Annual Action Plan, the City has projected that it will expend 14 percent of its budget on specific 
low-and-moderate income households under its homeowner and renter rehabilitation and repair programs 
citywide, while planning to expend 66 percent of its overall budget for LMI-area benefit projects.  Planning and 
administration expense are projected to expend 20 percent of the annual allocation.  

27

Item 3.



  17 

 

AP-55 Affordable Housing Goals – 91.220(g) 
 
Goals: The following goals were established in this Action Plan for CDBG Use in the City. 
 

1 Goal Name Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Owner Occupied Units 

Goal 
Description 

Continue to provide housing grants for rehabilitation, repair, accessibility and structural 
hazard removal grants to eligible low-and-moderate income households in order to preserve 
owner-occupied single-family housing stock.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

2 Goal Name Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Renter Occupied Units 

Goal 
Description 

Create housing grants for rehabilitation, repair, accessibility, and structural hazard removal 
grants to eligible low-and-moderate income households in order to preserve renter-occupied 
housing stock.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

3 Goal Name Preserve Existing Affordable Housing through Code Enforcement 

Goal 
Description 

Working with the Elected Officials, Housing Commission, and Staff, continue to equitably 
enforce municipal code provisions that affect the safety of housing conditions, including 
property and rental inspections, municipal infractions, and building and structural codes (i.e. 
fire, mechanical, plumbing, electrical codes).  Associated expenses in low-and-moderate 
income areas would benefit from implementing this goal. 

Plan 
Reference 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objectives 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

4 Goal Name Prevent Homelessness Through Support of Agencies and Organizations 

Goal 
Description 

Continue supporting agencies providing homeless services, including sheltering, in the 
community, as well as providing financial counseling, nutritional, substance abuse, family 
services, and healthcare. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1 and 3  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons; Limited Income Clientele 

5 Goal Name Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Goal 
Description 

This goal provides for funding of infrastructure projects including street, water, sanitary 
sewer, stormwater management, and other projects in specific neighborhoods qualifying as 
low-and-moderate income areas.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 2 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

6 Goal Name Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Goal 
Description 

Program provides funding for transportation to income-eligible households that are 
dependent upon these services in order to maintain employment. 

28

Item 3.



  18 

 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

7 Goal Name Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Goal 
Description 

Improved sidewalks, steps, curb-cuts, and trails that address accessibility barriers to residents 
in LMI areas, as identified by the Census Bureau. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 2 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

8 Goal Name Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Goal 
Description 

Provide funds for increasing access to healthy lifestyles and educational advancement related 
to parks, recreation, trees, and active living parks in LMI areas of the community. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 2 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions and Private 
Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

9 Goal Name Conduct Demolition and Clearance Activities 

Goal 
Description 

The primary purpose of this project is the demolition and clearance of dilapidated structures, 
thus eliminating specific conditions of blight or physical decay on a local basis.  Individual 
demolition/clearance activities will be subject to CDBG eligibility verification.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 2 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

 Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

10 Goal Name CDBG Planning and Administration 

Goal 
Description 

Provide CDBG Administrative Services, by city staff or contractors assisting city staff. The 
program provides effective planning and administration for CDBG programs that benefit low-
and-moderate income areas and households in the community. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1, 2, 3, and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

 Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

Table 6 – Goal Description 

  

29

Item 3.



  19 

 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) 
 
The City of Cedar Falls does not own or manage public housing facilities, nor are there any located in the 
community, and therefore, this Action Planning process did not include evaluation of the needs of public housing, 
increasing engagement of public housing residents in the process, or addressing a “troubled” public housing 
agency. 
 
AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Need Activities – 91.220(i) 
 
To address homeless and special needs populations, the City of Cedar Falls uses the maximum allowable dollars for 
distribution to several agencies, as has been noted.  In addition, in FFY 2020 and upcoming in FFY 2021, the City is 
awarding much of their Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funding to seven agencies and 
three schools to, “prevent, prepare for, or respond to Coronavirus”.  The allocation process includes a formal 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process, whereby prospective agencies outline the services that they can offer to the 
City.  The City conducts onsite monitoring visits to each agency receiving funds.  These monitoring visits help 
ensure that quality services are being delivered while providing an opportunity for staff to become more aware of 
the service details, needs, and impacts.  Finally, the awarded agencies are given an opportunity to attend a City 
Housing Commission meeting to discuss their program; offer insight regarding needs, particularly those that are 
unmet; and assuring the City that the CDBG funds are having a positive impact on its residents. 
 
The City addresses homelessness and special needs in the following ways.  First, the City funds agencies where 
expenses relate to operating homeless shelters (Salvation Army in prior years).  Second, the City also funds 
agencies such that they may offer specific training and education that may affect a household’s needs, by 
hopefully offering resources regarding financial management, abuse, and family relationships, and credit 
counseling. Third, the City offered CDBG funding for at-home healthcare, outpatient mental health services, and 
substance abuse counseling.  Fourth, the City is funding several agencies that are providing rent or mortgage 
assistance, the need for which originates with the COVID-19 pandemic.  Finally, the City, using its CDBG and CDBG 
CARES funds, hopes to address hunger and nutritional needs by funding the regional food bank pantry.  As is 
generally expected, resident needs outpace the amount of funding the City can offer the agencies through the 
CDBG or CDBG CARES programs alone. 
 
AP-70: HOPWA Goals – 91.220(l)(3) 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is not a HOPWA recipient. 
 
AP-75 Barriers to Affordable Housing – 91.220(j) 
 
At this time, the need for quality, affordable housing is outpacing the existence of such units in Cedar Falls.  
Between demand on the units by full-time residents, and that which comes with being a university community and 
its student housing needs, the City has unmet demand for affordable housing.  This problem has only been 
exacerbated during the pandemic, as vacancy rate for all types of units has fallen dramatically in the community, 
while prices have climbed very quickly. 
 
With that said, there are several different kinds of barriers to the development or creation of affordable housing in 
Cedar Falls, some of which are outside of the City’s ability to control.  First, the housing market, for low-income 
residents in Cedar Falls, is relatively expensive, with home valuation and rent costs being relatively high.  Second, 
housing demand in the community has driven-up construction costs for both single-family and multiple-family 
developments.  For example, significant demand for rental properties, some of which is attributed to the 
University of Northern Iowa student population, has increased prices dramatically, to the point of making units 
unaffordable for some low-and-moderate income households.  Third, market demand has driven the price of land 
and materials upward in the community, not to mention the high costs associated with “greenfield” residential 
development (that which occurs on previously undeveloped land), most notably the cost of infrastructure.   Part of 
the dramatic increases the City is currently experiencing in construction materials are being cause by supply chain 

30

Item 3.



  20 

 

problems, associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.  Finally, even with additional CDBG CARES funds, that could be 
allocated toward affordable housing projects, coupled with ever-increasing program requirements, have also been 
a key impediment to addressing low-and-moderate income housing needs. 

As they may be identified, the City of Cedar Falls takes action to ameliorate negative effects of public policy on 
housing affordability.  Also, the City may wish to explore public-private-nonprofit partnerships in the development 
of affordable housing.  Nonprofit developers can build mixed income housing and attract additional 
resources/financing that private developers cannot, when it comes to creating new affordable housing.  Said 
housing may be marketed at workforce housing as opposed to being labeled affordable.  Nevertheless, the City 
does recognize the effect that their housing market, along with high materials prices and supply chain issues 
caused by the pandemic are having on the price of housing, which may affect whether or not people can afford to 
live in the community.   

The City’s Comprehensive Plan identifies future use including areas that may be developed at higher densities, 
which may help address the availability of affordable housing.  Specifically, the plan identifies the following areas 
that may be suitable for higher density development: along University Avenue, west of Hudson Road; immediately 
east of the University of Northern Iowa; and intermixed with uses in the Main Street area, between 1st Street and 
7th Street. The codes, specifically zoning, building, and other regulatory ordinances that the City has adopted are 
designed and drafted to treat properties and people uniformly and fairly.  The City has completed a community 
visioning plan for the Downtown and College Hill areas.  The community involvement with each plan pointed to a 
need for housing options and the plans recommend Missing Middle Housing.  The City is working on a downtown 
zoning code that will enable the housing types of Missing Middle and also allow housing options such as Accessory 
Dwelling Units (ADUs) for housing flexibility and affordability.  It is anticipated that a downtown code will be 
adopted in 2021.  Building permit fees are based upon the value of the improvements made to properties in an 
attempt to create fairness.  Finally, property tax assessment is based upon valuation, as determined by the County 
Assessor.  Regarding the levy rate for determining actual property tax amounts, they are set by the City Council as 
part of their annual budgeting process.  Said levy rates are set by classification (property use), the percentage of 
which that is collected by the City is determined by the State of Iowa.  Currently, residentially classified property is 
rolled-back by the state such that local governments may only tax at a rate of 56.4 percent of a property’s market 
or 100 percent value. In addition, in 2015, the State adopted a rollback for multi-residential properties that was to 
be implemented over several years.  The tax rate began at 86.25 percent of a property’s market value, and over 
eight years, it will incrementally reduce in percentage until it is the same rollback as that of residentially classified 
properties (i.e. in the 50-60 percent range).  This, then, reduces property tax income for the City. 

The City recognizes the higher cost of housing in their community, which may be attributed to market demand, 
land value, materials pricing and supply chain problems, and development cost (primarily infrastructure).  
Obviously, then, this higher cost may not allow for persons with limited means to reside in the community.  As a 
result, the City’s participation in the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Program becomes 
that much more important.  The CDBG Entitlement has offered not only physical housing assistance in the way of 
rehabilitation and repair programs, but the community has offered assistance to residents for direct services, the 
cost of which were borne by the Program, thus not requiring persons to have to make difficult decisions between 
paying for housing-related expenses and the other services they may need.  It also allows for infrastructure and 
accessibility investments, avoiding increases in other rates, taxes, or assessments for property owners because 
CDBG funds are used. 

 

31

Item 3.



  21 

 

AP-85 Other Actions - 91.220(k) 
 
Introduction 
 
The City of Cedar Falls addresses obstacles to meeting the needs of the underserved through supporting several 
public service agencies and nonprofit organizations that strive to prevent homelessness and provide affordable 
housing to Cedar Falls residents. Also, the City is working to maintain the affordable housing stock in the area and 
provide decent and safe conditions to its residents. 
 
Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls will continue to work with public service agencies and nonprofit organizations to ensure we 
are reaching the goal of assisting residents with the greatest need. Incidentally, the City received an additional 
$660,000 in Coronavirus Aid, Relieve, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funds, most of which was being allocated 
to seven agencies and three schools.  The funding supports housing improvements, preventing homelessness, food 
security, housing security through rent/mortgage support, equipment for safe operations during the health 
emergency, and remove education/work during the health emergency.   Also, the City will work with code 
enforcement and other departments to identify potential at-risk residents. By networking with other agencies, we 
can combine multiple funding sources to provide more services to low-and-moderate income residents. 
 
Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing. 
 
Cedar Falls continues to work on fostering affordable housing in the community. The Housing Rehabilitation and 
Repair Programs assist qualified homeowners and renters with substantial rehabilitation or repairs to existing 
units. This year, Cedar Falls will work to kick off a rental repair program.  We have not had such a program before.  
Funding has also been provided to provide financial education classes and planning, as well as family support 
services. Habitat for Humanity encourages affordable housing through new construction and housing rehabilitation 
programs that they manage within the community. 
 
Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards. 
 
The Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments directly, or through its subcontractor, provides lead risk 
assessment and completes lead-based paint clearance testing on the rehabilitation projects in Cedar Falls. In 
addition, the program budgets for relocation expenses of homeowners at-risk to the negative impacts from lead-
based paint. The City will continue to work with local, county, regional and other government agencies to achieve 
lead safe homes. The city provides "Protect Your Family from Lead in Your Home" brochure to educate CDBG 
applicants about the dangers of lead in the home. 
 
Actions planned to develop institutional structure.  
 
The City, including Community Development Department and its Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program 
(which may also be known as the Cedar Falls Low Rent Housing Agency or Cedar Falls Housing Authority), and their 
contractor, the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG), will continue to work to strengthen 
the institutional structure used to manage the CDBG Entitlement Program.  Together, they will also continue to 
address the housing delivery gap between public and non-public organizations in the community.  Said 
organizations will also address the gap that exists with regard to private housing industry participation in 
developing the City’s institutional structure.  Specifically, the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program will work 
with private industry to increase and maintain affordable housing stock for low-to-moderate income households.  
Through experience, participation in local, regional (PHA Director Association), state (Iowa NAHRO, Iowa 
Association of Housing Officials), and national (NAHRO, American Planning Association) housing and planning 
organizations, educational opportunities, and peer-to-peer exchanges with other CDBG Entitlement recipients, 
staff-members will become more proficient in executing, managing, assessing, and anticipating change within the 
program.  Further, the above-mentioned entities, together with Cedar Falls’ consortium partner in the HOME 

32

Item 3.



  22 

 

Investment Partnership Program, the City of Waterloo Community Development Department, will continue to do 
likewise with the institutional structure associated with administering the HOME Program. 
 
Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families. 
 
Cedar Falls has incorporated the Continuum of Care approach, providing an integrated system of services and 
programs to meet the various needs of individuals as they progress toward financial self-sufficiency. Cedar Falls 
has worked with local service providers to pursue resources and innovative partnerships to support the 
development of affordable housing; prevent homelessness, abuse, and substance abuse; offer housing education 
and literacy; pay mortgage and rent for residents in arrears on both using CARES (COVID-19) funds; hire 
interpreters for addressing the needs of their non-English speaking population, and provide emergency food and 
shelter to those persons in danger of becoming homeless. 
 
Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and social service agencies. 
 
Staff outreach is key in enhancing coordination between public and private housing and social service agencies, 
relative to housing in the city. Specifically, staff manages the Housing Choice Vouchers Program, which maintains a 
relationship with private housing management firms.  Further, the growth in the City has required staff to build 
relationships with private developers working the community.  Finally, the City has built and maintains a good 
communication dialog with local public service agencies and private non-profit organizations that are directly or 
indirectly involved in housing in the community. By working with and educating participating landlords and 
property owners, private developers, service organizations, about the City, its programs, and requirements, it will 
position itself to better meet the needs of the low-moderate-income individuals and households in the city. 
 
AP-90 Program Specific Requirements - CDBG 91.220(l)(1) 

 
CDBG-funded projects that are expected to be available during the year are identified in the Projects Summary 
Table (AP-35) above. The following identifies any program income that may available for use in said projects.  

 
1. The total amount of program income that will have been received before the start of the next program 

year and that has not yet been reprogrammed $0 
2. The amount of proceeds from Section 108 loan guarantees that will be used during the year to address the 

priority needs and specific objectives identified in the grantee's strategic plan. $0 
3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal settlements $0 
4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line of credit for which the planned use has not been 

included in a prior statement or plan $0 
5. The amount of income from float-funded activities $0 
Total Program Income: $0 

 
Other CDBG Requirements  

 
1. The amount of urgent need activities 0 
  
2. The estimated percentage of CDBG funds that will be used for activities that benefit persons 

of low and moderate income. Overall Benefit - A consecutive period of one, two or three 
years may be used to determine that a minimum overall benefit of 70 percent of CDBG 
funds is used to benefit persons of low-and-moderate income. Specify the years covered 
that include this Annual Action Plan. 70.00% 

 
  

33

Item 3.



  23 

 

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-HOME 91.220(l)(2) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not a direct HOME Investment Partnership Program recipient.  It is part of a consortium 

with the City of Waterloo, Iowa.  That being said, the Cities of Cedar Falls and Waterloo renegotiated their 

Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO) agreement during this past year.  As part of that process, 

the City of Cedar Falls is also working closely with INRCOG and the Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity Chapter to 

implement their HOME projects and plans. 

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-ESG 91.220(l)(4) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not an ESG recipient. 

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-HOPWA 91.220(l)(3) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not a HOPWA recipient. 

AP-90: HTF Specific Review 91.220(l)(5) 

The City of Cedar Falls does not administer HTF funds. 

34

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 30th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: West 27th Street Reconstruction Project 
  City Project Number RC-000-3240 
  Public Hearing for Right of Way Acquisition 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct W. 27th Street from Hudson Road to 
the new Cedar Falls High School. The proposed roadway improvements include 
placement of two roundabouts at the entrance to the new school, a new roundabout at 
the intersection of W. 27th Street and Greenhill Road, and traffic signal improvements at 
Hudson Road. Construction is planned to take place in in 2022 through 2023. The 
project will require the acquisition of temporary and permanent easements from five (5) 
properties to complete construction.  
 
Iowa law requires that the City Council hold a public hearing to authorize proceeding 
with the project, including the purchase of right of way. The public hearing offers an 
opportunity for the public, especially those from whom the easements will be purchased, 
to comment on the project. 
 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

35

Item 4.



Temporary Easement and Right-of-Way Acquisition

University of Northern Iowa

West 27th Street Reconstruction

& Cedar Falls High School

West 27th Street

H
u

d
s

o
n

 
R

o
a

d

LEGEND

G
r
e

e
n

h
i
l
l
 
R

o
a

d

P
 
E

 
C

e
n

t
e

r
 
 
D

r
i
v

e

West 27th Street

G
r
e

e
n

h
i
l
l
 
R

o
a

d

G
r
e

e
n

h
i
l
l
 
R

o
a

d

P
 
E

 
C

e
n

t
e

r
 
 
D

r
i
v

e

All easements and acquisitions shall be to the

City of Cedar Falls unless otherwise noted.

CEDAR FALLS

HIGH SCHOOL

CEDAR FALLS

HIGH SCHOOL

CEDAR FALLS

HIGH SCHOOL

CEDAR FALLS

HIGH SCHOOL

36

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\60637669\900-CAD-GIS\03-SKETCHES\60637669-RIGHT-OF-WAY-EXHIBIT.dwg

AutoCAD SHX Text
5/27/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINTED:

AutoCAD SHX Text
60637669

AutoCAD SHX Text
May 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERMANENT RIGHT-OF-WAY ACQUISITION

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERMANENT EASEMENT



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 30, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Cyber Lane Extension  
  City Project Number RC-268-3245 
  Public Hearing 
 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Cyber Lane Extension Project. 
 
This project consists of the extension of Cyber Lane from the existing dead end, north to 
Technology Parkway. Project includes approximately 1700 square yards of 7” thick PCC 
pavement, 500 linear feet of storm sewer, and 400 square yards of 4” thick PCC 
sidewalk. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $347,866.80. The City will 
use Tax Increment Financing – South Cedar Falls Funds for this project. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans, Specifications, and 
Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the project. 
 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

37

Item 5.



FINAL PLANS - 06/02/2021

ITEM 

NO.
ITEM CODE ITEM

ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY
UNIT UNIT PRICE

EXTENDED 

PRICE

1 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site 150 CY 25.00$                 3,750.00$             

2 2010-D-3 Topsoil, Off-site 450 CY 25.00$                 11,250.00$           

3 2010-E Excavation, Class 10 362 CY 12.00$                 4,344.00$             

4 2010-E Excavation, Class 10, Unsuitable Materials 68 CY 15.00$                 1,020.00$             

5 2010-E Excavation, Class 10, Waste 4630 CY 10.00$                 46,300.00$           

6 2010-G Subgrade Preparation 2024 SY 1.50$                   3,036.00$             

7 2010-H Subgrade Treatment, Geogrid, Type 3 202 SY 6.00$                   1,212.00$             

8 2010-I Subbase, Modified, 12" 2226 SY 15.00$                 33,390.00$           

9 3010-C Trench Foundation 17 TON 30.00$                 510.00$                

10 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material 45 CY 40.00$                 1,800.00$             

11 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 15" 105 LF 65.00$                 6,825.00$             

12 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 30" 86 LF 90.00$                 7,740.00$             

13 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 15" 88 LF 50.00$                 4,400.00$             

14 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 30" 210 LF 85.00$                 17,850.00$           

15 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, All Sizes and Materials 35 LF 15.00$                 525.00$                

16 4030-B Pipe Apron, RCP, 30" 1 EA 1,600.00$             1,600.00$             

17 4030-C Footing for Concrete Pipe Apron, RCP, 30" 1 EA 1,000.00$             1,000.00$             

18 4030-D Pipe Apron Guard 1 EA 500.00$                500.00$                

19 4040-A Subdrain, 6", Corrugated PE, Type S 627 LF 14.00$                 8,778.00$             

20 4040-C Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-2, 6" 3 EA 300.00$                900.00$                

21 4040-D Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 6" 9 EA 300.00$                2,700.00$             

22 5010-A-1 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 12" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) 29 LF 100.00$                2,900.00$             

23 5010-C-1 Fitting, DI, 12" MJ 45° Bend 3 EA 1,000.00$             3,000.00$             

24 5020-H Fire Hydrant Adjustment 1 EA 2,000.00$             2,000.00$             

25 6010-B Intake, SW-507 5 EA 4,000.00$             20,000.00$           

26 6010-B Intake, SW-508 3 EA 4,750.00$             14,250.00$           

27 7010-A Pavement, PCC, 7" 1698 SY 45.00$                 76,410.00$           

28 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 4" 376 SY 55.00$                 20,680.00$           

29 7040-H Pavement Removal 183.4 SY 15.00$                 2,751.00$             

30 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control 1.00 LS 4,000.00$             4,000.00$             

31 8940-A Sign Panels 41.36 SF 30.00$                 1,240.80$             

32 8940-B Sign Posts 64 LF 30.00$                 1,920.00$             

33 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, BFM, Type 1 Mix 0.8 AC 3,750.00$             3,000.00$             

34 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management 1.00 LS 2,000.00$             2,000.00$             

35 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 12" 1650 LF 3.50$                   5,775.00$             

36 9040-D-2 Filter Socks, Removal 1650 LF 1.00$                   1,650.00$             

37 9040-J Rip Rap, Class E Revetment 25 TON 54.00$                 1,350.00$             

38 9040-O-2 Stabilized Construction Entrance 50 TON 25.00$                 1,250.00$             

39 9040-Q-2 Erosion Control Mulching, Hydromulching, BFM 1.3 AC 3,000.00$             3,900.00$             

40 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Surface-Applied 8 EA 250.00$                2,000.00$             

41 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance 8 EA 45.00$                 360.00$                

42 11,020-A Mobilization 1.00 LS 16,000.00$           16,000.00$           

43 11,050-A Concrete Washout 1.00 LS 2,000.00$             2,000.00$             

Subtotal: 347,866.80$         

TOTAL (ROUNDED):  348,000.00$         

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS

CYBER LANE EXTENSION

FROM EXISTING DEAD END TO TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

120.1151.08

38

Item 5.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: June 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Mayor’s Monthly Report for June 2021 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-187(c): Mayor Powers and Duties 

  (b) FY2021 Cedar Falls City Council Goals and Objectives  

 

1. Introduction. In response to the City Council’s expressed desire in references (a) and (b) for 

oral or written reports at least monthly, I am reporting on my past and planned activities. 

2. Past Activities in June. 

a. Ribbon Cuttings.   I attended ribbon cuttings at the Diamond Event Center, Ashley 

HomeStore, Salon Iris, and RC Dermatology. In our (hopefully) post-COVID Summer 

and Fall,  I’m looking forward to more events like these & will ensure Council receives 

these invitations from Grow Cedar Valley as well. 

b. Business & Industry Awards Luncheon. The City and CFU hosted these annual awards 

at the Diamond Event Center, and it was great to have several members of Council in 

attendance. Congratulations again to Frank Darrah for receiving the Cedar Falls 

Representative Citizen Award. Channel 15 also created an excellent video on the life of 

the late Sid Morris, in recognition of his Lifetime Achievement Award. It was very 

touching and a wonderful tribute to a life well-lived. 

c. Resolving Behavior Concerns at The Falls Aquatic Center. After several complaints 

about the tone of The Falls during its opening days, I directed staff to come up with 

measures to ensure enforcement of proper patron conduct.  Staff placed signs throughout 

the facility noting The Falls’ zero-tolerance policy against profanity, fighting, and 

disrespect toward staff (especially lifeguards).  Early on, the Cedar Falls Police assigned 

officers to the evening hours prior to close, and later stepped down to random foot patrols 

during the regular police shift. From staff and patron observations, the conduct has 

improved dramatically.  I expect next year, this same approach will be used to ensure a 

positive family-friendly environment right from the start. 

d. City Emergency Operations Plan Draft. I continue to work with staff on the new 

version of the City Multi-Hazard Emergency Response Plan, including coordinating with 

external partners such as the Red Cross, Salvation Army, and Volunteer Center for the 

39

Item 6.



Cedar Valley. After adding a new section to the plan on Cyber Attacks, I’ve provided the 

100 page document to Black Hawk County Emergency Management for feedback by mid-

July.   With their input, I’m confident we’ll have a completed plan ready for Council 

review at the first meeting in September. 

e. Sturgis Falls Celebration Weekend.  The weekend was a great success from my 

perspective, with well-attended events, warm (though overcast) weather, and terrific bands 

of all genres. With SFC under a one-year contract, we will need to discuss contract terms 

for next year, to determine if any changes are desired on the city’s end. 

3. Planned Activities for July: 

a. Mayor / Council NIMS/ICS Presentation. On July 6th, as part of the Emergency 

Operations Plan approval process, Black Hawk County Emergency Management 

Agency will explain the very basics of the National Incident Management System, 

which the City of Cedar Falls has adopted for managing all emergency incidents. 

Hopefully this will pique your interest to pursue additional free online training, such as 

IS-100 and IS-700 (FEMA’s introductory certified courses).   

b. City Council / Human Rights Commission Joint Meeting. This is scheduled for 

7/19 and will give the HRC the opportunity to update the Council on the activities and 

direction of the HRC, as well as to discuss several topics of mutual interest.  I will be 

working with both groups to develop an agenda for this 50 minute meeting. 

c. PSS Departmental Training Overview. I will be meeting with the Administrator, 

Public Safety Director, and Departmental Training Officer in late July to review the 

credentials and certifications of the Public Safety Department, for a better 

understanding of the training cycle & pipeline for the various public safety job classes. 

If I believe any changes or additions are needed, I will work with staff in the coming 

months to provide recommendations to the city council at Goal Setting.  

d. Boards & Commissions Appointment Process Update.  In July, I expect to release a 

new update to my written policy for appointing boards and commissions. Also, the 

past year and a half has shown the heavy lift for the mayor pro-tem to serve on every 

search panel. I will be proposing having the standing committee chairs serve on search 

panels instead.  This will be a discussion point for our Committee Structures work 

session, now scheduled for August 2nd. 

4. As always, please don’t hesitate to call, visit or e-mail if you have questions about these or 

other items I’m working on in the Mayor’s Office. 

 Xc: City Clerk 

       City Administrator 

### 

40

Item 6.



 
Sent: Monday, June 21, 2021 8:37 AM 
To: Jennifer Rodenbeck 
Subject: CFHTF Board 
 
 

Dear Jennifer, 
 
After serving on the Cedar Falls Health Trust Fund Board for what seems like decades I am sending you 
my resignation notice, effective immediately. 
 
It has been both gratifying and rewarding to be part of this endeavor in carrying out our mission to 
benefit community health initiatives during this time. 
 
Thanks to you and the City of Cedar Falls for your constant oversight and keeping the Board informed of 
the amount of funds available for grant awards available to the applicants. 
 
The amount of money available from the sale of Sartori to what was then Covenant has been 
monumental and the community is much better as the awardees carried out their plans for the use of 
funds. 
 
Please share this with Mayor Rob Green and fellow CFHTF Board members and also send them my 
thanks for their service. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Floyd Winter 
 
 

41

Item 7.



06/09/21 
 
To: Mayor Rob Green, 
 
From: Chris Corkery 
 
Re: Cedar Falls Arts and Culture Board 
 
 
Dear Mr. Mayor, 
 
Due to increasing personal and professional commitments I feel I can no longer be an 
effective board member for the City of Cedar Falls at this time. Therefore I am submitting 
my resignation from the Arts and Culture Board effective immediately and I thank you for 
the opportunity to serve our community. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
Chris Corkery 
 
 

42

Item 7.



CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 
Cedar Falls Council Chambers 

June 21, 2021 
 

The City Council held a special work session at City Hall at 5:15 p.m. on June 21, 2021, 
with the following persons in attendance:  Frank Darrah, Kelly Dunn, Mayor Pro Tem 
Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, Dave Sires, and Susan deBuhr.  Staff 
members attended from all City Departments.  Members of the community attended the 
meeting and teleconferenced in.  Absent:  Mayor Rob Green. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Harding introduced the only item on the agenda, Downtown Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Harding introduced Planning and Community Services Manager Karen 
Howard.  Ms. Howard introduced Ms. Mary Madden and Mr. Geoff Ferrell from Ferrell 
Madden to present by teleconference.  Ms. Madden provided an overview, including 
supporting slides, of the intent of the proposed parking requirements; the current 
parking requirements for the CBD overlay and City-wide residential areas; the proposed 
parking requirements for commercial/civic and residential zones; and discussed the 
concept of reserved versus shared parking for both commercial/civic and residential 
zones.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Harding opened Council discussion. 
 
Councilmember deBuhr requested the definition of shared parking.  Ms. Madden 
responded it is an acceptable pool of parking within a large walkable district so lots 
aren’t sitting empty.  Ms. deBuhr questioned use by the public of privately owned 
parking.  Ms. Madden responded it would not apply to any existing use.  Ms. Madden 
referenced the slide for proposed minimum shared parking and stated that as the size of 
a building increased so would the shared parking requirements.  She stated the 
recommendation is for half of the time [to be shared] to increase the availability of 
parking in the Downtown core at different hours of the day.  Ms. Howard gave an 
example and stated signage would be posted.  Ms. deBuhr questioned who pays the 
property tax and liability insurance when private parking is shared for public use?  Ms. 
Howard stated the property owner is responsible.   
 
Councilmember Kruse expressed concerns regarding existing lots the public utilize and 
questioned who finances maintenance.  Ms. Madden responded that the proposed 
guidelines for shared public parking are only for new development moving forward.  Mr. 
Kruse questioned to clarify that a new development would have to allow ¼ of their 
parking to be used by the public even when fully rented/purchased.  Ms. Madden 
responded that the shared time is only ½ the day, 12 hours.  She stated it might mean 
residential parking is publicly available during the day and vice versa.  Mr. Kruse 
requested examples of cities the size of Cedar Falls implementing this strategy.  He 
questioned resident attitude towards buying/renting and not having adequate parking.  
Ms. Madden responded by noting ways other developments have differentiated resident 

43

Item 8.



parking from shared public parking.  Mr. Kruse questioned only requiring ¾ parking spot 
per bedroom and lack of guest parking requirement that is in current code.  Ms. Madden 
responded that the proposal does not prohibit developers from building more parking; it 
gives them a baseline and lets the developer determine the parking needs of the 
project.  Mr. Kruse questioned the need for additional parking with regard to out-of-town 
customers and requested more thought, involvement and feedback by downtown 
merchants before moving forward. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Harding requested clarification on how the number of stalls was 
determined and if there is a map that shows where new developments can be 
constructed.  Ms. Madden responded historical data of downtown was incorporated into 
the Downtown Vision Plan and used to determine recommendations.  She stated that 
there are opportunities to develop and redevelop around the core east and west of Main 
Street.  Ms. Howard noted examples of private downtown lots the City has negotiated 
use of during off hours; she stated shared use parking will be built into the 
development’s model from the beginning and will be easily accessible, marked, and 
factored into the cost structure. 
 
Councilmember Sires requested more input from downtown business owners.  
Councilmember Dunn questioned how many sessions or work sessions were held 
where public input was allowed.  Ms. Howard responded Planning &Zoning Commission 
(P&Z) held 3 public hearings and 4 work sessions; additional work sessions were held 
with developers and Community Main Street.  Ms. Dunn requested a project timeline.  
Ms. Howard responded the Vision Plan was adopted in November of 2019 and the 
proposed zoning was made available to the public in February of 2021. 
 
Councilmember deBuhr requested examples of shared parking [in other communities]. 
Councilmember Kruse requested more input from the public and business owners.  Ms. 
Howard stated for clarification that the code was drafted and made available to the 
public in February of 2021 and has been open to public review during P&Z public 
hearings.  She stated if specific suggestions are made, Planning will bring information to 
the Council to consider. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Harding requested a consensus to either move forward with the current 
proposed zoning ordinance or hold another Work Session.  Councilmember deBuhr 
asked if there could be a Committee meeting with public input.  Mr. Harding asked Ms. 
Howard for a timeline moving forward.  Ms. Howard responded if there’s a consensus to 
move forward, the next step is to set a public hearing; if there’s more to discuss or more 
information is needed, the next step is to set a Work Session or Committee of the 
Whole meeting.  Mayor Pro Tem Harding requested a consensus to schedule a 
Committee of the Whole meeting.  Mayor Pro Tem sees a consensus. 
 
There being no further discussion, Mayor Pro Tem Harding adjourned the meeting at 
6:11 p.m. 
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

44

Item 8.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

June 21, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 6:18 p.m. on June 21, 2021, with the following 
Committee persons in attendance:  Frank Darrah, Sudan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, 
Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires.  Absent:  Mayor Robert M. Green.  Staff members 
from all City Departments and members of the community attended in person and 
teleconferenced in.   

Mayor Pro Tem Simon Harding called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the 
agenda, Grow Cedar Valley Update and introduced Cary Darrah, President/CEO of Grow Cedar 
Valley. 

Ms. Darrah gave some opening remarks and introduced Lisa Skubal, Vice President/Economic 
Development of Grow Cedar Valley. 

Ms. Skubal reviewed external marketing and business growth and stated they have 7 new 
project leads since December.  Ms. Skubal explained the QR Code that is available to scan and 
see the 2020 exiting Business Survey Report, cost of living calculator, and other options.  They 
have executed the first 6 counties’ regional wage and benefits survey.  Ms. Skubal explained 
their collaboration with Techworks and extended an invitation to UNI’s Advanced Manufacturing 
at Techworks on Wednesdays from 10:30-2:30 to see the latest in 3-D printing and robotics. 

Ms. Darrah explained the diversity, equity, and inclusion projects, talent initiative, IGNITE, ONE 
Cedar Valley programs and the upcoming Economic Inclusion Conference.  Ms. Darrah 
explained the outreach regional magazine and website called Live the Valley.  Ms. Darrah 
introduced Aaron Jarnagin, Director of Marketing with Grown Cedar Valley. 

Mr. Jarnagin explained the digital marketing project, Project Engage, and Live the Valley, a 
digital marketing initiative to promote the Cedar Valley.  

Ms. Darrah gave closing remarks and stated they are still working on airport advocacy and 
strengthening the current flights.         

Mayor Pro Tem Simon Harding introduced the second item on the agenda, Cash Management 
Report, Lisa Roeding, City Treasurer. 

Ms. Roeding gave the cash management report for FY2022.  Ms. Roeding gave an overview of 
investments and rates of return, operating cash reserves, and providing a snapshot of financial 
position and capital expenditures.  Three priorities in managing public funds are safety, liquidity, 
and yield.  Ms. Roeding stated the City will continue to keep an eye on the rollback and state 
backfill, since the State will be phasing out the backfill funds.  She explained these funds are 
used for one-time capital projects.  Councilmember Kruse asked about the significant amount of 
reserve in the sewer fund.  City Administrator Gaines stated this is set aside for the Treatment 
Plant projects.   

Councilmember Kruse motioned to approve the Cash Management Report for FY2022.  
Councilmember Miller seconded. 

Mayor Pro Tem asked for a roll call from Councilmembers voting on the Cash Management 
Report:  Aye:  Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn and Harding.  Nay:  None.  
Motion carried.  

There being no further business, Mayor Pro Tem adjourned the meeting at 6:52 p.m.  

Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

45

Item 9.



“OUR CITIZENS ARE OUR BUSINESS” 

 OFFICE OF CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 

 FROM: Ron Gaines, City Administrator 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council Members 

 DATE: July 1, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Departmental Monthly Reports Submission – May 2021 

 
Please contact Administrator Gaines with any questions about the accomplishments of city staff 

contained in this monthly report. 

 

Encl: (1) City of Cedar Falls Departmental Monthly Reports. 

### 

 

46

Item 10.



47

Item 10.



48

Item 10.



49

Item 10.



50

Item 10.



51

Item 10.



52

Item 10.



53

Item 10.



54

Item 10.



55

Item 10.



56

Item 10.



57

Item 10.



58

Item 10.



59

Item 10.



60

Item 10.



61

Item 10.



62

Item 10.



63

Item 10.



64

Item 10.



65

Item 10.



66

Item 10.



67

Item 10.



68

Item 10.



69

Item 10.



70

Item 10.



71

Item 10.



72

Item 10.



73

Item 10.



74

Item 10.



75

Item 10.



76

Item 10.



77

Item 10.



78

Item 10.



79

Item 10.



80

Item 10.



81

Item 10.



82

Item 10.



83

Item 10.



CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 
City of Cedar Falls 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Dear Mayor Green and Council Members: 
 
The Civil Service Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa approved of and authorized 
administration of promotional testing for the position of Equipment Operator.  Listed below are 
candidates with their combined weighted average test scores in rank order.  Per Iowa Code 
Chapter 400, Veteran’s preference points are not applicable to promotional lists.   Tied 
percentages are presented in alphabetical order, if applicable. 
 

  

    Combined 

    Weighted Average 

Rank Name Test Scores 

1 Josiah Smith 153 

2 James Dietz 150 

3 Trevor Johnson 146 

4 Casey Paine 145 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
of signing at an in-person meeting due  

____________________________________  to COVID19. 
John Clopton, Commission Chairperson    

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
     of signing at an in-person meeting due  
____________________________________  to COVID19. 
Paul Lee, Commissioner 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Vacant 

 
 
 
Orig: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 
 
Cc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 Brian Heath, Operations & Maintenance Manager 
 Civil Service Records 

84

Item 11.



CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 
City of Cedar Falls 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
June 30, 2021 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Dear Mayor Green and Council Members: 
 
The Civil Service Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa approved of and authorized 
administration of promotional testing for the position of Public Safety Supervisor-Captain.  
Listed below are candidates with their combined weighted average test scores in rank order.  
Per Iowa Code Chapter 400, Veteran’s preference points are not applicable to promotional 
lists.   Tied percentages are presented in alphabetical order, if applicable. 

  

    Combined 

    Weighted Average 

Rank Name Test Scores 

1 John Zolondek 731 

2 Jeff Harrenstein 694 

3 Brooke Heuer 685 

4 Shea McNamara 682 

5 Mike Hayes 650 

6 Jeff Sitzmann 649 

7 Marty Beckner 642 

8 Kari Rea 641 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
of signing at an in-person meeting due  

____________________________________  to COVID19. 
John Clopton, Commission Chairperson    

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
     of signing at an in-person meeting due  
____________________________________  to COVID19. 
Paul Lee, Commissioner 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Vacant 

 
Orig: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 
Cc: Jeff Olson, Director of Public Safety Services 
 Craig Berte, Assistant Director of Public Safety Services/Police Chief 
 John Bostwick, Assistant Director of Public Safety Services/Fire Chief 

Civil Service Records 

85

Item 11.



CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 
City of Cedar Falls 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
June 30, 2021 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Dear Mayor Green and Council Members: 
 
The Civil Service Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa approved of and authorized 
administration of promotional testing for the position of Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant.  
Listed below are candidates with their combined weighted average test scores in rank order.  
Per Iowa Code Chapter 400, Veteran’s preference points are not applicable to promotional 
lists.   Tied percentages are presented in alphabetical order, if applicable. 

  

    Combined 

    Weighted Average 

Rank Name Test Scores 

1 Gavin Carman 747 

2 Lucas Schmidt 695 

3 Carson Barron 675 

3 Kurt Schreiber 675 

5 Branden Madsen 662 

6 Matt Krueger 653 

7 Mike Marcotte 631 

8 Clint Ferguson 589 

9 Jovan Creighton 509 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
of signing at an in-person meeting due  

____________________________________  to COVID19. 
John Clopton, Commission Chairperson    

Approved by roll call vote in the absence 
     of signing at an in-person meeting due  
____________________________________  to COVID19. 
Paul Lee, Commissioner 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Vacant 

 
Orig: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 
Cc: Jeff Olson, Director of Public Safety Services 
 Craig Berte, Assistant Director of Public Safety Services/Police Chief 
 John Bostwick, Assistant Director of Public Safety Services/Fire Chief 

Civil Service Records 

86

Item 11.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  July 1, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - renewal. 

b) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal.  

d) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 

e) The Other Place, 2214 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

f) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E liquor - renewal. 

g) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class C Beer & Class B Wine – change in 
ownership. 

h) Dollar General, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in ownership. 

i) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class A liquor & outdoor service – 
change in ownership. 

j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & outdoor service – 
temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (July 10-11,  2021) 

k) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary expansion of 
outdoor service area.  

87

Item 12.



88

Item 13.



89

Item 13.



90

Item 13.



91

Item 13.



92

Item 13.



93

Item 13.



94

Item 13.



95

Item 13.



96

Item 13.



97

Item 13.



98

Item 13.



99

Item 13.



100

Item 13.



101

Item 13.



102

Item 13.



103

Item 13.



104

Item 13.



105

Item 13.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: July 1, 2021 

 SUBJECT:  Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) Transfer 

 
As you are aware, CFU is owned by the City of Cedar Falls and is therefore exempt 
from paying property taxes and franchise fees paid by privately owned utilities.  In lieu of 
paying property taxes the Cedar Falls Utilities Trustees vote on an annual basis to 
transfer to the City what is legally described as surplus funds.  The surplus funds 
transferred is conceptually in-lieu of property taxes.   
 
The City of Cedar Falls is dependent on this transfer of surplus funds to support 
General Fund operations and Economic Development efforts.  The City and CFU have 
been great partners in increasing economic development and in ensuring that the 
citizens and businesses of Cedar Falls have low utility rates and low property taxes.  
This partnership and transfer of funds has occurred for several decades and we look 
forward to the continued cooperation between both entities.   
 
 

106

Item 14.



107

Item 14.



1 

   CEDAR FALLS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Director 

Date:  June 29, 2021 

Re: 2021-2022 Edward Byrne JAG Grant 

Attached is the 2021-2022 Edward Byrne JAG Grant Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with Waterloo and Black Hawk County. The JAG Grant provides funding to the 
Tri-County Drug Task Force in which we are a member. This MOU allows for the 
distribution of funds to the three entities. The total grant amount is $46,305.00 of which 
Cedar Falls will receive $9,261.00. These funds are used to assist with payroll funding of 
our full-time Tri-County assigned officer. 

I recommend approval of this agreement.  

108

Item 15.



109

Item 15.



110

Item 15.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

RECREATION CENTER 
110 E 13

TH
 STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-273-8636 
FAX: 319-273-8656 

 MEMORANDUM 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Rob Green and City Council 

 FROM: J.J. Lillibridge, Recreation Division Manager 

 DATE: June 28, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Cooperative Agreement – Use of Cedar Falls School Pools 

 
Since the middle school pools were constructed, the City and the School District have 

entered into an cooperative use agreement and sharing of maintenance costs for the 

facilities.  Attached is an updated agreement between the Cedar Falls Schools and 

the City of Cedar Falls for July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 for the indoor pool 

facilities at Peet and Holmes Junior High Schools. This agreement allows Cedar 

Falls Recreation & Community Programs division to program and provide public 

access to the pools to maximize use and eliminate duplication of services and 

facilities. 

 
Changes in the agreement only included new dates that the agreement will cover.  

 
The swimming pools' mutual use at Peet and Holmes Junior High has been an 

excellent cooperative arrangement. The Department of Community Development 

recommends that City Council approve the attached agreement to continue our 

partnership with Cedar Falls Schools. The Cedar Falls School Board has already 

reviewed and approved the agreement. 

 
Let me know if you have any questions or comments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111

Item 16.



112

Item 16.



113

Item 16.



114

Item 16.



115

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Rob Green and City Council  

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 

 DATE: July 6, 2021 

 SUBJECT: HOME Rehabilitation Projects - Contracts 
  Project #1-21-686 (210 C2 Balboa Ave.) 
  Project #1-21-687 (2512 Cedar Heights Dr.) 
   
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) funds that support several programs, 
including housing rehabilitation and repair for income-qualifying residents. Cedar Falls 
participates in a HOME Consortium with City of Waterloo, which is the lead entity and 
administrator of HOME funds for both cities. 
 
In June 2021, bids were let for rehabilitation projects #1-21-686 and #1-21-687. The 
City of Waterloo, with the assistance of Cedar Falls staff, has determined that the 
properties and their owners meet HOME program requirements. The rehabilitation 
project will improve the owners’ living conditions and bring the homes into code 
compliance.  
 
On Friday, June 25, 2021 at 2:00 PM, bids were received and opened for the HOME 
rehabilitation projects. Bid results are shown in the table below. Permit amounts have 
been added to each bid total to show the total contract amount for each bid. For Project 
#1-21-686, Cedar Falls Utilities has committed to reimbursing the City for $3,000 
attributable to project items that increase energy efficiency, including installation of a 
high efficiency gas furnace and insulation of the rim joists and fireplace chase. This 
property was built in 1978 and therefore is exempt from the federal Lead Safe Housing 
Rule. 
 

Project #1-21-686 

210 C2 Balboa Ave. 

Bid 
Total 

Permits 
Total Contract 
Amount, if 
awarded 

Amount paid by 
CFU for energy 
efficiency 

Amount 
paid by 
HOME 

Tojo Construction $24,595 $403 $24,998 $3,000 $21,998 

Brothers Construction $26,767 $424 $27,191 $3,000 $24,191 

  

116

Item 17.



 

Project #1-21-687 

2512 Cedar Heights Dr. 

Bid 
Total 

Permits 
Hard Costs 
(incl. 
permits) 

Lead Hazard 
Reduction 
Costs 

Total Contract 
Amount, if 
awarded 

Tojo Construction $19,105 $317 $18,422 $1,000 $19,422 

Brothers Construction $19,651 $317 $18,468 $1,500 $19,968 

Daniels Home 
Improvement 

$19,960 $331 $19,841 $450 $20,291 

 
For Project #1-21-686, the inspector estimate was $20,206. The estimates were drafted 
in fall 2020, and the cost of supplies and subcontractor services may have increased 
since then due to pandemic-related market volatility. The City’s Manual for Housing 
Rehabilitation Programs, last updated July 2020, requires that HOME and CDBG 
contracts not exceed $20,000 at the time of award, but allows a total investment of up to 
$24,999 per home if change orders become necessary. City staff have considered 
amending the initial $20,000 cap stipulated in the Manual, since time is of the essence 
in spending HOME funds from past years. However, staff have not yet had an 
opportunity to make another round of Manual amendments and present them to the 
Council. Taking CFU’s $3,000 commitment into account, the low bid for this project 
would exceed the initial contract limit by $1,998. City staff recommend that the Council: 
 

 Waive the $20,000 initial contract limit for Project #1-21-686, in consideration of 
price volatility and the exigency of spending HOME funds. 

 

 Award a contract for Project #1-21-686 to Tojo Construction, the lower 
responsible and responsive bidder, in the amount of $24,998. 

 
 
For Project #1-21-687, the inspector estimate was $16,938. City staff recommends that 
the Council award a contract Project #1-21-687 to Tojo Construction, the lowest 
responsible and responsive bidder, in the amount of $19,422. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
 
XC: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director 
  
 

117

Item 17.



118

Item 17.



119

Item 17.



120

Item 17.



121

Item 17.



122

Item 17.



123

Item 17.



124

Item 17.



125

Item 17.



126

Item 17.



127

Item 17.



128

Item 17.



129

Item 17.



130

Item 18.



131

Item 18.



132

Item 18.



133

Item 18.



134

Item 18.



135

Item 18.



136

Item 18.



137

Item 18.



138

Item 18.



139

Item 18.



140

Item 18.



141

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610  
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: June 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Easement on Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II.  
  
Background: 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II subdivision is located northeast of the 
intersection of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway.  The subdivision was approved by the 
City in 2012.  The Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II subdivision is part of the 
Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan that was approved by the City in 2004.   
 
Request Action: 
The applicant proposes to 
replat Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South Phase II 
Lot 2 (see PP21-001 and 
FP21-001 separate agenda 
item).  The eastern 
boundary of the subdivision 
is centered with the 
Menards’ access point to 
Brandilynn Boulevard. The 
applicant proposes the 
north/south private street be 
aligned with Menards’ 
access point.  Therefore, 
the applicant proposes a 
25-foot easement be 
included along the northern 
half of the eastern boundary 
of the subdivision and a 25-
foot easement that would 
be on Lot 3 of Pinnacle 
Prairie South Commercial 
Phase II (highlighted in red 
on the image to the right), to install the private street.  As indicated in the Deed of 
Dedication for Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase V, the street will be maintained 
by the owners of Phase V.   

142

Item 19.



Recommendation:   
Staff recommends the approval of 25-foot easement on Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie South 
Commercial Phase II.  All parties to Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie South Commercial Phase II 
have agreed to this change and have signed and notarized the easement, which is 
attached for your review.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

143

Item 19.



144

Item 19.



145

Item 19.



146

Item 19.



147

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610  
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: June 29, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Amendment to Deed of Dedication for Pinnacle Prairie Commercial 
South Phase II.  

  
Background: 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II subdivision is located northeast of the 
intersection of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway.  The subdivision was approved by the 
City in 2012.  The Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II subdivision is part of the 
Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan that was approved by the City in 2004.   
 
The Deed of Dedication includes a restriction to not allow direct access to Prairie 
Parkway.  The five lots were proposed to all have direct access to Brandilynn 
Boulevard.  The developer proposes a right in and right out at the intersection of the 
proposed private street and Prairie Parkway.  The restriction will apply to Phase II and 
the proposed Phase V (see PP21-001 and FP21-001 staff reports).   
 
Request Action: 
The developer requests an amendment to the Deed of Dedication to remove the 
restriction to Prairie Parkway to allow the private street as proposed in the Pinnacle 
Prairie Commercial South Phase V subdivision which will be limited to right turns in and 
out.  The developer purposes Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase V four lots to 
have access on the proposed private street.  
 
Recommendation:   
Staff recommends approval of the resolution to amend the Deed of Dedication for 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II to remove the restriction to Prairie 
Parkway.  All parties to the Deed of Dedication have agreed to this change and have 
signed and notarized the amended deed, which is attached for your review.  
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

148

Item 20.



149

Item 20.



150

Item 20.



151

Item 20.



152

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 
  Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: June 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Pinnacle Prairie South Commercial Phase V Preliminary and Final Plat.   
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
Request to approve the preliminary and final plat for Pinnacle Prairie. Cases 
#PP21-001 and  #FP21-001 
 

PETITIONER: Oster Family Limited Partnership, owner; Steve Gorman, Deschutes 
Investment LLC, developer; Alex Bower, Robinson Engineering Company, 
Engineer  
 

LOCATION: 
 

The property is located at the northeast corner of Viking Road and Prairie 
Parkway intersection or 5909 Prairie Parkway 

 

PROPOSAL 
The petitioner proposes to replat Lot 2 of Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South Phase II into four lots.  The property is located 
at the northeast corner of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway 
intersection.  Menards is to the north of the property.  The 
applicant submitted the preliminary and final plat applications for 
the replat to be reviewed concurrently.  The applicant proposes 
access to each lot through the private road.  The private road will 
have direct access to Prairie Parkway.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The property is part of the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan that was 
adopted by the City in 2004. The City approved Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South Phase II in 2012.  As part of the approval for 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II, the lots are not 
allowed direct driveway access to Prairie Parkway.  
 
With the proposed re-subdivision of Lot 2, the applicant proposes a 
new private street that would provide access to the new lots 
created with an access point from Prairie Parkway that will be a 
right-in and right-out only between lots 1 and 2 and extend north to 
intersect with Brandilynn Boulevard. Prior to approval of this re-

Menards 

153

Item 21.



subdivision of Lot 2, the original Deed of Dedication will have to be amended to eliminate the 
restriction on access to Prairie Parkway (see agenda item memo for the Amendment to the 
Deed of Dedication to Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II). The amended Deed of 
Dedication for Phase II is attached. The private street that is north to south in the proposed 
subdivision to Brandilynn Blvd will be in line with Menard’s access point to the north. 
 
Storm water regional plan was created as part of the Master Plan for Pinnacle Prairie.  The 
applicant proposes to connect to the regional storm water system for the future developments of 
this plat. 
 
ANALYSIS  
The petitioner, Deschutes Investment 
LLC, proposes a preliminary and Final 
Plat for Pinnacle Prairie South 
Commercial Phase IV; a resubdivision of 
lot 2 of Pinnacle Prairie into 4 lots. The 
original lot is 3.51 acres. The site is 
located at the northeast corner of Viking 
Road and Prairie Parkway intersection. 
 
The property is zoned Highway 
Commercial (Hwy-1). There are 20-foot 
setbacks along the perimeter of the plat 
and along the public right-of-way.  The 
setbacks are shown on the final plat. 
 
As proposed, the petitioner proposes a 
private street that will provide access to 
the proposed lots. Private streets are not preferred but they are acceptable.  The private street 
also helps the applicant move forward with their proposal of the UnityPoint Clinic (SP21-006). 
The Deed of Dedication creates an association to manage the maintenance of the private 
streets, private utilities, and common shared property. The petitioner will connect to the regional 
stormwater system that is already installed from the development of Pinnacle Prairie Phase II. 
 
The applicant also proposes the north/south private street be aligned with the Menards’ access 
point. The eastern boundary of the subdivision is centered with the Menards’ access point. 
Therefore, the applicant proposes a 25-foot easement be included along the northern half of the 
eastern subdivision boundary and an additional 25-foot easement that would be on Lot 3 of 
Pinnacle Prairie South Commercial Phase II, to install the private street. (see separate agenda 
item for the easement on lot 3)  
 
Setbacks are on the face of the plat are consistent with the required setbacks within the Hwy-1 
Zoning District. 
 
The applicant supplied all the required documents that are required for a final plat including the 
Deed of Dedication, Surveyor Certificates, Black Hawk County Auditor approval of the 
subdivision name, Attorney’s Title Opinion. The property owner does not have a mortgage on 
the property; therefore, the statement from the lienholder is not required. 
 
 

154

Item 21.



The City Code states that the final plat must be in substantial conformance with the preliminary 
plat. The proposed final plat is conforming to the preliminary plat and associated conditions as 
discussed by the applicant and staff. The petitioner has met that criterion and the associated 
conditions. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, noted that the water, gas, 
and communication services are available to the site. The developer will extend the utility 
services to the proposed development. The easements identified on the plat satisfy Public 
Works and CFU requirements. 
 
All the utilities and internal street connections within the proposed subdivision will be kept in 
private ownership. The placed internal private infrastructure is able to serve the platted lots with 
access to public streets and right-of-way. All the placed utilities are available for development for 
the platted lots. The City Engineer has determined that the plan meets the City’s subdivision 
requirements. Appropriate one-way signage will be required at the intersection of the private 
street with Prairie Parkway, since the median will allow only right-in, right-out movements at this 
access. Full-access will be provided at the intersection of the private street with Brandilynn 
Boulevard. 
 
There is a 10 foot wide Viking Road Trail that runs along the southern boundary of the site.  The 
Viking Road Trail connects to the Prairie Parkway Trail that is western edge of Prairie Parkway.   
 
To meet the requirements of the placement of the sidewalk at the southeast corner of Viking 
Road and Prairie Parkway, the applicant will dedicate a small corner of the parcel for additional 
right-of-way.  The developer for the Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II was given 5 
years to add the sidewalks along Prairie Parkway and Brandilynn Boulevard for Lot 2. Staff 
recommends requiring the sidewalk along Prairie Parkway to its intersection with the sidewalk 
connection at the roundabout at Brandilynn Boulevard at the time of development of Lot 2 (with 
UnityPoint Clinic), The sidewalk along Brandilynn Boulevard would be installed to the eastern 
extent of the plat at the time of development of Lot 1 or 4, whichever is developed first. This will 
help avoid sidewalk gaps along this frontage. 
 
A courtesy mailing was sent to the neighboring property owners on June 3, 2021. 
 
Planning and Zoning Commission Recommendation 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends the approval of #PP21-001 and #FP21-001, a 
preliminary and final plat for property located at 5909 Prairie Parkway in the Hwy-1 Commercial 
District, subject to: 

1) Any comments or direction specified by the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
2) Conform to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements.  

 

PLANNING AND ZONING 

Discussion 
6/9/2021 
 
 
 
 

Acting Chair Holst introduced the item and Ms. Pezley provided 
background information. She explained that the site is located on the 
northeast corner of Viking Road and Prairie Parkway. The applicant 
proposes to re-plat Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II Lot 2 into 
four lots. The Deed of Dedication would be revised to allow access onto 
Prairie Parkway, which will allow a private street to be constructed from 

155

Item 21.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6/23/21 
Review and 
Recommendation 
 

Prairie Parkway to Brandilynn. The access point at Brandilynn would align 
with the access to Menard’s to the north, which will require a 25 foot 
access easement to be granted by the owner of Lot 3 within the original 
subdivision. The access to Prairie Parkway will be right-in / right-out only 
due to the median in Prairie Parkway. The streets are proposed to be 
private and will be maintained by the owner’s association. Stormwater is 
proposed to connect to the regional stormwater system as approved with 
the previous subdivision. Final wording of the deed of dedication is being 
worked out with the applicant. Staff recommends continuing discussion on 
the preliminary and final plats to the June 23 meeting.  
 
The applicant was available via zoom but was unable to speak due to 
technical issues. There was a brief discussion regarding the private street 
and right in/right out access to Prairie Parkway. Ms. Howard noted that it 
will be important to carefully sign the access to Prairie Parkway as “one-
way.”  

 
The items will be continued at the next Planning and Zoning meeting. 
 
Chair Leeper stated that he has a conflict with the application and Vice-
Chair Larson would be leading this agenda item.  Vice-Chair Larson 
introduced the application for the preliminary subdivision.  Ms. Pezley 
provided an overview of the site and surrounding properties and 
highlighted the Viking Road Trail that connects to Cedar Prairie Trial She 
explained that the parcel is located at the northeast corner of Viking Road 
and Prairie Parkway, and that the applicant is proposing to replat the 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II Lot 2. The Deed of Dedication 
would need to be revised to allow access onto Prairie Parkway by way of 
two private streets. The applicant proposes to connect stormwater to the 
regional stormwater plan as approved by the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. 
The property is in the HWY-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District which 
requires 20- foot setbacks along the perimeter of the plat and public right-
of-ways. A private street will be installed with the first building on the 
subdivision and the owners association will maintain private streets, private 
utilities, and common shared property. The north/south street will be 
aligned with the Menards access and sidewalks will also be installed. Staff 
recommends approval of the preliminary and final plats for the property.   
 
The applicant, Alex Bower, of Robinson Engineering Company stated that 
the property owner, Merrill Oster, is working on selling lot 1 and they 
request the lot line for lot 1 to move 15 feet to the east.  He recommends 
an access easement over the boundary line.  Ms. Pezley recommended 
continuing the hearing to the next meeting with a new plat.  Mr. Holst also 
pointed out that the applicant could move forward with the application as 
proposed and come back to the review process for the boundary 
adjustment.  Staff said there is an administrative process for a lot line 
adjustment that the application may be reviewed under.  The applicant 
agreed with moving forward with the application as proposed.   
 
Ms. Prideaux asked if the easements would be affected by the modification 

156

Item 21.



to the boundary line adjustment. Ms. Pezley said yes, the utility easement 
would need to be modified.  Mr. Bower pointed out that he proposes an 
access easement to provide additional movement for lot 4.  Mr. Bower 
requests to move forward with the application as proposed.  Mr. Holst 
moved to approve the preliminary plat as proposed.  Ms. Saul seconded 
the motion.  The motion was approved.  7 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Prideaux, Saul, Schrad, and Sears), Leeper abstained, and 0 nays. 
 
There were no further comments regarding the final plat.  Ms. Saul moved 
to approve the final plat as presented.  Ms. Prideaux seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved.  7 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, Prideaux, Saul, 
Schrad, and Sears), Leeper abstained, and 0 nays.   

  
 
Attachments:   Location map  

Preliminary Plat 

Final Plat 

Surveyor Certificate 

Deed of Dedication 

Easement for lot 3 

 

Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

157

Item 21.



Prairie Pk wy
Tra

il

Viking Rd Trail

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Win terber ryDr

Brandilynn Blvd
Prai ri e Pkwy

E Viking Rd

M-2-PA-1

HWY-1

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
June 09, 2021

Preliminary Plat, Final Plat and Site Plan 
for Unity Point Clinic
5909 Prairie Parkway

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

158

Item 21.



159

Item 21.



160

Item 21.



161

Item 21.



162

Item 21.



163

Item 21.



164

Item 21.



165

Item 21.



166

Item 21.



167

Item 21.



168

Item 21.



169

Item 21.



170

Item 21.



171

Item 21.



172

Item 21.



173

Item 21.



174

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

   

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: June 30, 2021 

 SUBJECT: UnityPoint Clinic Site Plan: Case # SP21-006 
  

 
REQUEST: 
 

Site plan approval for construction of a new UnityPoint Express Clinic 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Oster Family Limited Partnership, owner; Steve Gorman, Deschutes 
Investment LLC, developer; Alex Bower, Robinson Engineering Company, 
Engineer  
 

LOCATION: 
 

Northeast corner of Prairie Parkway and Viking Road or 5909 Prairie Parkway 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to construct a one story, 4,001 square foot clinic, on Lot 2 of 
Pinnacle Prairie South Commercial Phase V. The site plan illustrates the location of the 
clinic, parking for employees and 
patients, and a dumpster enclosure.  The 
proposed layout of the site sits on 0.71 
acres with vehicular access to the private 
street that is part of the proposed 
preliminary and final plat for Pinnacle 
Prairie South Commercial Phase V 
application (PP21-001 and FP21-001) 
that is connected to Prairie Parkway and 
Brandilynn Boulevard.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The property is part of the Pinnacle 
Prairie Master Plan that was adopted by 
the City in 2004. The City approved 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South 

Proposed site 

for development 

175

Item 23.



Phase II in 2012.  Menards is to the north of the site and Discount Tire, Collins 
Community Credit Union, BioLife, Ross Dress for Less, Hobby Lobby, HomeGoods, and 
Dollar Tree are located to the west of the site.  Deere and Company own the vacant 
land to the south.  Pinnacle Prairie 
Owner’s Association has reviewed 
the plans for the site.    
 
 ANALYSIS 
The HWY-1 District is intended to 
promote general service commercial 
uses that serve a broader market 
area (i.e. city-wide or regional 
customer base). The ordinance 
requires a detailed site plan review 
prior to approval in order to ensure 
that the development site satisfies 
several basic aesthetic standards. 
Attention to details such as parking, 
open green space, landscaping, 
signage, building design, and other 
similar factors help to ensure orderly 
development in the entire area.  
 
Following is a review of the zoning 
ordinance requirements for the 
proposed development: 
 
1) Use: Any commercial or retail use intended to serve the traveling public or a 

regional customer base is listed as a permitted use in the HWY-1 District and a 
health clinic fits into that category. Use is allowed. 
 

2) Setbacks: There is a platted building setback of 20 feet along all three frontages 
(Viking Road, Prairie Parkway, and the Private Drive). The building is 23 feet from 
Viking Road, 24 feet from Prairie Parkway, and 49 feet from the private street. At 
these distances the building meets the setback requirement. The side yard setback 
is 5 feet. The district also requires that a 20-foot landscaped setback be maintained 
along streets and accessways, which in this case would include the private street. 
Drives, aisles, and parking areas may not encroach into this landscaped setback. 
The applicant’s site plan conforms to these standards. Building setbacks are 
satisfied. The parking lot setbacks are also satisfied. 
 

3) Parking: Medical or Dental Clinics require five parking spaces, plus one additional 
parking space for each 200 square feet of gross floor area over 1,000 square feet.  
The floor area of the building is 4,001 square feet.  The use will require 20 spaces 
and the applicant proposes 27 spaces.  The parking meets the zoning standards 

Proposed Site Plan 

Menards 

176

Item 23.



with minimum stall dimensions of 9’ x 19’ and a 24-foot wide aisle. The amount 
and dimension of the parking stalls and drives are met. 

 

4) Open Green Space: The HWY-1 District requires that open green space/landscape 
area be provided at the rate of 10% of the development site excluding the required 
20-foot landscaped setback area. Below is a summary that details how this 
provision is met. 
 
 
 

New Development Site(excluding 20-foot landscape 
setback) 

19,374 SF  

Required Open/Green Space 1,938 SF 10% 
Provided Open/Green Space 4,120 SF 21% 

 
Landscaping is shown throughout the site, both around the building as well as 
within the parking lot, along the streets, and required setbacks. For clarity, the 
3,886 square feet is the provided green space in addition to the landscaped 
setback. 
The open green space exceeds the minimum requirement and is well 
distributed. 

  
5) Landscaping: The HWY-1 District 

requires landscaping at the rate of 
0.02 points per sq. ft. of total 
development site area which 
comes to 620 points required. Their 
plan achieves 835 points.  An 
additional 450 points are required 
for street tree planting and their 
plan achieves 520.  

 
Trees are required in the vehicular 
use area at the rate of one 
overstory tree per 15 parking 
spaces. This equates to a 
requirement of 2 overstory trees. 
That is the amount proposed within 
the parking area to meet this 
requirement. 

 
In addition to parking lot trees, there are trees located along the street frontages, 
with shrubs and additional trees being located around the buildings and parking 
areas as required. Landscaping requirements are met.  

 

6) Building Design: The HWY-1 zone requires a design review of various elements. 
The intent of the zone is to promote and facilitate comprehensively planned 
commercial developments located adjacent to major transportation corridors and 

177

Item 23.



interchanges. It is further the purpose of the zone to encourage high standards of 
building architecture and site planning. The elements in the code are noted below 
with a review of how each is addressed. Overall, staff finds that the proposed 
building design meets the zoning standards based on the following analysis.  

 

Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations of 

adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building; the 
relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 

 
Renderings of the proposed building have been submitted. The scale and 
proportion of the new building will be similar to other nearby 
establishments. It is 1-story with variable wall heights where the flat roof 
with additional parapets with the highest point at 21 feet. The neighboring 
buildings to the east and west have similar dimensions.  Staff finds that 
the proposal is consistent with neighboring buildings and with the height 
allowances in the zoning district.  

 
Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, and 

direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 

 
The adjacent buildings utilize flat roofs with a parapet around the edge. 
The applicant proposes a flat roof with additional parapets to provide a 
variation to the roofline. Staff finds that the design is compatible with the 
surrounding buildings. 

 
Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front facade 

and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. This pattern of 
solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  

 
The new building would present to the new private road and Prairie 
Parkway.   Due to the nature of the use to be more private in nature, the 
building is designed to provide light into the building while protecting 
patients’ privacy.  There is a good balance of the other materials and 
colors that provide a transition to the less transparent rear of the building. 
Overall, the patterns meet or exceed the City’s standards. 

 
Materials and texture: Materials and texture. The similarity or compatibility of existing 

materials and textures on the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration 
shall be considered compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the 
context of other buildings in the immediate area. 

 
The applicant proposes windows, fiber cement siding, and corrugated 
metal panels for the new building’s exterior materials. All of the materials 
provide a sleeker modern feel that strikes a balance between color and 

178

Item 23.



texture. Staff finds that these material and texture choices are compatible 
with those of adjacent buildings. 

 
 

Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 

buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 

 
The applicant proposes the building features to be a very neutral color 
palate. The applicant proposes a dark gray fiber cement, a redwood fiber 
cement vertical panels, and light gray corrugated metal accent panels. 
The fiber cement siding is an inconspicuous gray cobblestone color that 
blends in with the color scheme. Staff finds no issues with the choice of 
colors. 

 
Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 

entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate area, 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that 
the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features should be 
regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details that would be 
appropriate for new buildings or alterations. 

 
Architectural features of the new building include the flat roof, with the 
slight variation where the parapets are located.  The applicant proposes 
window curtains along the north and west elevations and a window ribbon 
along the North and South elevations. These style features and materials 
maintain an identity while being generally consistent with neighboring 
buildings.  

 

View from the North 

 
View from Viking Road:  

179

Item 23.



 
 

 

 
 
7) Trash Dumpster Site: The dumpster and enclosure is located on the south edge of 

the property. This enclosure will be made of fiber cement and metal to match the 
materials used on the principal structure. It will have two doors to operate towards 
the north where a truck can approach it. The enclosure will measure 15 feet by 14 
feet and will be 6 feet high. The dumpster facility location and enclosure is 
acceptable.  
 

180

Item 23.



      
 

8) Lighting: The HWY-1 District regulations do not have specific lighting design 
guidelines. However, all new site plans require a review of the lighting to consider 
potential nuisance issues and incompatibilities. The vehicular use area will utilize 
four 15-foot high fully downcast and shielded fixtures produced by Lithonia Lighting. 
The applicant will also propose four smaller fully downcast and shielded fixtures that 
will be attached to the building for pedestrian lighting.  The lighting plan shows that 
the proposed models will properly light critical areas of the site without producing 
glare or spillover light directing light on to other properties. Lighting is acceptable. 

 
9) Signage: Separate sign permits will be required for all signage prior to installation. 

However, the proposed signage plan for the site must be part of this review by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. The signage plan has been 
included as an attachment. 
 
Wall signs may only be on two wall surfaces and must be less than 20% of the wall 
area. For the new building, two wall signs are illustrated on the building on the north 
and the west. These wall signs meet the quantity and are well within the size 
requirements. 
 
Freestanding signs are to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. The intent in this 
zone is to limit the size, height, and number of on-premises signs for each permitted 
use with the objective of discouraging sign clutter and to encourage the highest 
aesthetic standards for the development site.  Freestanding signs are limited in 
height to 25 feet above the surface of the roadway and their aggregate sign area 
should not exceed 250 square feet.  The applicant proposes a 10.2 foot by 9.5 
monument sign that will be similar materials as the proposed building. Signage is 
acceptable. 

 
10) Storm Water Management: The applicant proposes to connect to the Pinnacle 

Prairie regional storm water plan. The engineering division has determined that no 
additional detention is required. Prior to construction, a City SWPPP permit will still 
need to be obtained. Criterion is met, subject to final engineering review prior to 
issuance of a building permit.  

 
 
 

181

Item 23.



TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 

Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the site plan for the Unity Point Express Clinic.  
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance 
with the service policies of CFU.  The developer is responsible for the construction of a 
properly sized water system from the existing 8” water mains near the northeast corner 
of Lot 4 and the existing 12” water main near the southwest corner of Lot 2. Included in 
the installation are valves, fire hydrants and water service stubs for the new lots.  Final 
main sizing and fire hydrant and valve placement locations will be part of the 
construction plan review.  The developer will need to make refundable investments for 
the installation of the electric and gas utilities to and throughout the addition.  For a ten-
year period after the installation, CFU will refund a portion of the refundable investment 
based upon the number of new service connections to the electric and gas distribution 
system.  There is no interest paid on the refundable investment and the total refund will 
not exceed the original investment amount.  CFU will install the communication utility 
fiber system to serve the addition.   
 
Any other minor technical issues will be addressed at the time of a building plan review. 
 
A courtesy notice to surrounding property owners was mailed on June 3, 2021. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approval of SP21-006, a commercial site plan for property located at 
5909 Prairie Parkway in the HWY-1 Commercial District, subject to: 

1) Any comments or direction specified by the Planning & Zoning 
Commission. 

2) Conform to all city staff recommendations and technical requirements.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
Discussion  
6/9/2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a site plan review 
for the UnityPoint Clinic site at 5909 Prairie Parkway. Acting Chair Holst 
introduced the item and Ms. Pezley provided background information, noting 
that the clinic will be located on one of the new lots created with the 
previously discussed plat. The applicant is proposing to build a new 4,001 
square foot building for a clinic with 27 parking at the location. Staff finds 
that the site meets the setbacks, open space, parking, landscaping, signage, 
and use requirements and recommends continuing the discussion to the 
June 23 meeting. This cannot be approved prior to approval of the 
preliminary and final plats. 
 
Alex Bower, engineering consultant for the applicant, spoke on behalf of the 
applicant explaining that UnityPoint Clinic would like to find a location with 
easier access for their clients. As they do not need as much land as the 
existing lot 2, it is proposed to split the property into four lots. This led to the 
decision to create the right-in / right-out entrance and the full access on to 
Brandilynn to allow for a traffic circulation pattern through the site that 
makes the fire apparatus access easier.  
 

182

Item 23.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6/23/21 
Discussion and 
Recommendation 

Mr. Schrad asked if there was any further consideration of a bike path on 
Viking Road. Ms. Howard noted that the trail has already been constructed 
along the Viking Road frontage of this property, but additional sidewalks will 
need to be constructed from Viking up to the roundabout at Brandilynn when 
the clinic is constructed. The Commission felt that it was a good project and 
had no concerns.  
 
The item will be continued at the next Planning and Zoning meeting. 
 
The Commission considered a site plan for the UnityPoint Clinic at 5009 Prairie 
Parkway. Vice-Chair Mr. Larson introduced the item.  Ms. Pezley provided 
background information. She explained that the applicant proposes a 4,001 square 
foot building with 27 parking spaces, a dumpster enclosure, and access to a private 
street. The private streets will be built at the same time as UnityPoint Clinic and a 
sidewalk will be installed along the western property. The applicant proposes to 
cover 20% of the lot outside of setbacks to be covered with landscaping. The site 
meets the setbacks, open space, parking, landscaping signage, and use are 
allowed in the HWY-1 District. Ms. Pezley provided a rendering displaying the view 
of each side of the building. Staff recommends approval of the site plan with any 
comments or direction from the Commission and conformance to staff 
recommendations and technical comments. 
 
Mr. Schrad made a motion to approve the item. Mr. Holst seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved with 7 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad 
and Sears), 1 abstention (Leeper) and 0 nays. 
 

 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Complete Site Plan Set 
  Proposed Signage Plan & Building Elevations 
 

Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      

183

Item 23.



Prairie Pk wy
Tra

il

Viking Rd Trail

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Win terber ryDr

Brandilynn Blvd
Prai ri e Pkwy

E Viking Rd

M-2-PA-1

HWY-1

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
June 09, 2021

Preliminary Plat, Final Plat and Site Plan 
for Unity Point Clinic
5909 Prairie Parkway

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

184

Item 23.



PROJECT
LOCATION

Robinson Engineering Company
Consulting Engineers

819 Second Street NE
Independence, Iowa 50644

319-334-7211

 STATE OF IOWA 

1-800-292-8989
www.iowaonecall.com Know whats below.

Call before you dig.

THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN WITHIN THIS PLAN
SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN CONFORMANCE WITH

THE 2021 VERSION OF THE URBAN STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, ALSO
KNOWN AS SUDAS (2021), AS AMENDED BY THE CITY

OF CEDAR FALLS, AND, IF PROVIDED, PROJECT
SPECIFIC SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS.

CEDAR FALLS
BLACK HAWK COUNTY

DEVELOPER

DESCHUTES INVESTMENTS, LLC
2642 ARBORETA COURT
CARMICHAEL, CALIFORNIA 95608

GENERAL CONTRACTOR

HUFF CONTRACTING
1310 GRANDVIEW AVENUE
WATERLOO, IOWA 50703
319.233.9000

CIVIL ENGINEER

ROBINSON ENGINEERING
819 SECOND STREET NE
INDEPENDENCE, IOWA 50644
319-334-7211
PROJECT CONTACT: ALEX BOWER
ENGINEER: MONICA SMITH

 LOCATION MAP 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

NTS

UPC EXPRESS VIKING ROAD
IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS,
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

NEW COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
PN: 4296-21

I hereby certify that this Engineering document was prepared by me
or under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly Licensed
Professional Engineer under the laws of the State  of Iowa.

MONICA M. SMITH           LICENSE NO. 15074

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

Signature

'C' SHEETS

My renewal date is December 31, 2021 

Date

THE INFRASTRUCTURE SHOWN WITHIN THESE
PLANS ARE PROPOSED AS PRIVATE

INFRASTRUCTURE WITH THE EXCEPTION OF
THE 12" WATER MAIN ALONG VIKING ROAD.

INDEX OF SHEETS
SHEET TITLE

C0.1 TITLE

C0.2 SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

C0.3 GENERAL NOTES AND TYPICAL CROSS SECTION

C1.1 UTILITIY PLAN

C2.1 SHARED DRIVE PLAN AND PROFILE  -  EAST-WEST TRACT

C2.2 SHARED DRIVE PLAN AND PROFILE  -  NORTH-SOUTH TRACT

C2.3 INTERSECTION PLANS

C2.4 ROUNDABOUT SIDEWALK RAMP PLANS

C2.5 PAVING PLAN - PARKING LOT AND DRIVE

C3.1 SWPPP - INITIAL

C3.2 SWPPP - CONSTRUCTION

C3.3 SWPPP - FINAL STABILIZATION

C4.1 LANDSCAPE PLAN

185

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

WASTE
ENCLOSURE

116 SF
EXAM 1

117 SF
EXAM 2

121 SF
EXAM 3

128 SF
EXAM 4

152 SF
TREATMENT

161 SF
STAFF BREAK

72 SF
IT

72 SF
SOILED

228 SF
RAD

161 SF
EXAM 5

79 SF
UTILITY/EVS

52 SF

DRUG SCREEN
TOILET

51 SF
TOILET

73 SF
OFFICE

63 SF
MEDS

47 SF
INTAKE

50 SF
HUDDLE

210 SF
NURSE WORK

76 SF
VESTIBULE

609 SF
WAITING

112 SF
CLEAN

W

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

STSTSTSTSTSTSTST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

SS

SS

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SANSANSANSANSAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

47.47'
CL = 124.03'

3.44'

C
L

=
25.16 '

29
.7

3'

17
5.

79
'

202.34' 154.00'

25
4.

00
'

154.00'

25
4.

00
'

189.74'

17
0.

83
'

CL = 190.41'

18
7.

03
'

166.60'

CL = 48.71'83.35'19.55'

33.54'

ST

ST

15
4.

91
'

15.00'

30.00'

0 30 60

SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN

SITE ADDRESS
NORTHEAST QUADRANT VIKING ROAD AND PRAIRIE PARKWAY
LOT 2, PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL PHASE 2
PARCEL ID 8913-30-351-010

OWNER
GREENHILL ESTATES INC
3957 75th STREET
AURORA, IL 60504

DEVELOPER

ZONING
HWY-1 - HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL

LOT INFORMATION
LOT SIZE CURRENT: 152,827 S.F. / 3.51 ACRES
LOT SIZE PROPOSED: 30,989 S.F. / 0.71

SETBACK REQUIREMENTS (ALSO APPLIES TO PARKING)
FRONT: 20'
REAR: NOT NOTED
SIDE: NOT NOTED

BUILDING AND LOT USE (PROPOSED LOT 2 OF LOT 2)
EXISTING

BUILDING FOOTPRINT: N/A
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: N/A
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 30,989 S.F. (100%)

PROPOSED WITHIN LOT (30,989 SF)
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 4,001 S.F. (12.9%)
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: 14,287 S.F. (46.1%)
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 12,701 S.F. (41.0%)

PROPOSED EXCLUSIVE OF LANDSCAPE SETBACK (19,374 SF)
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 4,001 S.F. (20.7%)
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: 11,253 S.F. (58.1%)
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 4,120 S.F. (21.2%)

PARKING
REQUIRED PER SEC. 26-220, (a), 2, b, 4.

1. Banks, businesses and professional offices. Not less than one parking
space for every 300 square feet of gross floor area, but in no case less than
five parking spaces. Each drive-up window shall provide three stacking
spaces per teller.

CALCULATIONS:
TOTAL FLOOR AREA = 4,001 SF / 300 = 14 SPACES

REQUIRED PARKING = 14 SPACES
PROVIDED PARKING = 27 SPACES

PROPOSED EMPLOYEES
MAX SHIFT PROJECTED = 9 EMPLOYEES

FLOOD PLAIN
NOT APPLICABLE

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT
REGIONAL DETENTION

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

8

10

9

VI.ING ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

%RANDIL<NN %O8LEVARD

6+ARED PRIVATE DRIVE

6+
AR

ED
 P

RI
VA

TE
 D

RI
VE

PROPOSED MONUMENT SIGN
NORTH EDGE ON 20' SETBACK

PROPOSED MONUMENT SIGN
SOUTH EDGE ON 20' SETBACK

10'

10'

20'

24.36'

48
.9

1'

10
9.

12
'

58.26'

EXISTING 20' SETBACK

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 2

0'
 S

ET
BA

C
K

20' SETBACK FROM EDGE SHARED DRIVE

20
.0

7'

24'

14
'

15.33'

26
.5

4'

27.51'PROPOSED BUILDING

FINISHED FLOOR = 947.37

28
'

28'

186

Item 23.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

GENERAL NOTES
1. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO AND BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE CODES AND ORDINANCES.

2. THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN WITHIN THIS PLAN SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE 2021 VERSION OF THE
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, ALSO KNOWN AS SUDAS (2021) AS AMMENDED BY THE CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS UNLESS SPECIFICALLY STATED OTHERWISE IN THESE PLANS, THE PROJECT MANUAL (IF APPLICABLE), OR CITY AND
OTHER APPLICABLE ORDINANCES. THIS INCLUDES, IF PROVIDED, PROJECT SPECIFIC SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS.

3. ANY QUANTITIES SHOWN ON THE CIVIL SHEETS (C#.#) ARE TO ASSIST THE BIDDER. THE BIDDER/CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE A FINAL
DETERMINATION OF THE QUANTITIES REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE WORK AND THE BID SHALL BE ON THE BASIS OF THE
BIDDER/CONTRACTOR'S OWN CALCULATIONS. ANY COMMENT RELATED TO QUANTITY OR PAYMENT ON THE CIVIL SHEETS IS
SOLELY PROVIDED TO ASSIST THE BIDDER/CONTRACTOR IN THE PREPARATION OF BIDDING AND SHALL NOT BE CAUSE FOR
CHANGE ORDER REQUEST.

4. CONSTRUCTION SURVEY FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE PROVIDED BY THE CONTRACTOR.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL APPROPRIATE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENTS AND UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.  ALL NECESSARY PRECAUTIONS SHALL BE TAKEN TO AVOID DAMAGE TO ANY EXISTING UTILITY.  IOWA CODE 480,
UNDERGROUND FACILITIES INFORMATION, REQUIRES NOTICE TO IOWA ONE CALL (1-800-292-8989) NOT LESS THAN 48 HOURS
BEFORE EXCAVATION, EXCLUDING WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS.

6. THE LOCATION OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AND ARE SHOWN IN AN APPROXIMATE WAY ONLY AND HAVE NOT BEEN
INDEPENDENTLY VERIFIED BY THE OWNER OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL, AT ITS OWN EXPENSE, LOCATE
AND DETERMINE THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ON THE PROJECT SITE. THE CONTRACTOR ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
AND ALL DAMAGES WHICH MIGHT OCCUR BY THE CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO LOCATE AND PRESERVE ANY UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT THE PROJECT SITE PRIOR TO BIDDING TO BECOME FULLY FAMILIAR WITH THE EXISTING
CONDITIONS OF THE SITE. FAILURE TO VISIT THE SITE SHALL NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR FROM PERFORMING THE WORK IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THESE DRAWINGS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AT THE SITE, ALL DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS, AND SHALL NOTIFY
THE ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES, OMISSIONS, AND/OR CONFLICT PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

9. DRAWING DIMENSIONS SHALL GOVERN OVER SCALING OF DRAWINGS.  LARGE SCALE DRAWINGS SHALL GOVERN OVER SMALL
SCALE DRAWINGS.  NOTES AND DETAILS ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL APPLY TO ALL SIMILAR CONDITIONS WHETHER THEY ARE
REPEATED OR NOT.

10. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DAMAGE TO EXISTING FACILITIES OUTSIDE THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS
RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT EXISTING FACILITIES, BUILDINGS, AND OTHER APPURTENANCES NOT TO BE REMOVED FROM THE
SITE DURING THE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFINE WORK TO THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS AND EASEMENTS PROVIDED OR EASEMENTS OBTAINED.
COPIES OF ANY EASEMENTS THE CONTRACTOR OBTAINS FOR CONSTRUCTION WORK ON THIS PROJECT SHALL BE PROVIDED TO
THE OWNER.

13. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE TEMPORARY DISRUPTION OF UTILITY SERVICES WITH THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, AFFECTED
UTILITY COMPANIES, AND/OR AFFECTED PROPERTY OWNERS WHEN UTILITY SERVICES ARE INTERRUPTED DUE TO CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES ON THIS PROJECT.

14. TYPE A COMPACTION SHALL BE REQUIRED FOR EXCAVATION/EMBANKMENT WORK ON THIS PROJECT. ADDITIONAL COMPACTION
REQUIREMENTS MAY BE REQUIRED FOR BUILDING CONSTRUCTION. REFER TO APPLICABLE SPECIFICATIONS FOR THAT WORK.

15. THIS PLAN REFERENCES NYLOPLAST STRUCTURES WITH THE INTENT TO SPECIFY AN ENGINEERED PVC STRUCTURE AND IS NOT
INTENDED TO INDICATE A SPECIFIC BRAND IS REQUIRED. STRUCTURES SHALL BE NYLOPLAST BRAND OR EQUIVALENT. NYLOPLAST
IS A BRAND NAME AFFILIATED WITH ADS PIPE.

28'

14'
2' 12'

14'

2.0%
2.0%

2'

TYPICAL CROSS SECTION

℄

SLIP FORM STATIONING:
STA 10+71.06 - STA 13+78.00
STA 51+98.72 - STA 54+36.72

8" PCC, C3WR

6" MODIFIED SUBBASE

EXISTING BASE

LONGITUDINAL JOINTS, L / KT

187

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

2.04%

3.56%

2.22%

2.60%
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

W
W

WASTE
ENCLOSURE

116 SF
EXAM 1

117 SF
EXAM 2

121 SF
EXAM 3

128 SF
EXAM 4

152 SF
TREATMENT

161 SF
STAFF BREAK

72 SF
IT

72 SF
SOILED

228 SF
RAD

161 SF
EXAM 5

79 SF
UTILITY/EVS

52 SF

DRUG SCREEN
TOILET

51 SF
TOILET

73 SF
OFFICE

63 SF
MEDS

47 SF
INTAKE

50 SF
HUDDLE

210 SF
NURSE WORK

76 SF
VESTIBULE

609 SF
WAITING

112 SF
CLEAN

51.47'

78.44'

94
0

94
5

93
7

93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

946

946 94
6

W

10+00 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00

50
+0

0
51

+0
0

52
+0

0

94
0

94
5

93793
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
0

94
5 93

8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
5

94
4

945

944

946

945

943

944

946

D2
SW-505
RIM = 937.77
INV OUT = 930.55 N (30")
INV IN = 933.75 W (18")
INV IN = 933.75 NW (18")

ST
ST

ST
ST

D3
NYLOPLAST, 24'' DIA.

RIM = 943.55
INV OUT = 939.10 E (18")
INV IN = 939.25 SW (18")

STSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTST
203 L.F. OF 18'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 2.64%D4

NYLOPLAST, 24'' DIA.
RIM = 944.43

INV OUT = 939.50 NE (18")
INV IN = 940.44 S (8")

ST

23 L.F. OF 18'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 1.07%

DOWNSPOUT CONNECTION
INV = 943.37
INV = 943.37

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

94
 L

.F
. O

F 
8'

' H
DP

E 
DU

AL
 W

AL
L 

@
 3

.1
2%

DOWNSPOUT CONNECTION
INV = 943.72

ST
ST

35 L.F. OF 8'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 1.00%

SS

S2
SW-301

RIM = 939.29
INV OUT = 933.23 N (6")

INV IN = 933.67 W (4")

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

45° BEND
INV = 937.80
INV = 937.80

SANSANSANSANSANSANSANSAN
165 L.F. OF 4" PVC @ 2.50%

45° BEND
INV = 940.92
INV = 940.92

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

78
 L.

F. O
F 4"

 PVC @
 3.

98
%

STUB
INV = 941.87 SAN

32 L.F. OF 4" PVC @ 3.00%

ST
A 

11
+4

6.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

ST
A 

12
+0

0.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

MARK END WITH POST
INV = 934.35

ST

ST

ST60 L.F. OF 18'' HDPE @
 1.00%

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 20 40

PROPOSED BUILDING

FINISHED FLOOR = 947.37

NOTES:
1. ALL HDPE DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE OF DUAL WALL CONSTRUCTION. REFER

TO PIPE LINETYPE LEGEND THIS SHEET FOR WHICH PIPES TO BE
PERFORATED, IF ANY.

2. STORM PIPING SHALL BE RCP WHERE PLACED WITHIN CITY RIGHT OF WAY.
3. WATER LINE SHALL BE BURIED TO MAINTAIN 6' COVER.
4. CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY LOCATION, ELEVATION, AND MATERIAL OF

ALL WATER, STORM, AND SANITARY CONNECTIONS.
5. CONFIRM WATER SERVICE ENTRANCE LOCATION TO BUILDING WITH

ARCHITECTURAL AND MECHANICAL PLANS.
6. COORDINATE CONNECTION TO MUNICIPAL WATER MAIN WITH CEDAR FALLS

UTILITIES STAFF.
7. SANITARY SERVICE SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH TRACER WIRE. PLACE TRACER

STATION AT CLEAN OUT WHERE SERVICE EXISTS BUILDING.
8. PLACE LIGHT POLES 3' CLEAR FROM EDGE PAVING/BACK OF CURB.

ST ST

DT DT

NON PERFORATED STORM PIPE

PERFORATED STORM PIPE

STORM PIPE LEGEND

PLACE TWO WAY
CLEANOUTS AS REQUIRED.

12 DIA WATER MAIN
PER RECORDS

TRAFFIC SIGNAGE,
DO NOT DISTURB

REMOVE HYDRANT AND REDUCER,
CONTINUE WITH 12" DIP. PLACE TEE, 6"

GATE VALVE, AND REINSTALL HYDRANT

22.5° BENDS, 12" MJ
12x4" TEE

SUBSTITUTE WITH 12"x6"  TEE WHERE
ECONOMICS DICTATE.

20 LF OF 4" DIP*
TAP WITH 1.5" Cu, TYPE K DOMESTIC
SERVICE WITH BRASS CORP, STAINLESS
STEEL SADDLE, AND CURB STOP
*SUBSTITUTE 4" DIP FOR 6" DIP WHERE
ECONOMICS DICTATE.

17'

SEE PAVING PLAN FOR
SANITARY PIPE DETAIL

VI.ING ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

6+ARED PRIVATE DRIVE

297 LF 12" DIP

61 LF 12" DIP
(EX. TO TEE)

PLACE 12" GATE VALVE,
12x6 REDUCER AND
HYDRANT AT END OF LINE

188

Item 23.



2.04%

3.56%

10+00 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00

51
+0

0
52

+0
0

94
0

94
5

93793
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
0

94
5 93

8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
5

94
4

945

944

946

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST

STSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

SS

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SANSANSANSANSANSANSANSAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

ST
A 

11
+4

6.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

ST
A 

12
+0

0.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

937.77 TC

937.27 TS

937.27 TS

937.47 TS

937.97 TC

938.57 TC

937.96 TC

938.07 TS

938.50 TS

939.00 TC

938.80 TC

939.44 TC

938.30 TS

938.94 TS

ST

ST

ST

925

930

935

940

945

950

955

960

965

970

925

930

935

940

945

950

955

960

965

970

10+00 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00 14+50

94
6.

81

94
7.

24
94

7.
24

94
6.

92
94

7.
02

94
6.

24
94

6.
64

94
5.

52
94

6.
06

94
4.

95
94

5.
28

94
4.

41
94

4.
32

94
3.

89
94

3.
39

94
3.

35
94

2.
57

94
2.

79
94

1.
86

94
2.

11
94

1.
17

94
1.

32
94

0.
48

94
0.

60
93

9.
80

93
9.

97
93

9.
11

93
9.

19
93

8.
42

93
8.

36
93

7.
73

ST
A 

= 
10

+2
7.

74

EL
 =

 9
46

.7
7

ST
A 

= 
14

+0
0.

00

EL
 =

 9
37

.7
3

-2.75%

-3.89%

3.02%1.50%1.25% -1.25%

VPI STA = 11+20.00
VPI EL = 946.46
CURVE LEN = 80.00
E = 0.26
K = 30.3

VP
C

 S
TA

 =
 1

0+
80

.0
0

VP
C

 E
L 

= 
94

6.
96

VP
T 

ST
A 

= 
11

+6
0.

00
VP

T 
EL

 =
 9

44
.9

0

VPI STA = 12+10.00
VPI EL = 942.96
CURVE LEN = 60.00
E = 0.09
K = 52.6

VP
C

 S
TA

 =
 1

1+
80

.0
0

VP
C

 E
L 

= 
94

4.
13

VP
T 

ST
A 

= 
12

+4
0.

00
VP

T 
EL

 =
 9

42
.1

3

DP2 - 203 L.F. 18'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 2.64%DP2 - 165 L.F. 4'' PVC @ 2.50%

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 20 40

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

6+ARED PRIVATE DRIVE

R1-1
STOP SIGN, 30"

R3-2
LEFT TURN PROHIBITION, 24"

R3-5R
MANDATORY MOVEMENT LANE CONTROL

ST
A 

13
+7

8.
00

 - 
SL

IP
 F

O
R

M

STA 51+98.72 - SLIP FORM

ST
A 

10
+5

3.
73

 - 
SL

IP
 F

O
R

M

R6-1R
ONE WAY (RIGHT), 54"

189

Item 23.



3.
56

%

3.
70

%

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

940

936

937

938

939

941

942

940

937

938

939

941

13
+0

0
14

+0
050+00 51+00 52+00 53+00 54+00 55+00

940

937

938

939

941

942

940

938

939

D1
SW-403, 84'' X 54''

RIM = 939.98
INV IN = 927.68 S (30")

INV OUT = 924.54 E (60")
INV IN = 924.62 W (60")

D2
SW-505

RIM = 937.77
INV OUT = 930.55 N (30")

INV IN = 933.75 W (18")
INV IN = 933.75 NW (18")

STSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTSTST

250 L.F. OF 30'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 1.15%

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

20
3 

L.
F.

 O
F 

18
'' H

D
PE

 D
U

AL
 W

AL
L 

@
 2

.6
4%

SS

S1
SW-301

RIM = 939.65
INV IN = 931.63 S (6")

INV OUT = 931.52 N (6")
INV IN = 931.63 W (4")

SS

S2
SW-301

RIM = 939.29
INV OUT = 933.23 N (6")

INV IN = 933.67 W (4") SANSANSANSANSANSANSANSANSANSANSANSANSAN

245 L.F. OF 6" PVC @ 0.65%

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

16
5 

L.
F.

 O
F 

4"
 P

VC
 @

 2
.5

0%

MARK END WITH POST
INV = 934.35

ST

ST

ST

60 L.F. O
F 18'' H

DPE @
 1.00%

925

930

935

940

945

950

955

960

965

925

930

935

940

945

950

955

960

965

50+00 51+00 52+00 53+00 54+00 55+00

93
7.

04

93
7.

63

93
7.

89

93
8.

04

93
8.

07

93
8.

13

93
8.

18

93
8.

26

93
8.

37
93

7.
74

93
8.

52
93

7.
97

93
8.

42
93

8.
19

93
8.

34
93

8.
42

93
8.

25
93

8.
64

93
8.

29
93

8.
87

93
8.

39
93

9.
12

93
8.

50
93

9.
48

93
8.

50
93

9.
92

93
8.

40
94

0.
18

94
0.

14
94

0.
01

93
9.

77

ST
A 

= 
51

+9
8.

72

EL
 =

 9
37

.7
3

ST
A 

= 
54

+5
8.

72

EL
 =

 9
39

.8
8

ST
A 

= 
54

+6
6.

80

EL
 =

 9
39

.6
0

-3.50%-3.50%-1.50%

0.90%

1.85%

VPI STA = 54+25.00
VPI EL = 940.38
CURVE LEN = 50.00
E = 0.21
K = 14.9

VP
C

 S
TA

 =
 5

4+
00

.0
0

VP
C

 E
L 

= 
93

9.
92

VP
T 

ST
A 

= 
54

+5
0.

00
VP

T 
EL

 =
 9

40
.0

1

H
.P

. E
L 

= 
94

0.
18

H
.P

. S
TA

 =
 5

4+
27

.6
2

SP1 - 245 L.F. OF 6" PVC @ 0.65%

DP1 - 250 L.F. 30'' HDPE DUAL WALL @ 1.15%

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
10 20 40

VI.IN
G

 RO
AD

%R
AN

D
IL

<N
N

 %
O

8L
EV

AR
D

6+ARED PRIVATE DRIVE
MENARDS
ENTRANCE

R1-1
STOP SIGN, 30"

STA 13+78.00 - SLIP FORM

ST
A 

51
+9

8.
72

 - 
SL

IP
 F

O
R

M

ST
A 

54
+3

9.
46

 - 
SL

IP
 F

O
R

M

4" PVC SERVICE STUB

190

Item 23.



STA 10+53.76, 14.00 LT.

94
7.0

9 E
X

94
6.9

1 E
X

94
6.6

4 E
X

947.25 TS

947.29 TS 947.07 TS

94
6.9

0 T
S

94
7.5

5 T
S

94
7.0

6 S
W

94
7.5

2 T
C948.05 TC

946.67 TC

1.50%

1.
50

%

1.51%

1.49%

3.03%

1.50%

946.58 TC

94
6.5

9 T
S

946.07 TS

946.34 TS

946.43 EX

94
6.9

1 E
X947.54 EX

ST
A 

10
+3

0.
10

, 3
8.

99
 R

T.

ST
A 

10
+3

0.
12

, 3
9.

02
 L

T.

94
6.9

7 S
W

94
7.0

0 S
W

946.99 SW

946.89 SW

1.49%

94
7.0

6 S
W

946.99 SW

1.50%

1.50%

1.50%

947.15 TS

947.29 TS

94
6.7

7 E
X

946.80 TC

946.93 TC

947.42 SW

94
7.3

5 S
W

947.42 SW

94
7.3

5 S
W

947.33 SW

94
7.2

6 S
W

947.30 SW

0.01% 0.00%

947.02 TS

STA 54+39.44, 0.00 RT.STA 54+39.44, 14.00 LT. STA 54+39.46, 14.00 RT.

STA 54+53.72, 0.00 LT.

STA 54+58.72, 0.01 LT.

STA 54+64.44, 39.01 LT. STA 54+64.46, 38.99 RT.

STA 54+53.73, 28.07 RT.STA 54+53.71, 28.08 LT.

1.50%

1.50%

1.50%

940.90 TC

94
0.9

9 T
C94
0.7

8 S
W

940.50 SW

940.42 SW

939.47 SW

939.40 SW

939.88 SW

939.96 SW

93
9.2

2 S
W

940.20 EX

940.79 EX

938.49 EX

939.09 EX

939.64 EX

94
0.3

6 T
C

940.03 TC

940.13 TS

939.86 TS

939.52 TS

94
0.4

0 T
S

94
0.4

9 T
S

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 5'

0 5 10

78'

28'

78'

1.
5'

5'

R36'

PRAIRIE PAR.:A<

%RANDIL<NN %O8LEVARD

RELOCATE LIGHT POLE TO EAST

7.
15

'
5'

28'

R25'
R25'

3.
75

'

42.64'

±7
.1

8' PLACE SIDEWALK
2%-8% ABOVE CURB.
GENERALLY FOLLOW
EXISTING GRADES.

10'

R25'

R25'

191

Item 23.



947.10 EX 94
7.

08
 E

X

947.24 EX 94
7.2

1 E
X

947.48 EX

94
7.

47
 E

X

947.24 EX

94
7.3

0 E
X

847.37 SW

84
7.

44
 S

W

84
7.

37
 S

W

848.44 SW

947.82 EX

94
7.8

7 E
X

94
7.7

3 E
X

947.81 EX 94
8.2

5 E
X

948.16 EX

94
7.7

8 E
X

94
7.8

6 E
X

848.28 SW

84
8.2

8 S
W

84
8.3

5 S
W

84
8.3

5 S
W

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 5 10

PRAIRIE PAR.:A<�%RANDIL<NN RO8NDA%O8T

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

�%
RA

ND
IL<

NN
 R

O8
ND

A%
O8

T

13.54'

14.24' 5'

10'8'
G

R
IN

D
 TO

 FLU
SH

(1/4" M
AX)

TRUCATED
DOMES, 8'x2'

3.25%

3.70%

1.5%

1.5%

5'

GRIND TO FLUSH

(1/4" MAX)

7.82'

5'

3.5%

1.5%

1.5%
2.05%

0 5 10

192

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

2.60%

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

WASTE
ENCLOSURE

116 SF
EXAM 1

117 SF
EXAM 2

121 SF
EXAM 3

128 SF
EXAM 4

152 SF
TREATMENT

161 SF
STAFF BREAK

72 SF
IT

72 SF
SOILED

228 SF
RAD

161 SF
EXAM 5

79 SF
UTILITY/EVS

52 SF

DRUG SCREEN
TOILET

51 SF
TOILET

73 SF
OFFICE

63 SF
MEDS

47 SF
INTAKE

50 SF
HUDDLE

210 SF
NURSE WORK

76 SF
VESTIBULE

609 SF
WAITING

112 SF
CLEAN

94
5

94
3

94
4

946

946

94
6

W
W

W

W
SV

11+00 12+00

94
5 94
3

94
4

94
6

94
5

94
4

945

944

946

945

943

944

946

STSTST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

SANSANSAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN

ST
A 

11
+4

6.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

ST
A 

12
+0

0.
26

, 1
4.

00
 R

T.

945.99 TC

946.84 TC

946.64 TC

946.40 TC

946.14 TC

946.59 TC946.58 TC

94
6.8

8 T
C

94
6.9

6 T
C

947.19 TC

94
5.5

3 T
C

94
5.2

0 T
C

94
5.6

4 T
C

945.50 TC

94
5.

63
 T

C94
5.7

6 T
C

94
4.8

5 T
C

94
5.0

5 T
C

94
5.2

8 T
C

944.38 TC

944.02 TC

943.61 TC

94
5.3

4 T
C

94
5.5

9 T
C

94
5.8

4 T
C

94
6.2

7 T
C

946.52 TC
946.90 TC

946.74 TC

946.02 TS

945.77 TS

945.34 TS

945.09 TS

94
4.8

4 T
S

94
4.7

8 T
S

94
4.4

7 T
S

94
5.1

8 T
S

94
5.2

6 T
S

94
5.1

3 T
S 94
4.

55
 T

S

944.35 TS

945.20 TS

945.81 TS

946.15 TS

94
6.6

8 T
S

94
6.4

5 T
S

94
6.8

2 T
S

94
6.5

9 T
S

94
5.8

1 T
S946.09 TS

946.37 TS

946.47 TS

94
5.8

7 T
S

94
5.6

1 T
S

94
6.5

9 T
S

946.87 TS

946.07 TS

94
6.0

9 T
S

946.34 TS

946.14 TS

945.90 TS 94
5.4

9 T
S

94
5.6

4 T
S

94
5.3

4 T
S

946.69 TS

946.65 TS

946.53 TS 94
6.4

1 T
S

94
6.7

7 T
S

94
6.7

7 T
S

94
6.7

7 T
S

94
6.7

7 T
S

946.69 TS

946.69 TS

94
6.4

7 T
S

94
6.4

6 T
S

94
6.6

9 T
S

94
5.0

7 T
S

94
5.0

0 T
S

94
4.7

0 T
S

945.03 TS

944.00 TS

943.52 TS

94
4.6

5 T
S

94
3.6

8 T
S

94
3.1

6 T
S945.14 TS

94
6.7

7 S
W

94
6.7

7 S
W

947.27 SW

947.27 SW

94
6.9

1 S
W

94
7.0

3 S
W

947.15 SW

94
6.

69
 S

W

946.69 SW94
7.1

9 S
W

947.28 SW
94

7.2
7 S

W

94
7.2

6 S
W

946.78 SW

94
6.8

0 S
W

94
6.5

1 S
W

94
6.0

4 E
X

947.34 SW

947.34 SW

1.
10

%

1.
39

%

2.
19

%

3.
00

%

0.
20

%
1.

09
%

1.
71

%

2.
52

%

3.
17

%

3.
12

%

3.
08

%

3.
04

%

1.
07

%

1.
57

%

1.
43

%

1.
49

%

1.
55

%

1.
54

%

1.
22

%
1.

60
%

1.
68

%

0.00% 0.42% 1.12%

0.48% 2.50%

2.53%1.12%

1.07%1.07%1.07% 2.49%

2.58%

1.50%

1.50%

1.
00

%

0.
99

%

1.
26

%
1.

26
%

3.
04

%

1.58%

0.56%

2.45%

1.97%

1.65%

4.02%

3.09%

2.51%

1.89%

94
4.4

7 T
S

1.
33

%

6.
22

%

6.23% 5.76%

1.
50

%
1.50%

1.50%

0.
53

%

3.
28

%
1.

87
%

1.50%

1.50%

94
6.2

7 S
W

94
5.9

6 T
S

94
5.8

5 T
S

946.47 TS

946.09 TS

945.88 TS

945.89 EX

94
5.7

1 E
X

94
5.8

6 E
X

94
6.1

9 S
W

94
6.0

0 S
W

94
5.9

0 S
W

945.88 SW

94
5.7

3 E
X

94
5.9

1 S
W

895.79 SW

94
6.0

1 S
W

895.86 SW

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 10 20

HATCHING LEGEND

PCC SIDEWALK, 5" PCC ON 4" MODIFIED
SUBBASE

PCC PAVEMENT, 6" PCC ON 6" MODIFIED
SUBBASE

PCC PAVEMENT, 8" PCC ON 6" MODIFIED
SUBBASE

PAVEMENT NOTES:
1. SIDEWALKS ARE DESIGNED AT 1.5% CROSS SLOPE OR LESS. AS

CONSTRUCTED CROSS SLOPS SHALL NOT EXCEED 2%.
2. LONGITUDINAL SLOPE OF WALKS SHALL NOT EXCEED 5% (1:20)

UNLESS AT CURB RAMPS IN WHICH CASE THE LONGITUDINAL
SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 8.3% (1:12). CARE SHALL BE TAKEN
TO INSTALL WALKS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SURFACE
DESIGN HEREIN.

3. END STALLS ARE 10' WIDE MEASURED FROM BACK OF CURB TO
CENTER PAVEMENT MARKING. STANDARD STALLS ARE 9' WIDE
MEASURED CENTER TO CENTER OF PAVEMENT MARKING.
HANDICAP STALLS ARE AS NOTED.

4. PROVIDE AND INSTALL HANDICAP PARKING SIGNS. SIGNS
SHALL BE ALUMINUM ON GALVANIZED STEEL SQUARE TUBE.

54'

PROPOSED BUILDING

FINISHED FLOOR = 947.37

8' 8' 8'

9'
TYP

9'
TYP

9'
TY

P

20
'

24
'

20
'

6' 5'
20'24'

R5'

R5'

10'

R3.5'

R5'

24'

9.13'

12.25'

R5'

5'

5'

4' x 5' turning space

193

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

2.04%

3.56%

3.51%

3.70%

2.22%

2.60%

94
0

94
5

93
693

793
893

9

94
194

294
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
8

94
0

94
5

93
7

93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

946

946 94
6

94
0

94
5

93793
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 30 60

O

U U

VI.ING ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

%RANDIL<NN %O8LEVARD

OOOOOOOOOOOOO

O
O

O
O

O
O

NO DISTURBANCE AREA
PLACE SURVEY FLAGGING

U

U

U

U

U
U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U
UU

U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

PLACE FROM TOP SLOPE AT NORTH TO
SOUTH ALONG CONTOUR LINE AND WRAP
NORTH AT SOUTH END TO CREATE
SEDIMENT TRAP FOR PROJECT.
CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN SOUTH
SILT FENCE FROM RUPTURE AND
SEDIMENT BUILDUP DURING
CONSTRUCTION

OOOOO

30'

75
'

7 8

5

3

6

1

2

O
O

O
O

O
O

O

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY INCLUDE
LANDSCAPING, REFER TO LANDSCAPING PLAN)
MINIMUM 8" TOP SOIL WITH SEEDING, 6" WITH SOD.

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR MULCH
BERM WHERE PERMITTED

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED

AND SHOWN ON THIS PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE
FOR USE IF NEEDED.

2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED
DOWN TO WITHSTAND ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS

3. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING
SHALL BE VACUUMED OR UTILIZE OTHER
ACCEPTABLE CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE
AND DISPOSE OF THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE
WITH APPLICABLE LAWS.

4. IMMEDIATELY MULCH (OR STABILIZE) ANY AREAS
THAT WILL NOT BE ACTIVE FOR 14 DAYS OR LONGER

194

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

2.04%

3.56%

3.51%

3.70%

2.22%

2.60%
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

WASTE
ENCLOSURE

94
0

94
5

93
693

793
893

9

94
194

294
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
8

94
0

94
5

93
7

93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

946

946 94
6 W

94
0

94
5

93793
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
0

94
5 93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
5

94
4

945

944

946

945

943
944

946

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

STSTSTSTSTSTSTST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

SS

SS

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SANSANSANSANSAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

ST

ST

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 30 60

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY INCLUDE
LANDSCAPING, REFER TO LANDSCAPING PLAN)
MINIMUM 8" TOP SOIL WITH SEEDING, 6" WITH SOD.

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR MULCH
BERM WHERE PERMITTED

O

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

U U

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED

AND SHOWN ON THIS PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE
FOR USE IF NEEDED.

2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED
DOWN TO WITHSTAND ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS

3. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING
SHALL BE VACUUMED OR UTILIZE OTHER
ACCEPTABLE CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE
AND DISPOSE OF THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE
WITH APPLICABLE LAWS.

4. IMMEDIATELY MULCH (OR STABILIZE) ANY AREAS
THAT WILL NOT BE ACTIVE FOR 14 DAYS OR LONGER

VI.ING ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

%RANDIL<NN %O8LEVARD

OOOOOOOOOOOOO

O
O

O
O

O
O

O
O

O

NO DISTURBANCE AREA
PLACE SURVEY FLAGGING

40
'

U

U

U

U

U
U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U
UU

U

50'

O

O

O

PLACE FROM TOP SLOPE AT NORTH TO SOUTH ALONG
CONTOUR LINE AND WRAP NORTH AT SOUTH END TO
CREATE SEDIMENT TRAP FOR PROJECT.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL MAINTAIN SOUTH SILT FENCE FROM RUPTURE
AND SEDIMENT BUILDUP DURING CONSTRUCTION

OOOOO

30'

75
'

7 8

8

5

3

6

4

1

2

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U
U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

U

195

Item 23.



TR
AN

S

2.04%

3.56%

3.51%

3.70%

2.22%

2.60%
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

WASTE
ENCLOSURE

116 SF
EXAM 1

117 SF
EXAM 2

121 SF
EXAM 3

128 SF
EXAM 4

152 SF
TREATMENT

161 SF
STAFF BREAK

72 SF
IT

72 SF
SOILED

228 SF
RAD

161 SF
EXAM 5

79 SF
UTILITY/EVS

52 SF

DRUG SCREEN
TOILET

51 SF
TOILET

73 SF
OFFICE

63 SF
MEDS

47 SF
INTAKE

50 SF
HUDDLE

210 SF
NURSE WORK

76 SF
VESTIBULE

609 SF
WAITING

112 SF
CLEAN

94
0

94
5

93
693

793
893

9

94
194

294
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
8

94
0

94
5

93
7

93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

946

946 94
6 W

94
0

94
5

93793
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
7

94
0

94
5 93
8

93
9

94
1

94
2

94
3

94
4

94
6

94
5

94
4

945

944

946

945

943
944

946

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

STSTSTSTSTSTSTST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

SS

SS

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SAN
SAN

SANSANSANSANSAN

SAN

SAN

SAN

ST

ST

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0 30 60

O

U U

VI.ING ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

PA
R.

:
A<

%RANDIL<NN %O8LEVARD

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY INCLUDE
LANDSCAPING, REFER TO LANDSCAPING PLAN)
MINIMUM 8" TOP SOIL WITH SEEDING, 6" WITH SOD.

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR MULCH
BERM WHERE PERMITTED

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED

AND SHOWN ON THIS PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE
FOR USE IF NEEDED.

2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED
DOWN TO WITHSTAND ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS

3. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING
SHALL BE VACUUMED OR UTILIZE OTHER
ACCEPTABLE CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE
AND DISPOSE OF THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE
WITH APPLICABLE LAWS.

4. IMMEDIATELY MULCH (OR STABILIZE) ANY AREAS
THAT WILL NOT BE ACTIVE FOR 14 DAYS OR LONGER

196

Item 23.



W

0' 10' 20'

LANDSCAPE PLAN
UPC EXPRESS VIKING ROAD

ZONED - HWY-1 - HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

LOT SIZE: 30989 S.F. / 0.71 ACRE

REQUIREMENTS PER ORDINANCE (PARAPHRASED):

A.  MIN. OPEN SPACE OF 10% EXCLUDING PERIMETER SETBACK

B.  MIN. 0.02 PTS/SF OF SITE AREA. (REDUCTIONS POSSIBLE SUBJECT TO
APPROVAL)

30989 SF * 0.02 PTS/SF = 620 POINTS

C.  MIN. 0.75 PTS PER LF OF FRONTAGE
352 LF FRONTAGE * 0.75PTS/LF = 264 PTS

SUB REQUIREMENTS
· OVERSTORY TREES PLACED ADJACENT TO PARKING AT A RATE OF 1 TREE

PER 15 PARKING SPACES OR 1 TREE PER 2500 SF OF HARD SURFACE
11,487 SF PAVEMENT / 2500 SF = 5 TREES

· LANDSCAPING AROUND PERIMETER OF PARKING AREAS.

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED
TOTAL AREA EXCLUSIVE OF LANDSCAPE SETBACK: 19,374 SF
VEGETATED SURFACE: 4,120 S.F. (21.2%)

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

197

Item 23.



FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

TOP OF PARAPET

19' - 6"

TOP OF ENTRY PARAPET

21' - 0"

CB-1

CM-1

CB-2

CB-2

CB-2

X100-1

17' - 6"

4'
 -

 0
"

TENANT SIGNAGE - 57 SF OR 4% OF TOTAL WALL FACE

15
' -

 0
"19

' -
 6

"

21
' -

 0
"

20' - 5"

54' - 6" 24' - 6 1/2"

79' - 8 1/2"

FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

TOP OF PARAPET

19' - 6"

TOP OF ENTRY PARAPET

21' - 0"

CB-2

CM-1

CB-1
CB-1 CB-119

' -
 6

"

21
' -

 0
"

78' - 4 1/2"

79' - 8 1/2"

CB-1

MATERIAL LEGEND:

CB-1 6'-0" X 1'-8" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA "TUFF BLOCK", RUNNING BOND. 
ACTUAL LAYOUT DIMENSIONS: 
71 5/8" x 17 7/8" O.C. ADD 3/8" 
VERTICAL EXPANSION JOINTS TO 
LAYOUT AS RECOMMENDED BY NICHIHA

CB-2 10-0" X 1'-6" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD, "REDWOOD", 
STACK BOND. ACTUAL LAYOUT 
DIMENSIONS 119 3/4" x 17 7/8" O.C. 
INCLUDING THE VERTICAL JOINT 
BETWEEN PANELS

CM-1 7/8" SINE WAVE CORRUGATED METAL 
PANELS 

SCALE:

SHEET:

DATE:

1/8" = 1'-0"

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

COLOR ELEVATIONS

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

A1.1

MAY 05, 2021

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

NORTH ELEVATION COLOR

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

SOUTH ELEVATION COLOR

198

Item 23.



FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

TOP OF PARAPET

19' - 6"

TOP OF ENTRY PARAPET

21' - 0"

CB-1

CM-1

CB-2

19
' -

 6
"

18
' -

 0
"

21
' -

 0
"

28' - 10" 21' - 6 1/2"

4' - 6 1/2"

51' - 6 1/2"

FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

TOP OF PARAPET

19' - 6"

TOP OF ENTRY PARAPET

21' - 0"

W2 W3

CB-1

CB-2

CM-1

CB-2

4'
 -

 0
"

17' - 6"

21
' -

 0
"

19
' -

 6
"

TENANT SIGNAGE - 57 SF OR 6% OF TOTAL WALL FACE

29' - 2 1/2" 22' - 2 1/2"

51' - 6 1/2"

CB-1

MATERIAL LEGEND:

CB-1 6'-0" X 1'-8" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA "TUFF BLOCK", RUNNING BOND. 
ACTUAL LAYOUT DIMENSIONS: 
71 5/8" x 17 7/8" O.C. ADD 3/8" 
VERTICAL EXPANSION JOINTS TO 
LAYOUT AS RECOMMENDED BY NICHIHA

CB-2 10-0" X 1'-6" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD, "REDWOOD", 
STACK BOND. ACTUAL LAYOUT 
DIMENSIONS 119 3/4" x 17 7/8" O.C. 
INCLUDING THE VERTICAL JOINT 
BETWEEN PANELS

CM-1 7/8" SINE WAVE CORRUGATED METAL 
PANELS 

SCALE:

SHEET:

DATE:

1/8" = 1'-0"

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

COLOR ELEVATIONS

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

A1.2

MAY 05, 2021

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

EAST ELEVATION COLOR

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

WEST ELEVATION COLOR

199

Item 23.



FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

GRADE, SLOPE AWAY FROM SIGNAGE

ANODIZED EXTRUDED ALUM COPING 
CAP, COLOR TO MATCH STOREFRONT 
FRAMING

9' - 10 3/4"

4"4" 9' - 6 3/4" 4"

10
' -

 2
"

6'
 -

 0
"

3'
 -

 0
"

8"

CB-2

INTERNALLY LIT ALUM BACKER PLATE SIGN 
(BY SIGNAGE INSTALLER)

POURED CONCRETE BASE

TENANT SIGNAGE 60 SF FOR BOTH MONUMENT 
SIGNS, LESS THAN THE ALLOWED AREA OF 250 SF

FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

GATE WIDTH

5' - 8" 1"

GATE WIDTH

5' - 8"

GALVANIZED STEEL TUBES AND 
GALVANIZED PERFORATED METAL GATES

FIRST FLOOR

0' - 0"

6'
 -

 2
"

6' - 0" 6' - 0"

BOLLARD ON EACH SIDE 
OF GATE OPENING CB-1

MATERIAL LEGEND:

CB-1 6'-0" X 1'-8" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA "TUFF BLOCK", RUNNING BOND. 
ACTUAL LAYOUT DIMENSIONS: 
71 5/8" x 17 7/8" O.C. ADD 3/8" 
VERTICAL EXPANSION JOINTS TO 
LAYOUT AS RECOMMENDED BY NICHIHA

CB-2 10-0" X 1'-6" NOMINAL FIBER CEMENT 
NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD, "REDWOOD", 
STACK BOND. ACTUAL LAYOUT 
DIMENSIONS 119 3/4" x 17 7/8" O.C. 
INCLUDING THE VERTICAL JOINT 
BETWEEN PANELS

CM-1 7/8" SINE WAVE CORRUGATED METAL 
PANELS 

SCALE:

SHEET:

DATE:

As indicated

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

MONUMENT SIGN & DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

A1.3

MAY 05, 2021

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

MONUMENT SIGN ELEVATION - TYPICAL
1/4" = 1'-0"

2
TRASH ENCLOSURE - NORTH - COLOR

1/4" = 1'-0"
3

TRASH ENCLOSURE - TYPICAL ELEVATION

200

Item 23.



SCALE:

SHEET:

DATE:

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

RENDERINGS

EXPRESS CLINIC - CEDAR FALLS

21023

A1.4

MAY 05, 2021

VIEW FROM CORNER OF VIKING RD & PRAIRIE PKWYVIEW FROM PRAIRIE PKWY

VIEW FROM PARKING LOT ENTRANCEVIEW FROM VIKING RD

201

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

   

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: June 25, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Hwy-1 Commercial Site Plan - 703 Brandilynn Blvd (Case # SP21-007) 
  

 
REQUEST: 
 

Site plan approval for construction of a new multi-tenant retail building  
 

PETITIONER: 
 

T & L Investments, LLC;  Alex Bower, Robinson Engineering Company, 
Engineer  
 

LOCATION: 
 

703 Brandilynn Blvd; Northwest of Brandilynn Blvd intersection of Winterberry 
Dr.   

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to construct 
a one-story, 8516 square foot retail 
building at 703 Brandilynn Blvd.  
The applicant proposes a 
restaurant with a drive-through and 
three other retail spaces.  The site 
plan illustrates the location of the 
building, drive-through lane, parking 
for employees and customers, and 
a dumpster enclosure.  The 
proposed layout of the site sits on 
1.537 acres with vehicular access 
to the private easement to the 
property to the north and an access on to Brandilynn Boulevard from the south.  Ross 
Dress for Less, Hobby Lobby, HomeGoods, and Dollar Tree are located to the north of 
the site.  Collins Community Credit Union and BioLife are located south of the site.  
Walmart and associated parking lot is east of the site.     
 

 

202

Item 24.



BACKGROUND 
The property is part of the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan that was adopted by the City in 
2004. The City approved Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II in 2012.  Lot 3 
was created in 2016 under Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South- Phase IV plat. The 
property is zoned Highway Commercial (HWY-1), which requires site plan review and a 
recommendation from Planning and Zoning Commission and approval from the City 
Council.  Pinnacle Prairie Owner’s Association has reviewed the plans for the site.   
 
 ANALYSIS 
The HWY-1 District is intended to promote general service commercial uses that serve 
a broader market area (i.e. city-wide or regional customer base). The ordinance 
requires a detailed site plan review prior to approval in order to ensure that the 
development site satisfies several basic aesthetic standards. Attention to details such 
as parking, open green space, landscaping, signage, building design, and other similar 
factors help to ensure orderly development in the entire area.  
 
Following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements for the proposed 
development: 
 
1) Use: Any commercial or 

retail use intended to 
serve the traveling public 
or a regional customer 
base is listed as a 
permitted use in the 
HWY-1 District.  The 
retail and restaurant 
space proposed within 
the building satisfy this 
definition. Use is 
allowed. 
 

2) Setbacks: There is a 
platted building setback of 20 feet along Brandilynn Boulevard.  The building is 75 
feet from Brandilynn; 103 feet from the western property line; 30 feet from the 
northern property line, and 114 feet from the eastern property line.   

 
The side yard setback is 5 feet. The district also requires that a 20-foot landscaped 
setback be maintained along streets and principal accessways.  Drives, aisles, and 
parking areas may not encroach into these landscaped setbacks.  The private drive 
along the east property line is considered a principal accessway because it is the 
primary driveway for the entirety of this commercial area to the north and east  
Therefore, the 20-foot landscaped setback applies along the eastern property 
boundary and along Brandilynn Boulevard to the south.  The applicant’s site plan 
conforms to these standards. Building setbacks are satisfied. The parking lot 
setbacks are also satisfied. 

Proposed Site Plan 

Menards 

203

Item 24.



3) Parking: The code requires restaurants to provide one parking space for every 100 
square feet of gross floor area, plus one parking space for every two employees 
with a minimum of five parking spaces.  The code requires retail stores over 2,000 
square feet in gross floor area to provide 4.5 parking stalls per 1,000 square feet of 
gross floor area.  The floor area of the building is 8,516 square feet and of that, 
4,820 square feet will be designated as the restaurant.  The applicant proposes 
using the exclusion of storage areas, closets, bathrooms, and other areas that are 
nonessential to the building up to 10%, which is found under Sec. 26-220(b)(1).   
 

Use Proposed 10% reduced sq Parking requirement 

Restaurant 4,820sf 4,338 44 
Restaurant 
employees 

16  8 

Retail 3,131sf 2,818 13 

Total   65 
 

The proposal requires 65 parking spaces and the applicant proposes 67 spaces. 
 
The parking meets the zoning standards with minimum stall dimensions of 9’ x 19’. 
The applicant also proposes three parking spaces that will be compact spaces that 
are 8’x19’ and a 24-foot wide aisle. The amount and dimension of the parking 
stalls and drives are met. 

 

4) Open Green Space: The HWY-1 District requires that open green space/landscape 
area be provided at the rate of 10% of the development site excluding the required 
20-foot landscaped setback area. Below is a summary that details how this 
provision is met. 
 
 
 

New Development Site(excluding 20-foot landscape 
setback) 

55,071 SF  

Required Open/Green Space 5,507.1 SF 10% 
Provided Open/Green Space 9,605 SF 17% 

 
Landscaping is shown throughout the site, both around the building as well as 
within the parking lot, along the streets, and required setbacks. For clarity, the 
9,605 square feet is the provided green space in addition to the landscaped 
setback. 
The open green space exceeds the minimum requirement and is well 
distributed. 
 

5)  Landscaping: The HWY-1 District requires landscaping at the rate of 0.02 points per 
sq. ft. of total development site area which comes to 1,379 points required. Their 
plan achieves 1,995 points.  An additional 306 points are required for street tree 
planting and their plan achieves 480.  Four of the street trees are already planted.  

 
 

204

Item 24.



 
The Hwy-1 district and parking standards require internal landscaping requirements.   
Trees are required in the vehicular use area at the rate of one overstory tree per 15 
parking spaces.  This equates to a requirement of 5 overstory trees.  That is the 
amount proposed within the parking area to meet this requirement. 
 
In addition to the internal parking lot trees, there are trees required within the 
peripheral of the parking lot and along the street frontages.  The applicant proposes 
landscaping islands with at least five feet wide with shrubs, grasses, and additional 
trees being located around parking areas.  The landscaping screening is required for 
the entire parking lot which includes the internal circulation to be screened.  The 
applicant provided a revised landscaping plan that was presented to the Planning 
and Zoning Commission.  The revised landscaping plan meets the landscaping 
screening requirements.   

 
 

6) Building Design: The HWY-1 zone requires a design review of various elements. 
The intent of the zone is to promote and facilitate comprehensively planned 
commercial developments located adjacent to major transportation corridors and 
interchanges. It is further the purpose of the zone to encourage high standards of 
building architecture and site planning. The elements in the code are noted below 
with a review of how each is addressed. Overall, staff finds that the proposed 
building design meets the zoning standards based on the following analysis.  

 

205

Item 24.



Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations of 

adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building; the 
relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 

The applicant submitted the elevations and two renderings of the building.  
The scale and proportion of the new building will be similar to other nearby 
establishments. It is one-story with variable wall heights where a flat roof 
with additional parapets ranging from 18-22 feet. The neighboring 
buildings to the north and south have similar dimensions.  Staff finds that 
the proposal is consistent with neighboring buildings and with the height 
allowances in the zoning district.  

 
Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, and 

direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 

 
The adjacent buildings utilize flat roofs with a parapet in the front. The 
applicant proposes a flat roof with additional parapets to provide a 
variation to the roofline. Staff finds that the design is compatible with the 
surrounding buildings. 

 
Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front facade 

and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. This pattern of 
solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  

 
The new building is oriented toward Brandilynn Blvd.  The applicant 
proposes a variety of fiber cement siding in “espresso”, and “pecan” and 
pac-clad aluminum panels in “stone white.”  The applicant also proposes 
brick with a “vintage black velour” to provide a change in materials and 
colors.  There is a good balance of the materials and colors that provide a 
transition to the less transparent rear of the building. Overall, the patterns 
meet or exceed the City’s standards. 

 
Materials and texture: Materials and texture. The similarity or compatibility of existing 

materials and textures on the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration 
shall be considered compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the 
context of other buildings in the immediate area. 

 
The applicant proposes windows, fiber cement siding, and painted bricks 
for the new building’s exterior materials. All of the materials provide a 
sleeker modern feel that strikes a balance between color and texture. Staff 
finds that these material and texture choices are compatible with those of 
adjacent buildings. 

 

Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 

buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 

 

206

Item 24.



The applicant proposes the building features to be a very neutral color 
palate. The applicant proposes dark brown fiber cement, pac-clad 
aluminum panels in “stone white”, a pecan color fiber cement panels, and 
“black velour”  bricks.  Staff finds no issues with the choice of colors. 

 
Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 

entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate area, 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that 
the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features should be 
regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details that would be 
appropriate for new buildings or alterations. 

 
Architectural features of the new building include the flat roof, with a slight 
variation where the parapets are located.  The applicant proposes window 
curtains along the south and east elevations and material changes for the 
north and west elevations. These style features and materials maintain an 
identity while being generally consistent with neighboring buildings.  

 
 
 

 
 

 

207

Item 24.



 
 
7) Trash Dumpster Site: The dumpster and enclosure are located on the west edge of 

the property. This enclosure will be made of rock face block in a dark gray color and 
metal to match the materials used on the principal structure. It will have three sets of 
doors to operate towards the east where a truck can approach it. The enclosure will 
measure 10 feet by 34 feet and will be 7 feet high. The dumpster facility location 
and enclosure are acceptable.  
 

 
 

8) Lighting: The HWY-1 District regulations do not have specific lighting design 
guidelines. However, all new site plans require a review of the lighting to consider 
potential nuisance issues and incompatibilities. The vehicular use area will utilize six, 
15-foot high fully downcast and shielded fixtures produced by Lithonia Lighting. The 
applicant will also propose four smaller fully downcast and shielded fixtures that will 
be attached to the building for pedestrian lighting.  The lighting plan shows that the 
proposed models will properly light critical areas of the site without producing glare 
or spillover light directing light on to other properties or right-of-way. Lighting is 
acceptable. 

 
9) Signage: Separate sign permits will be required for all signage prior to installation. 

However, the proposed signage plan for the site must be part of this review by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council. The signage plan has been 
included as an attachment. 
 
Wall signs may only be on two wall surfaces and must be less than 20% of the wall 
area.  Proposed wall signs will need to be similar and proportional to the signs 
shown on the elevations for a cohesive sign plan at the time of sign permit.  For the 
new building, two wall signs are illustrated on the building on the west and the south 

208

Item 24.



elevation. These wall signs meet the quantity and are well within the size 
requirements. 
 
Freestanding signs are to be evaluated on a 
case-by-case basis. The intent in this zone is 
to limit the size, height, and the number of on-
premises signs for each permitted use with the 
objective of discouraging sign clutter and to 
encourage the highest aesthetic standards for 
the development site.  Freestanding signs are 
limited in height to 25 feet above the surface 
of the roadway and their aggregate sign area 
should not exceed 250 square feet.  The 
applicant proposes a 7.5 foot by12.5 multi-
tenant monument sign that will be constructed 
of similar materials as the proposed building. 
Signage is acceptable. 

 
10) Storm Water Management: The applicant proposes to connect to the Pinnacle 

Prairie regional storm water plan. The engineering division has determined that no 
additional detention is required. Prior to construction, a City SWPPP permit will still 
need to be obtained. Criterion is met, subject to final engineering review prior to 
issuance of a building permit.  

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 

Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the proposed site plan.  Water, electric, gas, 
and communications utility services are available in accordance with the service policies 
of CFU.  There is an existing 8” water service stubbed into the lot.  The site shows a 12” 
water service.  If a 12” is required, the existing 8” will need to be abandoned in 
accordance with the CFU service policies.  Natural gas is available along Brandilynn 
Blvd. 
 
The developer is responsible for the construction of a properly sized water system 
throughout the proposed site.  Included in the installation are valves, fire hydrants, and 
water service connections.  Cedar Falls Public Safety will need to review and approve 
the civil site plan for final hydrant locations.  Gas services are owned, installed, and 
maintained by CFU.  If the primary heat source for the new building is natural gas, CFU 
will install the gas service at no cost to the owner.  The general contractor is required to 
contact CFU for coordination of utility service locations.   
 
Any other minor technical issues will be addressed at the time of a building plan review. 
 
A courtesy notice to surrounding property owners was mailed on June 15, 2021. 
 
 
 

209

Item 24.



RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of SP21-007, a commercial 
site plan for property located at 703 Brandilynn Boulevard in the Hwy-1 Commercial 
District, subject to:   

1) Any comments or direction specified by the Planning & Zoning 
Commission. 

2) Conformance with all staff recommendations and technical requirements.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
Discussion and 
recommendation  
6/23/2021 
 

Vice-Chair Larson introduced the application.  Ms. Pezley provided an overview 
of the proposal, location, and design of the building as outlined in the staff 
report.  She explained how the proposal meets the criteria as outlined in the staff 
report.  She also explained that the staff report has a condition requesting a 
revision for the landscaping plan.  Ms. Pezley entered into the record a revised 
landscaping plan and found that the revised landscaping plan meets the criteria 
outlined in the City Code.  She recommends removing the condition for a 
revised landscaping plan and approving the application as presented with two 
conditions as listed in the staff report.    
 
Ms. Saul moved to approve the application as presented and Mr. Larson 
seconded the motion.  Mr. Holst said that he found this is a straightforward 
application.  The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Leeper, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad, and Sears), and 0 nays. 
 
 

 
Attachments: Location Map 
  Complete Site Plan Set 
  Proposed Signage Plan & Building Elevations 
 

Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

210

Item 24.



Pr airie Pkwy Trail

Viking Rd Trail

â

â

â

â

Wa
lm

art
 Dr

W in terber ryDr

Brandilynn Blvd

E Viking Rd

Prairie Pkwy

M-2-PA-1

HWY-1

MU

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
June 23, 2021

Retail on Brandilynn Blvd

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Waterloo Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

211

Item 24.



Robinson Engineering Company
Consulting Engineers

819 Second Street NE
Independence, Iowa 50644

319-334-7211

THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN WITHIN THIS PLAN
SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN CONFORMANCE WITH

THE 2021 VERSION OF THE URBAN STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, ALSO
KNOWN AS SUDAS (2021), AS AMENDED BY THE CITY

OF CEDAR FALLS, AND, IF PROVIDED, PROJECT
SPECIFIC SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS.

DEVELOPER

T & L INVESTMENTS, LLC
PO BOX 390, 520 MAIN STREET
HUDSON, IOWA 50643

CIVIL ENGINEER

ROBINSON ENGINEERING
819 SECOND STREET NE
INDEPENDENCE, IOWA 50644
319-334-7211
PROJECT CONTACT: ALEX BOWER
ENGINEER: MONICA SMITH

'C' SHEETS

My renewal date is December 31, 2021 

1-800-292-8989
www.iowaonecall.com Know whats below.

Call before you dig.

 STATE OF IOWA 

PRO
FESSIO NAL ENGIN

EE
R

LICENSED

IOWA

15074

I hereby certify that this Engineering document was
prepared by me or under my direct personal supervision
and that I am a duly Licensed Professional Engineer
under the laws of the State  of Iowa.

MONICA M. SMITH           LICENSE NO. 15074

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

Signature

SMITH

MACINOM

Date

PROJECT
LOCATION

C0.1
2021-06-14

SUBMITTAL 3

CEDAR FALLS
BLACK HAWK COUNTY

 LOCATION MAP 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

NTS

RETAIL ON BRANDILYNN
IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS,
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

703 BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

NEW COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT

PN: 4305-21

INDEX OF SHEETS
SHEET TITLE

C0.1 TITLE
C0.2 SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
C0.3 GENERAL NOTES
C1.1 UTILITY PLAN
C2.1 PAVING PLAN - EAST
C2.2 PAVING PLAN - WEST
C3.1 SWPPP - INITIAL
C3.2 SWPPP - DURING CONSTRUCTION
C3.3 SWPPP - FINAL STABILIZATION
C4.1 LANDSCAPE PLAN

212

Item 24.



14

12

17

7

12

5

TENANT A TENANT B TENANT C TENANT D

N89° 20' 02"E   350.52'

S20° 55' 22"E   128.09'

S69° 04' 38"W   155.62'

L: 120.88

R: 362.40

CH B: S78° 38' 00"W

CH L: 120.32

S88° 11' 21"W   130.67'

N
00

° 3
9'

 5
8"

W
   

19
9.

00
'

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

LOT 2

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV 

LOT 5

GENCOM ADD.

PCC

PCC
PCC

PCC

EXISTING INLET, 9'x4'
RIM = 954.5
FL OUT = 949.65

EXISTING INLET, 9'x5'
RIM = 954.06
FL OUT = 947.51

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 955.80
FL OUT = 944.80

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 958.09
FL OUT = 946.39

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 960.88

FL OUT = 948.58

LOT 1

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE I

955

960

954

956

957

958

95
9

960

956

957

958

959

96
0

958

959

95
6

957

95
5

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

0' 20' 40'

 PROJECT CONTROL 

C0.2

SI
T
E 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T
 P

LA
N

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

CP 200 N-3641827.83 E-5207747.81 Z-954.58 MAG ON INTAKE TOP
CP 201 N-3641828.93 E-5207938.95 Z-954.11 MAG ON INTAKE TOP
CP 202 N-3641686.09 E-5208001.08 Z-955.84 MAG ON INTAKE TOP
CP 203 N-3641631.04 E-5207850.01 Z-958.09 MAG ON INTAKE TOP
CP 204 N-3641616.49 E-5207690.44 Z-960.93 MAG ON INTAKE TOP

SITE ADDRESS
703 BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD, CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613
LOT 3, PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV

PARCEL ID:
8914-25-476-008

DEVELOPER
T & L INVESTMENTS, LLC
PO BOX 390, 520 MAIN STREET
HUDSON, IOWA 50643

ZONING
HWY-1

LOT SIZE
66,942 SF / 1.537 ACRES

SETBACK REQUIREMENTS
FRONT: 20' (INCLUDES PARKING)
REAR: NOT NOTED
SIDE: NOTE NOTED

LOT USE
EXISTING

BUILDING FOOTPRINT: N/A
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: N/A
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 66,942 S.F. (100%)

PROPOSED (WHOLE LOT, 66,942 S.F.)
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 8,516 S.F. (12.7%)
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: 38,813 S.F. (58.0%)
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 19,613 S.F. (29.3%)

PROPOSED (EXC. LANDSCAPE SETBACK, 55,071 S.F.)
BUILDING FOOTPRINT: 8,516 S.F. (15.5%)
TOTAL PAVEMENT & SIDEWALKS: 36,110 S.F. (65.6%)
TOTAL VEGETATED SURFACE: 10,445 S.F. (18.9%)

PARKING
REQUIRED PER SEC. 26-220, (a), 2, b, 4.

30. Restaurant, fast food, drive-in or carryout. One parking space for every
100 square feet of gross floor area, plus one parking space for every two
employees with a minimum of five parking spaces for employee parking.
Where drive-up window facilities are proposed, five stacking spaces shall
be provided per window.

35. Shopping centers or retail stores, shops or supermarkets over 2,000
square feet in gross floor area; 4½ parking stalls per 1,000 square feet of
gross floor area.

CALCULATIONS:
RETAIL FLOOR AREA REDUCTION: 3,131 SF * .9 = 2,818 SF
RESTAURANT FLOOR AREA REDUCTION: 4,820 SF * .9 = 4,338 SF
RESTAURANT EMPLOYEES, MAX SHIFT PROJECTED: 8 EMPLOYEES
RETAIL FLOOR AREA = 2,818 SF / 1,000 * 4.5 = 13 SPACES
RESTAURANT FLOOR AREA = 4,338 SF / 100 = 44 SPACES
RESTAURANT EMPLOYEES = 16 EMP. / 2 = 8 SPACES
REQUIRED PARKING = 65 SPACES
PROVIDED PARKING = 67 SPACES

FLOOD PLAIN
NOT APPLICABLE

STORM WATER MANAGEMENT
REGIONAL

SITE DEVELOPMENT PLAN
RETAIL ON BRANDILYNN

20' SETBACK

20' SETBACK

30'
ACCESS

EASEMENT

8' 8' 8' 8' 8'

138.33'

62'

4'

30.07' 18'

28'

48'
46.6'

31.79'

80'

30'

20' STO
R

M
SEW

ER
EASEM

EN
T

30' AC
C

ESS
EASEM

EN
T

40' ACCESS

EASEMENT

20' U
TILITY

EASEM
EN

T

CP 202

CP 201CP 200

CP 204

CP 203

BM CP

The Coordinate Basis for this survey and the subsequent Basis of Bearing is the Iowa State Plane
Coordinate System North Zone (1401)
Horizontal Control NAD 83 (2007), Vertical Control NAVD88.
Control was acquired by localizing into the Black Hawk County GPS Control System utilizing points 11,
15, 23, 30, 98, 107, 108, 109, 161, 171, 172 and projected from the cross of 11-171 & 30-172.
Scale factor 1.0000892152 applied.
Held 11, 23, 30, 108, 161, 171, 172 for Horizontal & Vertical Calibration.
Projection Point:  Northing = 3,645,129.22' Easting = 5,208,107.61'

164.33' DRIVE STACKING
(20' PER STACK = 8 STACKING)

75.83'

114.36'

103'

34'

10'

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE
SIZED FOR 3- 8 CY UNITS
SEE ARCH PLANS BY OTHERS

12.67'

2'

PROPOSED MONUMENT SIGN,
SEE ARCHITECTURAL PLANS
FOR DETAILS.

PROPOSED MENU BOARD LOCATION

"ENTER HERE"
SIGNS.
SEE DETAIL ON
SHEET C0.3

"DO NOT ENTER"
SIGNS.
SEE DETAIL ON
SHEET C0.3

213

Item 24.



ENTER
HERE

DO NOT
ENTER

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C0.3

G
EN

ER
A

L 
N

O
T
ES

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

GENERAL NOTES

1. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO AND BE PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE CODES AND ORDINANCES.

2. THE SITE IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN WITHIN THIS PLAN SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE 2021 VERSION OF THE
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, ALSO KNOWN AS SUDAS (2021) AS AMMENDED BY THE CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS UNLESS SPECIFICALLY STATED OTHERWISE IN THESE PLANS, THE PROJECT MANUAL (IF APPLICABLE), OR CITY AND
OTHER APPLICABLE ORDINANCES. THIS INCLUDES, IF PROVIDED, PROJECT SPECIFIC SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS.

3. ANY QUANTITIES SHOWN ON THE CIVIL SHEETS (C#.#) ARE TO ASSIST THE BIDDER. THE BIDDER/CONTRACTOR SHALL MAKE A FINAL
DETERMINATION OF THE QUANTITIES REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE WORK AND THE BID SHALL BE ON THE BASIS OF THE
BIDDER/CONTRACTOR'S OWN CALCULATIONS. ANY COMMENT RELATED TO QUANTITY OR PAYMENT ON THE CIVIL SHEETS IS
SOLELY PROVIDED TO ASSIST THE BIDDER/CONTRACTOR IN THE PREPARATION OF BIDDING AND SHALL NOT BE CAUSE FOR
CHANGE ORDER REQUEST.

4. CONSTRUCTION SURVEY FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL BE PROVIDED BY THE  CONTRACTOR.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY ALL APPROPRIATE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENTS AND UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR TO
CONSTRUCTION.  ALL NECESSARY PRECAUTIONS SHALL BE TAKEN TO AVOID DAMAGE TO ANY EXISTING UTILITY.  IOWA CODE 480,
UNDERGROUND FACILITIES INFORMATION, REQUIRES NOTICE TO IOWA ONE CALL (1-800-292-8989) NOT LESS THAN 48 HOURS
BEFORE EXCAVATION, EXCLUDING WEEKENDS AND LEGAL HOLIDAYS.

6. THE LOCATION OF EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AND ARE SHOWN IN AN APPROXIMATE WAY ONLY AND HAVE NOT BEEN
INDEPENDENTLY VERIFIED BY THE OWNER OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL, AT ITS OWN EXPENSE, LOCATE
AND DETERMINE THE UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ON THE PROJECT SITE. THE CONTRACTOR ASSUMES RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY
AND ALL DAMAGES WHICH MIGHT OCCUR BY THE CONTRACTOR'S FAILURE TO LOCATE AND PRESERVE ANY UNDERGROUND
UTILITIES.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT THE PROJECT SITE PRIOR TO BIDDING TO BECOME FULLY FAMILIAR WITH THE EXISTING
CONDITIONS OF THE SITE. FAILURE TO VISIT THE SITE SHALL NOT RELIEVE THE CONTRACTOR FROM PERFORMING THE WORK IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THESE DRAWINGS.

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY AT THE SITE, ALL DIMENSIONS AND CONDITIONS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS, AND SHALL NOTIFY
THE ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES, OMISSIONS, AND/OR CONFLICT PRIOR TO PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

9. DRAWING DIMENSIONS SHALL GOVERN OVER SCALING OF DRAWINGS.  LARGE SCALE DRAWINGS SHALL GOVERN OVER SMALL
SCALE DRAWINGS.  NOTES AND DETAILS ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL APPLY TO ALL SIMILAR CONDITIONS WHETHER THEY ARE
REPEATED OR NOT.

10. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY DAMAGE TO EXISTING FACILITIES OUTSIDE THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS
RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT EXISTING FACILITIES, BUILDINGS, AND OTHER APPURTENANCES NOT TO BE REMOVED FROM THE
SITE DURING THE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL CONFINE WORK TO THE CONSTRUCTION LIMITS AND EASEMENTS PROVIDED OR EASEMENTS OBTAINED.
COPIES OF ANY EASEMENTS THE CONTRACTOR OBTAINS FOR CONSTRUCTION WORK ON THIS PROJECT SHALL BE PROVIDED TO
THE OWNER.

13. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT A DETAILED CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE AND STAGING PLAN A MINIMUM OF TWO (2) DAYS PRIOR TO
THE PRECONSTRUCTION MEETING.

14. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT INTERRUPT ACCESS TO OTHER PROPERTIES, WHERE INGRESS/EGRESS IS PERMITTED, DURING
CONSTRUCTION.

15. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL INITIAL EROSION CONTROL MEASURES FOR INSPECTION BY THE CITY PRIOR TO EARTH MOVING
ACTIVITIES.

16. CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE TEMPORARY DISRUPTION OF UTILITY SERVICES WITH THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, AFFECTED
UTILITY COMPANIES, AND/OR AFFECTED PROPERTY OWNERS WHEN UTILITY SERVICES ARE INTERRUPTED DUE TO CONSTRUCTION
ACTIVITIES ON THIS PROJECT.

17. TYPE A COMPACTION SHALL BE REQUIRED FOR EXCAVATION/EMBANKMENT WORK ON THIS PROJECT. ADDITIONAL COMPACTION
REQUIREMENTS MAY BE REQUIRED FOR BUILDING CONSTRUCTION. REFER TO APPLICABLE SPECIFICATIONS FOR THAT WORK.

18. THIS PLAN REFERENCES NYLOPLAST STRUCTURES WITH THE INTENT TO SPECIFY AN ENGINEERED PVC STRUCTURE AND IS NOT
INTENDED TO INDICATE A SPECIFIC BRAND IS REQUIRED. STRUCTURES SHALL BE NYLOPLAST BRAND OR EQUIVALENT. NYLOPLAST
IS A BRAND NAME AFFILIATED WITH ADS PIPE.

19. THE CONTRACTOR WILL BE PROVIDED WITH THE STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN AND ACCOMPANYING NATIONAL
POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM GENERAL PERMIT NUMBER 2 (SWPPP) DOCUMENTS. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR SWPPP MANAGEMENT, INSPECTIONS, EXECUTION, AND REMOVAL OF DEVICES. IN ADDITION, CONTRACTOR
SHALL SUBMIT 'NOTICE OF DISCONTINUATION' TO THE IOWA DNR AT TIME SITE IS CONSIDERED FULLY ESTABLISHED, SUBJECT TO
CITY APPROVAL.

TRAFFIC CONTROL

1. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR PERFORMING ALL TRAFFIC
CONTROL MEASURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE
JURISDICTIONAL REQUIREMENTS.

APPLICABLE SUDAS SECTIONS:

Iowa Statewide Urban Design and Specifications (SUDAS) is available
publicly at https://iowasudas.org

The following specifications sections are brought to the attention of the
contractor for work on this project. Exclusion from this list shall not
exempt other sections from applicability to work on this project.
For all items called out in subsection 1.08 MEASUREMENT AND
PAYMENT, '1. Measurement:' and '2. Payment:' shall be excluded. '3.
Includes:' shall still apply to all sections.   Any reference to 'Unit price' or
similar context shall refer to The Contract arrangement for payment in
the Project Manual for this project. EXAMPLE: where a 6” Gate valve is
called out in the Plans all incidentals under Division 5, Section 5020,
Part 1, Sub Section 1.08, A., 3, shall apply.

DIVISION 2: Earthwork
2010: Earthwork, Subgrade, and Subbase

DIVISION 3: Trench Excavation and Backfill
3010: Trench Excavation and Backfill
3020: Trenchless Construction (Boring, Jacking, and Tunneling)

DIVISION 4: Sewers and Drains
4010: Sanitary Sewers
4020: Storm Sewers
4060: Cleaning, Inspection, and Testing of Sewers

DIVISION 5: Water Mains and Appurtenances
5010: Pipe Fittings
5020: Valves, Fire Hydrants, and Appurtenances
5030: Testing and Disinfection

DIVISION 6: Structures for Sanitary and Storm Sewers
6010: Structures for Sanitary and Storm Sewers
6030: Cleaning, Inspection, and Testing of Structures

DIVISION 7: Streets and Related Work
7010: Portland Cement Concrete Pavement
7030: Sidewalks, Shared Used Paths, and Driveways

DIVISION 8: Traffic Control
8020: Pavement Markings
8030: Temporary Traffic Control

DIVISION 9: Site Work and Landscaping
9010: Seeding
9030: Plant Material and Planting
9040: Erosion and Sediment Control
9060: Chain Link Fence

Division 11: Miscellaneous
11,010: Construction Survey
11,050: Concrete Washout

APPLICABLE SUDAS DETAILS:

Iowa Statewide Urban Design and Specifications (SUDAS) is available
publicly at https://iowasudas.org

The following details are brought to the attention of the contractor for
work on this project. Exclusion from this list shall not exempt other
details from applicability to site work on this project.

DIVISION 2: Earthwork
2010.101 - DETAILS OF EMBANKMENTS AND REBUILDING

EMBANKMENTS
2010.102 - DESIGNATION OF ROADWAY EARTHWORK ITEMS

DIVISION 3: Trench Excavation and Backfill
3010.101 - Trench Bedding and Backfill Zones
3010.103 - Flexible Gravity Pipe Trench Bedding
3010.104 - Pressure Pipe Trench Bedding

DIVISION 4: Sewers and Drains
4010.201 - Sanitary Sewer Service Stub
4010.203 - Sanitary Sewer Cleanout
4020.211 - Storm sewer Pipe Connections

DIVISION 5: Water Mains and Appurtenances
5010.101 - Thrust Blocks
5010.102 - Tracer System
5010.901 - Minimum Clearance Between Water Service and

Structure
5020.201 - Fire Hydrant Assembly

DIVISION 7: Streets and Related Work
7010.101 - Joints
7010.102 - PCC Curb Details [6" Standard Curb]
7010.904 - Typical Jointing Layout
7030.102 - Concrete Driveway, Type B [With Radii]
7030.202 - Curb Details for Class A Sidewalk [Detail 3]

DIVISION 8: Traffic Control
8030-102 - Work off of Pavement with Minor Encroachment onto

Traveled Way

DIVISION 9: Site Work and Landscaping
9030.101 - Planting Pit
9030.102 - Tree Staking, Guying, And Wrapping
9040.102 - Filter Berm and Filter Sock
9040.103 - Rolled Erosion Control Product (RECP) Installation on

Slopes
9040.104 - Rolled Erosion Control Product (RECP) Installation in

Channel
9040.114 - Sediment Basin with Emergency Spillway
9040.119 - Silt Fence
9040.120 - Stabilized Construction Entrance

 SIGN DETAILS 

18''

12
''

3'
'

3'
'

1'
'

R1.5''

FOLLOW MUTCD STANDARDS FOR FONT
STYLE AND GENERAL DIMENSIONING

18''

12
''

3'
'

3'
'

1'
'

R1.5''

214

Item 24.



14

12

17

7

12

5

TENANT A TENANT B TENANT C TENANT D

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

LOT 2

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV 

LOT 5

GENCOM ADD.

PCC

PCC
PCC

PCC

EXISTING INLET, 9'x4'
RIM = 954.5
FL OUT = 949.65

EXISTING INLET, 9'x5'
RIM = 954.06
FL OUT = 947.51

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 955.80
FL OUT = 944.80

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 958.09
FL OUT = 946.39

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 960.88

FL OUT = 948.58

LOT 1

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE I

955

960

954

956

957

958

95
9

960

956

957

958

959

96
0

958

959

95
6

957

95
5

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

95
3.5

8 T
S953.59 TS

953.80 TS95
3.7

1 T
S

953.50 TS 953.50 TS

95
3.4

5 T
S953.45 TS

EX PCC

960.32 TS96
0.3

8 T
S

95
3.1

6 T
S953.16 TS

95
3.2

5 T
S953.25 TS

EX PCC

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C1.1

U
T
IL

IT
Y
 P

LA
N

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 20' 40'

NOTES:
1. ALL HDPE DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE OF DUAL WALL CONSTRUCTION UNLESS

SPECIFICALLY SPECIFIED OTHERWISE.
2. STORM PIPING SHALL BE RCP WHERE PLACED WITHIN CITY RIGHT OF WAY.
3. WATER LINE SHALL BE BURIED TO MAINTAIN 6' COVER.
4. CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY LOCATION, ELEVATION, AND MATERIAL OF

ALL WATER, STORM, AND SANITARY CONNECTIONS.
5. CONFIRM WATER SERVICE ENTRANCE LOCATION TO BUILDING WITH

ARCHITECTURAL AND MECHANICAL PLANS.
6. COORDINATE CONNECTION TO MUNICIPAL WATER MAIN WITH CEDAR FALLS

UTILITIES STAFF.
7. SANITARY SERVICE SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH TRACER WIRE. PLACE TRACER

STATION AT CLEAN OUT WHERE SERVICE EXISTS BUILDING.
8. PLACE LIGHT POLES 3' CLEAR FROM EDGE PAVING/BACK OF CURB.

NON PERFORATED STORM PIPE

PERFORATED STORM PIPE

STORM PIPE LEGEND

135°'

126.26°'

PROPOSED HYDRANT
ASSEMBLY, 3' CLEAR OF CURB 100 LF 8" DIP

11.25° & 22.5° BENDS
8"x6" TEE

95
 L

F 
4"

 o
r 6

" D
IP

54 LF 4" or 6" DIP

90° BENDS
COORDINATE WITH UTILITY FOR INTERNAL OR
EXTERNAL DOMESTIC TAP(S).
BRING DIP INTO SERVICE ROOM FOR SPRINKLER
SYSTEM SHOULD FUTURE USE REQUIRE

GREASE INTERCEPTER, 1
EACH FOR END CAP UNITS
SIZE BY MEP. PLACE
CLEANOUTS AS REQUIRED

SW-301, 48" DIA.
RIM = 959.05

FL OUT =  (FIELD VERIFY)
PROVIDE 4 SERVICES AS GENERALLY
SHOWN TO SERVE PROPOSED  UNITS

APPROX. LOCATION OF SANITARY
SERVICE.  FIELD VERIFY LOCATION
AND ELEVATION

EX SW-510
RETROFIT PER DETAIL THIS SHEET

REMOVE OPEN THROAT CASTING TOP
AND REPLACE WITH ONE 2'x3' INLET

CASTING TOP. COORDINATE WITH
PRECAST MANUFACTURER FOR

RETROFIT TOP

SD1
18" DIA. NYLOPLAST

w/ H20 CURB CASTING
TBC = 958.09

FL OUT = 952.1 (15" RCP)

60 LF 15" RCP @ 2.5%.
CONNECT TO EXISTING INTAKE

AT APPROX ELEV. 950.6

SD2
24" DIA. NYLOPLAST

w/ H20 CURB CASTING
TOP CURB = 956.07

FL OUT = 951.2 (18" RCP)

32 LF 18" RCP @ 2.5%.
CONNECT TO EXISTING INTAKE

AT APPROX ELEV. 950.55

REMOVE EXISTING STORM
STRUCTURE AND PIPE

SD3
24" DIA. NYLOPLAST

w/ H20 CURB CASTING
TOP CURB = 956.10

FL OUT = 952.1 (15" RCP)

41 LF 15" RCP @ 2.5%.
CONNECT TO EXISTING INTAKE

AT APPROX. ELEV. 951.08

200 LF OF 8" HDPE DUAL WALL FOR
DOWNSPOUT CONNECTIONS, SEE

ARCHITECTURAL PLANS FOR LOCATIONS

PROPOSED BUILDING

FF = 959.61

SW 603, TYPE Q OR S CASTINGS

EX SW-510
REMOVE PRECAST TOP AND SPACER. REPLACE
WITH NEW TOP, COORDINATE WITH PRECAST
MANUFACTURER

SW-510 RETROFIT DETAIL

SW-508 RETROFIT DETAIL

EX SW-508
REMOVE PRECAST TOP AND REPLACE

WITH NEW TOP, COORDINATE WITH
PRECAST MANUFACTURER FOR

SW 603, TYPE Q OR S CASTING

8" PCC PATCH
REINFORCED WITH 2 ROWS OF 5/8",

GRADE 60, REBAR AS SHOWN

MATCH TRANSVERSE
JOINTING FROM

EXISTING TO NORTH

MATCH TRANSVERSE
JOINTING FROM
EXISTING TO NORTH

2'

TIE TO EXISTING SLAB
WITH BT-4 PER PV-101

2'

TIE TO EXISTING SLAB
WITH BT-4 PER PV-101

MATCH TRANSVERSE
JOINTING FROM

EXISTING TO SOUTH

MATCH TRANSVERSE
JOINTING FROM
EXISTING TO SOUTH

8" PCC PATCH
REINFORCED WITH 2 ROWS OF 5/8",

GRADE 60, REBAR AS SHOWN

EX CURB &
GUTTER

EX CURB &
GUTTER

215

Item 24.



12

5

TE
N

A
N

T 
C

TE
N

A
N

T 
D

955

954

956

95
7

958

959

958

956

957

95
5

95
4

95
6

95
7

958

95
6

957

95
8

958.71 TC

959.02 TS95
8.4

4 T
S958.94 TC 95

9.5
2 S

W

95
9.4

1 T
S

959.41 SW 95
9.1

1 T
S

95
8.2

1 T
S

959.02 TS95
8.1

7 T
S958.67 TC 95

9.5
2 S

W

95
8.3

6 S
W

95
9.2

9 S
W

95
9.4

1 S
W

95
8.9

1 T
S

959.41 SW 95
8.6

1 T
S

95
8.9

1 T
S

959.41 SW 95
8.5

6 T
S

95
7.9

9 T
S

95
7.2

2 T
S95

7.0
6 T

S

958.27 TS

95
7.4

3 T
S957.93 TC 95

8.7
7 T

C

957.69 TS95
6.8

8 T
S957.38 TC 95

8.1
9 T

C

957.19 TS95
5.5

7 T
S

95
6.0

7 T
C 957.69 TC

95
5.5

3 T
C

95
5.0

3 T
S 95

6.9
4 T

S

957.57 TC

957.44 TC

957.72 TC

957.07 TS

95
8.3

9 T
S

95
8.3

1 T
S

95
8.3

9 T
S

95
8.4

6 T
S

95
8.4

8 T
S

958.56 TS
958.63 TS

958.52 TS

958.79 TS

958.91 TS

95
7.3

9 T
S

95
7.6

0 T
S

95
7.6

4 T
S

95
7.7

4 T
S

95
7.8

4 T
S

95
7.9

7 T
S

95
8.0

2 T
S

958.89 TC959.00 TC

958.81 TC

95
8.8

9 T
C

95
7.8

9 T
C

95
8.1

0 T
C

95
8.1

4 T
C

95
8.2

4 T
C

95
8.3

4 T
C

95
8.6

1 T
C

95
8.7

1 T
C

95
8.8

2 T
C

95
8.9

6 T
C

95
9.2

1 T
C

95
9.3

3 T
C

95
9.1

9 T
C

955.07 TS

955.81 TS

956.21 TS

957.06 TS

95
7.5

6 T
C

95
6.7

1 T
C

95
6.3

1 T
C955.57 TC

95
8.3

7 T
S

95
7.5

6 T
S

95
6.2

8 T
S

95
5.6

7 T
S

954.57 TS

953.71 TS

955.09 TC954.90 TC

954.40 TS

95
8.4

6 S
W

95
8.4

8 S
W

95
7.2

6 S
W95

7.1
9 S

W

95
8.4

7 S
W

95
8.5

2 S
W

95
7.1

1 S
W

95
7.1

9 S
W

95
5.8

9 S
W

95
5.9

3 S
W

1.02%4.67%

2.
63

%
3.

37
%

3.
29

%

4.
84

%

0.95%

1.00%

95
8.1

1 T
S

95
8.3

2 T
S

95
8.2

1 T
S

1.
00

%
1.

00
%

95
8.4

6 T
S

95
8.7

1 T
S

95
8.8

3 T
S

95
8.6

9 T
S

1.
04

%

5.56%

10.01%

8.91%

4.93%

3.72%

3.67%

2.50%

3.
23

%
3.

23
%

2.
89

%
7.

52
%

2.78%

1.73%

2.03%

6.10% 1.50%

2.00%

1.76% 0.44%
0.

20
%

0.41%1.50%

1.50% 1.05% 3.42%

2.
77

%

2.
78

%

1.65%

0.
00

%
0.

01
%

0.
21

%

1.
00

%

3.
17

%
0.

80
%

0.
00

%

0.
00

%

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C2.1

PA
V

IN
G

 P
LA

N
 -

 E
A

ST

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 10' 20'

HATCHING LEGEND

PCC SIDEWALK, 5" PCC ON 4" MODIFIED SUBBASE

PCC PAVEMENT, 6" PCC ON 6" MODIFIED SUBBASE

PCC PAVEMENT, 8" PCC ON 6" MODIFIED SUBBASE

PAVEMENT NOTES:
1. SIDEWALKS ARE DESIGNED AT 1.5% CROSS SLOPE OR LESS. AS

CONSTRUCTED CROSS SLOPS SHALL NOT EXCEED 2%.
2. LONGITUDINAL SLOPE OF WALKS SHALL NOT EXCEED 5% (1:20)

UNLESS AT CURB RAMPS IN WHICH CASE THE LONGITUDINAL
SLOPE SHALL NOT EXCEED 8.3% (1:12). CARE SHALL BE TAKEN
TO INSTALL WALKS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SURFACE
DESIGN HEREIN.

3. END STALLS ARE 10' WIDE MEASURED FROM BACK OF CURB TO
CENTER PAVEMENT MARKING. STANDARD STALLS ARE 9' WIDE
MEASURED CENTER TO CENTER OF PAVEMENT MARKING.
HANDICAP STALLS ARE AS NOTED.

4. PROVIDE AND INSTALL HANDICAP PARKING SIGNS. SIGNS
SHALL BE ALUMINUM ON GALVANIZED STEEL SQUARE TUBE
UNLESS MOUNTED TO BUILDING.

BR
A

N
D

ILY
N

N
 BO

U
LEV

A
R
D

MATCH LINE
SEE SHEET C2.2

24'
5'

10'

12'

20' 24'

20'

R5'

R60'
R4'

R30
'

R25
'

R4'

R4'

R4'

R10'

R4
'

R10'

R4'

18'

5'

5'

5'

20'
6'

24'
20'

10'

9'
TYP.

9'

10' 10'

10' 10'
9'

TYP.

48'
C

U
T C

U
R

B TO
 1.5" C

U
R

B H
EIG

H
T

PROPOSED BUILDING

FF = 959.61

BIKE RACK AREA. FINAL
CONFIGURATION PER OWNER.

24'

5.25'5.13'

R10'

216

Item 24.



14

12

17

7

TE
N

A
N

T 
A

TE
N

A
N

T 
B

TE
N

A
N

T 
C

96
0

959

96
0

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

960

959

95
5

96
0

95
6

95
7

95
8

959

95
9

957

958

95
8.7

3 T
S957.14 TS

957.53 TS

957.12 TS

95
6.6

8 T
S

956.83 TS

95
8.3

7 T
S

958.67 TS

959.07 TS

959.27 TS

959.51 TS

960.30 TS

958.92 TS

959.36 TS

959.56 TS

959.81 TS

960.58 TS

957.72 TS 95
8.9

1 T
S

95
8.8

7 T
S

95
7.6

3 T
S

95
7.8

3 T
S

95
7.3

2 T
S

95
7.2

2 T
S

958.22 SW

959.37 SW

959.41 SW 95
8.9

1 T
S

957.84 TS

959.02 TS

959.02 TS

959.02 TS

95
7.4

0 T
S

95
6.2

5 T
S

95
5.9

8 T
S

955.65 TS

95
8.4

4 T
S

95
8.6

2 T
S

95
7.7

3 T
S

95
6.4

8 T
S

95
5.6

0 T
S

95
4.7

9 T
S

95
8.5

8 T
S

95
8.5

1 T
S

95
8.7

5 T
S

96
0.3

4 T
S

95
8.7

3 T
S

95
8.9

1 T
S

95
9.4

7 T
S

95
9.9

3 T
S

96
0.2

4 T
S

96
0.4

7 T
S

95
8.5

5 T
S

95
8.4

2 T
S

958.42 TS95
8.6

7 T
S

958.63 TS

96
0.6

8 S
W

96
0.6

0 S
W

960.78 SW

960.70 SW

960.67 SW

96
0.7

9 S
W

960.67 SW

960.84 TC

960.84 TC

961.08 TC

960.84 TC

960.97 TC

960.31 TC

960.06 TC

959.86 TC

959.42 TC

958.33 TC

95
7.7

2 T
C

95
7.2

4 T
C95

6.7
6 T

C

95
6.2

6 T
S

95
6.7

4 T
S

958.27 TS

96
0.7

4 T
C

96
0.4

3 T
C

95
9.9

7 T
C

95
9.5

5 T
C

959.05 TC

958.92 TC

958.77 TC

958.71 TC

957.52 TC

957.02 TS956.83 TS

956.82 TS

957.33 TC

95
7.3

3 T
C

95
7.

33
 T

C
95

8.3
4 T

C

95
9.6

0 T
C

95
9.6

0 T
C

957.90 TC

956.75 TC956.47 TC956.15 TC

958.94 TC

959.12 TC

95
9.0

2 T
S

95
8.6

5 T
S959.15 TC

95
9.5

2 S
W

959.52 SW

959.02 TS95
8.4

4 T
S958.94 TC 95

9.5
2 S

W

959.02 TS 95
9.5

2 S
W

95
9.0

2 T
S 959.52 SW

95
9.4

1 T
S

95
9.4

1 T
S

959.41 SW

959.41 SW

95
9.4

1 S
W

959.41 TS

95
9.1

1 T
S

95
9.1

1 T
S

959.11 TS

958.39 TS

95
8.6

7 T
S

957.59 TS

95
7.9

5 T
S

95
8.2

1 T
S

958.45 TC

958.09 TC

95
8.9

1 T
S

959.41 SW 95
8.6

1 T
S 958.25 TS

957.77 TS

958.27 TC

95
8.9

1 T
S

959.41 SW 95
8.5

9 T
S 958.30 TS

958.02 TS
958.52 TC

95
9.1

9 T
C

95
8.8

3 T
S

95
8.6

9 T
S

2.50%

1.50% 1.05% 3.42%1.65%

1.51% 1.83%

1.51% 2.99%

1.51% 1.49%

1.58% 1.22% 1.44%

2.51%

4.16%

3.74%

1.50% 0.65%

1.05%

1.
02

%
0.

99
%

0.
99

%

0.
78

%

2.
77

%

2.
78

%
0.

00
%

0.
01

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%

0.
09

%
0.

06
%

0.74%

3.
20

%
1.

51
%

1.
46

%

1.60%

1.70%

2.49%

1.92%

5.11%

4.31%6.91%

5.97%

3.39% 3.39%

3.78% 1.12%

1.
00

%

4.
87

%

3.62% 0.14%
2.

49
%

1.
01

%

1.
13

%

1.
80

%

2.
01

%

1.
26

%

3.50% 3.50% 3.72% 3.54%

3.50%

2.52%

2.81%1.00%1.00%1.23%3.52%

1.
30

%

1.
51

%

1.
53

%

1.
56

%

1.
57

%

2.84%1.02%1.02%1.35%3.70%

1.
03

%

1.55%

1.53%

1.
30

%

1.
47

%

2.
06

%

955

956

957

958

959

0.
60

%
0.

19
%

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C2.2

PA
V

IN
G

 P
LA

N
 -

 W
ES

T

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 10' 20'

H
A

T
C

H
IN

G
 L

EG
EN

D

PC
C

 S
ID

EW
AL

K,
 5

" P
C

C
 O

N
 4

" M
O

D
IF

IE
D

 S
U

BB
AS

E

PC
C

 P
AV

EM
EN

T,
 6

" P
C

C
 O

N
 6

" M
O

D
IF

IE
D

 S
U

BB
AS

E

PC
C

 P
AV

EM
EN

T,
 8

" P
C

C
 O

N
 6

" M
O

D
IF

IE
D

 S
U

BB
AS

E

B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
 B

O
U

LE
V

A
R
D

SEE SHEET C2.1
MATCH LINE

46'
C

U
T C

U
R

B TO
 1.5" H

EIG
H

T

80'
C

U
T C

U
R

B TO
 1.5" C

U
R

B H
EIG

H
T

30'

R4'
R15

'

R4'

R4'

R10'

R4'

R15'

R4'

R4'

R15
'

20'

6'

5'

30'
20'

15'

24'
5'

12'

10' 20' 24' 20'

5.25'5.13'

PROPOSED BUILDING

FF = 959.61

9'
TYP

9'
TYP

9'
TYP

7'

R25'

R25'

10'

10'

10'

10'

10'10'

8'
8'

8'
8'

8'
R4'

9'
TYP

217

Item 24.



BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

LOT 2

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV 

LOT 5

GENCOM ADD.

PCC

PCC
PCC

PCC

EXISTING INLET, 9'x4'
RIM = 954.5
FL OUT = 949.65

EXISTING INLET, 9'x5'
RIM = 954.06
FL OUT = 947.51

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 955.80
FL OUT = 944.80

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 958.09
FL OUT = 946.39

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 960.88

FL OUT = 948.58

LOT 1

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE I

955

960

954

956

957

958

95
9

960

956

957

958

959

96
0

958

959

95
6

957

95
5

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C3.1

SW
PP

P 
- 

IN
IT

IA
L

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 20' 40'

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY
INCLUDE LANDSCAPING, REFER TO
LANDSCAPING PLAN)

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR
MULCH BERM WHERE PERMITTED

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED AND SHOWN ON THIS

PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE FOR USE IF NEEDED.
2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED DOWN TO WITHSTAND

ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS
4. STABILIZATION MEASURES SHALL BE INITIATED IMMEDIATELY ON ANY

EXPOSED SOILS IF EARTH DISTURBING ACTIVITIES HAVE CEASED
TEMPORARILY OR PERMANENTLY AND WILL NOT RESUME FOR A PERIOD
EXCEEDING 14 CALENDAR DAYS.

5. ADDITIONAL AND MORE COMPREHENSIVE DETAILS AND INSTRUCTIONS
CONTAINED WITHIN THE SWPPP DOCUMENT

6. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING SHALL BE VACUUMED
OR UTILIZE OTHER ACCEPTABLE CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE
AND DISPOSE OF THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS.

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES
INITIAL

PREPARATION OF SITE FOR MOBILIZATION

AND COMMENCEMENT OF WORK

1. INSTALL SWPPP BOX
2. ESTABLISH PERIMETER CONTROLS
3. INSTALL TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE
4. INSTALL PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY
5. ESTABLISH STAGING & PARKING AREAS
6. ESTABLISH STOCK PILE CONTROLS
7. PLACE INLET PROTECTION DEVICES ON ROADWAY INLETS.

1

2
7 8

H
IG

H
 S

ID
E

218

Item 24.



TENANT A TENANT B TENANT C TENANT D

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

LOT 2

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV 

LOT 5

GENCOM ADD.

PCC

PCC
PCC

PCC

EXISTING INLET, 9'x4'
RIM = 954.5
FL OUT = 949.65

EXISTING INLET, 9'x5'
RIM = 954.06
FL OUT = 947.51

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 955.80
FL OUT = 944.80

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 958.09
FL OUT = 946.39

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 960.88

FL OUT = 948.58

LOT 1

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE I

955

960

954

956

957

958

95
9

960

956

957

958

959

96
0

958

959

95
6

957

95
5

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C3.2

SW
PP

P 
- 

D
U

R
IN

G
C

O
N

ST
R
U

C
T
IO

N

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 20' 40'

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES
CONSTRUCTION

CONTINUED MAINTENANCE, IMPLEMENTATION,

AND EVOLUTION OF SWPPP

1. MAINTENANCE
1.A. SWPPP DOCUMENTS
1.B. PERIMETER CONTROLS
1.C. TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE
1.D. STOCK PILES

2. SITE GRADING
2.A. INSTALL DETENTION BASIN ON SOUTH END TO OPERATE

AS SEDIMENT BASIN DURING CONSTRUCTION.
2.B. PLACE EROSION MULCHING WHEN AREAS ARE NOT

BEING WORKED OR ONCE GRADE IS ESTABLISHED
2.C. PLACE PAVEMENT SUBBASE ONCE SUBGRADE

PREPARED
2.D. SWEEP STREETS WHEN EROSION IS TRACKED

3. UTILITIES
3.A. PLACE EROSION MULCHING THROUGH DISTURBED

AREAS
3.B. PLACE INLET PROTECTION DEVICES FOR NEWLY

INSTALLED INTAKES
3.C. PLACE SILT FENCE TO PROTECT CULVERTS
3.D. SWEEP STREETS WHEN EROSION IS TRACKED

4. BUILDING CONSTRUCTION
4.A. MAINTAIN ONSITE CONTROLS

5. SITE PAVING
5.A. INSTALL CONCRETE WASHOUT
5.B. REMOVE TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE ONCE

REQUIRED TO PREPARE SUBBASE AND PLACE
PAVEMENT

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY
INCLUDE LANDSCAPING, REFER TO
LANDSCAPING PLAN)

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR
MULCH BERM WHERE PERMITTED

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED AND SHOWN ON THIS

PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE FOR USE IF NEEDED.
2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED DOWN TO WITHSTAND

ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS
4. STABILIZATION MEASURES SHALL BE INITIATED IMMEDIATELY ON ANY

EXPOSED SOILS IF EARTH DISTURBING ACTIVITIES HAVE CEASED
TEMPORARILY OR PERMANENTLY AND WILL NOT RESUME FOR A PERIOD
EXCEEDING 14 CALENDAR DAYS.

5. ADDITIONAL AND MORE COMPREHENSIVE DETAILS AND INSTRUCTIONS
CONTAINED WITHIN THE SWPPP DOCUMENT

6. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING SHALL BE VACUUMED
OR UTILIZE OTHER ACCEPTABLE CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE
AND DISPOSE OF THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS.

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

1

2
7 8

H
IG

H
 S

ID
E

219

Item 24.



TENANT A TENANT B TENANT C TENANT D

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

LOT 2

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE IV 

LOT 5

GENCOM ADD.

PCC

PCC
PCC

PCC

EXISTING INLET, 9'x4'
RIM = 954.5
FL OUT = 949.65

EXISTING INLET, 9'x5'
RIM = 954.06
FL OUT = 947.51

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 955.80
FL OUT = 944.80

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 958.09
FL OUT = 946.39

EXISTING INLET, 5'x5'
RIM = 960.88

FL OUT = 948.58

LOT 1

PINNACLE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL SOUTH - PHASE I

955

960

954

956

957

958

95
9

960

956

957

958

959

96
0

958

959

95
6

957

95
5

95
6

95
7

95
8

95
9

R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C3.3

SW
PP

P 
- 

FI
N

A
L 

ST
A

B
IL

IZ
A

T
IO

N

SUBMITTAL 3

T
 &

 L
 I
N

V
ES

T
M

EN
T
S,

 L
LC

PO
 B

O
X
 3

9
0
, 
5
2
0
 M

A
IN

 S
T
R
EE

T
H

U
D

SO
N

, 
IO

W
A

 5
0
6
4
3

R
ET

A
IL

 O
N

 B
R
A

N
D

IL
Y
N

N
PN

: 
4
3
0
5
-2

1

2021-06-14

0' 20' 40'

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES
FINAL STABILIZATION

1. REMOVAL OF SILT BASIN
1.A. DREDGE BASINS TO REMOVE ACCUMULATING SILT.
1.B. REMOVE TEMPORARY SILT DEVICE FROM OUTLET

STRUCTURE OF BASIN.
2. SPREAD TOP SOIL
3. SEEDING

3.A. REMOVE EROSION FROM DEVICES TO FINISHED
GRADE AND PREP SEEDING AREAS

3.B. PLACE SEEDING, MULCHING, AND FERTILIZER
3.C. WATER AS NECESSARY

4. SEEDING ESTABLISHED
4.A. REMOVE ALL TEMPORARY CONTROLS.
4.B. BEGIN DETENTION SYSTEM MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE.

LEGEND

PCC

TOPSOIL, SEEDING, AND MULCHING (MAY
INCLUDE LANDSCAPING, REFER TO
LANDSCAPING PLAN)

GRANULAR SURFACING PERMANENT OR
TEMPORARY

EROSION MULCHING

TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL
PRODUCT

INLET PROTECTION - SILT BAG

INLET PROTECTION - SOCK

9" - FILTER SOCK, MULCH FILL**

SILT FENCE

** MAY SUBSTITUTE WITH SILT FENCE OR
MULCH BERM WHERE PERMITTED

NOTES:
1. NOT ALL KEY AND/OR LEGEND ITEMS MAY BE USED

AND SHOWN ON THIS PLAN. THEY ARE AVAILABLE FOR
USE IF NEEDED.

2. PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY SHALL BE STAKED
DOWN TO WITHSTAND ANY ANTICIPATED WINDS

4. STABILIZATION MEASURES SHALL BE INITIATED
IMMEDIATELY ON ANY EXPOSED SOILS IF EARTH
DISTURBING ACTIVITIES HAVE CEASED TEMPORARILY
OR PERMANENTLY AND WILL NOT RESUME FOR A
PERIOD EXCEEDING 14 CALENDAR DAYS.

5. ADDITIONAL AND MORE COMPREHENSIVE DETAILS AND
INSTRUCTIONS CONTAINED WITHIN THE SWPPP
DOCUMENT

6. CONCRETE SLURRY GENERATED BY WET SAWING
SHALL BE VACUUMED OR UTILIZE OTHER ACCEPTABLE
CONTAINMENT METHOD TO CAPTURE AND DISPOSE OF
THE MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE
LAWS.

SWPPP BOX

PORTABLE SANITARY FACILITY

CONSTRUCTION DUMPSTER

CONSTRUCTION PARKING

CONSTRUCTION TRAILER

MATERIAL STORAGE

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION
ENTRANCE COMPLY WITH SUDAS
9040.12

CONCRETE WASHOUT

KEY

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

220

Item 24.



Existing Oak
5" DBH = 100 points

Existing Maple
6" DBH = 100 points

Existing Locust
4" DBH = 100 points

Existing Locust
5" DBH = 100 points

RO

Light
Pole

Light
Pole

Light
Pole

Light
Pole

Existing Maple
3" Cal = 90 points

AM

AM

AM AM

HAC

HAC

HLS

HLS
OSW

OSW

OSW

KC

KC

EVF

NLD (3)

NLD (3)HLL (8)

GKF (3)

GKF (39)

GKF (3)

GKF (3)

ALM (5)

Overstory Tree 2.5" B&B

Evergreen Shrub

Deciduous Shrub

Perennial  #1

DS (7)

GKF (7)

DS (3)
DS (3)

DS (3)

GKF (3)

GKF (3) GKF (3)

GKF (3)

GKF (3)

VBM (3)
VBM (3)

JSG (2)
JSG (3)

ASB (6)

ASB (5)

GKF (20)

GKF (3)

GKF (3)

GKF (3)

GDS (18)

JSG (3)

JSG (4)

JSG (5)

HQF (5)

HQF (5)

HQF (3)

HQF (3)

JSG (6)

Revised 05.19.2021

AM

DS (6)

SR (10)

221

Item 24.



LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

222

Item 24.



LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

223

Item 24.



MAIN FLOOR
0' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
22' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
18' - 0"

MID PARAPET
20' - 0"

4

21
1

4

56

8

SOUTH ELEVATION

COLUMN W/ CONC.
BASE, WRAP COLUMN W/
PREFIN. SHT. MTL.  BLACK

10 10

1
1

78 78 8 78 8

3 3

7

LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

6

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

ACM PANEL FASCIA - WHITE

FACE BRICK - VINTAGE BLACK VELOUR

PAC-CLAD ALUM. PANELS - STONE WHITE

NICHIHA ROUGHSAWN PANELS - ESPRESSO

NICHIHA RIFTSAWN PANELS - PECAN

7

8

ALUM. ENTRANCE FRAMING - BLACK

ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - BLACK

9 INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH PAC-CLAD STONE WHITE

10

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - BLACK11

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - BLACK

10

FUTURE WALL SIGNAGE TO NOT EXCEED
20% OF THE ATTACHED SURFACE AREA.

TOTAL SOUTH WALL AREA = 2,717 SF
20% OF SOUTH WALL AREA = 543 SF

CURRENT SIGNAGE AS SHOWN = 141 SF 
FINAL SIGNAGE TO BE REVIEWED W/ EACH BUILDOUT

10'-6"

2'-0"

12'-6"
2'-4"

12'-6"

2'-4"

12'-6"

2'-4"

3'-0"

10
'-0

"
224

Item 24.



MAIN FLOOR
0' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
18' - 0"

MID PARAPET
20' - 0"

LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

NORTH ELEVATION

99

3

3

3

3

33

6

11

10

2
1

4 4

99 9
1

1

1
1

6

1

1

1

2

3

4

5

6

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

ACM PANEL FASCIA - WHITE

FACE BRICK - VINTAGE BLACK VELOUR

PAC-CLAD ALUM. PANELS - STONE WHITE

NICHIHA ROUGHSAWN PANELS - ESPRESSO

NICHIHA RIFTSAWN PANELS - PECAN

7

8

ALUM. ENTRANCE FRAMING - BLACK

ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - BLACK

9 INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH PAC-CLAD STONE WHITE

10

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - BLACK11

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - BLACK

6

225

Item 24.



MAIN FLOOR
0' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
22' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
18' - 0"

MID PARAPET
20' - 0"

4

1
2
1

5

7

10

10

1

6

3COLUMN W/ CONC.
BASE, WRAP COLUMN W/
PREFIN. SHT. MTL.  BLACK

EAST ELEVATION

LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

6

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

ACM PANEL FASCIA - WHITE

FACE BRICK - VINTAGE BLACK VELOUR

PAC-CLAD ALUM. PANELS - STONE WHITE

NICHIHA ROUGHSAWN PANELS - ESPRESSO

NICHIHA RIFTSAWN PANELS - PECAN

7

8

ALUM. ENTRANCE FRAMING - BLACK

ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - BLACK

9 INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH PAC-CLAD STONE WHITE

10

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - BLACK11

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - BLACK

226

Item 24.



MAIN FLOOR
0' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
22' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
18' - 0"

MID PARAPET
20' - 0"

WEST ELEVATION

4

1

7

10

10

1

6

33

3

8

6

1
1

1

COLUMN W/ CONC.
BASE, WRAP COLUMN W/
PREFIN. SHT. MTL.  BLACK

LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

6

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE MATTE BLACK

ACM PANEL FASCIA - WHITE

FACE BRICK - VINTAGE BLACK VELOUR

PAC-CLAD ALUM. PANELS - STONE WHITE

NICHIHA ROUGHSAWN PANELS - ESPRESSO

NICHIHA RIFTSAWN PANELS - PECAN

7

8

ALUM. ENTRANCE FRAMING - BLACK

ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - BLACK

9 INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH PAC-CLAD STONE WHITE

10

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - BLACK11

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - BLACK

FUTURE WALL SIGNAGE TO NOT EXCEED
20% OF THE ATTACHED SURFACE AREA.

TOTAL SOUTH WALL AREA = 1,212 SF
20% OF SOUTH WALL AREA = 242 SF

CURRENT SIGNAGE AS SHOWN = 28 SF
FINAL SIGNAGE TO BE REVIEWED W/ EACH BUILDOUT

6'-0"

6'
-0

"

227

Item 24.



7'
 - 

4"
 T

.O
. M

AS
O

N
R

Y

6'
 - 

8"
 T

O
P 

O
F 

G
AT

E

11' - 1"11' - 2"11' - 1"
CL CL CL CL

PREFIN. SHT. 
MTL. CAP, 
MATTE BLACK

GALV. CORRUGATED MTL.
GATE PANEL, (SLATE 
GRAY BY FIRESTONE)

34' - 0"

8" ROCK-FACE 
BLOCK, SLATE

PREFIN. SHT. 
MTL. CAP, 

MATTE BLACK

10' - 0"

LOT 3 RETAIL CENTER
Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

SCALE:   1/4" = 1'-0"

ENCLOSURE FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE:   1/4" = 1'-0"

ENCLOSURE SIDE ELEVATION

"0 - '8"0 - '5

2'
 - 

0"
5'

 - 
8"

4'
 - 

8"
2'

 - 
0"

12' - 8"4"

NICHIHA RIFTSAWN 
PANELS PECAN

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. 
CAP, MATTE BLACK 

FACE BRICK, VINTAGE 
BLACK VELOUR, ON POURED 

CONCRETE FOUNDATION

7'
 - 

8"

HALO LIT ALUM. 
CHANNEL LETTERS, 

EXACT LETTERING TO 
BE DETERMINED

INTERNALLY LIT 
BOX SIGN, BY 
SIGN SUPPLIER

132 SF OF MONUMENT 
SIGNAGE PROVIDED OF 
MAX ALLOWED 250 SF

6'
 - 

8"

SCALE:   1/4" = 1'-0"

MONUMENT SIGN TYP. ELEVATION

228

Item 24.



229

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Maintenance and Repair Agreement  
  Post-Construction Stormwater Management Plan 
  Strickler Properties Warehouse  
  6415 Development Drive, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
 
 
The Post-Construction Stormwater Control Ordinance requires a formal Maintenance 
and Repair Agreement for the stormwater management plan. The Maintenance and 
Repair Agreement will require the benefited property to undergo, at a minimum, an 
annual inspection and to maintain records of installation, maintenance and repair 
activities of the stormwater control devices. The agreement will also create an 
easement for the City to inspect and repair the stormwater control devices if the 
property owners fail or refuse to meet the requirements of the Maintenance and Repair 
Agreement. The Maintenance and Repair Agreement is attached for your review.  
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed the stormwater management plan and 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement for Strickler Properties Warehouse, 6415 
Development Drive, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 and finds it in accordance with City Code. 
The Engineering Division recommends the agreement be accepted by the City Council 
and recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
 

230

Item 26.



231

Item 26.



232

Item 26.



233

Item 26.



234

Item 26.



235

Item 26.



236

Item 26.



237

Item 26.



238

Item 26.



239

Item 26.



240

Item 26.



241

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 30th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project 
  City Project Number RC-000-3240 
  Contract Documents 
 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract; the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds; Certificates of Insurance; and Form of Proposal with Pirc-Tobin 
Construction, Inc. for the construction of the West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension 
Project. 
 
The Department of Public Works recommends approving and executing the contract 
with Pirc-Tobin Construction, Inc. for the construction of the West 27th Street Sanitary 
Sewer Extension Project. This project involves 1,600 linear feet of sanitary sewer 
placement to extend sanitary sewer service prior to the West 27th Street Reconstruction 
project. The sewer extension will serve the proposed Cedar Falls High School site along 
with future residential development north of West 27th Street and east of Union Road. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  

 
 
 

242

Item 27.



243

Item 27.



244

Item 27.



245

Item 27.



246

Item 27.



247

Item 27.



248

Item 27.



249

Item 27.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

6/24/2021

TrueNorth Companies, L.C.
500 1st St SE
Cedar Rapids IA 52401

319-366-2723 319-862-0612
certs@truenorthcompanies.com

United Fire & Casualty Company 13021
PIRCTOB-01 Cincinnati Casualty Company 28665

Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc
Po Box 160
2660 Old Quass Rd
Alburnett IA 52202

Navigators Specialty Insurance Company 36056

778983399

A X 1,000,000
X 500,000

10,000

1,000,000

2,000,000
X X

Y Y 60511724 12/24/2020 12/24/2021

2,000,000

A 1,000,000

X

X X

60511724 12/24/2020 12/24/2021

A
B

X X 5,000,000
X

60511724
EXS0598012

12/24/2020
12/24/2020

12/24/2021
12/24/2021

5,000,000

Excess Liability 3,000,000
A X60511724 12/24/2020 12/24/2021

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000
A
C

Leased or Rented Equip
Pollution

60511724
SF20ECPU00208NC

12/24/2020
12/24/2020

12/24/2021
12/24/2022

Leased or Rented Equi
Pollution Ea Incident
Coverage Agg

350,000
$1,000,00
$2,000,000

If Yes is indicated above for add'l insd forms Gen Liab #CG7201 (premises), CG7131(completed operations), Auto Liab #CA7109 applies. If Yes is indicated
above for waiver of subrogation forms Gen Liab #CG7201, Auto Liab #CA7109 and WC #WC000313 04/84 applies. Coverage is extended for work performed
and required under written contract with the above named insured.
RE: W. 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project Project No. RC-000-3240
Additional Insured and Waiver of Subrogation is added on behalf of the certificate holder on the General Liability policy.

City of Cedar Falls
Department of Public Works
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

250

Item 27.



CG 72 01 07 17

EXTENDED ULTRA LIABILITY PLUS ENDORSEMENT

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EXTENSION ENDORSEMENT SUMMARY OF COVERAGES

This is a summary of the various additional coverages and coverage modifications provided by this
endorsement. No coverage is provided by this summary.

Extended Property Damage
Expanded Fire Legal Liability to include Explosion, Lightning and Sprinkler Leakage
Coverage for non-owned watercraft is extended to 51 feet in length
Property Damage - Borrowed Equipment
Property Damage Liability - Elevators

* Coverage D - Voluntary Property Damage Coverage
$5,000 Occurrence with a $10,000 Aggregate

* Coverage E - Care, Custody and Control Property Damage Coverage
$25,000 Occurrence with a $100,000 Aggregate - $500 Deductible

* Coverage F - Electronic Data Liability Coverage - $50,000
* Coverage G - Product Recall Expense

$25,000 Each Recall Limit with a $50,000 Aggregate - $1,000 Deductible
* Coverage H - Water Damage Legal Liability - $25,000
* Coverage I - Designated Operations Covered by a Consolidated (Wrap-Up) Insurance Program - Limited Coverage

Increase in Supplementary Payments: Bail Bonds to $1,000
Increase in Supplementary Payments: Loss of Earnings to $500
For newly formed or acquired organizations - extend the reporting requirement to 180 days

* Broadened Named Insured
* Automatic Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Automatic Status When Required in Construction

Agreement With You – Including Upstream Parties

* Contractors Blanket Additional Insured - Products - Completed Operations Coverage – Including Upstream Parties
* Automatic Additional Insured - Vendors
* Automatic Additional Insured- Lessor of Leased Equipment Automatic Status When Required in Lease Agreement With

You
* Automatic Additional Insured - Managers or Lessor of Premises
* Additional Insured - Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured
* Additional Insured - State or Governmental Agency or Subdivision or Political Subdivision - Permits or Authorizations
* Additional Insured - Consolidated Insurance Program (Wrap-Up) Off-Premises Operations Only - Owners, Lessees or

Contractors Automatic Status When Required in Construction Agreement With You
* Additional Insured - Employee Injury to Another Employee
* Automatically included - Aggregate Limits of Insurance (per location)
* Automatically included - Aggregate Limits of Insurance (per project)
* Knowledge of occurrence - Knowledge of an “occurrence”, “claim or suit” by your agent, servant or employee shall not

in itself constitute knowledge of the named insured unless an officer of the named insured has received such notice
from the agent, servant or employee

*
*
* Unintentional failure to disclose all hazards. If you unintentionally fail to disclose any hazards existing at the inception

date of your policy, we will not deny coverage under this Coverage Form because of such failure. However, this
provision does not affect our right to collect additional premium or exercise our right of cancellation or non-renewal.
“Insured Contract” redefined for Limited Railroad Contractual Liability
Mobile equipment to include snow removal, road maintenance and street cleaning equipment less than 1,000 lbs GVW
Bodily Injury Redefined

REFER TO THE ACTUAL ENDORSEMENT FOLLOWING ON PAGES 2 THROUGH 13 FOR CHANGES AFFECTING
YOUR INSURANCE PROTECTION

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 1 of 13

*
*
*
*
*

*
*
*

Blanket Waiver of Subrogation
Liberalization Condition

*
*
*

251

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035845

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)


X::PDF(F)
JO(7)




CG 72 01 07 17

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

EXTENDED ULTRA LIABILITY PLUS ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

SECTION I - COVERAGES

A. The following changes are made at COVERAGE A - BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

1. Extended Property Damage

At 2. Exclusions exclusion a. Expected or Intended Injury is replaced with the following:

“Bodily injury” or “property damage” expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured. This exclusion does
not apply to “bodily injury” or “property damage” resulting from the use of reasonable force to protect persons or
property.

Expanded Fire Legal Liability

At 2. Exclusions the last paragraph is deleted and replaced by the following:

Exclusions c. through n. do not apply to damage by fire, explosion, lightning, smoke resulting from such fire,
explosion, or lightning or sprinkler leakage to premises while rented to you or temporarily occupied by you with
permission of the owner. A separate limit of insurance applies to this coverage as described in SECTION III -
LIMITS OF INSURANCE .

3. Non-Owned Watercraft

At 2. Exclusions exclusion g. Aircraft, Auto Or Watercraft (2) (a) is deleted and replaced by the following:

(a) Less than 51 feet long;

4. Property Damage – Borrowed Equipment

At 2. Exclusions the following is added to paragraph (4) of exclusion j. Damage To Property :

This exclusion does not apply to “property damage” to borrowed equipment while at a jobsite and while not being
used to perform operations. The most we will pay for “property damage” to any one piece of borrowed equipment
under this coverage is $25,000 per occurrence. The insurance afforded under this provision is excess over any
valid and collectible property insurance (including deductible) available to the insured, whether primary, excess,
contingent or on any other basis.

5. Property Damage Liability – Elevators

At 2. Exclusions the following is added to paragraphs (3), (4) and (6) of exclusion j. Damage To Property :

This exclusion does not apply to “property damage” resulting from the use of elevators. However, any insurance
provided for such “property damage” is excess over any valid and collectible property insurance (including
deductible) available to the insured, whether primary, excess, contingent or on any other basis.

B. The following coverages are added:

1. COVERAGE D - VOLUNTARY PROPERTY DAMAGE COVERAGE

“Property damage” to property of others caused by the insured:

a. While in your possession; or

b. Arising out of “your work”.

Coverage applies at the request of the insured, whether or not the insured is legally obligated to pay.

For the purposes of this Voluntary Property Damage Coverage only:

Exclusion j. Damage to Property is deleted and replaced by the following:

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 2 of 13

2.

j. Damage to Property

“Property damage” to:

(1) Property held by the insured for servicing, repair, storage or sale at premises you own, rent, lease,
operate or use;

252

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035846



CG 72 01 07 17

(2) Property transported by or damage caused by any “automobile”, “watercraft” or “aircraft” you own, hire or
lease;

(3) Property you own, rent, lease, borrow or use.

The amount we will pay is limited as described below in SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE

For the purposes of this Voluntary Property Damage Coverage, our right and duty to defend ends when
we have paid the Limit of Liability or the Aggregate Limit for each coverage, and we are granted
discretion in making payments under this coverage.

2. COVERAGE E - CARE, CUSTODY AND CONTROL PROPERTY DAMAGE COVERAGE

For the purpose of this Care, Custody and Control Property Damage Coverage only:

a. Item (4) of exclusion j. does not apply.

The amount we will pay is limited as described below in SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE

For the purposes of this Care, Custody and Control Property Damage Coverage, our right and duty to
defend ends when we have paid the Limit of Liability or the Aggregate Limit for each coverage, and we
are granted discretion in making payments under this coverage.

3. COVERAGE F - ELECTRONIC DATA LIABILITY COVERAGE

For the purposes of this Electronic Data Liability Coverage only:

a. Exclusion p. of Coverage A – Bodily Injury And Property Damage Liability in Section I – Coverages is
replaced by the following:

2. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to:

p. Electronic Data

Damages arising out of the loss of, loss of use of, damage to, corruption of, inability to access, or
inability to manipulate “electronic data” that does not result from physical injury to tangible property.

However, this exclusion does not apply to liability for damages because of “bodily injury”.

b. “Property damage” means:

(1) Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property. All such loss of use
shall be deemed to occur at the time of the physical injury that caused it; or

(2) Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured. All such loss of use shall be deemed to
occur at the time of the “occurrence” that caused it; or

(3) Loss of, loss of use of, damage to, corruption of, inability to access or inability to properly manipulate
“electronic data”, resulting from physical injury to tangible property. All such loss of “electronic data” shall
be deemed to occur at the time of the “occurrence” that caused it.

For the purposes of this Electronic Data Liability Coverage , “electronic data” is not tangible property.

The amount we will pay is limited as described below in SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE

4. COVERAGE G - PRODUCT RECALL EXPENSE

a. Insuring Agreement

(1) We will pay 90% of "product recall expense" you incur as a result of a "product recall" you initiate during
the coverage period.

(2) We will only pay for "product recall expense" arising out of "your products" which have been physically
relinquished to others.

The amount we will pay is limited as described below in SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 3 of 13

253

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035847

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




CG 72 01 07 17

b. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to "product recall expense" arising out of:

(1) Any fact, circumstance or situation which existed at the inception date of the policy and which you were
aware of, or could reasonably have foreseen that would have resulted in a "product recall".

(2) Deterioration, decomposition or transformation of a chemical nature, except if caused by an error in the
manufacture, design, processing, storage, or transportation of "your product".

(3) The withdrawal of similar products or batches that are not defective, when a defect in another product or
batch has been found.

(4) Acts, errors or omissions of any of your employees, done with prior knowledge of any of your officers or
directors.

(5) Inherent vice, meaning a natural condition of property that causes it to deteriorate or become damaged.

(6) “Bodily injury” or “property damage”.

(7) Failure of “your product” to accomplish its intended purpose, including any breach of warranty of fitness,
quality, efficacy or efficiency, whether written or implied.

(8) Loss of reputation, customer faith or approval, or any costs incurred to regain customer market, or any
other consequential damages.

(9) Legal fees or expenses.

(10) Damages claimed for any loss, cost or expense incurred by you or others for the loss of use of “your
product”.

(11) “Product recall expense” arising from the “product recall” of any of “your products” for which coverage is
excluded by endorsement.

(12) Any “product recall” initiated due to the expiration of the designated shelf life of “your product”.

5. COVERAGE H - WATER DAMAGE LEGAL LIABILITY

The Insurance provided under Coverage H (Section I) applies to “property damage” arising out of water damage
to premises that are both rented to and occupied by you.

The Limit under this coverage shall not be in addition to the Damage To Premises Rented To You Limit.

The amount we will pay is limited as described below in SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE

6. COVERAGE I – DESIGNATED OPERATIONS COVERED BY A CONSOLIDATED (WRAP-UP) INSURANCE
PROGRAM

The following exclusion is added to Paragraph 2. Exclusions of SECTION I – COVERAGES COVERAGE A–
BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY :

r. This insurance does not apply to “bodily injury” or “property damage” arising out of either your ongoing
operations or operations included within the “products-completed operations hazard” for any “consolidated
(Wrap-up) insurance program” which has been provided by the prime contractor/project manager or owner of
the construction project in which you are involved.

This exclusion applies whether or not a "consolidated (Wrap-up) insurance program":

a. Provides coverage identical to that provided by this Coverage Part; or

b. Has limits adequate to cover all claims.

This exclusion does not apply if a “consolidated (Wrap-up) insurance program” covering your operations has
been cancelled, non-renewed or otherwise no longer applies for reasons other than exhaustion of all
available limits, whether such limits are available on a primary, excess or on any other basis. You must
advise us of such cancellation, nonrenewal or termination as soon as practicable.

For purposes of this exclusion a “consolidated (wrap-up) insurance program” is a program providing
insurance coverage to all parties for exposures involved with a particular (typically major) construction
project.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 4 of 13

254

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035848



CG 72 01 07 17

C. SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS - COVERAGES A AND B is amended:

1. To read SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS

2. Bail Bonds

Item 1.b. is amended as follows:

b. Up to $1,000 for cost of bail bonds required because of accidents or traffic law violations arising out of the
use of any vehicle to which the Bodily Injury Liability Coverage applies. We do not have to furnish these
bonds.

3. Loss of Earnings

Item 1.d. is amended as follows:

d. All reasonable expenses incurred by the insured at our request to assist us in the investigation or defense of
the claim or “suit”, including actual loss of earnings up to $500 a day because of time off from work.

4. The following language is added to Item 1.

However, we shall have none of the duties set forth above when this insurance applies only for Voluntary
Property Damage Coverage and/or Care, Custody or Control Property Damage Coverage and we have paid
the Limit of Liability or the Aggregate Limit for these coverages.

SECTION II - WHO IS AN INSURED
A. The following change is made:

Extended Reporting Requirements

Item 3.a. is deleted and replaced by the following :

a. Coverage under this provision is afforded only until the 180th day after you acquire or form the organization or
the end of the policy period, whichever is earlier.

B. The following provisions are added:

4.

Item 1.f. is added as follows:

f. Any legally incorporated entity of which you own more than 50 percent of the voting stock during the policy
period only if there is no other similar insurance available to that entity. However:

(1) Coverage A does not apply to “bodily injury” or “property damage” that occurred before you acquired
more than 50 percent of the voting stock; and

(2) Coverage B does not apply to “personal and advertising injury” arising out of an offense committed
before you acquired more than 50 percent of the voting stock.

5. Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors-Automatic Status When Required in Construction
or Service Agreement With You – Including Upstream Parties

a. Any person or organization for whom you are performing operations when you and such person or
organization have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that such person or organization be added as
an additional insured on your policy;

b. Any other person or organization you are required to add as an additional insured under the contract or
agreement described in Paragraph a. above.

Such person(s) or organization(s) is an additional insured only with respect to liability for "bodily injury",
"property damage" or "personal and advertising injury" which may be imputed to that person or organization
directly arising out of:

1. Your acts or omissions; or

2. The acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf;

in the performance of your ongoing operations for the additional insured.

However, the insurance afforded to such additional insured:

1. Only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

2. Will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for such
additional insured.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 5 of 13

BROAD FORM NAMED INSURED

255

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035849

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




CG 72 01 07 17

c. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following additional exclusions apply:

This insurance does not apply to:

1. "Bodily injury", "property damage" or "personal and advertising injury" arising out of the rendering of, or
the failure to render, any professional architectural, engineering or surveying services, including:

a. The preparing, approving, or failing to prepare or approve, maps, shop drawings, opinions, reports,
surveys, field orders, change orders or drawings and specifications; or

b. Supervisory, inspection, architectural or engineering activities.

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the
supervision, hiring, employment, training or monitoring of others by that insured, if the "occurrence" which
caused the "bodily injury" or "property damage", or the offense which caused the "personal and advertising
injury", involved the rendering of or the failure to render any professional architectural, engineering or
surveying services.

2. "Bodily injury" or "property damage" occurring after:

a. All work, including materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work, on the
project (other than service, maintenance or repairs) to be performed by or on behalf of the additional
insured(s) at the location of the covered operations has been completed; or

b. That portion of "your work" out of which the injury or damage arises has been put to its intended use
by any person or organization other than another contractor or subcontractor engaged in performing
operations for a principal as a part of the same project.

6. Additional Insured – Products Completed Operations Coverage – Including Upstream Parties

a. Any person or organization for whom you are performing operations when you and such person or
organization have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that such person or organization be added as
an additional insured on your policy; and

b. Any other person or organization you are required to add as an additional insured under the contract or
agreement described in Paragraph a. above.

Such person(s) or organization(s) is an additional insured only with respect to liability for "bodily injury",
"property damage" or "personal and advertising injury" which may be imputed to that person or organization
directly arising out of “your work” specified in the “written contract” and included in the "products-completed
operations hazard".

However:

(1) The insurance afforded to such additional insureds only applies to the extent permitted by law;

(2) If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance
afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or
agreement to provide for such additional insured.

(3) Such coverage will not apply subsequent to the first to occur of the following:

i. The expiration of the period of time required by the “written contract”; or

ii. The expiration of any applicable statute of limitations or statute of repose with respect to claims
arising out of “your work”.

c. With respect to the insurance afforded to any additional insured under this endorsement, the following
additional exclusionary language shall apply:

This insurance does not apply to “bodily injury” or “property damage” arising out of the rendering of, or the
failure to render, any professional architecture, engineering or surveying services, including:

(1) The preparing, approving, or failing to prepare or approve, maps, shop drawings, opinions, reports,
surveys, field orders, change orders or drawings and specifications; or

(2) Supervisory, inspection, architectural or engineering activities.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 6 of 13

256

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035850



CG 72 01 07 17

7. Additional Insured - Vendors
a. Any person(s) or organization(s) (referred to throughout this additional coverage as vendor), but only with

respect to "bodily injury" or "property damage", which may be imputed to that person(s) or organization(s)
arising out of “your products” shown with the Schedule which are distributed or sold in the regular course of
the vendor's business is an insured.

However:

(1) The insurance afforded to such vendor only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

(2) If coverage provided to the vendor is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance afforded to such
vendor will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for
such vendor.

b. With respect to the insurance afforded to these vendors, the following additional exclusions apply:

(1) This insurance afforded the vendor does not apply to:

(a) “Bodily injury” or “property damage” for which the vendor is obligated to pay damages by reason of
the assumption of liability in a contract or agreement. This exclusion does not apply to liability for
damages that the vendor would have in the absence of the contract or agreement;

(b) Any express warranty unauthorized by you;

(c) Any physical or chemical change in the product made intentionally by the vendor;

(d) Repackaging, except when unpacked solely for the purpose of inspection, demonstration, testing, or
the substitution of parts under instructions from the manufacturer, and then repackaged in the
original container.

(e) Any failure to make such inspections, adjustments, tests or servicing as the vendor has agreed to
make or normally undertakes to make in the usual course of business, in connection with the
distribution or sale of products.

(f) Demonstration, installation, servicing or repair operations, except such operations performed at the
vendor's premises in connection with the sale of the product.

(g) Products which, after distribution or sale by you, have been labeled or relabeled or used as a
container, part or ingredient of any other thing or substance by or for the vendor.

(h) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" arising out of the sole negligence of the vendor for its own acts
or omissions or those of its employees or anyone else acting on its behalf. However, this exclusion
does not apply to:

i. The exceptions contained in Sub-paragraphs d. or f.; or

ii. Such inspections, adjustments, tests or servicing as the vendor has agreed to make or normally
undertakes to make in the usual course of business, in connection with the distribution or sale of
the products.

(2) This insurance does not apply to any insured person or organization, from whom you have acquired such
products, or any ingredient, part or container, entering into, accompanying or containing such products.

8. Additional Insured – Lessor of Leased Equipment – Automatic Status When Required in Lease
Agreement With You

a. Any person(s) or organization(s) from whom you lease equipment when you and such person(s) or
organization(s) have agreed in writing in a contract or agreement that such person(s) or organization(s) be
added as an additional insured on your policy. Such person(s) or organization(s) is an insured only with
respect to your liability for "bodily injury", "property damage" or "personal and advertising injury" directly
arising out of the maintenance, operation or use of equipment leased to you, which may be imputed to such
person or organization as the lessor of equipment.

However, the insurance afforded to such additional insured:

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 7 of 13

(1) Only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

(2) Will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for such
additional insured.

257

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035851

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




CG 72 01 07 17

b. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, this insurance does not apply to any
"occurrence" which takes place after the equipment lease expires.

9. Additional Insured – Managers or Lessors of Premises

a. Any person(s) or organization(s), but only with respect to liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance or
use of that part of the premises leased to you and subject to the following additional exclusions:

This insurance does not apply to:

(1) Any "occurrence" which takes place after you cease to be a tenant in that premises.

(2) Structural alterations, new construction or demolition operations performed by or on behalf of the
person(s) or organization(s) shown in the Schedule.

However:

(1) The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

(2) If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance
afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or
agreement to provide for such additional insured.

10. Additional Insured - Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured

a. Any architects, engineers or surveyors who are not engaged by you are insureds, but only with respect to
liability for "bodily injury" or "property damage" or “personal and advertising injury" which may be imputed to
that architect, engineer or surveyor arising out of:

(1) Your acts or omissions; or

(2) Your acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf;

in the performance of your ongoing operations performed by you or on your behalf.

But only if such architects, engineers or surveyors, while not engaged by you, are contractually required to be
added as an additional insured to your policy.

However, the insurance afforded to such additional insured:

(1) Only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

(2) Will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or agreement to provide for such
additional insured.

b. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following additional exclusion applies:

This insurance does not apply to "bodily injury", "property damage" or "personal and advertising injury"
arising out of the rendering of or failure to render any professional services, including:

(1) The preparing, approving, or failing to prepare or approve, maps, drawings, opinions, reports, surveys,
change orders, designs or specifications; or

(2) Supervisory, inspection or engineering services.

This exclusion applies even if the claims against any insured allege negligence or other wrongdoing in the
supervision, hiring, employment, training or monitoring of others by that insured, if the "occurrence" which
caused the “bodily injury" or "property damage", or the offense which caused the "personal and advertising
injury", involved the rendering of or the failure to render any professional services.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 8 of 13

A person's or organization's status as an additional insured under this endorsement ends when their contract
or agreement with you for such leased equipment ends.

11. Additional Insured - State or Governmental Agency or Subdivision or Political Subdivision - Permits or
Authorizations

a. This insurance applies only with respect to operations performed by you or on your behalf for which the state
or governmental agency or subdivision or political subdivision has issued a permit or authorization.

Any state or governmental agency or subdivision or political subdivision is an insured, subject to the following
provisions:

258

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035852



CG 72 01 07 17

However:

(1) The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; and

(2) If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the insurance
afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are required by the contract or
agreement to provide for such additional insured.

b. This insurance does not apply to:

(1) "Bodily injury", "property damage" or "personal and advertising injury" arising out of operations
performed for the federal government, state or municipality; or

(2) "Bodily injury" or "property damage" included within the "products-completed operations hazard".

12. Additional Insured Consolidated Insurance Program (Wrap-Up) Off-Premises Operations Only - Owners,
Lessees or Contractors

a. Any persons or organizations for whom you are performing operations, for which you have elected to seek
coverage under a Consolidated Insurance Program, when you and such person or organization have agreed
in writing in a contract or agreement that such person or organization be added as an additional insured on
your policy is an insured. Such person or organization is an additional insured only with respect to your
liability which may be imputed to that person or organization directly arising out of your ongoing operations
performed for that person or organization at a premises other than any project or location that is designated
as covered under a Consolidated Insurance Program. A person’s or organization’s status as an insured under
this endorsement ends when your operations for that insured are completed.

b. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following additional exclusion applies.

This insurance does not apply to:

“Bodily injury”, “property damage”, or “personal and advertising injury” arising out of the rendering of, or
failure to render, any professional architectural, engineering or surveying services, including:

(1) The preparing, approving, or failing to prepare or approve, maps, shop drawings, opinions, reports,
surveys, field orders, change orders or drawings and specifications; and

(2) Supervisory, inspection

13. Additional Insured - Employee Injury to Another Employee

With respect to your “employees” who occupy positions which are supervisory in nature:

Paragraph 2.a.(1) of SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED is amended to read:

a. “Bodily injury” or “personal and advertising injury”

(1) To you, to your partners or members (if you are a partnership or joint venture), or to your members (if
you are a limited liability company);

(2) For which there is any obligation to share damages with or repay someone else who must pay damages
because of the injury described in paragraph (1)(a) above; or

(3) Arising out of his or her providing or failing to provide professional healthcare services. Paragraph 3.a. is
deleted.

For the purpose of this Item 13 only, a position is deemed to be supervisory in nature if that person performs
principle work which is substantially different from that of his or her subordinates and has authority to hire,
direct, discipline or discharge.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 9 of 13

SECTION III - LIMITS OF INSURANCE
A. The following Items are deleted and replaced by the following:

2. The General Aggregate Limit is the most we will pay for the sum of:

a. Medical expenses under Coverage C;

b. Damages under Coverage A, except damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" included in
the "products-completed operations hazard"; and

259

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035853

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




CG 72 01 07 17

c. Damages under Coverage B; and

d. Damages under Coverage H.

3. The Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit is the most we will pay under Coverage A for damages
because of "bodily injury" and "property damage" included in the "products-completed operations hazard" and
Coverage G.

6. Subject to 5. above, the Damage to Premises Rented to You Limit is the most we will pay under Coverage A for
damages because of "property damage" to any one premises, while rented to you, or in the case of damage by
fire, explosion, lightning, smoke resulting from such fire, explosion, or lightning or sprinkler leakage while rented
to you or temporarily occupied by you with permission of the owner.

B. The following are added :

8. Subject to Paragraph 5. of SECTION III – LIMITS OF INSURANCE $25,000 is the most we will pay under
Coverage H for Water Damage Legal Liability.

9. Coverage G - Product Recall Expense

Aggregate Limit $50,000

Each Product Recall Limit $25,000

a. The Aggregate Limit shown above is the most we will pay for the sum of all "product recall expense" you
incur as a result of all "product recalls" you initiate during the endorsement period.

b. The Each Product Recall Limit shown above is the most we will pay, subject to the Aggregate and $1,000
deductible, for "product recall expense" you incur for any one "product recall” you initiate during the
endorsement period.

We will only pay for the amount of "product recall expenses" which are in excess of the deductible amount. The
deductible applies separately to each "product recall". The limits of insurance will not be reduced by the amount
of this deductible.

We may, or will if required by law, pay all or any part of any deductible amount. Upon notice of our payment of a
deductible amount, you shall promptly reimburse us for the part of the deductible amount we paid.

10.

The General Aggregate Limit applies separately to each of your "locations" owned by or rented to you or
temporarily occupied by you with the permission of the owner.

"Location" means premises involving the same or connecting lots, or premises whose connection is interrupted
only by a street, roadway, waterway or right-of-way of a railroad.

11. Aggregate Limits of Insurance (Per Project)

The General Aggregate Limit applies separately to each of your projects away from premises owned by or rented
to you.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 10 of 13

Aggregate Limits of Insurance (Per Location)

12. With respects to the insurance afforded to additional insureds afforded coverage by items 5 through 13 of

SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED above, the following is added:

The most we will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:

a. Required by the contract or agreement;

b. Available under the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations;

Whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations.

13. Subject to 5. of SECTION III – LIMITS OF INSURANCE , a $5,000 "occurrence" limit and a $10,000 "aggregate"
limit is the most we will pay under Coverage A for damages because of "property damage" covered under
Coverage D - Voluntary Property Damage Coverage .

For the purposes of this Voluntary Property Damage Coverage, our right and duty to defend ends when
we have paid the Limit of Liability or the Aggregate Limit for each coverage, and we are granted
discretion in making payments under this coverage.

260

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035854



CG 72 01 07 17

14. Subject to 5. of SECTION III – LIMITS OF INSURANCE , a $25,000 "occurrence" limit and a $100,000
"aggregate" limit is the most we will pay under Coverage E - Care, Custody and Control Coverage regardless
of the number of:

a. Insureds;

b. Claims made or "suits" brought; or

c. Persons or organizations making claims or bringing "suits".

Deductible - Our obligation to pay damages on your behalf applies only to the amount of damages in excess of
$500.

This deductible applies to all damages because of "property damage" as the result of any one "occurrence"
regardless of the number of persons or organizations who sustain damages because of that "occurrence".

We may pay any part or all of the deductible amount to effect settlement of any claim or "suit" and upon
notification of the action taken, you shall promptly reimburse us for such part of the deductible amount as has
been paid by us.

As respects this coverage "Aggregate" is the maximum amount we will pay for all covered "occurrences" during
one policy period.

For the purposes of this Care, Custody and Control Property Damage Coverage, our right and duty to
defend ends when we have paid the Limit of Liability or the Aggregate Limit for each coverage, and we
are granted discretion in making payments under this coverage.

15. Subject to 5. of SECTION III – LIMITS OF INSURANCE , the most we will pay for “property damage” under
Coverage F - Electronic Data Liability Coverage for loss of “electronic data” is $50,000 without regard to the
number of “occurrences”.

SECTION IV - COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY CONDITIONS
A. The following conditions are amended:

1. Knowledge of Occurrence

a. Condition 2., Items a. and b. are deleted and replaced by the following:

(1) Duties In The Event Of Occurrence, Offense, Claim Or Suit

(a) You must see to it that we are notified as soon as practicable of an "occurrence" or an offense which
may result in a claim. Knowledge of an "occurrence" by your agent, servant or employee shall not in
itself constitute knowledge of the named insured unless an officer of the named insured has received
such notice from the agent, servant or employee. To the extent possible, notice should include:

i. How, when and where the "occurrence" took place;

ii. The names and addresses of any injured persons and witnesses, and

iii. The nature and location of any injury or damage arising out of the "occurrence" or offense.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 11 of 13

(b) If a claim is made or "suit" is brought against any insured, you must:

i. Immediately record the specifics of the claim or "suit" and the date received; and

ii. Notify us as soon as practicable.

You must see to it that we receive written notice of the claim or "suit" as soon as practicable. Knowledge
of a claim or "suit" by your agent, servant or employee shall not in itself constitute knowledge of the
named insured unless an officer of the named insured has received such notice from the agent, servant
or employee.

2. Where Broad Form Named Insured is added in SECTION II – WHO IS AN INSURED of this endorsement,
Condition 4. Other Insurance b. Excess Insurance (1).(a) is replaced by the following:

(a) Any of the other insurance, whether primary, excess, contingent or on any other basis, that is available to an
insured solely by reason of ownership by you of more than 50 percent of the voting stock, and not
withstanding any other language in any other policy. This provision does not apply to a policy written to apply
specifically in excess of this policy.

261

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035855

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




CG 72 01 07 17

B. The following are added:

10. Condition (5) of 2. "Duties in the event Occurrence, Offense, Claim or Suit" c. You or any other involved
insured must:
(5) Upon our request, replace or repair the property covered under Voluntary Property Damage Coverage at

your actual cost, excluding profit or overhead.

11. Blanket Waiver Of Subrogation
We waive any right of recovery we may have against any person or organization because of payments we make
for injury or damage arising out of: premises owned or occupied by or rented or loaned to you, ongoing
operations performed by you or on your behalf, done under a contract with that person or organization, “your
work”, or “your products”. We waive this right where you have agreed to do so as part of a written contract,
executed by you before the “bodily injury” or “property damage” occurs or the “personal and advertising injury”
offense is committed.

12. Liberalization
If a revision to this Coverage Part, which would provide more coverage with no additional premium becomes
effective during the policy period in the state designated for the first Named Insured shown in the Declarations,
your policy will automatically provide this additional coverage on the effective date of the revision.

13. Unintentional Failure to Disclose All Hazards

Based on our reliance on your representations as to existing hazards, if you unintentionally should fail to disclose
all such hazards at the inception date of your policy, we will not deny coverage under this Coverage Part
because of such failure. However, this provision does not affect our right to collect additional premium or
exercise our right of cancellation or non-renewal.

14. The following conditions are added in regard to Coverage G - Product Recall Expense

In event of a "product recall", you must

a. See to it that we are notified as soon as practicable of a "product recall". To the extent possible, notice
should include how, when and where the "product recall" took place and estimated "product recall expense".

b. Take all reasonable steps to minimize "product recall expense". This will not increase the limits of insurance.

c. If requested, permit us to question you under oath at such times as may be reasonably required about any
matter relating to this insurance or your claim, including your books and records. Your answers must be
signed.

d. Permit us to inspect and obtain other information proving the loss. You must send us a signed, sworn
statement of loss containing the information we request to investigate the claim. You must do this within 60
days after our request.

e. Cooperate with us in the investigation or settlement of any claim.

f. Assist us upon our request, in the enforcement of any rights against any person or organization which may be
liable to you because of loss to which this insurance applies.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 12 of 13

15. Limited Railroad Contractual Liability

a. Railroad Protective Liability coverage provided by Railroad Protective Liability Coverage Form (CG 00
35) with minimum limits of $2,000,000 per occurrence and a $6,000,000 general aggregate limit must be in
place for the entire duration of any project.

b.

c. For the purposes of the Other Insurance condition of Railroad Protective Liability Coverage Form (CG
00 35) you, the named insured, will be deemed to be the designated contractor.

The following conditions are applicable only to coverage afforded by reason of the redefining of an “insured
contract" in the DEFINITIONS section of this endorsement:

Any amendment to the Other Insurance condition of Railroad Protective Liability Coverage Form (CG 00
35) alters the primacy of the coverage or which impairs our right to contribution will rescind any coverage
afforded by the redefined “insured contract” language.

262

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035856



CG 72 01 07 17

SECTION V – DEFINITIONS
A. At item 12. "Mobile equipment" the wording at f.(1) is deleted and replaced by the following:

f.(1) Equipment designed primarily for:

(a) Snow removal;
(b) Road maintenance, but not construction or resurfacing; or
(c) Street cleaning;
except for such vehicles that have a gross vehicle weight less than 1,000 lbs which are not designed for highway
use.

B. Item 3. “Bodily injury” is deleted and replaced with the following:

3. “Bodily injury” means physical injury, sickness or disease sustained by a person. This includes mental anguish,
mental injury, shock, fright or death that results from such physical injury, sickness or disease.

C. Item 9. “Insured contract” c. is deleted and replaced with the following:

c. Any easement or license agreement;

D. Item 9. “Insured Contract” f.(1) is deleted

E. The following definitions are added for this endorsement only:
23. “Electronic data" means information, facts or programs stored as or on, created or used on, or transmitted to or

from computer software, including systems and applications software, hard or floppy disks, CD-ROMS, tape
drives, cells, data processing devices or any other media which are used with electronically controlled
equipment.

24. "Product recall" means a withdrawal or removal from the market of "your product" based on the determination by
you or any regulatory or governmental agency that:
a. The use or consumption of "your product" has caused or will cause actual or alleged "bodily injury" or

"property damage"; and
b. Such determination requires you to recover possession or control of "your product" from any distributor,

purchaser or user, to repair or replace "your product", but only if "your product" is unfit for use or
consumption, or is hazardous as a result of:

(1) An error or omission by an insured in the design, manufacturing, processing, labeling, storage, or
transportation of "your product"; or

(2) Actual or alleged intentional, malicious or wrongful alteration or contamination of "your product" by
someone other than you.

25. "Product recall expense" means reasonable and necessary expenses for:

a. Telephone, radio and television communication and printed advertisements, including stationery, envelopes
and postage.

b. Transporting recalled products from any purchaser, distributor or user, to locations designated by you.

c. Remuneration paid to your employees for overtime, as well as remuneration paid to additional employees or
independent contractors you hire.

CG 72 01 07 17 Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc., with its permission. Page 13 of 13

d. Transportation and accommodation expense incurred by your employees.
e. Rental expense incurred for temporary locations used to store recalled products.
f. Expense incurred to properly dispose of recalled products, including packaging that cannot be reused.
g. Transportation expenses incurred to replace recalled products.
h. Repairing, redistributing or replacing covered recalled products with like products or substitutes, not to

exceed your original cost of manufacturing, processing, acquisition and/or distribution.
These expenses must be incurred as a result of a "product recall".

26. “Written Contract” means a written contract or written agreement that requires you to make a person or
organization an additional insured on this Coverage Part, provided the contract or agreement:
a. Is currently in effect or becoming effective during the term of this policy; and
b. Was executed prior to:

(1) The “bodily injury” or “property damage”; or

(2) The offense that caused the “personal and advertising injury”,
for which the additional insured seeks coverage under this coverage part.

263

Item 27.

SOLIMAR ONLINE J223 035857

X::PDF(F)
PX(D)
MT(MAIN)




264

Item 27.



265

Item 27.



266

Item 27.



267

Item 27.



268

Item 27.



269

Item 27.



270

Item 27.



271

Item 27.



272

Item 27.



273

Item 27.



274

Item 27.



275

Item 27.



276

Item 27.



277

Item 27.



278

Item 27.



279

Item 27.



280

Item 27.



281

Item 27.



282

Item 27.



283

Item 27.



284

Item 27.



285

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 
  Project No. SW-000-3248 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, July 19th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Tuesday. July 27th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by July 7, 
2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on July 7, 2021 
allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) sidewalks, 
minor grading, miscellaneous curb and gutter replacement, pedestrian ramps and site 
restoration.   
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $176,242.53. The project will be 
fully funded by a Community Development Block Grant funding source.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

286

Item 28.



ITEM UNIT EST. EXTENDED EST. EXTENDED EST. EXTENDED

NO. DESCRIPTION PRICE QUANTITY COSTS QUANTITY COSTS QUANTITY COSTS

1 REMOVE SIDEWALK, P.C.C. S.Y. $12.00 5 $60.00 17.50 $210.00 24.40 $292.80 46.90 $562.80
2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT. WIDTH L.F. $11.00 47.33 $520.63 50.50 $555.50 80.00 $880.00 177.83 $1,956.13
3 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH S.Y. $50.00 830.3 $41,515.00 282.50 $14,125.00 409.20 $20,460.00 1522.00 $76,100.00
4 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH S.Y. $53.00 45 $2,385.00 49.00 $2,597.00 41.10 $2,178.30 135.10 $7,160.30
5 PLACE DETECTABLE WARNING PANELS S.F. $34.00 46 $1,564.00 60.00 $2,040.00 80.00 $2,720.00 186.00 $6,324.00
6 PLACE CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT. WIDE, P.C.C., CLASS "C" L.F. $28.00 47.33 $1,325.24 50.50 $1,414.00 80.00 $2,240.00 177.83 $4,979.24
7 CLASS 10 EXCAVATION C.Y. $14.00 340.15 $4,762.10 32.50 $455.00 199.00 $2,786.00 571.65 $8,003.10
8 TOPSOIL, FURNISH AND SPREAD C.Y. $35.00 220 $7,700.00 46.30 $1,620.50 94.90 $3,321.50 361.20 $12,642.00
9 SOD S.F. $1.70 9147.8 $15,551.26 2502.00 $4,253.40 5124.00 $8,710.80 16773.80 $28,515.46
10 SURFACING, 1 INCH ROADSTONE TONS $34.00 0 $0.00 14.00 $476.00 10.00 $340.00 24.00 $816.00
11 INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER L.F. $9.00 46 $414.00 6.00 $54.00 6.00 $54.00 58.00 $522.00
12 UNSTABLE MATERIAL, OVER EXCAVATION C.Y. $25.00 10 $250.00 5.00 $125.00 5.00 $125.00 20.00 $500.00
13 CONCRETE STAIRS, TYPE A S.F. $45.00 24.7 $1,111.50 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 24.70 $1,111.50
14 CLEARING AND GRUBBING UNIT $75.00 290 $21,750.00 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 290.00 $21,750.00
15 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $4,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 1.00 $4,500.00
16 CFU WORK (LIGHT POLE AND OH ELECTRIC) EA $800.00 1 $800.00 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 1.00 $800.00

$176,242.53

TUCSON DRIVE WALNUT STREET

TOT.      

COSTS

TOT. 

QUANTITY
UNIT

WEST 3RD STREET

287

Item 28.



1 

 

 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 

2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT FUNDED 

Project SW-000-3248 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
____________________________  Date: 7/1/2021 
David Wicke, P.E.           Iowa License No. 25684 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1 thru 71. 

 

 

 

288

Item 28.



2 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

    Page Number 
 

TITLE SHEET  1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 2 to 3 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5 to 8 
 

DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 9 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 9 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 10 
04 Taxes  10 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 10-11 
Form of Proposal 12-14 
Bid Bond  15 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 16 
Bidder Status Form                                                                                      17 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business                                          18 
Performance, Payment & Maintenance Bond                                         19-22 
Notice to Proceed 23 
Form of Contract 24-25 

 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 26 
02 Availability of Site 26 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 26 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 27 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 27 
06 Contract Time 27 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 27 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 27-28 
09 Liquidated Damages 28 
10 Progress Payments 28 
11 Method of Measurement 28 
12 Basis of Payment 28-29 

289

Item 28.



3 

 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC  IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 
(SUDAS) as the City‟s Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls‟ 2021 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 

 

Links to both documents can be found on the City‟s website at: 
www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   

 

DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 30 

 

DIVISION 5 – CDBG Funding          31 - 71 

 
Wage Determination (8 pages) 
Required Federal Contract Language for CDBG Funded Contracts (9 pages) 
Payroll Form (2 pages) 
On-site Interview Forms/Online Employee Questionnaire/Complaint Intake (11 
pages) 
Section 3 (8 pages) 

 Project Sign (1 page) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

290

Item 28.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards


4 

 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 

FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated 

total Cost for the construction of the 2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT, in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 19
th
 day of July, 2021, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and estimated total cost are now on file 

in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be inspected by 

any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or the estimated total 

cost of making said improvement. 

This notice given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.            

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
    By: _______________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 
     City Clerk 
 

 

 

291

Item 28.



5 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IA 
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at City Hall, located 
at 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa until 2:00 PM July 27, 2021 for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill 
project.  All bids will be publicly opened and read aloud at that time and place. Bids received for the 
Project will be considered by the City Council at City Hall on August 2, 2021 at 7:00 PM. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be opened 
and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 27th day of July, 2021 in the Duke Young conference Room at City Hall, 
220 Clay Street Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls City Council at its 
meeting at 7:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of August, 2021 or at such later time and place as may be fixed. 
The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. 
  
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed and 
shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. All work shall be 
completed within fifty (50) working days. Working days will be accumulated concurrently from the 
date of the Notice to Proceed. 
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a proposal 
guaranty as defined in the Instructions to Bidders - Division 1, Section 05.  
 
Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Contractors are 
encouraged to download electronic contract documents. Electronic contract documents will become 
available Friday, July 9, 2021 at no cost by clicking on the “Bid Opportunities” link at 

www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill project from the list. Project 
information, Engineer‟s cost opinion, and planholder information is also available at no cost at this 
website. Downloads require the user to register for a free membership at www.QuestCDN.com.  No 
hard copies will be provided by the City. 
 

Contact Brett Armstrong for any questions via phone: (319) 268-5161, fax: (319) 268-5197, or 

email: brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN reference number 7263321. 
 

Preference for Iowa Products and Labor: The Contractor shall give preference to Iowa domestic 

labor in the construction or building of such public improvement or works in accordance with Section 
73 of the Code of Iowa. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 

Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of this project. 
Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as provided by Iowa 
Code Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This work shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete 

292

Item 28.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/
http://www.questcdn.com/
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com


6 

(PCC) sidewalks, minor grading, miscellaneous curb and gutter replacement, pedestrian ramps 
and site restoration according to the plans and these specifications.  

 

CDBG Funded: This project is being funded in part by Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) dollars originating from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD).  Therefore, this project is subject to federal labor standard requirements, including Davis 
Bacon-Act (federal prevailing wage requirements for laborers and mechanics on site) and HUD 
Section 3 Hiring (low-income persons employment) provisions.  Bidders should submit completed 
and signed “Intent to Comply with Section 3 Requirements” form as part of their bid documentation.  
The Intent to Comply form as well as details on other federal requirements, including prevailing 
wage rates, are included in the Specifications. 
 
Each BIDDER shall accompany its bid with a bid security as security that the successful 
BIDDER will enter into a contract for the work bid upon and will furnish after the award of 
CONTRACT a corporate surety bond, acceptable to the OWNER, for the faithful performance of 
the CONTRACT, in an amount equal to 100 percent of the amount of the CONTRACT.  The bid 
security shall be in the amount of five (5) percent of the amount of the CONTRACT and shall be 
in the form of a cashier‟s check, or certified check drawn on a state chartered or federally 
charted bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally chartered credit 
union.  The Bid Bond shall contain no exceptions. 
 
By virtue of Statutory authority, a preference will be given to products and provisions grown and 
coal produced within the State of Iowa and to Iowa Domestic Labor, to the extent lawfully 
required under Iowa statutes. 
 
OWNER is designated a Tax-Exempt Entity.  As such, CONTRACTOR, and any subcontractors, 
under this contract, shall be provided a Tax-Exempt Certificate and authorization letter from the 
OWNER.  Tax Exempt certificate and authorization letter shall be used by CONTRACTOR to 
secure building materials or equipment intended for completion of this project without payment of 
sales tax.  CONTRACTOR is not mandated to complete Iowa Department of Revenue Form 
35002 – Iowa Contractor‟s Statement upon execution of agreement.  CONTRACTOR agrees to 
this method of sales tax exemption and it shall not be modified during the course of construction. 
 
BIDDER shall satisfy themselves of the accuracy of the estimated quantities in the BID schedule 
by examination of the site and review of the contract documents; including ADDENDA.  After 
BIDS have been submitted, the BIDDER shall not assert that there was a misunderstanding 
concerning the quantities of WORK or nature of the WORK to be done. 
 
The successful BIDDER shall be required to furnish a performance BOND and a payment 
BOND, each in the amount of 100 percent of the CONTRACT PRICE, with a corporate surety 
approved by the OWNER, within ten (10) calendar days of the date when the NOTICE OF 
AWARD is delivered to the BIDDER.  The NOTICE OF AWARD shall be accompanied by the 
necessary AGREEMENT and BOND forms.  In case of failure of the BIDDER to execute the 
AGREEMENT, the OWNER may at his option consider the BIDDER in default, in which case the 
BID BOND shall become property of the OWNER. 
 
BIDDERS must indicate on the BID form the proposed equipment and subcontractors who will 
be performing the major portions of the work. 
 
No BID submitted by any BIDDER which contains a condition or qualification shall be recognized 

293

Item 28.



7 

or accepted by the OWNER and any letter or communication accompanying the BID which 
contains a condition or qualification upon the BID which has the effect of qualifying or modifying 
any provision of the contract documents in any manner will be construed as a qualifying BID and 
will be rejected by the OWNER as non-responsive. 
 
Section 3 language for procurement documents: 

  
A. The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of section 3 of 

the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 1701u (section 
3). The purpose of section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities 
generated by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by section 3, shall, to the 
greatest extent feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, particularly 
persons who are recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 

B. The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135, 
which implement section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to 
this contract certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would 
prevent them from complying with the part 135 regulations. 
 

C. The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with 
which the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a 
notice advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the contractor's 
commitments under this section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous 
places at the work site where both employees and applicants for training and employment 
positions can see the notice. The notice shall describe the section 3 preference, shall set 
forth minimum number and job titles subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training 
positions, the qualifications for each; and the name and location of the person(s) taking 
applications for each of the positions; and the anticipated date the work shall begin. 
 

D. The contractor agrees to include this section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to 
compliance with regulations in 24 CFR part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as 
provided in an applicable provision of the subcontract or in this section 3 clause, upon a 
finding that the subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR part 135. The 
contractor will not subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or 
knowledge that the subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR 
part 135. 
 

E. The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training positions, 
that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is executed, and (2) 
with persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR part 135 require 
employment opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor's 
obligations under 24 CFR part 135. 
 

F. Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR part 135 may result in sanctions, 
termination of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD 
assisted contracts. 

 
G. With respect to work performed in connection with section 3 covered Indian housing 

assistance, section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 
U.S.C. 450e) also applies to the work to be performed under this contract. Section 7(b) 

294

Item 28.



8 

requires that to the greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and 
employment shall be given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and 
subcontracts shall be given to Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. 
Parties to this contract that are subject to the provisions of section 3 and section 7(b) agree 
to comply with section 3 to the maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance 
with section 7(b). 

Section 3 Businesses are encouraged to respond to this proposal.  A Section 3 business is a 

business that is: 

51% owned by Section 3 residents* 

Whose permanent, full-time staff is comprised of at least 30% Section 3 residents* 

Has committed 25% of the dollar amount of its subcontracts to Section 3 businesses 

*A Section 3 resident is defined as a public housing resident or someone with a household income 
that is less than 80% of the area median income. 
Businesses that believe they meet the Section 3 criteria are encouraged to register as a Section 3 
Business through HUD‟s website: 
https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/RegisterBusiness 

 

No bidder may withdraw his bid within 60 days after the actual date of the opening thereof 
 
OWNER reserves the right to waive any informalities or to reject any or all bids. 

 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
      
     BY: __________________________ 
           Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

                                        City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

295

Item 28.

https://portalapps.hud.gov/Sec3BusReg/BRegistry/RegisterBusiness


9 

 

DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the 2021 Public Sidewalk and Pedestrian Trail Improvement Project 
shall be constructed in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS and as further 
modified be the City of Cedar Falls‟ Supplemental Specifications and the special provision 
included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the documents 
are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your bid, please review all requirements of DIVISION 5 related to CDBG 
funding of public improvement projects. 
 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents and 
to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 

01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT 

Project No. SW-000-3248 
 

02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder‟s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the Owners 
request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder‟s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; A 
financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources to 
meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder‟s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a satisfactory 

296

Item 28.



10 

manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the approximate contract 
amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts which resulted in 
lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder indicating whether or not 
the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a like nature or magnitude;  A 
list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm or the employ of previous 
firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed 
for bankruptcy; The technical experience of personnel guaranteed to be employed in 
responsible charge of the work stating whether the personnel have or have not performed 
satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature and magnitude or comparable difficulty at 
similar rate of progress; Such additional information as will assist the Owner in determining 
whether the bidder is adequately prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner‟s decision as to 
qualifications of the bidder will be final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for an 
award. 
 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications, and proposal forms may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer. Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Contract 
documents are also available electronically through the City‟s website under “Bid 
Opportunities”. 
 

04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of 
this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as 
provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 

05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates).  Bid security shall be 
in the form of a cashier‟s check, a certified check, or a bank money order drawn on a 

297

Item 28.



11 

FDIC insured bank in Iowa or drawn on a FDIC insured bank chartered under the laws of 
the United States; or a certified share draft drawn on a credit union in Iowa or chartered 
under the laws of the United States; or a bid bond executed by a corporation authorized 
to contract as a surety in Iowa or satisfactory to the Jurisdiction.  The bid bond must be 
submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond forms are acceptable.  All 
signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; facsimile (fax) of any 
signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than said bid bond shall 
be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler‟s Checks” issued by 
persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not acceptable 
bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer printed. 
The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price, or the extension that has been provided 
for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and 
the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, and 
units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars and 
cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in figures 
in a column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal obtained by 
adding the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with the bidder's 
name, that of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal included 
herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and form, the name 
of the bidder and its official address, and the bidder's representative's name, signature and 
title. Also the total bid shall be completed with the entry of "see attached." 
 
The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the bid security and 
non-collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the return address of the bidder and shall 
be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 

Project No. SW-000-3248 
 

298

Item 28.



12 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 

2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. SW-000-3248 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that _________________________ have personally and 

carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract annexed 

hereto.  Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to construct the 

improvements for the 2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT in accordance with the 

plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to 

Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of 

Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the 

satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the guaranteeing 

of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of final acceptance thereof at the 

following prices, to-wit: 

BID 

ITEM # 
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 

PRICE 

1 Removal of Sidewalk S.Y. 46.9   

2 Removal Curb & Gutter, 2.5 ft wide L.F. 177.8   

3 Sidewalk PCC Class “C”, 4 IN S.Y. 1522   

4 Sidewalk PCC Class “C”, 6 IN S.Y. 135.1   

5 Detectable Warning Panels S.F. 186   

6 Curb & Gutter, 2.5 ft Wide, PCC Class “C” L.F. 177.8   

7 Class 10 Excavation, Roadway Waste C.Y. 571.65   

8 Topsoil, Furnish & Spread C.Y. 361.3   

9 SOD S.F. 16,773.8   

299

Item 28.



13 

BID 

ITEM # 
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE 

EXTENDED 

PRICE 

10 Surfacing, 1-Inch Roadstone TONS 24   

11 Intake, Sediment Filter L.F. 58   

12 Unstable Material, Over Excavation C.Y. 20   

13 Concrete Stairs, Type A S.F. 24.7   

14 Clearing and Grubbing  UNITS 290   

15 Traffic Control L.S. 1.0   

 
Bid Total: $ _______________________________________

300

Item 28.



14 

Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. Bids shall be submitted for all of 
the items. The successful bidder will be determined by evaluating the Total Bid shown 
above. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be just cause for disqualification of the 
entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed or computer generated, or the bid will 
be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to delete any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and 
evaluation, to be non-responsible. The Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder if the 
Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an award to 
that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not involving price 
time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned 
within thirty (30) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time thereafter before this 
bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in the 
prescribed form and furnish the required bond within ten (10) calendar days after the 
Contract is presented to him for signature, and start work within ten (10) calendar days 
after "Notice to Proceed" is issued. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with the 
Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 
1001. 
Name of bidder 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

301

Item 28.



15 

BID BOND 
PROJECT NO. SW-000-3248 

 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called 
"OBLIGEE," In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) 
lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, 
our heirs, executors, administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas 
the Principal has submitted the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 
20_____, for ______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form 

specified and shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of 
all persons performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other 
respects perform the agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, 
exceed the penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as 
provided in the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond 
shall be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such 
Bid or execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of 
them as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be 
signed by their proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

                
  
 
 
 

302

Item 28.



16 

 NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           

 PROJECT NO. SW-000-3248 
 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of ______________       
     (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all pertinent 
circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, employees or 
parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or 
indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in connection with the 
Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in connection with such 
Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication or 
conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached bid or of any other 
Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of any other Bidder, or to secure through 
any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, representatives, 
owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

303

Item 28.



17 

 

 

304

Item 28.



18 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

305

Item 28.



19 

Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY BOND NO.           

 

 

 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

  

 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 

____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons who may be 

injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to be 

made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these presents. 

  

 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with the 

Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2021, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said Contractor 

undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 

 

2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 

Project SW-000-3248 
 

and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in a 

good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions are a 

part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   each 

and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference made a 

part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless the Owner 

from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default or failure to 

perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to perform as 

required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, agents, or 

employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 
     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims submitted 

by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing labor in the 

performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not limited to claims 

for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on machinery, equipment, and 

tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein the same are not satisfied out of 

the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until completion of the improvement, but 

the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, firms, or corporations unless the claims of 

said claimants against said portion of the contract price shall have been established as provided by law.  

The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 

573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 
     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

 

A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed under 

the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance of the work 

306

Item 28.



20 

under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used in construction of 

said work; 

 

   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 

 

   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any defects 

are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result of 

Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 

Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 

materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 

 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 

notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 

 

   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to perform the 

Contract; 

 

   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that all 

such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the total 

contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; and  

 

    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within an 

extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and the 

liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 

The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 

notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     less 

than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue on this 

Bond. 
     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, but 

shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner including 

interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay and expense” 

would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all equipment usage or 

rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorney’s fees (including overhead expenses of the 

Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of litigation as they are incurred by the 

Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety will defend and indemnify the Owner on all 

claims made against the Owner on account of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in 

the Contract and Contract Documents, that all agreements and promises set forth in the 

Contract and Contract Documents, in approved change orders, and in this Bond will be 

fulfilled, and that the Owner will be fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it 

would have been in had the Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 
     

In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim as to 

which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement of the 

promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved change orders, or 

in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in this Bond, the Contractor and 

307

Item 28.



21 

Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such outlay and expense, provided that the 

Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  

In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 

thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the Owner 

to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of the Owner, 

the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred 

therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be cumulative and not 

alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the Owner, by law.  The Owner 

may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether action is brought against the Contractor 

or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all the 

promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in this Bond, 

then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this Bond, 

the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract Documents, it 

shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, if not defined in the 

Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted meaning in the construction 

industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction industry, it shall be interpreted or 

construed according to its common or customary usage. 

 

Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit liability 

hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 

 

 

308

Item 28.



22 

         Project No. SW-000-3248 

 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2021. 

 

  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 

 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 

  

 

 By:    _________________________________  

                                      Signature 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          

                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 

 

 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           

 

 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 

 

 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                              Company Name 

 

                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                      Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 

                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 

 ________________________________________________    _____________________________________________ 

                         Attorney for Owner                                                                        Company Telephone Number 

 

 

 

NOTE: 

  

 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original signatures in 

ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 

 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and sealed 

with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 

 

 

 

 

 

309

Item 28.



23 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 

TO: ______________________________ DATE: _________________________________ 

 

       ______________________________ PROJECT: 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill 

               SW-000-3248 

       ______________________________               Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated 

___________________, 2021, within ten (10) calendar days of _____________________, 

2021 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all labor, material and 

equipment necessary for construction of the 2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT. 

 

The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after 

the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and 

diligently through the duration of the project.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa______________ 

(OWNER) 

 

 

By_______________________________ 

 

Title______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

310

Item 28.



24 

 

FORM OF CONTRACT 

 
This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of:  2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL 

PROJECT, Project No. SW-000-3248 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly passed 

on the 6
th
 day of July 2021, and shown and described in the Plans and Specifications 

therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. SW-000-

3248 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out herein 

verbatim: 

a. Resolution of Necessity 
b. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
c. Plans 
d. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
e. Notice to Bidders 
f. Instructions to Bidders 
g. Supplemental Conditions 
h. General Conditions 
i. Project Specifications 
j. Form of Proposal 
k. Performance Bond 
l. Maintenance Bond 
m. Form of Contract 
n. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

311

Item 28.



25 

o.  Bidder Status Form and Worksheet 
 

On completion of the said improvement, the Owner agrees to pay to the Contractor the 

prices set out in the Form of Proposal of the Contractor, said payment to be made in the 

manner stated in the published Notice to Bidders. 

In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first 

herein written.   

 
 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

312

Item 28.



26 

 
 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 

01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and 
maintenance bond in the sum equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the total bid. The 
maintenance bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of 
two (2) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate their 
operations with those of other Contractors working within the same area of the following 
project: 
 
1. Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2. Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 
3. UNI Spring Classes End – April 30, 2021 
4. Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – June 1, 2021 
5. Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 25-27, 2021 
6. UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 23, 2021 
7. Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative) – August 23, 2021 
8. UNI Homecoming – October 2, 2021 

 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey 
stakes. The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if 
any survey stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor shall 
be charged for the cost of replacing them. 
 
 
 
 

313

Item 28.



27 

 
 
 

04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1070 – 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project 
(excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material 
hauled to these sites. The Engineer shall review all disposal sites. Overhaul will not be 
measured or paid for but will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway 
excavation on this project. 
 

05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty 
percent (50%) of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a 
specialty item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as 
performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before computing the 
amount of work required by the Contractor's organization. 
 

06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar weeks 
after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly 
and diligently throughout the duration of the project. There is no specified number of 
allotted working days for this contract; however, much of this work is in conjunction with 
street reconstruction or resurfacing. To minimize conflicts, and avoid encountering a 
situation that may require a possible spot repair under a newly laid street, Contractor 
should plan to finish by Thursday, November 25, 2021.  
 

07 Work Progress and Schedule 

 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.03: 

 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the working 
days, one-eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the 
working days, three-eights of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths 
of the working days, the work shall be three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall 
be completed at the expiration of the calendar weeks. 
 
 
 

314

Item 28.



28 

 
 

08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset.  
 

09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) per working day 
will be assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted after the 
expiration of the contract time. 
 

10 Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1

st
) and third 

(3
rd

) Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment for the work may be made in three parts, if requested by the Contractor.  The 
Contractor may request from the Owner a progress payment when the job is 33% complete 
and another when the job is 66% complete. Final payment will be made upon satisfactory 
completion of this contract.  Payment will be in accordance with the prices set forth in the 
proposal for the quantity of work performed.  This shall include any additional expenses 
preapproved by the Owner. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish vouchers showing that all 
subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor and that the City may retain ten (10) percent of the project cost from 
the last payment for a period of ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and 
approval, unless satisfied that material and laborers have been paid for in full. 
 

11 Method of Measurement 
 
The Engineer shall measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the 2021 CDBG SIDEWALK INFILL PROJECT in 
accordance with the 2021 edition of the Urban Standard Specifications for Public 
Improvements and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls‟ Supplemental 
Specifications, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 

See Plans, Sheet C.02 for Estimated Project Quantities and measurement of payment 
 

12 Basis of Payment 

 

315

Item 28.



29 

Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by 
multiplying the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit 
price as bid on the proposal form in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as 
amended by the City of Cedar Falls‟ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the 
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, 
except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

316

Item 28.



30 

 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2021 CDBG 
Sidewalk Infill project in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as amended by 
the City of Cedar Falls‟ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, except as 
amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 

Item No. 16 - Traffic Control 
 

Traffic control shall be measured on a lump sum basis as per I.D.O.T. Specification 
Section 2528.12A1. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

317

Item 28.



31 

 

DIVISION 5 – CDBG Funding 

 
CDBG FUNDING REQUIRED PROVISIONS 
 
See Following Pages: 
 

Prevailing Wage Determination (8 pages) 
Required Federal Contract Language for CDBG Funded Contracts (9 pages) 
Payroll Form (2 pages) 
On-site Interview Forms/Online Employee Questionnaire/Complaint Intake (11 
pages) 
Section 3 (8 pages) 

 Project Sign (1 page) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

318

Item 28.



32 

 

 

 

"General Decision Number: IA20200081 01/03/2020 

 

Superseded General Decision Number: IA20190081 

 

State: Iowa 

 

Construction Types: Heavy and Highway 

 

Counties: Adair, Adams, Allamakee, Appanoose, Audubon,  

Benton, Black Hawk, Boone, Bremer, Buchanan, Buena Vista,  

Butler, Calhoun, Carroll, Cass, Cedar, Cerro Gordo, Cherokee,  

Chickasaw, Clarke, Clay, Clayton, Clinton, Crawford, Dallas,  

Davis, Decatur, Delaware, Des Moines, Dickinson, Dubuque,  

Emmet, Fayette, Floyd, Franklin, Fremont, Greene, Grundy,  

Guthrie, Hamilton, Hancock, Hardin, Harrison, Henry, Howard,  

Humboldt, Ida, Iowa, Jackson, Jasper, Jefferson, Johnson,  

Jones, Keokuk, Kossuth, Lee, Linn, Louisa, Lucas, Lyon,  

Madison, Mahaska, Marion, Marshall, Mills, Mitchell, Monona,  

Monroe, Montgomery, Muscatine, O'Brien, Osceola, Page, Palo  

Alto, Plymouth, Pocahontas, Polk, Pottawattamie, Poweshiek,  

Ringgold, Sac, Shelby, Sioux, Story, Tama, Taylor, Union, Van  

Buren, Wapello, Warren, Washington, Wayne, Webster, Winnebago,  

Winneshiek, Woodbury, Worth and Wright Counties in Iowa. 

 

 

EXCLUDES SCOTT COUNTY 

 

HEAVY AND HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

 

Note: Under Executive Order (EO) 13658, an hourly minimum wage 

of $10.95 for calendar year 2021 applies to all contracts 

subject to the Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is 

awarded (and any solicitation was issued) on or after January 

1, 2021. If this contract is covered by the EO, the contractor 

must pay all workers in any classification listed on this wage 

determination at least $10.95 per hour (or the applicable wage 

rate listed on this wage determination, if it is higher) for 

all hours spent performing on the contract in calendar year 

2021. If this contract is covered by the EO and a 

classification considered necessary for performance of work on 

the contract does not appear on this wage determination, the 

contractor must pay workers in that classification at least the 

wage rate determined through the conformance process set forth 

in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(ii) (or the EO minimum wage rate,if it is 

higher than the conformed wage rate). The EO minimum wage rate 

will be adjusted annually. Please note that this EO applies to 

the above-mentioned types of contracts entered into by the 

federal government that are subject to the Davis-Bacon Act 

itself, but it does not apply to contracts subject only to the 

319

Item 28.



33 

Davis-Bacon Related Acts, including those set forth at 29 CFR 

5.1(a)(2)-(60). Additional information on contractor 

requirements and worker protections under the EO is available 

at www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 

 

 

Modification Number     Publication Date 

          0              01/03/2020 

 

  SUIA2019-001 10/18/2017 

 

                                  Rates          Fringes 

 

Carpenter & Piledrivermen   

     ZONE 1......................$ 27.92            13.28 

     ZONE 2......................$ 26.03            13.38 

     ZONE 3......................$ 26.03            13.38 

     ZONE 4......................$ 25.55            10.80 

     ZONE 5**....................$ 24.45             9.20 

   

CONCRETE FINISHER   

     ZONE 1......................$ 27.50             7.10 

     ZONE 2......................$ 27.50             7.10 

     ZONE 3......................$ 27.50             7.10 

     ZONE 4......................$ 24.85             6.10 

     ZONE 5......................$ 23.80             6.10 

   

ELECTRICIAN (STREET AND    

HIGHWAY LIGHTING AND TRAFFIC    

SIGNALS)   

     ZONE 1, 2, AND 3.........$ 24.45             6.50 

     ZONE 4......................$ 23.15             6.50 

     ZONE 5......................$ 21.00             6.50 

   

IRONWORKER (SETTING OF    

STRUCTURAL STEEL)   

     ZONE 1......................$ 30.50            10.70 

     ZONE 2......................$ 28.41            10.70 

     ZONE 3......................$ 28.41            11.00 

     ZONE 4......................$ 26.35             9.50 

     ZONE 5**....................$ 24.50             9.05 

   

LABORER   

     ZONE 1, 2 AND 3 

      GROUP A....................$ 23.15             9.18 

      GROUP AA...................$ 25.53             9.18 

      GROUP B....................$ 21.30             9.18 

      GROUP C....................$ 18.22             9.18 

     ZONE 4 

      GROUP A....................$ 20.82             8.63 

      GROUP B....................$ 19.50             8.63 

      GROUP C....................$ 16.62             8.63 

320

Item 28.



34 

     ZONE 5 

      GROUP A....................$ 21.32             7.18 

      GROUP B....................$ 18.82             7.18 

      GROUP C....................$ 17.97             7.18 

   

POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR   

     ZONE 1 

      GROUP A....................$ 31.75            14.55 

      GROUP B....................$ 30.20            14.55 

      GROUP C....................$ 27.70            14.55 

      GROUP D....................$ 27.70            14.55 

     ZONE 2 

      GROUP A....................$ 31.05            14.55 

      GROUP B....................$ 29.45            14.55 

      GROUP C....................$ 26.90            14.55 

      GROUP D....................$ 26.90            14.55 

     ZONE 3 

      GROUP A....................$ 29.05            23.30 

      GROUP B....................$ 27.25            23.30 

      GROUP C....................$ 26.25            23.30 

      GROUP D....................$ 26.25            23.30 

     ZONE 4 

      GROUP A....................$ 30.55            11.65 

      GROUP B....................$ 29.41            11.65 

      GROUP C....................$ 27.33            11.65 

      GROUP D....................$ 27.33            11.65 

     ZONE 5 

      GROUP A....................$ 27.37             9.60 

      GROUP B....................$ 26.33             9.60 

      GROUP C....................$ 24.60             9.60 

      GROUP D....................$ 23.60             9.60 

   

TRUCK DRIVER (AND PAVEMENT    

MARKING DRIVER/SWITCHPERSON)   

     ZONE 1......................$ 23.85            10.85 

     ZONE 2 

...................................$ 23.85            10.85 

     ZONE 3......................$ 23.85            10.85 

     ZONE 4......................$ 23.85             6.65 

     ZONE 5 

...................................$ 21.90             6.65 

 

ZONE DEFINITIONS 

  ZONE 1 The Counties of Polk, Warren, and Dallas for all 

  Crafts, and Linn County Carpenters only. 

  ZONE 2 The Counties of Dubuque for all Crafts and Linn County 

  for all Crafts except Carpenters. 

  ZONE 3 The Cities of Burlington, Clinton, Fort Madison, 

  Keokuk, and Muscatine (and abutting municipalities of any 

  such cities). 

  ZONE 4 Story, Black Hawk, Cedar, Jasper, Jones, Jackson, 

  Louisa, Madison, and Marion Counties; Clinton County 

321

Item 28.



35 

  (except the City of Clinton), Johnson County, Muscatine 

  County (except the City of Muscatine), the City of Council 

  Bluffs, Lee County and Des Moines County. 

 ZONE 5 All areas of the state not listed above. 

 

LABORER CLASSIFICATIONS - ALL ZONES 

  GROUP AA - {Skilled pipelayer (sewer, water and conduits) and 

  tunnel laborers; asbestos abatement worker} (Zones 1, 2 and 

  3). 

 

  GROUP A - Carpenter tender on bridges and box culverts; curb 

  machine (without a seat); deck hand; diamond & core drills; 

  drill operator on air tracs, wagon drills and similar 

  drills; form setter/stringman on paving work; gunnite 

  nozzleman; joint sealer kettleman; laser operator; 

  powderman tender; powderman/blaster; saw operator; 

  {pipelayer (sewer, water, and conduits); sign erector*; 

  tunnel laborer; asbestos abatement worker (Zones 4 and 5)}, 

  sign erector. 

 

  GROUP B - Air, gas, electric tool operator; barco hammer; 

  carpenter tender; caulker; chain sawman; compressor (under 

  400 cfm); concrete finisher tender; concrete processing 

  materials and monitors; cutting torch on demolition; drill 

  tender; dumpmen; electric drills; fence erectors; form line 

  expansion joint assembler; form tamper; general laborer; 

  grade checker; handling and placing metal mesh, dowel bars, 

  reinforcing bars and chairs; hot asphalt laborer; 

  installing temporary traffic control devices; 

  jackhammerman; mechanical grouter; painter (all except 

  stripers); paving breaker; planting trees, shrubs and 

  flowers; power broom (not self-propelled); power buggyman; 

  rakers; rodman (tying reinforcing steel); sandblaster; 

  seeding and mulching; sewer utility topman/bottom man; 

  spaders; stressor or stretcherman on pre or post tensioned 

  concrete; stringman on re/surfacing/no grade control; 

  swinging stage, tagline, or block and tackle; tampers; 

  timberman; tool room men and checkers; tree climber; tree 

  groundman; underpinning and shoring caissons over twelve 

  feet deep; vibrators; walk behind trencher; walk behind 

  paint stripers; walk behind vibrating compactor; water 

  pumps (under three inch); work from bosun chair. 

 

  GROUP C - Scale weigh person; traffic control/flagger, 

  surveillance or monitor; water carrier. 

 

POWER EQUIPMENT OPERATOR CLASSIFICATIONS - ALL ZONES 

  GROUP A -  All terrain (off road) forklift; asphalt breakdown 

  roller (vibratory); asphalt laydown machine; asphalt plant; 

  asphalt screed; bulldozer (finish); central mix plant; 

  concrete pump; crane; crawler tractor pulling scraper; 

  directional drill (60,000 (lbs) pullback and above); 

322

Item 28.



36 

  dragline and power shovel; dredge engineer; excavator (over 

  ½ cu. yd.); front end loader (4 cy and over); horizontal 

  boring machine; master mechanic; milling machine (over 350 

  hp); motor grader (finish); push cat; rubber tired backhoe 

  (over ½ cu. yd.); scraper (12 cu. yd. and over or finish); 

  Self-propelled rotary mixer/road reclaimer; sidebroom 

  tractor; slipform portland concrete paver; tow or push 

  boat; trenching machine (Cleveland 80 or similar). 

 

  GROUP B - Articulated off road hauler, asphalt heater/planer; 

  asphalt material transfer vehicle; asphalt roller; belt 

  loader or similar loader; bulldozer (rough); churn or 

  rotary drill; concrete curb machine; crawler tractor 

  pulling ripper, disk or roller; deck hand/oiler; 

  directional drill (less than 60,000 (lbs) pullback); 

  distributor; excavator (1/2 cu. yd. and under); form riding 

  concrete paver; front end loader (2 to less than 4 cu. 

  yd.); group equipment greaser; mechanic; milling machine 

  (350 hp. and less); paving breaker; portland concrete dry 

  batch plant; rubber tired backhoe (1/2 cu. yd. and under); 

  scraper (under 12 cu. yd.); screening, washing and crushing 

  plant (mobile, portable or stationary); shoulder machine; 

  skid loader (l cu. yd. and over); subgrader or trimmer; 

  trenching machine; water wagon on compaction. 

 

  GROUP C - Boom & winch truck; concrete spreader/belt placer; 

  deep wells for dewatering; farm type tractor (over 75 hp.) 

  pulling disc or roller; forklift; front end loader (under 2 

  cu. yd.); motor grader (rough); pile hammer power unit; 

  pump (greater than three inch diameter); pumps on well 

  points; safety boat; self-propelled roller (other than 

  asphalt); self-propelled sand blaster or shot blaster, 

  water blaster or striping grinder/remover; skid loader 

  (under 1 cu. yd.); truck mounted post driver. 

 

  GROUP D - Boiler; compressor; cure and texture machine; dow 

  box; farm type or utility tractor (under 75 hp.) pulling 

  disk, roller or other attachments; group greaser tender; 

  light plants; mechanic tender; mechanical broom; mechanical 

  heaters; oiler; pumps (under three inch diameter); tree 

  chipping machine; truck crane driver/oiler. 

 

** CARPENTERS AND PILEDRIVERMEN, or IRONWORKERS (ZONE 5) 

  Setting of structural steel; any welding incidental to bridge 

  or culvert construction; setting concrete beams. 

 

* ADDED CRAFT - SIGN ERECTOR 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing 

operation to which welding is incidental. 

323

Item 28.



37 

 

================================================================ 

  

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave 

for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the 

Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any 

solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017.  If this 

contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide 

employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours 

they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. 

Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their 

own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including 

preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is 

like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other 

health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons 

resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is 

like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic 

violence, sexual assault, or stalking.  Additional information 

on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO 

is available at www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts. 

 

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within 

the scope of the classifications listed may be added after 

award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses 

(29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)). 

 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

  

 

The body of each wage determination lists the classification 

and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the 

cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage 

determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical 

order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular 

rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), 

a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate 

(weighted union average rate). 

 

Union Rate Identifiers 

 

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed 

in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or 

""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were 

prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: 

PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of 

the union which prevailed in the survey for this 

classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 

indicates the local union number or district council number 

where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 

005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing 

the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the 

324

Item 28.



38 

most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 

2014. 

 

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate 

changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing 

this classification and rate. 

 

Survey Rate Identifiers 

 

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that 

no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and 

the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average 

rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that 

classification.  As this weighted average rate includes all 

rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and 

non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates 

the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average 

calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates 

the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which 

these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 

in the example, is an internal number used in producing the 

wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion 

date for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 

 

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a 

new survey is conducted. 

 

Union Average Rate Identifiers 

 

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate 

that no single majority rate prevailed for those 

classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the 

classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 

08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union 

average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in 

the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage 

determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date 

for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 

 

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of 

each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current 

negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is 

based. 

 

  

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

                   WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS 

 

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can 

be: 

325

Item 28.



39 

 

*  an existing published wage determination 

*  a survey underlying a wage determination 

*  a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on 

   a wage determination matter 

*  a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling 

 

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests 

for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour 

Regional Office for the area in which the survey was conducted 

because those Regional Offices have responsibility for the 

Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this initial 

contact is not satisfactory, then the process described in 2.) 

and 3.) should be followed. 

 

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal 

process described here, initial contact should be with the 

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations.  Write to: 

 

            Branch of Construction Wage Determinations 

            Wage and Hour Division 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an 

interested party (those affected by the action) can request 

review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator 

(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to: 

 

            Wage and Hour Administrator 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the 

interested party's position and by any information (wage 

payment data, project description, area practice material, 

etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue. 

 

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an 

interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative 

Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board).  Write to: 

 

            Administrative Review Board 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final. 

 

================================================================ 

326

Item 28.



40 

          END OF GENERAL DECISION" 

 

 

Required Federal Contract Language 

For 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funded Contracts 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

327

Item 28.



41 

Federal Labor Standards Provisions   

 

 

Applicability 
The Project or Program to which the construction work covered by this contract pertains is being assisted by the United 
States of America and the following Federal Labor Standards Provisions are included in this Contract pursuant to the 
provisions applicable to such Federal assistance. 
 

A.1. (i) Minimum Wages. All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work, will be paid 
unconditionally and not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account (except 
such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 
CFR Part 3), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment 
computed at rates not less than those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached 
hereto and made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the 
contractor and such laborers and mechanics. Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe 
benefits under Section l(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to 
such laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv); also, regular contributions made or costs 
incurred for more than a weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs, which cover 
the particular weekly period, are deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period.  Such laborers 
and mechanics shall be paid the appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the 
classification of work actually performed, without regard to skill, except as provided in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(4). Laborers or 
mechanics performing work in more than one classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each 
classification for the time actually worked therein: Provided, that the employer‟s payroll records accurately set forth the 
time spent in each classification in which work is performed.  The wage determination (including any additional 
classification and wage rates conformed under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(ii) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall be 
posted at all times by the contractor and its subcontractors at the site of the work in a prominent and accessible, place 
where it can be easily seen by the workers. 
 

(ii)(a) Any class of laborers or mechanics which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed 
under the contract shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination.  HUD shall approve an additional 
classification and wage rate and fringe benefits therefor only when the following criteria have been met: 

(1)The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage 
determination; and 
 

(2)The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and 
 

(3)The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates 
contained in the wage determination. 
 

(b)If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their 
representatives, and HUD or its designee agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for 
fringe benefits where appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by HUD or its designee to the Administrator 
of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, D.C. 
20210. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional 
classification action within 30 days of receipt and so advise HUD or its designee or will notify HUD or its designee within 
the 30-day period that additional time is necessary. (Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under OMB 
control number 1215-0140.) 
 

(c)In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their representatives, and 
HUD or its designee do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for 
fringe benefits, where appropriate), HUD or its designee shall refer the questions, including the views of all interested 
parties and the recommendation of HUD or its designee, to the Administrator for determination. The Administrator, or an 
authorized representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt and so advise HUD or its designee or will 
notify HUD or its designee within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  (Approved by the Office of 
Management and Budget under OMB Control Number 1215-0140.) 
 

(d)The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to subparagraphs (1)(ii)(b) or (c) of 
this paragraph, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this contract from the first day on 
which work is performed in the classification. 
 

(iii)Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe 
benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the wage 
determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof. 

328

Item 28.



42 

 

(iv)If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the contractor may consider as part of the 
wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits 
under a plan or program, Provided, That the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of the contractor, that 
the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the contractor to set 
aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program. (Approved by the Office of 
Management and Budget under OMB Control Number 1215-0140.)  
 

2. Withholding. HUD or its designee shall upon its own action or upon written request of an authorized representative of 
the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this contract or any other Federal 
contract with the same prime contractor, or any other Federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage 
requirements, which is held by the same prime contractor so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be 
considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees and helpers, employed by the 
contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract In the event of failure to pay any laborer 
or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee or helper, employed or working on the site of the work, all or part of the 
wages required by the contract, HUD or its designee may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or 
owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of 
funds until such violations have ceased. HUD or its designee may, after written notice to the contractor, disburse such 
amounts withheld for and on account of the contractor or subcontractor to the respective employees to whom they are 
due. The Comptroller General shall make such disbursements in the case of direct Davis-Bacon Act contracts.  
 

3. (i) Payrolls and basic records.  Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the contractor 
during the course of the work preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at 
the site of the work. Such records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, his 
or her correct classification, hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide 
fringe benefits or cash equivalents thereof of the types described in Section l(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-bacon Act), daily and 
weekly number of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid.  Whenever the Secretary of Labor has found 
under 29 CFR 5.5 (a)(1)(iv) that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described in Section l(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the 
contractor shall maintain records which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that the plan 
or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in writing to the laborers or 
mechanics affected, and records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits.  
Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the 
registration of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and 
trainees, and the ratios and wage rates prescribed in the applicable programs. (Approved by the Office of Management 
and Budget under OMB Control Numbers 1215-0140 and 1215-0017.)  
 

(ii) (a) The contractor shall submit weekly for each week in which any contract work is performed a copy of all payrolls to 
HUD or its designee if the agency is a party to the contract, but if the agency is not such a party, the contractor will 
submit the payrolls to the applicant sponsor, or owner, as the case may be, for transmission to HUD or its designee. The 
payrolls submitted shall set out accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 29 CFR 
5.5(a)(3)(i) except that full social security numbers and home addresses shall not be included on weekly transmittals. 
Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually identifying number for each employee (e.g., the last four 
digits of the employee‟s social security number). The required weekly payroll information may be submitted in any form 
desired. Optional Form WH-347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour Division Web site at 
http://www.dol.gov/esa/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor site. The prime contractor is responsible for the 
submission of copies of payrolls by all subcontractors. Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain the full social 
security number and current address of each covered worker, and shall provide them upon request to HUD or its 
designee if the agency is a party to the contract, but if the agency is not such a party, the contractor will submit the 
payrolls to the applicant sponsor, or owner, as the case may be, for transmission to HUD or its designee, the contractor, 
or the Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with 
prevailing wage requirements. It is not a violation of this subparagraph for a prime contractor to require a subcontractor to 
provide addresses and social security numbers to the prime contractor for its own records, without weekly submission to 
HUD or its designee. (Approved by the Office of Management and Budget under OMB Control Number 1215-0149.)  
 

(b) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a “Statement of Compliance,” signed by the contractor or 
subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed under the contract and 
shall certify the following:  
 

(1) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be provided under 29 CFR 5.5 (a)(3)(ii), the 
appropriate information is being maintained under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(3)(i), and that such information is  
correct and complete; 
 

329

Item 28.



43 

(2) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the 
payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no 
deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as 
set forth in 29 CFR Part 3;  
 

(3) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage determination incorporated into 
the contract.  
 

(c) The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH-347 
shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of Compliance” required by subparagraph A.3.( ii)(b).  
 

(d) The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or criminal 
prosecution under Section 1001 of Title 18 and Section 231 of Title 31 of the United States Code.  
 

(iii) The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under subparagraph A.3.(i) available for inspection, 
copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of HUD or its designee or the Department of Labor, and shall 
permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the job. If the contractor or subcontractor 
fails to submit the required records or to make them available, HUD or its designee may, after written notice to the 
contractor, sponsor, applicant or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further 
payment, advance, or guarantee of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit the required records upon request or to make 
such records available may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.  
 

4. Apprentices and Trainees.  

(i) Apprentices. Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work they performed 
when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the 
U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and 
Labor Services, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or her 
first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually 
registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor 
Services or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an 
apprentice. The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater 
than the ratio permitted to the contractor as to the entire work force under  
 
 
the registered program.  Any worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise 
employed as stated above, shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the 
classification of work actually performed.  In addition, any apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio 
permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination 
for the work actually performed. Where a contractor is performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in 
which its program is registered, the ratios and wage rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman‟s hourly rate) 
specified in the contractor‟s or subcontractor‟s registered program shall be observed. Every apprentice must be paid at 
not less than the rate specified in the registered program for the apprentice‟s level of progress, expressed as a 
percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in the applicable wage determination. Apprentices shall be paid fringe 
benefits in accordance with the provisions of the apprenticeship program. If the apprenticeship program does not specify 
fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the 
applicable classification. If the Administrator determines that a different practice prevails for the applicable apprentice 
classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that determination. In the event the Office of Apprenticeship 
Training, Employer and Labor Services, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, withdraws approval 
of an apprenticeship program, the contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less than the applicable 
predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved.  
 

(ii) Trainees. Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the predetermined 
rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant „,to and individually registered in a program which has 
received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training 
Administration. The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan 
approved by the Employment and Training Administration. Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified 
in the approved program for the trainee‟s level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate 
specified in the applicable wage determination. Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of 
the trainee program. If the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines that 
there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination 
which provides for less than full fringe benefits for apprentices. Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is 
not registered and participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid 

330

Item 28.



44 

not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  In addition, any 
trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not 
less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed. In the event the 
Employment and Training Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer be 
permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 
program is approved.  
 

(iii) Equal employment opportunity. The utilization of apprentices, trainees and journeymen under 29 CFR Part 5 shall 
be in conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 11246, as amended, and 29 
CFR Part 30.  
 

5. Compliance with Copeland Act requirements. The contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR Part 3 
which are incorporated by reference in this contract  
 

6. Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor will insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in subparagraphs 
1 through 11 in this paragraph A and such other clauses as HUD or its designee may by appropriate instructions require, 
and a copy of the applicable prevailing wage decision, and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these 
clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any subcontractor 
or lower tier subcontractor with all the contract clauses in this paragraph.  
 

7. Contract termination; debarment. A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination of 
the contract and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.  
 

8. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act Requirements. All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon 
and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR Parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract  
 

9. Disputes concerning labor standards. Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not 
be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract. Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the 
procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR Parts 5, 6, and 7. Disputes within the meaning of this clause 
include disputes between the contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and HUD or its designee, the U.S. Department of 
Labor, or the employees or their representatives.  
 

10. (i) Certification of Eligibility.  By entering into this contract the contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor 
any person or firm who has an interest in the contractor‟s firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded Government 
contracts by virtue of Section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1) or to be awarded HUD contracts or 
participate in HUD programs pursuant to 24 CFR Part 24.  

(ii) No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a Government contract by 
virtue of Section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1) or to be awarded HUD contracts or participate in HUD 
programs pursuant to 24 CFR Part 24.  

(iii) The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 1001. Additionally, U.S. 
Criminal Code, Section 1 01 0, Title 18, U.S.C., “Federal Housing Administration transactions”, provides in part: 
“Whoever, for the purpose of... influencing in any way the action of such Administration... makes, utters or publishes any 
statement knowing the same to be false... shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more than two years, or 
both.”  
 

11. Complaints, Proceedings, or Testimony by Employees. No laborer or mechanic to whom the wage, salary, or 
other labor standards provisions of this Contract are applicable shall be discharged or in any other manner discriminated 
against by the Contractor or any subcontractor because such employee has filed any complaint or instituted or caused to 
be instituted any proceeding or has testified or is about to testify in any proceeding under or relating to the labor 
standards applicable under this Contract to his employer.  
 

B. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. The provisions of this paragraph B are applicable where the 
amount of the prime contract exceeds $100,000. As used in this paragraph, the terms “laborers” and “mechanics” include 
watchmen and guards.  
 

(1) Overtime requirements. No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may 
require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any 
workweek in which the individual is employed on such work to work in excess of 40 hours in such workweek unless such 
laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all 
hours worked in excess of 40 hours in such workweek.  
 

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages. In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in 
subparagraph (1) of this paragraph, the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable for the 
unpaid wages. In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of work 

331

Item 28.



45 

done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages. 
Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen 
and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in subparagraph (1) of this paragraph, in the sum of $10 for 
each calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of 40 
hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in sub paragraph (1) of this paragraph. 
 

(3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. HUD or its designee shall upon its own action or upon 
written request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, from any 
moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other 
Federal contract with the same prime contract, or any other Federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work 
Hours and Safety Standards Act which is held by the same prime contractor such sums as may be determined to be 
necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as 
provided in the clause set forth in subparagraph (2) of this paragraph.  
 

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in subparagraph 
(1) through (4) of this paragraph and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier 
subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor 
with the clauses set forth in subparagraphs (1) through (4) of this paragraph.  
 

C. Health and Safety. The provisions of this paragraph C are applicable where the amount of the prime contract exceeds 
$100,000. 
 

(1) No laborer or mechanic shall be required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, 
hazardous, or dangerous to his health and safety as determined under construction safety and health standards 
promulgated by the Secretary of Labor by regulation. 
 

(2) The Contractor shall comply with all regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor pursuant to Title 29 Part 1926 and 
failure to comply may result in imposition of sanctions pursuant to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, 
(Public Law 91-54, 83 Stat 96). 40 USC 3701 et seq.  
 

(3) The contractor shall include the provisions of this paragraph in every subcontract so that such provisions will be 
binding on each subcontractor. The contractor shall take such action with respect to any subcontractor as the Secretary 
of Housing and Urban Development or the Secretary of Labor shall direct as a means of enforcing such provisions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

332

Item 28.



46 

REQUIRED CONTRACT LANGUAGE 

All project contracts shall contain at a minimum the following provisions, as appropriate. 

 

ALL CONTRACTS 

1. Access and Maintenance of Records 

The contractor must maintain all required records for five years after final payments are made and all other 
pending matters are closed. 

At any time during normal business hours and as frequently as is deemed necessary, the contractor shall 
make available to the Iowa Economic Development Authority, the State Auditor, the General Accounting 
Office, and the Department of Housing and Urban Development, for their examination, all of its records 
pertaining to all matters covered by this contract and permit these agencies to audit, examine, make excerpts 
or transcripts from such records, contract, invoices, payrolls, personnel records, conditions of employment, 
and all other matters covered by this contract. 

2. Civil Rights 

The Contractor must comply with the following laws and regulations: 

 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352).  
States that no person may be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or subjected to 
discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance on the basis of 
race, color, or national origin. 
 

 Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. 
 

 Iowa Civil Rights Act of 1965. 
 This Act mirrors the Federal Civil Rights Act. 
 

 Section 109 of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended (42 
U.S.C. 5309). 

Provides that no person shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or handicap under 
any program or activity funded in part or in whole under Title I of the Act. 
 

 The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) 
Provides that no person on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the 
benefits of or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal 
financial assistance. 
 

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-112, 29 U.S.C. 794). 
Provides that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of his/her handicap be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against under any 
program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 
 

 Americans with Disabilities Act (P.L. 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213) 
Provides comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, 
public accommodations, state and local government services, and telecommunications. 

 

 Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended (12 U.S.C. 1701u). 
Provides to the greatest extent feasible, that training and employment opportunities be made 
available to lower-income residents of project areas and that contracts be awarded to small 
businesses located within the project area or owned in substantial part by project area residents. 

333

Item 28.



47 

 

 Federal Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Order 11375. 
 Provides that no one be discriminated in employment. 
 

 Federal Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259. 
 

3. Termination Clause 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain a termination clause that specifies the following: 

 Under what conditions the clause may be imposed. 

 The form the termination notice must take (e.g., certified letter). 

 The time frame required between the notice of termination and its effective date. 

 The method used to compute the final payment(s) to the contractor. 
 

4. Certification regarding government-wide restriction on lobbying. 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain the following certification concerning restriction of lobbying: 

"The Recipient certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
i.  No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 

Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any 
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal 
grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the 
extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, 
or cooperative agreement. 

ii.  If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer or employee, or an employee of a Member of congress in connection with 
this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Recipient shall complete and 
submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Federal Lobbying" in accordance with its 
instruction. 

iii. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under 
grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose 
accordingly. 
 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction 
was made or entered into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code.  Any person who fails to file the required 
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for 
each such failure." 

5. Lead-Safe Housing Regulations (As applicable) 

24 CFR Part 35 et. al. 

Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally Owned 
Residential Properties and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance, Final Rule 

6. Standards and Policies Relating to Energy Efficiency 

Pub. L. 94-163, 89 Stat. 871 

Mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency which are contained in the state energy 
conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act. 

7. Notice of Awarding Agency Requirements and Regulations Pertaining to Reporting 

334

Item 28.



48 

The Contractor must provide information as necessary and as requested by the Iowa Economic 
Development Authority for the purpose of fulfilling all reporting requirements related to the CDBG program. 

 

 

 

ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $10,000 

In addition to the preceding provisions, all contracts in excess of $10,000 must include the following 
language, pursuant to Federal Executive Orders 11246 and 11375: 

"During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 
(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  The contractor will take affirmative action to ensure 
that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment, without regard 
to their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to 
the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment 
advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for 
training, including apprenticeship.  The contractor agrees to post in conspicuous places, available 
to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the contracting officer 
setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

(2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of 
the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without 
regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 
collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice, to be provided by the 
agency contracting officer, advising the labor union or workers' representative of the contractor's 
commitments under Section 202 of the Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, and 
shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for 
employment. 

(4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 
1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order No. 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or 
pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the contracting 
agency and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such 
rules, regulations, and orders. 

(6) In the event of the contractor's non-compliance with the nondiscrimination clause of this contract 
or with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, terminated or 
suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for further 
Government contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order No. 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as 
provided in Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of 
the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(7) The contractor will include the provisions of Paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract or 
purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor issued 
pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that such 
provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.  The contractor will take such action 
with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the contracting agency may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance:  Provided, however, 
that in the event the contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a 
subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the contracting agency, the contractor may 
request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 

 

335

Item 28.



49 

 

ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $100,000 
In addition to the preceding provisions, contracts in excess of $100,000 shall require compliance with the 
following laws and regulations: 
  Section 306 of the Clean Air Acts (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)). 
  Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368). 
  Executive Order 11738. 
   EPA Regulations - 40 CFR, Part 15. 

Clean Air and Water Acts - required clauses: 

This clause is required in all third party contracts involving projects subject to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 
1857 et seq.), the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), and the regulations of the 
Environmental Protection Agency with respect to 40 CFR Part 15, as amended.  It should also be 
mentioned in the bid document. 

During the performance of this contract, the CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 
(1) The CONTRACTOR will certify that any facility to be utilized in the performance of any nonexempt 

contract or subcontract is not listed on the Excluded Party Listing System pursuant to 40 CFR 32. 
(2) The CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 114 of the Clean Air 

Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 1857c-8) and Section 308 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 
as amended (33 U.S.C. 1318) relating to inspection, monitoring, entry, reports, and information, as 
well as all other requirements specified in said Section 114 and Section 308, and all regulations 
and guidelines issued thereunder. 

(3) The CONTRACTOR agrees that as a condition for the award of the contract, prompt notice will be 
given of any notification received from the Director, Office of Federal Activities, Environmental 
Protection Agency, indicating that a facility utilized or to be utilized for the contract is under 
consideration to be listed on the Excluded Party Listing System. 

(4) The CONTRACTOR agrees that it will include or cause to be included the criteria and 
requirements in Paragraph (1) through (4) of this section in every nonexempt subcontract and 
require every subcontractor to take such action as the Government may direct as a means of 
enforcing such provisions. 

 

 

ALL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $2,000 

In addition to the preceding provisions, all construction contracts in excess of $2,000 must include the 
Federal Labor Standards Provisions (verbatim) found in Appendix 2 under Required Contract Provisions.  
(Housing rehabilitation contracts of less than 8 units are excluded from this requirement.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

336

Item 28.



337

Item 28.



338

Item 28.



339

Item 28.



340

Item 28.



341

Item 28.



342

Item 28.



343

Item 28.



344

Item 28.



345

Item 28.



346

Item 28.



347

Item 28.



348

Item 28.



349

Item 28.



350

Item 28.



351

Item 28.



352

Item 28.



353

Item 28.



354

Item 28.



355

Item 28.



356

Item 28.



357

Item 28.



358

Item 28.



359

Item 28.



360

Item 28.



361

Item 28.



362

Item 28.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sidewalk Infill and Repair Project 
  Project No. SW-000-3266 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, July 19th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Tuesday. July 27th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by July 7, 
2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on July 7, 2021 
allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This work shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) sidewalk 
pedestrian ramps and pedestrian trail improvements according to the plans and these 
specifications.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $190,958.10. The project will be 
fully funded by the General Obligation funding source.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

363

Item 29.



ITEM UNIT TOTAL
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. $6.00 398.8 $2,392.80

2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER, 2.0' WIDE (L.F.) L.F. $20.00 55.0 $1,100.00

3 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY (S.Y.) S.Y. $20.00 43.0 $860.00

4 SIDEWALK, PCC, 4" (S.Y.) S.Y. $50.00 1385.0 $69,250.00

5 SIDEWALK RAMP, PCC, 6" (S.Y.) S.Y. $60.00 217.8 $13,068.00

6 DETECTABLE WARNING (S.F.) S.F. $50.00 316.0 $15,800.00

7 CURB & GUTTER, 2.0' WIDE (L.F.) L.F. $40.00 55.0 $2,200.00

8 DRIVEWAY, PCC, 6" (S.Y.) S.Y. $50.00 43.0 $2,150.00

9 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10 (C.Y.) C.Y. $27.00 265.90 $7,179.30

10 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD (C.Y.) C.Y. $75.00 358.80 $26,910.00

11 HYDRAULIC SEEDING, FERTILZER, & MULCH (S.F.) S.F. $1.00 19348.0 $19,348.00

12 INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER (L.F.) L.F. $175.00 84.0 $14,700.00

13 REMOVAL OF EXISTING SIGNAL (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

14 RRFB PEDESTRIAN SYSTEM (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

15 UNSUITABLE MATERIAL (C.Y.) C.Y. $20.00 50.00 $1,000.00

16 TRAFFIC CONTROL (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.00 $5,000.00

$190,958.10TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

AND QUANTITIES

February 25, 2021

2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR

AND INFILL PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NO. RC - 000 - 3266

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COSTS

364

Item 29.



1 

 

 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 

2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR 

AND INFILL PROJECT 
 

Project SW-000-3266 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 
 

 
 

 
ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 

 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
____________________________  Date: 7/1/2021 
David A. Wicke, P.E.      Iowa License No. 25684 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1 thru 26. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

365

Item 29.



2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 

    Page Number 
 

TITLE SHEET  1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 2 to 3 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5 to 6 
 

DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 6 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 7 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 7 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 8 to 9 
Form of Proposal 10 to 12 
Bid Bond  13 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 14 
Bidder Status Form                                                                                      15 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business                                          16 
Form of Contract 17 to 18 

 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 19 
02 Availability of Site 19 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 19 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 20 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 20 
06 Contract Time 20 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 20 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 20 
09 Liquidated Damages 21 
10 Progress Payments 21 
11 Pollution Prevention Plan                                                               21 to 22 
12 Method of Measurement 23 to 24 
13 Basis of Payment 25 

 
 
 

366

Item 29.



3 

 
 
 
 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC  IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 
(SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 

 

Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   

 

DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

367

Item 29.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards


4 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 

FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND INFILL PROJECT 

 IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 
 

TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated 

total Cost  for the construction of the 2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK AND PEDESTRIAN TRAIL 

IMPROVEMENT PROJECT, in said City at 7:00 p.m. on the 19
th
 day of July, 2021, said 

meeting to be held in the Council Chambers in the City Hall , 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 

Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and estimated total cost are now on file 

in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be inspected by 

any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or the estimated total 

cost of making said improvement. 

This notice given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.            

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
    By: _______________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 
     City Clerk 

368

Item 29.



5 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND INFILL PROJECT 

 IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City Clerk's 
office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an authorized 
representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 23rd day of July, 2021. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be opened 
and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 23rd day of July, 2021 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall, 220 
Clay Street Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls City Council at its meeting 
at 7:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of August, 2021 or at such later time and place as may be fixed. The City 
of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. 
  
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed and 
shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. All work shall be 
completed within fifty(50) working days. Working days will be accumulated concurrently from the 
date of the Notice to Proceed. 
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a proposal 
guaranty as defined in Division 1 Section 05.  
 
Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Electronic contract 
documents will become available Wednesday, July 7th, 2021 at no cost by clicking on the “Bid 

Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2020 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill 
 project from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost opinion, and planholder information is also 
available at no cost at this website. Downloads require the user to register for a free membership at 
www.QuestCDN.com. 
 

Contact Brett Armstrong for document distribution or any questions via phone: (319) 268-

5163, fax: (319) 268-5197, or email: brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN reference 

number 7912559. 
 
If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract documents, 
the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either through mail, fax or 
email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for opening bids may not be 
answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
Brett Armstrong                                                                     
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       
brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com                                                 

369

Item 29.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/
http://www.questcdn.com/
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com


6 

 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an addendum duly 
mailed or delivered to each prospective bidder who received, or in the future requests, contracts 
documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other 
interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as deemed advisable 
by Jurisdiction or the Engineer 
 

Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be given 

to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against a 
nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or requires 
any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not limited to any 
preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, or any other form of 
preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign country. The preference 
allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state or foreign country in which 
the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a resident labor force preference, a 
nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor force preference to a public improvement in 
this state as would be required in the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign 
country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid being 
deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 

Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of this project. 
Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as provided by Iowa 
Code Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This work shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete 
(PCC) sidewalk pedestrian ramps and pedestrian trail improvements according to the plans and 
these specifications.  

 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
      CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
      BY: __________________________ 
       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

                                          City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

370

Item 29.



7 

DIVISION I – Instruction to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the 2020 Public Sidewalk  Repair and Infill Project shall be constructed 
in accordance with the 2020 Edition of the SUDAS and as further modified be the City of 
Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications and the special provision included in the contract 
documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the documents are defined in said 
Standard Specifications. 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents and 
to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 

01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2020 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project 

Project No. SW-000-3181 
 
 
 

 

02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the Owners 
request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; A 
financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources to 
meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a satisfactory 
manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the approximate contract 
amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts which resulted in 

371

Item 29.



8 

lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder indicating whether or not 
the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a like nature or magnitude;  A 
list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm or the employ of previous 
firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed 
for bankruptcy; The technical experience of personnel guaranteed to be employed in 
responsible charge of the work stating whether the personnel have or have not performed 
satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature and magnitude or comparable difficulty at 
similar rate of progress; Such additional information as will assist the Owner in determining 
whether the bidder is adequately prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to 
qualifications of the bidder will be final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for an 
award. 
 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications and proposal forms may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer .Plans specifications and proposal forms have been approved by the City Council 
and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 

04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of 
this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as 
provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 

05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates).  Bid security shall be 
in the form of a cashier’s check, a certified check, or a bank money order drawn on a 
FDIC insured bank in Iowa or drawn on a FDIC insured bank chartered under the laws of 
the United States; or a certified share draft drawn on a credit union in Iowa or chartered 
under the laws of the United States; or a bid bond executed by a corporation authorized 
to contract as a surety in Iowa or satisfactory to the Jurisdiction.  The bid bond must be 

372

Item 29.



9 

submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond forms are acceptable.  All 
signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; facsimile (fax) of any 
signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than said bid bond shall 
be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued by 
persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not acceptable 
bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer printed. 
The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price, or the extension that has been provided 
for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and 
the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, and 
units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars and 
cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in figures 
in a column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal obtained by 
adding the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with the bidder's 
name, that of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal included 
herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and form, the name 
of the bidder and its official address, and the bidder's representative's name, signature and 
title. Also the total bid shall be completed with the entry of "see attached." 
 
The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the bid security and 
non-collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the return address of the bidder and shall 
be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project 

Project No. SW-000-3266 
 

373

Item 29.



10 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 

2020 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND INFILL PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. SW-000-3266 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that _________________________ have personally and 

carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract annexed 

hereto.  Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to construct the 

improvements for the 2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND INFILL PROJECT in 

accordance with the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the 

published Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws 

of the State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the 

guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of final acceptance 

thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

 

Item 

No. Description 

Item Quantity 

and Units 

Unit Price Amount 

    

1 Remove Sidewalk, 
P.C.C.  

398.8 S.Y. 
    

2 Removal of Curb & Gutter, 2.0 Ft. 
Wide. 55.0 L.F. 

    

3 Remove Driveway 
P.C.C. 43.0 S.Y. 

    

4 Place Sidewalk,P.C.C., Class “C”, 
 4-Inch  1385.0 S.Y. 

    

5 Place Sidewalk/Pedestrian Ramp, 
P.C.C., Class “C”, 6-inch 217.8 S.Y. 

    

374

Item 29.



11 

 

 Description 

Item Quantity 

and Units 

Unit Price Amount 

    

6 Place Detectable Warning Panels, 
Pre-cast 316.0 S.F. 

    

7 Place Curb & Gutter, 2.0 Ft. Wide, 
P.C.C., Class “C” 
 

55.0 L.F. 
    

8 Place Driveway, P.C.C., Class “C” 
6-inch 43.0 S.Y. 

    

9 Excavation, Sidewalk 
265.88 C.Y. 

    

10 Topsoil, Furnish and Spread 
358.83 C.Y. 

    

11 Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching 
19,348.0 S.F. 

    

12 Intake Sediment Filter 
84.0 L.F. 

    

13 Removal of Existing Signal System 
1.0 L.S. 

    

14 Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon 
(RRFB) Installation 1.0 L.S. 

    

15 Unstable Material, Over Excavation 
50.0 C.Y. 

    

16 Traffic Control 
1.0 L.S. 

    

   

Total Bid 

    

375

Item 29.



12 

Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items constitute 
one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. Bids shall be submitted for all of the items. The 
successful bidder will be determined by evaluating the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a 
bid on any item shall be just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled 
in ink, typed or computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to 
delete any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further reserves the right to reject the 
bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to be non-responsible. The 
Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best 
interest of the project to make an award to that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive 
all informalities not involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned within 
thirty (30) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time thereafter before this bid is 
withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in the prescribed form and 
furnish the required bond within ten (10) calendar days after the Contract is presented to him for 
signature, and start work within ten (10) calendar days after "Notice to Proceed" is issued. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with the 
Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 1001. 
Name of bidder 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

376

Item 29.



13 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," In the 
penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of the United 
States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, and 
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted the accompanying bid 
dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for ______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and shall 

furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor 
or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by 
the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and 
agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the penal amount of this 
obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of damages 
sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in the 
specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall be in 
no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or execute such 
contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them as 
are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper 
officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

                
 
 
 
 
 
 

377

Item 29.



14 

  NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           

 PROJECT NO. SW-000-3181 
 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of ______________          
  (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all pertinent 
circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, employees or 
parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or 
indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in connection with the Contract 
for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in connection with such Contract, or has 
in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication or conference with any 
other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any 
overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any 
person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, representatives, 
owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

 

 

378

Item 29.



15 

 

 

379

Item 29.



16 

 
 

 

 
 

380

Item 29.



17 

FORM OF CONTRACT 

 
This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2020, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment and 

construct the public improvement consisting of:  2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND 

INFILL PROJECT, Project No.SW-000-3266 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly passed on 

the 6
th
 day of July, 2021, and shown and described in the Plans and Specifications therefore 

now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. SW-000-3181 

attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out herein 

verbatim: 

a. Resolution of Necessity 
b. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
c. Plans 
d. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
e. Notice to Bidders 
f. Instructions to Bidders 
g. Supplemental Conditions 
h. General Conditions 
i. Project Specifications 
j. Form of Proposal 
k. Performance Bond 
l. Maintenance Bond 
m. Form of Contract 

381

Item 29.



18 

n. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 
o.  Bidder Status Form and Worksheet 
 

On completion of the said improvement, the Owner agrees to pay to the Contractor the prices 

set out in the Form of Proposal of the Contractor, said payment to be made in the manner 

stated in the published Notice to Bidders. 

In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first herein 

written.   

 
 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

382

Item 29.



19 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 

01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and 
maintenance bond in the sum equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the total bid. The 
maintenance bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of two 
(2) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate their 
operations with those of other Contractors working within the same area of the following 
project: 
 

1) Public Works garbage collection operations 
2) Street Reconstruction / Restoration– 2020 
3) 2020 Sidewalk Assessment Project 

 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey stakes. 
The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey 
stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor shall be charged for 
the cost of replacing them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

383

Item 29.



20 

04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1070 – 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project 
(excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled 
to these sites. The Engineer shall review all disposal sites. Overhaul will not be measured or 
paid for but will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this 
project. 
 

05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than thirty-five 
percent (35%) of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a 
specialty item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as 
performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before computing the amount 
of work required by the Contractor's organization. 
 

06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten calendar days after the date set forth in the 
written notice to proceed and shall be completed within fifty(50) working days of notice to 
proceed. 
 

07 Work Progress and Schedule 

 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.03: 

 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the working 
days, one-eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the working 
days, three-eights of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths of the 
working days, the work shall be three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall be 
completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset.  
 

384

Item 29.



21 

09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one hundred dollars ($300.00) per working day will be 
assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted after the expiration of the 
contract time. 
 

10 Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first(1

st
) and third 

(3
rd

)Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be 
legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Tax and General 
Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City 
Council. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish vouchers showing that all 
subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor and that the City may retain the last month's payment for a period of 
ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that 
material, men and laborers have been paid. 
 

11 Pollution Prevention Plan 

 
1. Project Description 
 
This project shall consist of the installation of concrete sidewalks, and pavement utility 
patches This project encompasses Thirty Four (34) various locations within the city.   

 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
All contractors and subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent 
contamination of storm water runoff, groundwater, and soils by hazardous material and / or 
pollutants caused by their operations or encountered in their work. All waste materials and 
supplies must be removed from the sites. If construction equipment maintenance or repair is 
performed on any site, provisions must be made to capture and remove any lubricants or 
other fluids. 
 
 
 

385

Item 29.



22 

The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by construction activities. 
 
The Contractor and every Subcontractor shall be responsible to the Owner to: 
 

1. Execute Contractor’s part of the pollution prevention plan as described. 
 

2. Conduct all work activities to not damage an existing erosion control measure or 
stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make repairs with 
no additional cost to the Owner. 
 

 3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control 
measures that may be needed during construction. 

 
3. Certification Statement  
 
 

N.P.D.E.S. CERTIFICATION 

PROJECT NO. SW – 000 – 3266 
 
The contractor certifies under penalty of law that they understand the terms and conditions of 
the general National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit that authorizes 
the storm water discharges associated with industrial activity from the construction site as part 
of this certification. Further, by signing and entering into contract for this work, the contractor 
understands that they are becoming a co-permittee, along with the owner(s) and other 
contractors and subcontractors, to the Iowa Department of Natural Resources NPDES 
General Permit No. 2 for “Storm Water Discharge Associated with Industrial Activity for 
Construction Activities” at the identified site. As co-permittee, the contractor understands that 
they and their company are legally required under the Clean Water Act and the Code of Iowa, 
to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the Storm Pollution Prevention Plan 
developed under this NPDES permit and the terms of this NPDES permit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

386

Item 29.



23 

12 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 
The Engineer shall measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the 2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR AND INFILL 
PROJECT in accordance with the 2021 edition of the Urban Standard Specifications for 
Public Improvements and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental 
Specifications, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 

Item No. 1 - Remove Sidewalk, P.C.C.  
 
The area of Sidewalk and Ramp to be removed will be computed in square yards from 
surface measurements of length and width. 
 

Item No. 2 – Removal of Curb & Gutter, 2.0 Ft., Wide 

 
The area of Curb & Gutter to be removed will be computed in lineal feet from surface 
measurements 
 

Item No. 3 – Removal of Driveway, P.C.C. 

 
The area of Driveways to be removed will be computed in square yards from surface 
measurements 

 

Item No. 4 – Place Sidewalk, P.C.C., Class “C”, 4 Inch 
 
The area of Sidewalk to be placed will be computed in square yards from surface 
measurements of length and width. 
 

Item No. 5 – Place Sidewalk, P.C.C., Class “C”, 6 Inch (Pedestrian Ramps) 
 
The area of Sidewalk and Ramps to be placed will be computed in square yards from surface 
measurements of length and width. 
 

Item Nos. 6 – Place Detectable Warning Panels, Precast  
 
The area of Detectable Warning Panel to be placed will be computed in square feet from 
surface measurements of length and width. 
 

Item No. 7 – Place Curb & Gutter, 2.0 Ft., Wide, P.C.C., Class “C”, 6 Inch  

 
The area of Curb & Gutter to be placed will be computed in lineal feet from surface 
measurements. 
 
 
 

387

Item 29.



24 

Item No. 8 – Place Driveway,  P.C.C., Class “C”, 6 Inch  
 
The area of Driveways to be placed will be computed in square yards from surface 
measurements. 
 

Item No. 9 – Excavation, Sidewalk 
 
The area of Excavation, Sidewalk will be computed in cubic yards from surface 
measurements of length, width and depth in feet. 
 

Item No. 10 – Topsoil, Furnish and Spread 

 
The area of Topsoil, Furnish and Spread shall be computed in cubic yards from surface 
measurements of length, width and depth in feet. 
 

Item No. 11 – Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching  
 

The area of Seeding, Fertilizing and Mulching will be computed in square feet from surface 
measurements of length and width. 
 

Item No. 12 – Intake Sediment Filter 

 
The amount of Intake Sediment Filter, shall be computed in measurements of lineal feet. 
 

 Item No. 13 – Removal of Existing Signal System  
 

Removal of Existing Signal System shall be measured on a lump sum basis. 
 

Item No. 14 – Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) Installation 

 
Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) Installation shall be measured on a lump sum 
basis. 
 

Item No. 15 – Unstable Material, Over Excavation 
 
As per Standard Specification Section 2010  1.08F 
 

Item No. 16 – Traffic Control 
Traffic control shall be measured on a lump sum basis as per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 
2528.12A1. 
 
 
 
 
 

388

Item 29.



25 

 
 

3 BASIS OF PAYMENT 

 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying 
the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on 
the proposal form in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as amended by the 
City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2020 Edition of the URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, except as 
amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 

Item No. 16 – Traffic Control 

 
Traffic control shall be measured on a lump sum basis as per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 
2528.12A1. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

389

Item 29.



26 

 

DIVISION 4 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2020 Public 
Sidewalk  Repair and Infill Project in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as 
amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2020 Edition of the 
URBAN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, except 
as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 
 

Item No. 16 - Traffic Control 
 

Traffic control shall be measured on a lump sum basis as per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 
2528.12A1. 
 

390

Item 29.



391

Item 29.



392

Item 29.



393

Item 29.



394

Item 29.



395

Item 29.



396

Item 29.



397

Item 29.



398

Item 29.



399

Item 29.



400

Item 29.



401

Item 29.



402

Item 29.



403

Item 29.



404

Item 29.



405

Item 29.



406

Item 29.



407

Item 29.



408

Item 29.



409

Item 29.



410

Item 29.



411

Item 29.



412

Item 29.



413

Item 29.



414

Item 29.



415

Item 29.



416

Item 29.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4 
  SW-000-3237 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, July 19th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
the public hearing on this project and Tuesday. July 27th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date 
and time for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be 
published by July 7, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to 
contractors on July 7, 2021 allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract 
letting. 
 
This project involves the repair of deficient sidewalk adjacent to various property 
owners. The project will repair the deficient sidewalk for the adjacent property owner 
and assess the cost of repair to the property owner. Once the repair has been 
completed, the Engineering Division will submit a bill to the City Clerk. The City Clerk 
will then send notice to the adjacent property owner. The adjacent property owner will 
have 30 days to pay the bill without interest or penalty. If the adjacent property owner 
doesn’t pay the bill in 30 days, the cost of repair will be applied to the property owners’ 
property taxes and spread over 5 years with interest.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $62,813.08. 
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or at the Engineering Division of the Department of 
Community Development. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works  
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

417

Item 30.



ITEM UNIT TOTAL

NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 REMOVE SIDEWALK, P.C.C. S.Y. $20.00 687.0 $13,739.33

2 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH S.Y. $55.00 573.5 $31,544.94

3 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH S.Y. $54.00 113.42 $6,124.80

4 TOPSOIL, FURNISH AND SPREAD S.F. $80.00 49.90 $3,992.00

5 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING S.F. $1.00 2412.0 $2,412.00

6 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

$62,813.08

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT

Base Bid 

BID TABULATION

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

CITY PROJECT NO. SW - 000 - 3237

418

Item 30.



1 

 

 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR 

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT 

PROJECT 
 

Project SW-000-3237 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
____________________________  Date: 7/1/2021 
David Wicke, P.E.      Iowa License No. 25684 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1 thru 25. 

 

 

 

419

Item 30.



2 

 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

    Page Number 
 

TITLE SHEET  1 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 2 to 3 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5 to 6 
 

DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 7 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 7 to 8 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 8 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 8 to 9 
Form of Proposal 10 to 11 
Bid Bond  13 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 14 
Bidder Status Form                                                                                     15  
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business                                         16 
Form of Contract 17 to 18 

 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 19 
02 Availability of Site 19 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 19 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 20 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 20 
06 Contract Time 20 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 20 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 20 
09 Liquidated Damages 21 
10 Progress Payments 21 
11 Pollution Prevention Plan                                                               21 to 22 
12 Method of Measurement 23 
13 Basis of Payment 24 

 

420

Item 30.



3 

 
 

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC  IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 
(SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” 

 

Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards   

 

DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
SUPPLEMENTAL SPECIFICATIONS - BID ITEMS 25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

421

Item 30.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards


4 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 

FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 
 

TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated 

total Cost for the construction of the 2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 19th day of July, 2021, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract and estimated total cost are now on file 

in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be inspected by 

any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract, or the estimated cost 

of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.         

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
 
    By: _______________________________ 
          Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 
     City Clerk 
 
 

422

Item 30.



5 

 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT  

IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received for City Project 
Number SW-000-3237 at the City Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by 
the City Engineer or an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. 
on the 23rd day of July, 2021. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be opened 
and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 23rd day of July, 2021 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall, 220 
Clay Street Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls City Council at its meeting 
at 7:00 p.m. on the 2nd day of August, 2021 or at such later time and place as may be fixed. The 
City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. 
  
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract shall 
commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed and 
shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the project. All work shall be 
completed within thirty (30) working days. Working days will be accumulated concurrently from the 
date of the Notice to Proceed. 
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a proposal 
guaranty as defined in Division 1 Section 05.  
 
Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. Electronic contract 
documents will become available Wednesday, July 7th, 2021 at no cost by clicking on the “Bid 

Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment project 
from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost opinion, and plan holder information is also 
available at no cost at this website. Downloads require the user to register for a free membership at 
www.QuestCDN.com.  
 

Contact Brett Armstrong for any questions via phone: (319) 268-5161, fax: (319) 268-5197, or 

email: brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN reference number 7912538. 
 
If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract documents, 
the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either through mail, fax or 
email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for opening bids may not be 
answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
Brett Armstrong                                                                    
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com                                                       

423

Item 30.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/
http://www.questcdn.com/
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com


6 

Brett.Armstrong@cedarfalls.com 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an addendum duly 
mailed or delivered to each prospective bidder who received, or in the future requests, contracts 
documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. Oral and other 
interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as deemed advisable 
by Jurisdiction or the Engineer 
 

Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be given 

to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident bidder shall be allowed a preference as against a 
nonresident bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country gives or requires 
any preference to bidders from that state or foreign country, including but not limited to any 
preference to bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force preference, or any other form of 
preferential treatment to bidders or laborers from that state or foreign country. The preference 
allowed shall be equal to the preference given or required by the state or foreign country in which 
the nonresident bidder is a resident. In the instance of a resident labor force preference, a 
nonresident bidder shall apply the same resident labor force preference to a public improvement in 
this state as would be required in the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign 
country in which the nonresident bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid being 
deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 

Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of this project. 
Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as provided by Iowa 
Code Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
Project Description: This work shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete 
(PCC) sidewalk according to the plans and these specifications. 

 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
      CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
      BY: __________________________ 
       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 

                                         City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

424

Item 30.



7 

DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2021  Edition of the SUDAS and as further modified be the City of Cedar 
Falls’ Supplemental Specifications and the special provision included in the contract 
documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the documents are defined in said 
Standard Specifications. 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements.  Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents and 
to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your bid not to be read. 
 

01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Code of Iowa 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project 

Project No. SW-000-3237 
 

02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the Owners 
request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; A 
financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources to 
meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a satisfactory 
manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the approximate contract 
amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts which resulted in 
lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder indicating whether or not 
the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a like nature or magnitude;  A 
list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm or the employ of previous 

425

Item 30.



8 

firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed 
for bankruptcy; The technical experience of personnel guaranteed to be employed in 
responsible charge of the work stating whether the personnel have or have not performed 
satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature and magnitude or comparable difficulty at 
similar rate of progress; Such additional information as will assist the Owner in determining 
whether the bidder is adequately prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to 
qualifications of the bidder will be final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for an 
award. 
 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, specifications and proposal forms may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer .Plans specifications and proposal forms have been approved by the City Council 
and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
 

04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment in the performance of 
this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project shall be exempt from tax as 
provided by Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
 

05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The bid security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates).  Bid security shall be 
in the form of a cashier’s check, a certified check, or a bank money order drawn on a 
FDIC insured bank in Iowa or drawn on a FDIC insured bank chartered under the laws of 
the United States; or a certified share draft drawn on a credit union in Iowa or chartered 
under the laws of the United States; or a bid bond executed by a corporation authorized 
to contract as a surety in Iowa or satisfactory to the Jurisdiction.  The bid bond must be 
submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond forms are acceptable.  All 

426

Item 30.



9 

signatures on the bid bond must be original signatures in ink; facsimile (fax) of any 
signature on the bid bond is not acceptable.  Bid security other than said bid bond shall 
be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls”. 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks”, as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued by 
persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not acceptable 
bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on this proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or computer printed. 
The bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price, or the extension that has been provided 
for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa and 
the bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions, and 
units and their quantities. The bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars and 
cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in figures 
in a column provided for the purpose, and the total amount of the proposal obtained by 
adding the amounts of the several items. The form shall then conclude with the bidder's 
name, that of its representative and the representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal included 
herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and form, the name 
of the bidder and its official address, and the bidder's representative's name, signature and 
title. Also the total bid shall be completed with the entry of "see attached." 
 
The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the bid security and 
non-collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the return address of the bidder and shall 
be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project 

Project No. SW-000-3237 
 

427

Item 30.



10 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT 

PROJECT NO. SW-000-3237 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that _________________________ have personally and 

carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract annexed 

hereto.  Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to construct the 

improvements for the 2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT in accordance with the 

plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to 

Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of 

Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the 

satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the guaranteeing 

of this Project for a period of two (2) years from the date of final acceptance thereof at the 

following prices, to-wit: 

 

 

Item 

No. Description 

Item 

Quantity 

and Units 

Unit Price Amount 

    

1 
Remove Sidewalk, 
P.C.C. 

6182.7 S.Y. 
    

2 Sidewalk ,P.C.C.,   Class “C”,     
    4-Inch 

5161.9 S.Y. 
    

3 Sidewalk , P.C.C.,  Class “C”,     
    6-inch 

1020.8 S.Y. 
    

4 Topsoil, Furnish and Spread 49.81 C.Y. 
    

428

Item 30.



11 

5 Seeding, Fertilizing, and 
Mulching 

2554.0 S.F. 
    

6 Traffic Control 1.0 L.S. 
    

   

Total Bid 

    

429

Item 30.



12 

Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items constitute 
one indivisible work that will be let to one bidder. Bids shall be submitted for all of the items. The 
successful bidder will be determined by evaluating the Total Bid shown above. Failure to submit a 
bid on any item shall be just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled 
in ink, typed or computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to 
delete any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, nonconforming, 
nonresponsive, unbalanced, or conditional bids. The Owner further reserves the right to reject the 
bid of any bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry and evaluation, to be non-responsible. The 
Owner may also reject the bid of any bidder if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best 
interest of the project to make an award to that bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive 
all informalities not involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned within 
thirty (30) calendar days after the opening thereof, or any time thereafter before this bid is 
withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in the prescribed form and 
furnish the required bond within ten (10) calendar days after the Contract is presented to him for 
signature, and start work within ten (10) calendar days after "Notice to Proceed" is issued. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with the 
Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
  ______________ _____________ 
 

The bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 1001. 
Name of bidder 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

430

Item 30.



13 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," In the 
penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of the United 
States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, and 
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted the accompanying bid 
dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for ______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and shall 

furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor 
or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by 
the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and 
agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the penal amount of this 
obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of damages 
sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in the 
specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall be in 
no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or execute such 
contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them as 
are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper 
officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

                
 
 
 
 
 
 

431

Item 30.



14 

  NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           

 PROJECT NO. SW-000-3237 
 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of ______________          
  (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all pertinent 
circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, employees or 
parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or 
indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in connection with the Contract 
for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in connection with such Contract, or has 
in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication or conference with any 
other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any 
overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any 
person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, representatives, 
owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

 

 

432

Item 30.



15 

 

 

433

Item 30.



16 

 
 

 

 
 

434

Item 30.



17 

FORM OF CONTRACT 

 
This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment and 

construct the public improvement consisting of:  2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT, 

Project No. SW-000-3237 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be constructed by the 

City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly passed on the 6
th
 day of July, 

2021 and shown and described in the Plans and Specifications therefore now on file with the 

City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. SW-000-3164 

attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out herein 

verbatim: 

a. Resolution of Necessity 
b. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
c. Plans 
d. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
e. Notice to Bidders 
f. Instructions to Bidders 
g. Supplemental Conditions 
h. General Conditions 
i. Project Specifications 
j. Form of Proposal 
k. Performance Bond 
l. Maintenance Bond 
m. Form of Contract 

435

Item 30.



18 

n. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 
o. Bidder Statues Form and Worksheet 
 

On completion of the said improvement, the Owner agrees to pay to the Contractor the prices 

set out in the Form of Proposal of the Contractor, said payment to be made in the manner 

stated in the published Notice to Bidders. 

In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first herein 

written.   

 
 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

436

Item 30.



19 

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 

01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The lowest responsive bidder shall be required to furnish a performance, payment and 
maintenance bond in the sum equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the total bid. The 
maintenance bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of two 
(2) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate their 
operations with those of other Contractors working within the same area of the following 
project: 
 

1) Public Works garbage collection operations 
2) Street Reconstruction/Restoration - 2021 
3) Cedar Falls Util. Co. electrical, communications, gas & water main projects 
 

 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least 48 hours prior to the need for survey stakes. 
The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey 
stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor shall be charged for 
the cost of replacing them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

437

Item 30.



20 

 

04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1070 – 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project 
(excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled 
to these sites. The Engineer shall review all disposal sites. Overhaul will not be measured or 
paid for but will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this 
project. 
 

05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty percent 
(50%) of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Item designated as a specialty 
item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such specialty item as performed 
by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before computing the amount of work 
required by the Contractor's organization. 
 

06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten calendar days after the date set forth in the 
written notice to proceed and shall be completed within thirty (30) working days of notice to 
proceed. 
 

07 Work Progress and Schedule 

 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.03: 

 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth of the working 
days, one-eighth of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half of the working 
days, three-eights of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths of the 
working days, the work shall be three-fourths completed, and the whole work shall be 
completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset.  

438

Item 30.



21 

 

09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of one hundred dollars ($300.00) per working day will be 
assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted after the expiration of the 
contract time. 
 

10 Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to Standard Specification Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1

st
) and third (3

rd
) 

Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be 
legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Tax and General 
Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City 
Council. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish vouchers showing that all 
subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 
materials and labor and that the City may retain the last month's payment for a period of 
ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that 
material, men and laborers have been paid. 
 

11 Pollution Prevention Plan 

 
1. Project Description 
 
This project shall consist of the installation of concrete sidewalks. This project 
encompasses Eighty Seven (87) various locations within the city.   

 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
All contractors and subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent 
contamination of storm water runoff, groundwater, and soils by hazardous material and / or 
pollutants caused by their operations or encountered in their work. All waste materials and 
supplies must be removed from the sites. If construction equipment maintenance or repair is 
performed on any site, provisions must be made to capture and remove any lubricants or 
other fluids. 
 
 
 

439

Item 30.



22 

The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by construction activities. 
 
The Contractor and every Subcontractor shall be responsible to the Owner to: 
 

1. Execute Contractor’s part of the pollution prevention plan as described. 
 

2. Conduct all work activities to not damage an existing erosion control measure or 
stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make repairs with 
no additional cost to the Owner. 
 

 3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control 
measures that may be needed during construction. 

 
3. Certification Statement  
 
 

N.P.D.E.S. CERTIFICATION 

PROJECT NO. SW – 000 - 3204 
 
The contractor certifies under penalty of law that they understand the terms and conditions of 
the general National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit that authorizes 
the storm water discharges associated with industrial activity from the construction site as part 
of this certification. Further, by signing and entering into contract for this work, the contractor 
understands that they are becoming a co-permittee, along with the owner(s) and other 
contractors and subcontractors, to the Iowa Department of Natural Resources NPDES 
General Permit No. 2 for “Storm Water Discharge Associated with Industrial Activity for 
Construction Activities” at the identified site. As co-permittee, the contractor understands that 
they and their company are legally required under the Clean Water Act and the Code of Iowa, 
to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the Storm Pollution Prevention Plan 
developed under this NPDES permit and the terms of this NPDES permit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

440

Item 30.



23 

12 Method of Measurement 
 
The Engineer shall measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the 2021 SIDEWALK  ASSESSEMENT PROJECT   in 
accordance with the 2021 edition of the Urban Standard Specifications for Public 
Improvements and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental 
Specifications, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 

Item No. 5 – Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching  
 

The area of Seeding, Fertilizing and Mulching will be computed in square feet from surface 
measurements of length and width. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

441

Item 30.



24 

13 Basis of Payment 

 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying 
the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on 
the proposal form in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as amended by the 
City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, except as 
amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 

Item No. 5 – Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching  
 

The area of Seeding, Fertilizing and Mulching will be computed in square feet from surface 
measurements of length and width. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

442

Item 30.



25 

DIVISION 4 - Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 
All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2021 Sidewalk 
Assessment Project in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the “URBAN STANDARD 
SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL” (SUDAS) as amended by the 
City of Cedar Falls’ Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 Edition of the URBAN 
STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS MANUAL, except as 
amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
 
 

Item No. 6 - Traffic Control 
 

Traffic control shall be measured on a lump sum basis as per I.D.O.T. Specification Section 
2528.12A1. 
 

443

Item 30.



444

Item 30.



445

Item 30.



446

Item 30.



447

Item 30.



448

Item 30.



449

Item 30.



450

Item 30.



451

Item 30.



452

Item 30.



453

Item 30.



454

Item 30.



455

Item 30.



456

Item 30.



457

Item 30.



458

Item 30.



459

Item 30.



460

Item 30.



461

Item 30.



462

Item 30.



463

Item 30.



464

Item 30.



465

Item 30.



466

Item 30.



467

Item 30.



468

Item 30.



469

Item 30.



470

Item 30.



471

Item 30.



472

Item 30.



473

Item 30.



474

Item 30.



475

Item 30.



476

Item 30.



477

Item 30.



478

Item 30.



479

Item 30.



480

Item 30.



481

Item 30.



482

Item 30.



483

Item 30.



484

Item 30.



485

Item 30.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Permeable Alley Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3252 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Permeable Alley Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, July 19th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Tuesday. July 27th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by July 7, 
2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on July 7, 2021 
allowing more than two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the installation of one full permeable alley, and one standard concrete alley 
in an area requiring a paved surface but unable to function as a permeable alley system. Work 
shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas; removal of driveway 
and sidewalk; subdrain; removal and replacement of PCC curb & gutter; placement of storage 
and filter aggregate; permeable interlocking clay brick paver installation, seeding, and concrete 
or gravel driveway replacement. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $107,175.00. The project will be 
funded by Street Construction Fund (SCF) and Storm Water Fund (STW) funding sources.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

486

Item 31.



1 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD CY 5.0 7.0 12.0 $50.00 $600.00

2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE CY 179.0 60.0 239.0 $15.00 $3,585.00

3 MODIFIED SUBBASE 12" SY 0.0 180.0 180.0 $18.00 $3,240.00

4 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" EACH 2.0 0.0 2.0 $500.00 $1,000.00

5 VALVE EXTENSION EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $175.00 $0.00

6 7" CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE LF 26.0 25.0 51.0 $50.00 $2,550.00

7 7" CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 5' WIDE LF 30.0 0.0 30.0 $100.00 $3,000.00

8 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY SY 49.0 30.0 79.0 $10.00 $790.00

9 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK SY 33.0 14.0 47.0 $10.00 $470.00

10 SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. SY 33.0 14.0 47.0 $90.00 $4,230.00

11 DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. SY 95.0 30.0 125.0 $80.00 $10,000.00

12 DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR, 1" ROADSTONE SY 19.0 21.0 40.0 $10.00 $400.00

13 REMOVAL OF CURB &GUTTER LF 56.0 25.0 81.0 $10.00 $810.00

14 ENGINEERING FABRIC SY 476.0 0.0 476.0 $5.00 $2,380.00

15 SUBDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED L.F. 280.0 0.0 280.0 $13.00 $3,640.00

16 SUBDRAIN, 8" PLASTIC PERFORATED LF 0.0 0.0 0.0 $15.00 $0.00

17 STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" SY 358.0 0.0 358.0 $15.00 $5,370.00

18 FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" SY 358.0 0.0 358.0 $10.00 $3,580.00

19 PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK SF 1,040.0 0.0 1,040.0 $12.00 $12,480.00

20 6" P.C.C. PAVEMENT SY 0.0 180.0 180.0 $60.00 $10,800.00

22 P.C.C. EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE SY 242.0 0.0 242.0 $65.00 $15,730.00

21 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 0.5 0.5 1.0 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

22 HYDRAULIC SEEDING SF 111.0 193.0 304.0 $2.00 $608.00

23 WATTLE, STRAW, 9" LF 1.0 1.0 2.0 $6.00 $12.00

24 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 1.0 1.0 2.0 $350.00 $700.00

25 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 1.0 1.0 2.0 $100.00 $200.00

26 MOBILIZATION LS 0.6 0.4 1.0 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

27 PATCH, HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 0.0 5.0 5.0 $200.00 $1,000.00

28 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $5,500.00 $0.00

29 INTAKE, TYPE B EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $5,500.00 $0.00

$62,567.00

$22,486.00

$107,175.00

ITEM 

NO.

TOTAL 

ESTIMATE

D 

QUANTITY

9TH - 10TH & 

MAIN -STATE

12TH -13TH & 

WASHINGTON 

-MAIN

UNITS

9TH - 10TH & MAIN -STATE ESTIMATED COST :

TOTAL PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST TOTAL :

12TH-13TH &WASHINGTON TO N. MAIN COST:l

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

PRICE

2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT

CITY PROJECT NO. ST-000-3252

PAVERS / P.C.C. PAVING / STORM SEWER

Estimate of Probable Cost

487

Item 31.



 1 

 

 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

For 

2021 Permeable Alley Project 

 

 
Project No. ST-000-3252 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
_________________________________  Date: _________   
.  DAVID A. WICKE, P.E.         Iowa License No.25664  
 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2022 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-30. 

 

 
 

488

Item 31.



 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-7 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 8 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 8-9 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 9 
04 Taxes  9 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 9-10 
Form of Proposal 11-13 
Bid Bond  14 
Bidder Status Form 15 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 
Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 
Notice to Proceed 24 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 25 
02 Availability of Site 25 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 25 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 26 
06 Contract Time 26 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 26 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 26 
09 Liquidated Damages 26 
10 Progress Payments 27 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 27-28 
12 Method of Measurement 28 
13 Basis of Payment 29 
 

489

Item 31.



 3 

 
DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 edition of the “STATEWIDE 
URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” (SUDAS) as the City’s 
Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 
Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS 
STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” 

 

 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards 
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 29-30 
 

 
 
  

490

Item 31.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards


 4 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE 2021  
PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT, CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated total Cost for the construction of the 2021 Permeable Alley Project in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 1st day of March, 2021, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract or the estimated 

total cost of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

    Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

491

Item 31.



 5 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 30th day 
of March, 2021. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 30th day of March, 2021 in the City Council Chambers 
at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls 
City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on April 15th, 2021 or at such later time and place as 
may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids.  
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract 
shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the 
project. Contractor shall reach substantial completion no later than September 17, 2021 and 
shall fully complete close-out of the project no later than November 5, 2021. In addition, the 
alleys shall be completed with the calendar days specified in the “06 Contract Time” within 
Division 2. Calendar day allotments only apply to each alley and any remaining calendar 
days on a given alley cannot be used on another alley.  
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a Bid 
Security as defined in the Instructions to Bidders - Division 1, Section 05. 
 
Performance and Payment Bonds: The successful Bidder shall furnish to the City a performance 
bond in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price, guaranteeing 
faithful performance of the contract and guaranteeing the completed project against defective 
workmanship and materials for a period of two (2) years from and after completion and 
acceptance by the City. The successful Bidder shall also provide a payment bond in an amount 
equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price guaranteeing payment of all persons 
supplying labor and materials, or both, in the execution of the work provided for in the contract.  

 
Contract Documents: Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have 
been approved by the City Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the 
City Clerk. Electronic contract documents will become available Tuesday, March 01, 2021 at no 
cost by clicking on the “Bid Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2021 
Permeable Alley project from the list. Project information, Engineer’s cost opinion, and plan 
holder information is also available at no cost at this website. Downloads require the user to 
register for a free membership at www.QuestCDN.com. If required, hard copies of the project 
documents may be obtained from the City Engineer’s office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 
50613. 
 
Contact Brett Armstrong for document distribution or any questions via phone: (319) 
268-5163, fax: (319) 268-5197, or email: brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com. QuestCDN 
reference number 6729030. 

492

Item 31.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/
http://www.questcdn.com/
mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com


 6 

If any prospective bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract 
documents, the bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, either 
through mail, fax or email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the date for 
opening bids may not be answered. 
 
Contact individuals shall be as follows: 
 
Brett Armstrong                                                                   
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       
brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com                                                 
 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an addendum 
duly mailed or delivered to each prospective bidder who received, or in the future requests, 
contracts documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by Addenda will be binding. 
Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as deemed 
advisable by Jurisdiction or the Engineer. 

 

Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will 

be given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference as 
against a nonresident Bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country 
gives or requires any preference to Bidders from that state or foreign country, including but 
not limited to any preference to Bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force 
preference, or any other form of preferential treatment to Bidders or laborers from that state 
or foreign country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or 
required by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident Bidder is a resident. In the 
instance of a resident labor force preference, a nonresident Bidder shall apply the same 
resident labor force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required in 
the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident Bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid 
being deemed nonresponsive; and be rejected. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax 

Exemption Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in 
the work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the installation of one full permeable alleys and a 
full P.C.C alleyway. Work shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley 
areas; removal of driveway and sidewalk; sub drain; removal and replacement of PCC curb 

493

Item 31.

mailto:brett.armstrong@cedarfalls.com


 7 

& gutter; placement of storage and filter aggregate; permeable interlocking clay brick paver 
installation, seeding, and concrete or gravel driveway replacement. 
 
Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
           Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

494

Item 31.



 8 

DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 
 
The work comprising the 2021 Permeable Alley Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2021 edition of the Statewide Urban Standard Specifications for 
Public Improvements (SUDAS) and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the SUDAS and the special provision 
included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the 
documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your Bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants,” in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution and insurance requirements. Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly, as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your Bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to the SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Iowa Code 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2021 Permeable Alley Project   Project No. ST-000-3252 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; The number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; A list of the property and equipment available to the bidder to 
evaluate if the bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; 
A financial statement of the bidder showing that the bidder has the financial resources 
to meet all obligations incidental to the work; The bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a 
satisfactory manner by the bidder; A list of projects presently under contract, the 
approximate contract amount and the percent of completion of each; A list of contracts 
which resulted in lawsuits; A list of contracts defaulted; A statement of the bidder 
indicating whether or not the bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a 
like nature or magnitude;  A list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm 

495

Item 31.



 9 

or the employ of previous firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in 
lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed for bankruptcy; The technical experience of 
personnel guaranteed to be employed in responsible charge of the work stating whether 
the personnel have or have not performed satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature 
and magnitude or comparable difficulty at similar rate of progress; Such additional 
information as will assist the Owner in determining whether the bidder is adequately 
prepared to fulfill the contract. Owner’s decision as to qualifications of the bidder will be 
final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from the City Engineer’s 
Office.  Plans, Specifications, and the Form of Proposal have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The Bid Security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The Bid Security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The Bid Bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other Bid Bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the Bid Bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the Bid Bond is not acceptable.  Bid Security other than 
said Bid Bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls.” 

496

Item 31.



 10 

 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks,” as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on the Form of Proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or 
computer printed. The Bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that 
has been provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the Bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the Bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions 
and units, and their quantities. The Bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 
figures in a column provided for each purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the cost extension for every bid item. The form shall then conclude 
with the Bidder's name, the legible printed name of its representative, and the 
representative's signature.  
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the Bidder and its official address, and the Bidder's representative's 
legible printed name, signature, and title. The “entry area for total bid” line on the 
supplied Form of Proposal shall also be completed with the entry of "see attached". 
 
The Form of Proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the Bid 
Security, Bidders Status Form, and Non-Collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the 
return address of the Bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2021 Permeable Alley Project    

Project No. ST-000-3252 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

497

Item 31.



 11 

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  

PROJECT NO. ST-000-3252 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY Project  in accordance 

with the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published 

Notice to Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the 

State of Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations, and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

and to the satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the 

guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from the date of final 

acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

 

ITEM 
NO. 

DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
UNIT 

PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

1 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 12   

2 
EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, 
ROADWAY WASTE 

C.Y. 239   

3 MODIFIED SUBBASE,  12” S.Y. 180   

4 
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, 
TYPE A-1,  6” 

EACH 2   

5 VALVE EXTENSION EACH 1   

6 
7” CURB & GUTTER, 
P.C.C.,  2.5’ WIDE 

L.F. 51   

7 
7” CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 5’ 
WIDE 

L.F. 30   

498

Item 31.



 12 

ITEM 
NO. 

DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
UNIT 

PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

8 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 79   

9 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 47   

10 SIDEWALK,  6” P.C.C. S.Y. 47   

11 DRIVEWAY,  6” P.C.C. S.Y. 125   

12 
DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR, 1” 
ROADSTONE 

S.Y. 40   

13 
REMOVAL OF CURB & 
GUTTER 

L.F. 81   

14 ENGINEERING FABRIC S.Y. 476   

15 
UNDERDRAIN 6’’PLASTIC 
PERFORATED TYPE S 

L.F. 280   

16 STORAGE AGGREGATE,  8” S.Y. 358  
 
 

 

17 FILTER AGGREGATE,  4” S.Y. 358   

18 
PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING 
PAVERS, CLAY BRICK 

S.F. 1040   

19 6”, P.C.C. PAVEMENT  S.Y. 180   

20 
P.C.C. EDGE RETRAINT, 6” 
CONCRETE SLAB, 4’ WIDE 

S.Y. 242   

21 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1   

22 HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 304   

23 WATTLE, STRAW,  9” L.F. 2   

24 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 2   

25 
INLET PROTECTION DEVICE 
MAINTENANCE 

EACH 2   

26 MOBILIZATION L.S. 1   

27 
PATCH, HMA(ST) SURFACE, 
½”, PG58-28S 

TONS 5   

  TOTAL BID  

 

499

Item 31.



 13 

 
 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one Bidder. Bids shall be submitted for 
all of the items (Items 1-26). The successful Bidder will be determined by evaluating the 
sum of correct unit price extensions. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be just 
cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed or 
computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to delete 
any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsive. The Owner may also reject the bid of any Bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that Bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within forty-five (45) calendar days after the bid opening thereof, or any 
time thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and 
deliver an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required Bond within ten 
(10) calendar days after the Contract is presented to Bidder for signature, and start work 
within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The Bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The Bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
 
The Bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

500

Item 31.



 14 

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 
 
 
 
 

501

Item 31.



 15 

 

502

Item 31.



 16 

503

Item 31.



 17 

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
PROJECT NO. ST-000-3252 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1) We are _______________________________________________________ of _________________ 

         (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

504

Item 31.



 18 

FORM OF CONTRACT 

 
This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and _______________________________________________ of 

__________________________________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY 

PROJECT, Project No. ST-000-3252 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 17th day of February 2021, and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. ST-000-

3252 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

 m. Bidder Status Form 

505

Item 31.



 19 

 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

506

Item 31.



 20 

Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           

 

 

 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 

  

 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 

____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 

who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 

be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 

presents. 

  

 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 

the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2021, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 

Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 

 

2021 Permeable Alley Project 

Paving / Pavers / Storm Sewer 

Project ST-000-3252 
 

and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in 

a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 

are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 

made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 

the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 

or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 

perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 

agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 
     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 

labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 

limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 

machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 

the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 

completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 

firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 

shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 

to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 

is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 
     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

507

Item 31.



 21 

 

A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 

under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 

of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 

in construction of said work; 

 

   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 

 

   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 

of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 

Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 

materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 

 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 

contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 

 

   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 

 

   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 

all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 

total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 

and  

 

    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 

an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 

the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 

The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 

notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 

on this Bond. 
     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 

including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 

and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 

equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorneys fees (including 

overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 

litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 

will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 

of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 

that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 

approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 

fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 

Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 

508

Item 31.



 22 

     

In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against any claim 

as to which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the enforcement 

of the promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or approved 

change orders, or in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and Surety in 

this Bond, the Contractor and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for all such 

outlay and expense, provided that the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not exceed 

125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  

In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 

thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the 

Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 

the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and 

expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be 

cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 

Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 

action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 

the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 

this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 

Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 

Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 

if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 

meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 

industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 

 

Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 

liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 

 

 

509

Item 31.



 23 

         Project No. ST-000-3252 

 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2021. 

 

  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 

 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 

  

 

 By:    _________________________________  

                                      Signature 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          

                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 

 

 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           

 

 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 

 

 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 

 

                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 

 

                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 

 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 

                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 

 

 

 

NOTE: 

  

 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 

signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 

 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 

 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 

 
 
 
 
 

510

Item 31.



 24 

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
TO: ______________________________ DATE: _________________________________ 
 
       ______________________________ PROJECT: 2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY 
               ST-000-3252 
       ______________________________          Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated 
___________________, 2021, within ten (10) calendar days of _____________________, 
2021 and you are to complete the WORK as follows: furnish all labor, material and 
equipment necessary for construction of the 2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT. 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after 
the date set forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and 
diligently through the duration of the project.  
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per calendar day will 
be assessed for each calendar day for each alley that is not substantially complete after the 
expiration of the contract time set forth.  The alley between 9

th
and 10

th
 Main-State st and 

12
th
 to 13

th
 Washington-Main st. shall be substantially completed by November 5, 2021. 

Liquidated damages in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per calendar day will 
be assessed for each calendar day that any work remains uncompleted after October18th, 
2021 (substantial completion).  Substantial completion shall mean that the alley’s are fully 
open to the general public with minor work (e.g. watering) to be completed without requiring 
closures. Contractor shall fully complete the close-out process no later than November 24, 
2021. If remaining punch list items remain after November 24, 2020, liquidated damages 
will go into effect in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per calendar day until 
completed.  
 
 
 
 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa______________ 
(OWNER) 

 
 

By_______________________________ 
 
Title______________________________ 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

511

Item 31.



 25 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and Covenants of the 

SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or supplemented remain in full force 

and effect. 

 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1030 – 1.03: 

 

The successful Bidder shall be required to furnish a Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond in the 

sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The Maintenance Bond shall guarantee the 

maintenance of the improvements for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from and after its completion and 

acceptance by the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.04: 

 

During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all operations with the 

Contractors or Contacts of the following projects and/or events: 

 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 

2) Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 

3) UNI Spring Classes End – May 7, 2021 

4) Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – June 1, 2021 

5) Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 25-27, 2021 

6) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 23, 2021 

7) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 24, 2021 

8) UNI Homecoming – October 16, 2021 

 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.10: 

 

The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least forty-eight hours prior to the need for survey stakes. The 

Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and marks and if any survey stakes or marks 

are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, Contractor shall be charged for the cost of replacing them. 

Contractor shall pay all said replacement cost(s) prior to the release of the final pay estimate. 

 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1070 – 2.13: 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess material which 

is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project (excavation or broken concrete). 

No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled to these sites. The Engineer will review all 

512

Item 31.



 26 

disposal sites, prior to their use, to determine acceptability. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but 

will be considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 

 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.01: 

 

The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty (50%) percent of 

the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Any item designated as a Specialty Item may be 

performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such Specialty Item as performed by subcontract may be 

deducted from the total cost before computing the amount of work required by the Contractor's 

organization. Any items that have been selected as a Specialty Item for the contract are listed as such in 

the Special Provisions. 

 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.02: 

 

The work on the Contract shall commence ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written 

Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within the dates as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 

 

Construction for this project shall be substantially completed by November 5
th
, 2021 and the project, 

including punch list items, shall be completed and ready for final acceptance by November 24
th
, 2021. 

 

If an alley is not open to local traffic by the substantial completion day, liquidated damages of $800.00 

per day will be assessed.  

 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.03: 

 

The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth (1/4) of the working days, one-

eighth (1/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half (1/2) of the working days, three-

eighths (3/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of three-fourths (3/4) of the working days, 

the work shall be three-fourths (3/4) completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration 

of the working days. 

 
08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.06: 

 

Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset. Work on Sundays and Holiday’s shall only 

be allowed after prior written approval by the Engineer. 

 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.12: 

 

Liquidated damages in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per calendar day will be assessed 

for work not completed within the designated contract term as described in the Notice to Proceed. 

513

Item 31.



 27 

 
10 Progress Payments and Vouchers 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1090 – 1.01: 

 

Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1
st
) and third (3

rd
) Mondays 

of each month. 

 

Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may be legally used 

for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Sales Tax and General Obligation Bonds. 

Any other combination of funds may be used at the discretion of the City Council. 

 

See Division 2 – Special Provisions Section 06 – Contract time for liquidated damages for Intermediate 

calendar days. 

 

Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish lien waivers with original signatures showing 

that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for such 

materials and labor. The City may retain the last pay estimate for a period of ninety (90) calendar days 

following such completion and approval, unless satisfied that materials and labor have been fully paid for. 

Electronic signatures will be accepted on lien waivers. 

 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
 
1. Site Description 

 

The proposed 2021 Permeable Alley Project involves the construction of one permeable paver alley and 

one P.C.C. alley . The construction shall include a combination of excavation and backfill in the alleys, 

P.C.C. installation, paver installation, new storm sewer with connections to new intakes, curb and gutter 

installation, and seeding.  

 

Upon removal of pavement in any area, underground construction begins immediately, and construction 

proceeds continuously until that work section is re-opened to traffic. All areas included in the project are 

designed with positive drainage to the existing storm sewer system that eventually drains into a branch of 

the Dry Run Creek and then to the Cedar River.  

 

The Project plan set has details that are incorporated as a part of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention 

Plan. The Project plan set shows the intended construction staging plan and details of the erosion control 

measures to be included in this project. No data is recorded regarding quality of runoff from the project 

area(s).  

 

2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 

 

Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging plan as included 

in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement during construction is by 

minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a designated staging plan. Sediment filters shall be 

installed on intake wells in sump locations and at the low point of each construction stage. Silt dams shall 

be installed at the low point of a construction stage where necessary to prevent silt from migrating off 

site. Sediment filters shall also be placed on finished intake openings until all designated areas are sodded 

or have been paved.   

 

514

Item 31.



 28 

Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding or seeding as shown in the Project plan as soon as 

practical after completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the placement of the topsoil. The Contractor 

shall be responsible for installation and maintenance of all erosion control measures as described in the 

Project plan. The Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to Subcontractors as Contractor 

chooses. 

 

All Contractors/Subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent contamination of storm 

water runoff, groundwater and soils by hazardous material and/or pollutants caused by their operations or 

encountered in their work. All waste building material and supplies must be removed from the site and 

disposed of legally. If construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, provisions 

must be made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids and dispose of legally. 

 

The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material contamination 

either existing at the site or caused by any construction activities. 

 

Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the owner to: 

1. Execute Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s part of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 

as described. 

2. Conduct Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s activities to not damage any existing erosion 

control measure or stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall make 

repairs at no additional expense to the Owner. 

3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control measures that are 

needed during and at the conclusion of the work. 

 

3. Storm Water Management  

 

Storm water will be routed by means of permeable pavement, sub drain, and storm sewer. Sub drain will 

be used to channel water from the sub drain to the existing main storm sewer pipes. The storm sewer 

pipes will range in size.  Longitudinal sub-drains will be included along the centerline or off center of the 

alleys. The sub-drains will tie into the storm sewer pipes.  The aggregate storage layer will be 

hydraulically tied to the sub-drain aggregate envelope.  The storm water collection system is designed for 

the five (5 yr.) year storm event in accordance with local design standards. Temporary sediment basins 

are not incorporated because of the limited area exposed in each stage of construction. Sediment filters 

shall be incorporated in specific intakes to serve as sediment control structures during each stage. Storm 

water runoff volumes will not increase, and should decrease, as the final result of the permeable alley 

project. Storm water runoff shall be managed during construction to minimize erosion. 

 

4. Reporting and Updates 

 

The Owner or a representative is to insure compliance with the plans and will carry out regular 

inspections. Owner designated and qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site 

that have not reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. Owner will be 

responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will make determination of 

Contractors compliance with the plan and may direct additional measures to be taken by any Contractor. 

When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, 

corrective action shall be taken. Revisions and modifications shall be made to the control facilities as 

needed. 

 
12 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 

515

Item 31.



 29 

The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as specified in the 

contract documents for the  2021 Permeable Alley Project No. ST-000-3252 in accordance with the 2021 

edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental 

Specifications to the 2021 edition of the SUDAS. 

 

13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by multiplying the item 

quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit price as bid on the Form of Proposal 

in accordance with the 2021 edition of the SUDAS Specifications and as further amended by the City of 

Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the SUDAS. 

 
 

 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 

 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2021 Permeable Alley 

Project in accordance with the 2021 Edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the City of Cedar 

Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or 

supplemented as follows: 

 

Item No. 13 – Engineering Fabric 

The contractor shall install geotextile fabric in the areas as noted in the construction plans and 

specifications. This material is to be used to separate the fines in the sub-base from the previous aggregate 

base. The Contractor shall use geotextiles that are in conformance with Iowa D.O.T. Specification 4196 

using the “Subsurface Drainage Table”. Materials IM 496.01 shall also apply for this bid item. Approved 

manufacturers and brand names are as listed in Materials IM 496.01, 5. Appendix A. 

 

1. Contractor shall place geotextile fabric on the bottom and sides of the soil subgrade. Contractor 

shall secure the geotextile fabric in place to prevent wrinkling from vehicle tires and tracks on 

equipment. 

2. Contractor shall over-lap the geotextile fabric a minimum of twelve (12“) inches in the direction 

of drainage. 

3. Contractor shall lay the geotextile fabric over the edges of the subgrade to prevent fines from 

washing into the pervious aggregate base. 

 

Item No. 19 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 

This bid item is for the furnishing and placement of permeable clay brick pavers. Pavers shall be a 

permeable clay brick paver by Belden Brick Company or approved equivalent. Paver color shall be 

Regimental Red and paver color sample shall be incidental to bid item. Pavers shall meet or exceed the 

requirements of ASTM standard C 1272; heavy vehicular paving brick. See the ASTM standard for 

additional requirements. Placement of the permeable pavers shall be as shown in the detail(s) in the 

construction documents. The permeable pavers shall be placed in a Herringbone pattern. 

 

Contractor’s placement of the permeable clay pavers shall be as follows: 

A. Where pavers are placed against a curb and gutter or other pavement, installation of an edge 

course or soldier course is required if the pavement edge is not straight. Trim pavers as required 

to compensate for deviations in the adjacent pavement edge. Do not cut pavers to less than 1/3 

their original size.  

B. Install PCC edge restraint.  

C. Place chalk lines on the bedding course to maintain straight joint lines.  

516

Item 31.



 30 

D. After pavers have been installed on the bedding course, and all cut pavers have been inserted to 

provide a full and complete surface, inspect pavers for damaged units and irregular joint lines. 

Remove and replace pavers as required.  

E. After inspection and replacement of damaged pavers, fill joint openings with bedding stone. 

Sweep the surface clean.  

F. Compact pavement surface with two passes of a vibratory plate compactor capable of at least 

5,000 pounds centrifugal compaction force. Do not operate plate compactor within 6 feet of an 

unrestrained pavement edge.  

G. Re-inspect pavers, and remove and replace all damaged units. Refill joint openings completely. 

Sweep pavers clean. Complete compaction with two passes of the plate compactor.  

H. Refill all paver joint openings with bedding aggregate 6 months after installation. 

 

Quality control Standards shall be as followed: 

A. Ensure horizontal alignment of the PCC edge restraint is within 1/2 inch of design alignment.  

B. Ensure final surface is within 3/8 inch when tested with a 10 foot straightedge.  

C. Ensure no greater than 1/8 inch difference in height between adjacent pavers.  

D. Maintain surface elevation within 1/4 inch above adjacent drainage inlets, gutters, and other 

appurtenances. 

 

Item No. 20 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Wide 

Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. Subgrade preparation, 

compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered 

incidental to the bid item. Concrete collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. Horizontal 

alignment requirement shall be per SUDAS section 7080-3.10-A. 

 

Item No. 22 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture)  

The subgrade area shall be free of debris and rocks; and raked smooth before applying the hydraulic 

mulch/seed mix. The seed type shall be Type 1, permanent lawn mixture. The Contractor shall follow 

SUDAS Specification 9010.305 for the site preparation and the application procedure.  

517

Item 31.



518

Item 31.



519

Item 31.



520

Item 31.



521

Item 31.



522

Item 31.



523

Item 31.



524

Item 31.



525

Item 31.



526

Item 31.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 24, 2021 

SUBJECT:      Agreement for Private Development – CV Commercial, L.L.C. 
    
 
Staff would like to request that a public hearing be scheduled for July 19, 2021 to 
address a proposed Agreement for Private Development with CV Commercial, L.L.C. 
The proposed project would consist of the construction of an approximately 31,200 
square foot commercial/residential mixed use building on the property, which will create 
new commercial and residential opportunities within the College Hill area. Additional 
information pertaining to this project and corresponding agreement terms will be 
provided to City Council prior to the public hearing.   
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
  
 
         
        
 
 
 

527

Item 32.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING TO 

CONSIDER ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED AGREEMENT FOR 

PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, AND CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17,348, adopted February 14, 2011, and amended by 

Amendment No. 1, approved by Resolution 21,832 on January 6, 2020, this Council found and 

determined that certain areas located within the City are eligible and should be designated as an urban 

renewal area under Iowa law, and approved and adopted the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (the 

"Plan") for the College Hill Urban Renewal Area (the "Urban Renewal Area" or "Area") described 

therein, which Plan is on file in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Area be redeveloped as part of the overall 

redevelopment area covered by said Plan; and 

 

WHERAS, the City has received a proposal from CV Commercial, LLC (the "Developer"), in 

the form of a proposed Development Agreement (the "Agreement") by and between the City and the 

Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain 

Minimum Improvements (as defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the 

College Hill Urban Renewal Area at 2119 College Street in Cedar Falls, Iowa as further defined and 

legally described in the Agreement and consisting of the construction of an approximately 31,200 square 

foot commercial/residential mixed use building on the Development Property, together with all related 

site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City will make up to five (5) consecutive 

annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer in the form of a percentage of Tax 

Increments generated from the construction of the Minimum Improvements, the cumulative total for all 

such payments not to exceed the lesser of $593,937, or the amount accrued under the formula outlined in 

the proposed Development Agreement, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set 

forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize cities to 

make grants for economic development and blight remediation in furtherance of the objectives of an 

528

Item 32.



urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds and make such expenditures as may be necessary to 

carry out the purposes of said Chapter, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Agreement is in the best interests of the City 

and the residents thereof and that the performance by the City of its obligations thereunder is a public 

undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that 

the Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 

development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 15A and 403 of the 

Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein; and 

 

WHEREAS, neither the Urban Renewal Law nor any other Code provision sets forth any 

procedural action required to be taken before said economic development activities can occur under the 

Agreement, and pursuant to Section 364.6 of the Code of Iowa, it is deemed sufficient if the action 

hereinafter described be taken and the City Clerk publish notice of the proposal and of the time and 

place of the meeting at which the Council proposes to take action thereon and to receive oral and/or 

written objections from any resident or property owner of said City to such action.   

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development with the 

Developer pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 19th day of July, 2021, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

to consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development between the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, and CV Commercial, L.L.C., on certain terms as set forth in the proposed Agreement.  A 

copy of the proposed Agreement is on file in the Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is 

hereby directed to publish said notice of said public hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2021. 

 

 

 

  

  Robert M. Green, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

529

Item 32.



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2021. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2021. 

  

 

 

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

530

Item 32.



 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS IN THE STATE OF IOWA, ON THE 

MATTER OF THE PROPOSAL TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT 

FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT WITH CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C., 

AND THE HEARING THEREON 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE is hereby given that the Council of the City of Cedar Falls in the State of 

Iowa, will hold a public hearing on July 19, 2021, at 7:00 P.M. in the Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 

Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at which meeting the Council proposes to take action on the proposal to 

enter into an Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") with CV Commercial, L.L.C. (the 

"Developer"). 

 

The Agreement would obligate the Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as 

defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the College Hill Urban Renewal Area as 

defined and legally described in the Development Agreement, consisting of the construction of an 

approximately 31,200 square foot commercial/residential mixed use building on the property, together 

with all related site improvements, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set forth 

in the Agreement.  

 

The Agreement would further obligate the City to make up to five (5) consecutive annual 

payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer consisting of 100% of the Tax Increments 

pursuant to the Iowa Code Section 403.19 and generated by the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, the cumulative total for all such payments not to exceed the lesser of $593,937, or the 

amount accrued under the formula outlined in the proposed Development Agreement, under the terms and 

following satisfaction of the conditions set forth in the Agreement. 

 

A copy of the Agreement is on file for public inspection during regular business hours in the 

office of the City Clerk, City Hall, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

At the above meeting the Council shall receive oral or written objections from any resident or 

property owner of said City, to the proposal to enter into the Agreement with the Developer.  After all 

objections have been received and considered, the Council will at this meeting or at any adjournment 

thereof, take additional action on the proposal or will abandon the proposal to authorize said Agreement. 

 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls in the State of Iowa, as 

provided by Section 364.6 of the City Code of Iowa. 

 

Dated this 6th day of July, 2021. 

 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

By: Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

531

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Updates to City Code Section 23-300  
  Lawful Speed Limits Established 
  Viking Road  
 
 
After the completion of the newly designed and constructed portion of Viking Road at 
Highway 58, the intended speed limit through the updated corridor from Hudson Road 
to Prairie Parkway is 35 mph. Now that construction has been completed by the Iowa 
Department of Transportation and their contractor, the posted speed on Viking Road will 
need to be updated from Prairie Parkway to Hudson Road. The existing corridor West of 
Prairie Parkway will remain as currently posted at 45 mph.   
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-300, Lawful 
Speed Limits Established, to align the code to match what has been designed and 
constructed. Please see the attached redline changes for City Code Section 23-300, 
Lawful Speed Limits Established.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval of setting the speed limit to 35 mph on 
Viking Road from Prairie Parkway to the West City Limits and setting the speed limit to 
45 mph on Viking Road from Cedar Heights to Prairie Parkway.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask. 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  
 

532

Item 33.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Matthew Tolan, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Phone: (319) 268-5161 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE ENUMERATED SPEED LIMIT ON 
VIKING ROAD AS 35 MILES PER HOUR FROM THE WEST CITY LIMITS TO 
PRAIRIE PARKWAY AND 45 MILES PER HOUR FROM PRAIRIE PARKWAY 
TO CEDAR HEIGHTS DRIVE, IN SECTION 23-300, LAWFUL SPEED LIMITS 
ESTABLISHED, OF DIVISION 5, SPEED, OF ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF 
CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY REPEALING 
SUBSECTION 10(U), AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 10(U) IN LIEU 
THEREOF; AND REPEALING SUBSECTION 12(U) AND ENACTING A NEW 
SUBSECTION (12)(U) IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. Subsection 10(u) and Subsection 12(u) of Section 23-300, Lawful speed limits 

established, of Division 5, Speed, of Article III, Operation, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor 
Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby amended by 
repealing said Subsections in their entirety and enacting in lieu thereof new Subsections 10(u) 
and 12(u), as follows: 

 
Sec. 23-300. - Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this chapter or other city ordinances and appropriately 
posted, the speed limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in 
excess thereof shall be unlawful. 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

   (10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated: 
 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 
 

 u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Prairie Parkway west to 
the west city limits. 

 

533

Item 33.



2 

 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 
 

(12)  45 miles per hour.  45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      u. Viking Road, from the east line of Prairie Parkway east to its intersection with 

Cedar Heights Drive. 
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
 
 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     ____________    
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:   ____________    
 
ADOPTED:      ____________    
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                             Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

534

Item 33.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 23-300. Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this division or other city ordinances and appropriately posted, the speed 
limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in excess thereof shall be unlawful.  

(1) Parks, cemeteries and alleys. 15 miles per hour in any park, cemetery or public alley.  

(2) Business districts. 20 miles per hour in any business district.  

(3) Industrial districts. 25 miles per hour in any industrial district.  

(4) Residence districts; school districts. 25 miles per hour in any residence or school district.  

(5) Suburban districts. 45 miles per hour in any suburban district.  

(6) Fifteen miles per hour. 15 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. Clay Street, from West Third Street north to West Second Street.  

b. Pheasant Drive, for a distance of 210 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and 
for a distance of 200 feet west of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

(7) Twenty miles per hour. 20 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Waterloo Road, from its intersection with 14th Street northwesterly to the intersection of Bluff Street 
and East 13th Street.  

(8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. 27th Street (West), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 1,800 feet.  

b. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive west to the west end of the street.  

c. Center Street, from its intersection with First Street to a point 300 feet north of First Street.  

d. Center Street, from a point 200 feet south of its intersection with Green Avenue north to a point 
200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz Avenue.  

e. Chancellor Drive, from Viking Road south to Ridgeway Avenue.  

f. Cottage Row Road, from Center Street south to a point 800 feet west of the south end of the 
Snag Creek Bridge.  

g. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road east to Chancellor Drive.  

h. Wal-Mart Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

i. Westminster Drive, from Viking Road north and east to Nordic Drive.  

(9) 30 miles per hour. 30 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from Main Street east to a point 850 feet east of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 520 feet east of Main Street west to Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Main Street west to Highland Drive.  

d. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive east to the east end of the street.  

e. Main Street (South), from University Avenue south to Orchard Drive.  

f. Prairie Parkway, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

g. Winterberry Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

535

Item 33.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated:  

a. 12th Street (West), from a point 425 feet west of the Carriage Lane intersection with West 12th 
Street to a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 12th Street.  

b. 18th Street (East), from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

c. 27th Street (West), from a point 1,800 feet west of Hudson Road west to a point 4,000 feet west 
of Hudson Road.  

d. Big Woods Road, from Lake Street north to the north city limits.  

e. Cedar Heights Drive, from its intersection with University Avenue to a point 1,200 feet south of 
University Avenue.  

f. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street north to a point 200 feet south of its 
intersection with Green Avenue, and from a point 200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz 
Avenue north to the north city limits.  

g. Cottage Row Road, from 800 feet west of the south end of the Snag Creek Bridge west to the end 
of said road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with Center Street east to its intersection with U. S. 
Highway 218.  

i. Greenhill Road, from Hudson Road west and north to West 27th Street.  

j. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue north to its 
intersection with First Street.  

k. Independence Avenue, from Lincoln Street north to Big Woods Road.  

l. Lake Street, from a point 600 feet east of Central Avenue east to U.S. Highway 218.  

m. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Jefferson Street east to its intersection with Vermont 
Street.  

n. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

o. Main Street, from 13th Street to University Avenue, inclusive.  

p. Main Street (South), from Orchard Drive south to the end of the street.  

q. Production Drive, from Viking Road west and south to Technology Parkway.  

r. Rainbow Drive, from its intersection with Waterloo Road east to the city limits.  

s. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road west to the west end of the street.  

t. University Avenue, from Hudson Road east to the east city limits.  

u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Hudson Road Prairie Parkway west to the 
west city limits.  

v. Waterloo Road, from its intersection with East 14th Street southeasterly to its intersection of 
University Avenue.  

w. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road east to Iowa Highway 58.  

(11) 40 miles per hour. 40 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Reserved.  

(12) 45 miles per hour. 45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

536

Item 33.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 850 feet east of Main Street to a point 1,520 feet east 
of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 1,200 feet east of Main Street west to a point 520 feet 
east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Highland Drive west to a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive.  

d. 12th Street (West), from a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 
12th Street to the west city limits.  

e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,000 feet west of Hudson Road west to the west city limits.  

f. Cedar Heights Drive, from a point 1,200 feet south of University Avenue south to the city limits.  

g. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street to Cottage Row Road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with U. S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

i. Fitkin Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

j. Ford Road, from its intersection with Fitkin Road south to Lone Tree Road.  

k. Greenhill Road, from its intersection with Hudson Road to the east city limits.  

l. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue south to the south 
city limits.  

m. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue south to the south city limits.  

n. Lake Street, from U.S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

o. Leversee Road (West half), from a point one-quarter mile north of Lincoln Street to the north city 
limits.  

p. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Vermont Street easterly to the city limits.  

q. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Center Street to Leversee Road.  

r. Main Street (South), from Viking Road south to the city limits.  

s. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road west to the western city limits.  

t. Union Road, from the south city limits to West 1st Street.  

u. Viking Road, from the east city limits to the east line of Hudson Road line of Prairie Parkway east 
to its intersection with Cedar Heights Drive. 

v. Ridgeway Avenue, from Iowa Highway 58 east to the eastern city limits.  

(13) 50 miles per hour. 50 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (West), from a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive west to Union Road.  

b. Union Road, from West First Street north to the north city limits.  

(14) 55 miles per hour. 55 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 1,520 feet east of Main Street east to a point 700 feet 
east of the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 
58 southbound overpass.  

537

Item 33.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 600 feet west of the midpoint between the Iowa 
Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass west to a point 
1,200 feet east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Union Road west to the west city limits.  

d. Iowa Highway 58, from a point 1,300 feet north of its intersection with Greenhill Road south to 
its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue.  

e. University Avenue, from a point 3,100 feet west of its intersection with Hudson Road to the west 
city limits.  

(15) 60 miles per hour. 60 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East), from its intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 
northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass east a distance of 700 feet.  

b. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with First Street south to a point 1,300 feet north of its 
intersection with Greenhill Road.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from a point 2,000 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln 
Street south to its intersection with First Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from its intersection with First Street north to a point 410 feet 
north of its intersection with Lincoln Street.  

(16) 65 miles per hour. 65 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 700 feet east of its intersection with the midpoint 
between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound 
overpass east to the east city limits.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from the east city limits west to a point 600 feet east of its 
intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa 
Highway 58 southbound overpass.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from the north city limits south to a point 2,000 feet north of its 
intersection with Lincoln Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from a point 410 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln Street 
north to the north city limits.  

(Code 2017, § 26-207; Ord. No. 1935, §§ 2, 3, 2-25-1991; Ord. No. 1981, §§ 1—5, 7-13-1992; Ord. No. 1982, § 1, 7-
13-1992; Ord. No. 2002, §§ 1, 2, 1-11-1993; Ord. No. 2005, §§ 1, 2, 2-22-1993; Ord. No. 2116, §§ 2, 3, 9-11-1995; 
Ord. No. 2199, § 1, 8-11-1997; Ord. No. 2238, §§ 1, 2, 6-22-1998; Ord. No. 2244, § 2, 10-12-1998; Ord. No. 2314, §§ 
1, 2, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2315, §§ 1—5, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2325, §§ 1—3, 2-12-2001; Ord. No. 2358, §§ 1—3, 
11-26-2001; Ord. No. 2402, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2403, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2440, §§ 1, 2, 7-14-
2003; Ord. No. 2451, §§ 1—3, 9-22-2003; Ord. No. 2543, §§ 1, 2, 8-22-2005; Ord. No. 2589, §§ 1—6, 7-10-2006; 
Ord. No. 2601, §§ 1, 2, 9-25-2006; Ord. No. 2704, §§ 1—3, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2732, § 1, 2-28-2011; Ord. No. 
2767, §§ 1—4, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2772, §§ 1, 2, 7-23-2012; Ord. No. 2835, §§ 1, 2, 2-2-2015; Ord. No. 2898, §§ 1, 
2, 3-20-2017; Ord. No. 2917, §§ 1, 2, 2-19-2018; Ord. No. 2927, 6-18-2018; Ord. No. 2957, §§ 1—3, 11-4-2019) 

 

538

Item 33.



539

Item 34.



540

Item 34.



541

Item 34.



542

Item 34.



543

Item 34.



544

Item 34.



545

Item 34.



546

Item 34.



547

Item 34.



548

Item 34.



549

Item 34.



550

Item 34.



551

Item 34.



552

Item 34.



553

Item 34.



554

Item 34.



555

Item 34.



556

Item 34.



557

Item 34.



558

Item 34.



559

Item 34.



560

Item 34.



561

Item 34.



562

Item 34.



563

Item 34.



564

Item 34.



565

Item 34.



566

Item 34.



567

Item 34.



568

Item 34.



569

Item 34.



570

Item 34.



571

Item 34.



572

Item 34.



573

Item 34.



574

Item 34.



575

Item 34.



576

Item 34.



577

Item 34.



578

Item 34.



579

Item 34.



580

Item 34.



581

Item 34.



582

Item 34.



583

Item 34.



584

Item 34.



585

Item 34.



586

Item 34.



587

Item 34.



588

Item 34.



589

Item 34.



590

Item 34.



591

Item 34.



592

Item 34.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of June 21, 2021
	2106021MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation - Ironman Battalion Day
	2021-07_11_133dIronmanBattalionDay

	Item 3.	PH-CDBG & HOME Consortium-Annual Plan FY22 (FFY21)
	1. Council memo hold PH 7-6-21
	FFY 2021 Annual Action Plan (Draft 6-9-2021).V5 CLEAN

	Item 4.	PH-West 27th Street Reconstruction Project
	1. Revised Memo West 27th Recon PH
	2. W 27th RIGHT-OF-WAY-EXHIBIT-OVERALL

	Item 5.	PH-Cyber Lane Extension
	1. PH Memo - Cyber Lane
	2. EOPC_2021-06-02_CyberLane_FINAL

	Item 6.	Mayor's Monthly Report
	2021-06-30_MayorMonthlyReport

	Item 7.	Resignations
	Winter Resignation-CFHTF Board
	ACB-Corkery Resignation

	Item 8.	Work Session Minutes-June 21, 2021
	06-21-21 Work Session Minutes

	Item 9.	Committee of the Whole Minutes - June 21, 2021
	210621 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes

	Item 10.	Departmental Monthly Report
	05- May 2021 Monthly Report Memo-Gaines
	05-May 2021 Dept Monthly Report - for finalization

	Item 11.	Certified Lists
	EquipOperator-CertList6-2021
	PublicSafetySupr-Capt CertList6-2021
	PublicSafetySupr-Lt CertList6-2021

	Item 12.	Liquor Beer 7-6-21
	Liquor Beer 7-6-21

	Item 13.	Final Assessment - 2013 Maplewood
	2013 Maplewood Drive-Assessment

	Item 14.	CFU Transfer
	CFU transfer council cover memo.mem
	CFU Transfer

	Item 15.	JAG Grant
	JAG grant memo to council 2021
	1738_001

	Item 16.	Cooperative Agreement – Use of Cedar Falls School Pools
	1 - Memo - School pools 21-22
	2 - Pool MOA &#39;21-&#39;22

	Item 17.	HOME Rehab-210 C2 Balboa-Contracts
	1. Council memo-HOME projects July 2021
	2. 1-21-686 210 C2 Balboa Ave. contract

	Item 18.	HOME Rehab-2512 Cedar Heights Dr-Contract
	1-21-687 2512 Cedar Heights Dr. contract

	Item 19.	Easement on Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II
	1. Accept easeement for lot 3
	2. Easement for lot 3

	Item 20.	Amendment-Deed of Dedication-Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase II
	1. Amend DoD for PPCS 2
	2. Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South Phase 2
	3.  amendment to DOD Phase II

	Item 21.	Preliminary Plat - Pinnacle Prairie
	1. Pinn Phase V CC corected
	2.  ZoningLocationMap
	3. Prelim plat
	4. final plat
	5. surveyor&#39;s certificate
	6. DOD
	7. Easement for lot 3

	Item 23.	Hwy-1 Clinic Site Plan-5909 Prairie Pkwy
	1_staff report to CC 7-6-21
	2.  ZoningLocationMap
	3. 2021_0602 UPC_CFViking Civil Approval
	4. Cedar Falls Express Clinic_Color Elevations &amp; Renderings

	Item 24.	Hwy-1 Site Plan-703 Brandilynn
	1_staff report to CC
	2.  ZoningLocationMap
	3. 2021_0614 Retail on Brandilynn-Submittal 3
	4. Landscape 703 Brandilynn
	5. Lot 3 Retail Center Exterior Materials 6.14.21

	Item 25.	Mini Excavator Purchase
	mini X equipment cc memo

	Item 26.	M&R Agreement - Strickler Properties Warehouse
	1. Memo
	2. MRA

	Item 27.	Contract-W 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Ext
	1. Memo - Contracts for W. 27th Street Sanitary
	2. Form of Contract
	3. PPM Bond
	4. Certificate of Insurance
	5. Form of Proposal

	Item 28.	Set PH-CDBG Sidewalk Infill
	1. PS&E Memo - 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill
	21 CDBG SIDEWALK PRELIM COST EST (Final)
	2021 Sidewalk Infill - CDBG
	2021 CDBG Plan Set

	Item 29.	Set PH-2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill
	1. PS&E Memo - 2021 Sidewalk Infill and Repair
	ENGINEERS-ESTIMATE - 20 SIDEWALK  INFILL - PRELIM
	2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK AND INFILL SPECS
	FINAL PLANS -2021 SIDEWALK INFILL AND REPIAR

	Item 30.	Set PH-2021 Sidewalk Assessment
	1. PSE - 2021 Sidwalk Assessment
	3237 - ENGINEERS-ESTIMATE - FINAL
	2021 ASSESSMENT SPEC
	FINAL PLANS - Sidewalk Assessment

	Item 31.	Set PH-2021 Permeable Alley
	1. PS&E Memo - 2021 Permeable Alley
	2021 Permeable Alley Cost Estimate - BJA
	2021 Perm Alley Specs - BJA
	FINAL PLANS - 2021 Permeable Alley Project

	Item 32.	Set PH-DA with CV Commercial, LLC
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 07-06-21
	2_2119 College St College Hill UR Agmt Setting PH 07-06-21
	PH Ntc-CV Commercial, LLC

	Item 33.	Ord-Viking Road Speed Limit
	1. Memo - Viking Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	2. Updated Viking Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	3. Redlined Viking Road Speed Limit

	Item 34.	Bills
	1 Daily Invoices 070621
	2 Council Invoices 070621

	Bottom

